

Biological and Water Quality Assessment of the North Branch Chicago River: 2020-21



Trent A. Dougherty, Executive Director James B. Lane, Board President

Report Citation:

Midwest Biodiversity Institute (MBI). 2023. Biological and Water Quality Assessment of the North Branch Chicago River. Cook County and Lake County, Illinois. Technical Report MBI/2023-1-1. Columbus, OH 43221-0561. 95 pp. + appendices.



Portions of this document were made possible by a generous grant from ESRI. The GIS elements of this report were also made possible by a grant from ESRI.

Biological and Water Quality Assessment of the North Branch Chicago River 2020-21

Cook and Lake Counties, IL

Technical Report MBI/2023-1-1

March 31, 2023

Prepared for:

The North Branch Chicago River Watershed Workgroup 500 West Winchester Road Suite 201 Libertyville, IL 60048 Ashley Strelcheck, NBWW Project Coordinator Rob Flood, NSWRD, NBWW Monitoring Chair

Submitted by:

Midwest Biodiversity Institute 4673 Northwest Parkway Hilliard, OH 43026 Chris O. Yoder, Research Director <u>cyoder@mwbinst.com</u> www.midwestbiodiversityinst.org

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xii
FOREWORD	1
What is a Biological and Water Quality Survey?	1
Scope of the 2020-21 NBWW Biological and Water Quality Assessment	1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
Aquatic Life Condition Assessment	2
Causes and Sources of Non-attainment	2
Synthesis of Results	5
Recreational Use Assessment	7
Biological and Water Quality Assessment of the North Branch Chicago River Watershee 21	d: 2020-
Study Area Description	10
General Landscape Setting	10
Major Point Sources	10
NPDES Permit Special Conditions	12
Nutrient Assessment Reduction Plan (NARP)	14
Nonpoint Sources	15
Spatial Survey Design	15
METHODS	18
Chemical/Physical Water Quality	18
Water Sampling	18
Sediment Sampling	18
Nutrient Effect Assessment Procedure	19
Biological Assemblage Methods	20
Fish Assemblage Methods	20
Magyainyaytabyyta Mathada	21

Habitat Assessment Methods	
Data Management	22
Determining Use Attainability	22
Determining Use Attainment	22
Determining Causal Associations	22
Causal Diagnosis	23
Hierarchy of Water Indicators	23
Causal Associations	25
RESULTS – CHEMICAL/PHYSICAL WATER QUALITY	25
Flow Regime	
Point Source Effluent Quality	
Water Column Chemistry	29
Exceedances of Biological Effect and Reference Thresholds	29
Demand and Nutrient Related Parameters	
рН (S.U.)	
Temperature ($^{m{c}}$)	
Dissolved Oxygen (D.O.)	
Exceedances of Standards	40
Skokie River	40
Ammonia-Nitrogen (N)	40
Total Nitrate-N (NO₃-N)	40
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)	40
Total Phosphorus	
Total Suspended Solids (TSS)	
Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River & North Branch Chicago River	45
Ammonia-Nitrogen (N)	45
Total Nitrate-N (NO₃-N)	45
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)	
Total Phosphorus	
Total Suspended Solids (TSS)	
West Fork North Branch Chicago River	

Ammonia-Nitrogen (N)
Total Nitrate-N (NO₃-N)
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)
Total Phosphorus
Total Suspended Solids
Nutrient Effects Assessment
S9
Chlorides
Conductivity
Water Column Metals and Organics
Exceedances of Standards
Sediment Chemistry
Metals in Sediment
PAH Compounds in Sediment71
Physical Habitat Quality for Aquatic Life – QHEI73
Biological Assemblages – Fish
Fish Assemblage
Biological Assemblages – Macroinvertebrates
Macroinvertebrate Assemblage82
SYNTHESIS OF RESULTS
References
APPENDIX A: North Branch Chicago River 2020-2021 Fish Assemblage DataA-1
APPENDIX B: North Branch Chicago River 2020-2021 Macroinvertebrate Assemblage DataB-1
APPENDIX C: North Branch Chicago River 2020-2021 Habitat Data
APPENDIX D: North Branch Chicago River 2020-2021 CausesD-1
D-1: North Branch All Sites Causes by Narrative Category 2020-21D-2
D-2: Skokie River Unweighted and Weighted Causes by Count and Percent 2020D-3
D-3 : Middle Fork N. Branch Unweighted and Weighted Causes by Count and Percent 2020-21 D-4
D-4: West Fork Unweighted and Weighted Causes by Count and Percent 2021D-5
APPENDIX E: FIT Factors and Illinois Nutrient ranking indexE-1

Appendix E-1: Development of FIT Factors for Deriving Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary	
Causes of Impairment	E-1
Appendix E-2: Northeast Illinois IPS Nutrient Ranking Index	E-3

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Aquatic life use attainment status at 25 sites in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area with								
associated causes by narrative rank, restorability rankings, and IEPA causes								
le 2. E.coli values (cfu/100 ml) for samples collected in the North Branch Chicago River study								
area during May-October 2020 and 2021. Yellow shaded cells exceed the								
recommended U.S. EPA (2012) 90-day geometric mean (126 cfu/100 ml); red shaded								
cells exceed the maximum statistical threshold value (STV; 410 cfu/100ml). Grey								
shading is a histogram of the relative values at each site								
Table 3. Level IV subregions in the 2020-2021 North Branch Chicago River watershed study area								
and their key attributes (from Woods et al. 1995)								
Table 4 . Major wastewater treatment facilities that discharge directly (river miles are indicated)								
to 2020-2021 survey area streams (NSWRD– North Shore Water Reclamation District;								
WRF - Water Reclamation Facility). Treatment levels and nutrient information from								
U.S. EPA Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) Pollutant Loading Tool								
Table 5. Locations of sampling sites in the NBWW survey area in 2020-21 showing the site ID,								
river, river mile and what sampling was performed at each site (F - Fish; MH -								
multihabitat macroinvertebrate; QHEI - Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index;								
Datasonde; Benthic Chlorophyll a, and water chemistry in accordance with Tier 1-3								
designation). Corresponding IEPA sites are listed alongside NBWW sites or site clusters								
to illustrate the differences in site density 17								
Table 6. Summary of the number of water chemistry parameters and samples collected by								
parameter category for water column (left) and surficial sediment (right) in the North								
Branch Chicago River study area during 2018-21								
Table 7. Biological effect thresholds derived from Northeast Illinois streams and rivers for								
selected water column parameters as part of the NE Illinois IPS model and used to								
assess chemical sample results from the NBWW study area. The most limiting of the								
fish or macroinvertebrate assemblages for each parameter are indicated along with								
thresholds for excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor biological condition. The								
goodness of fit score (FIT) and reference site values are also provided. Illinois chronic								
and acute standards for heavy metals parameters are also provided in brackets in red								
alongside the good and poor IPS thresholds								
Table 8. Biological effect thresholds derived from Northeast Illinois streams and rivers for								
selected sediment chemical parameters as part of NE Illinois IPS model and used to								
assess chemical sample results from the NBWW study area. The most limiting of the								
fish or macroinvertebrate assemblages for each parameter are indicated along with								

Table 15. Exceedances of the Illinois WQS for single value chloride concentration of 500 mg/L in
the NBWW 2020-21 survey area.68

Table 16. Heavy metal concentrations (mg/kg) in sediment at 25 sites in the NBWW survey area2020-21. Highlighted cells indicate an exceedance of one or more of the effectthresholds listed at the bottom.70

Table 17	. Sediment PAH levels (mg/kg) in sediments at 25 sites in the NBWW 2020-21 survey
	area. Highlighted cells indicate an exceedance of one or more of the effect thresholds
	listed at the bottom (TEC – threshold effect concentration; PEC – probable effect
	concentration; ND – not detected)72
Table 18	. QHEI matrix of good (한) and high influence (한) and moderate influence (한) modified
	habitat attributes at 25 sites in the NBWW study area during 2018-19. QHEI scores are
	shaded in accordance with IPS derived narrative ratings; green – Good; yellow – Fair;
	orange – Poor; red – Very Poor)
Table 19	. Fish species collected in the Skokie River in 2020 (upper), the Middle Fk. N. Branch in
	2020-21 (middle), and the West Fork (lower) in 2021 arranged by numerical
	abundance. The tolerance codes for tolerant (T) moderately intolerant (P), and
	moderately intolerant species are indicated along with the number of samples within
	which each species occurred. No sensitive or intolerant species were collected 78
Table 20	. Selected fish assemblage metrics and attributes at 25 sites sampled in the 2020-21
	NBWW survey area. Biological index scores are shaded by level of use support:
	Exceptional – blue; Good (fully supporting) - green; Fair (non-support) - yellow; Poor
	(non-support) – orange; Very Poor - red; key metrics as signatures of toxic or organic
	enrichment impacts are based on Yoder and DeShon (2003)
Table 21	The 50 most abundant macroinvertebrate taxa collected at 25 sites in the Skokie River
	(left), Middle Fork N. Branch (middle), and West Fork (right) in the NBWW 2020-21
	survey area including number of times collected, total number collected, taxa group,
	and taxa tolerance assignments
Table 22	. Selected macroinvertebrate assemblage attributes at 25 sites sampled in the 2020-21
	NBWW survey area. Biological index scores are shaded by level of use support:
	Exceptional – blue; Good (fully supporting) - green; Fair (non-support) - yellow; Poor
	(non-support) – orange; Very Poor - red; key metrics as signatures of toxic or organic
	enrichment impacts are based on Yoder and DeShon (2003)
Table 23	. Chemical, physical, and biological response indicators of impairment observed at each
	site in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Causes associated with biological impairments
	are drawn from analyses of habitat, nutrient effects, IPS, and other threshold
	exceedances, and biological response signatures. Causes are classified as fair, poor, or
	very poor in accordance with the exceedance of corresponding thresholds. See legend
	at bottom for biological, physical, and chemical threshold narrative ranges. IPS
	Restorability scores are provided for non- and supporting sites

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Location of 25 biological, chemical, and habitat sampling sites in the NBWW survey
Figure 2.	area in 2018-2021. Site codes correspond to sites listed in Table 1
Figure 3.	Location of 25 biological and habitat sampling sites in the NBWW survey area during 2018-2021. Site codes correspond to the sites listed in Table 5
Figure 4.	The hierarchy of administrative and environmental indicators which can be used to support monitoring and assessment, reporting, and an evaluation of the effectiveness of pollution controls on a receiving stream. This is patterned after a model developed by U.S. EPA (1995a,b) and enhanced by Karr and Yoder (2004)
Figure 5.	Daily flow in cfs measured at the USGS gages on the Skokie River (USGS 05535070, upper left) near Highland Park, the West Fork North Branch Chicago River (USGS 05535500, upper right) near Northbrook, the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River (USGS 05534500, lower left) at Deerfield, and the North Branch Chicago River at Niles (USGS 05536000, lower right) for the years of 2018-21. The horizontal lines are the 75 th percentile, 50 th percentile, and the seven-day, ten year (Q _{7,10}) critical low flows. 27
Figure 6.	Proportions of effluent flow (MGD) and pollutant loadings (lbs./day) discharged by two major WWTPs to the NBWW survey area in 2020 and 2021. Proportions and loadings are based on the annual averages of each parameter. Discharges are listed in the table below with annual average loadings (lbs./day) between 2018 and 2021 28
Figure 7.	pH (S.U.) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-5 day periods during August 27-September 1, 2020 and August 2-8, 2021 at 19 locations. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum, 25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the median) values. The Illinois EPA standard is expressed as a range depicted by the shaded area
Figure 8.	Temperature (°C) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-5 day periods during early August 2020 and late August 2021 at 19 locations in the 2020-21 study area. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum, 25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the median) values. The Illinois EPA maximum April 1-November 30 standard (32.2°C) and the Ohio EPA streams and rivers maximum (29.4°C) and average (27.8°C) criteria are shown by solid and dashed lines.
Figure 9.	Dissolved oxygen (D.O.) concentrations (mg/L) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-5 day periods during early August 2020 and late August 2020 at 18 locations. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum, 25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the median) values. The Illinois EPA August-February minimum (3.5 mg/L) and the 7-day average (5.0 mg/L)

D.O. standard are shown by solid and dashed lines along with the IPS maximum D.O.
(12.3 mg/L) by a solid line
Figure 10. Concentrations of median ammonia-N in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-
21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with
ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 11. Concentrations of median total Nitrate-N in the Skokie River during May-October in
2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated
with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 12. Concentrations of median total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) in the Skokie River during
May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds
correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 13. Concentrations of median total phosphorus in the Skokie River during May-October
during 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds
correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 14. Concentrations of median total suspended solids in the Skokie River during May-
October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds
correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 15. Concentrations of median ammonia-N in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River
and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21.
Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of biological quality and as listed in Table 746
Figure 16. Concentrations of median nitrate-N in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River
and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21.
Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 17. Concentrations of median total Kjeldahl nitrogen in the Middle Fork North Branch
Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in
2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated
with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 18. Concentrations of median total phosphorus (TP; upper) and total suspended solids
(TSS; IOWER) IN the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch
Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines
represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and
as listed in Table 7
and the North Pranch Chicago Pivor mainstom during May October in 2018 21
Desked and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of hiological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 20 Concentrations of median total nitrate-N in the West Fork North Branch Chicago
River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-Octobor in 2019-21
haver and the North Branch Chicago fiver mainstern during May-October III 2018-21.

Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 21. Concentrations of median total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) in the West Fork North
Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-
October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds
correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 22. Concentrations of median total phosphorus (TP; upper) and total suspended solids
(TSS; lower) in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch
Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines
represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and
as listed in Table 753
Figure 23. Concentrations of median chloride in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-21.
Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of biological quality and as listed in Table 7 60
Figure 24. Concentrations of median chloride in the Middle Fork during May-October 2018-21.
Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 25. Concentrations of median chloride in the West Fork during May-October 2018-21.
Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges
of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 26. Specific conductance (µS/cm) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-
5 day periods during late-August 2020 and early-August 2021 at 19 locations in the
2020-21 NBWW survey area. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum,
25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the
median) values. The IPS thresholds for five narrative ratings are shown by solid and
dashed lines
Figure 27. Median values of specific conductance in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-
21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with
ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 28. Median values of specific conductance in the Middle Fork during May-October 2018-
21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with
ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 29. Median values of specific conductance in the West Fork during May-October 2018-
21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with
ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7
Figure 30. Riparian habitat modification in the form of tree removal at site MF11 (RM 16.1) at
Illinois St. Rt. 22 leaving stumps that will eventually give way to scouring flows. Legacy
channel modification is evident as it is at most sites in the NBWW survey area
Figure 31. The Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River downstream from Sunset Drive (MF14)
in 2019. Only nine (9) of the twenty-five (25) sites in the NBWW survey area had riffle

habitats all of which were moderately to extensively embedded at every site and some
were the result of channel restrictions formed by bridge abutments
Figure 32. Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index (QHEI) scores in the Skokie River (2020), the
Middle Fork (2020-21), and the West Fork (2021). The IPS narrative ranges of QHEI
scores from excellent to very poor are indicated by solid and dashed lines
Figure 33. Illinois fish IBI (fIBI) scores for the Skokie River (upper), North Branch Chicago River
and the lower two sites in the Middle Fork North Branch (center) in 2020 while the
West Fork North Branch (lower) and the upper Middle Fork North Branch values were
recorded in 2021. IEPA thresholds for fully supporting and two categories of non-
support are indicated
Figure 34. Illinois macroinvertebrate IBI (mIBI) scores for the Skokie River (upper), North Branch
Chicago River and the lower two sites in the Middle Fork North Branch (center) in
2020 while the West Fork North Branch (lower) and the upper Middle Fork North
Branch values were recorded in 2021. IEPA thresholds for fully supporting and two
categories of non-support are indicated

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Paul DeRolf served as the fish/habitat field crew leader, report coordinator, and primary author. Chris O. Yoder, MBI, served as the project manager and report editor. Technical contributions to the report and analyses were made by Vickie L. Gordon (Datasonde and Chlorophyll a Crew Leader, Database Manager), Martin J. Knapp (Lead Macroinvertebrate Taxonomist), and Alex Roller-Knapp (Macroinvertebrate Field Crew Leader), all of MBI. Database management was provided by Vickie Gordon and advanced data analyses and IPS outputs were provided by Edward T. Rankin, MBI. Field sampling assistance was provided by Ashley Smith (Macroinvertebrates), Bradley Axe, Samantha Finnerty, and Jenna Ruoss (Fish/Habitat), Chelsea Dingess (Datasonde), and Frank DePalma (Datasonde). Logistical and administrative support at MBI was provided by Allison Boehler and Emily Frechette. Chemical analysis was provided by the University of Washington for benthic chlorophyll a, Test America for sediment chemistry, and the North Shore Water Reclamation District (NSWRD) for water samples collected by NBWW. Overall NBWW project management and review was directed by Ashley Strelcheck, Lake Co. Stormwater Management Commission, and Rob Flood, North Shore Water Reclamation District, NBWW Monitoring Committee Chair. We also recognize NBWW, NSWRD, and Lake Co. SMC for assistance provided with QAPP support, right-of-way access permitting, gaining access to sampling sites on public and private property, and reviewing the draft and final reports.

FOREWORD

What is a Biological and Water Quality Survey?

A biological and water quality survey, or "bioassessment", is an interdisciplinary monitoring effort coordinated on a waterbody specific or a watershed scale. This may involve a relatively simple survey that focuses on one or two small streams, one or two principle stressors and a handful of sampling sites or a much more complex effort including entire watersheds, multiple and overlapping stressors and tens of sites. The 2020-21 NBWW survey included the Skokie River, Middle and West Forks of the North Branch Chicago River, and the upper North Branch Chicago River. The principle focus of the biological and water quality assessment is on the status of the Illinois General Use for aquatic life and recreation and causes of impairments.

Scope of the 2020-21 NBWW Biological and Water Quality Assessment

The Midwest Biodiversity Institute (MBI) was contracted by the North Branch Chicago River Watershed Workgroup (NBWW) to develop a biological and water quality monitoring and assessment plan for the North Branch Chicago River and tributaries in Cook and Lake Counties, IL in 2018. The plan was incorporated into a Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP; NBWW 2019) that was submitted to and approved by Illinois EPA. The spatial sampling design consisted of an intensive pollution survey and geometric allocation of sites that was carried out during the first survey in 2018-19 and second survey in 2020-21. This design was employed to fulfill multiple purposes and goals in addition to the determination of the existing status of the biological assemblages and their relationship to chemical, physical and biological stressors. Targeted sites were positioned upstream and downstream of major discharges, other sources of potential releases and contamination, and major tributaries to provide a "pollution profile" of the major streams and rivers. The major objectives included:

- 1. Determine the aquatic life status of each sampling location in quantitative terms, i.e., not only if a waterbody is impaired, but the spatial extent and severity of the impairment and the respective departures from established criteria;
- 2. Determine the proximate stressors that correspond to observed impairments for the purpose of targeting appropriate management actions to those stressors; and,
- 3. Screen for any potential issues with use attainability.

To meet these objectives data was collected with methods that provide high quality results and are in conformance with the practices of Illinois EPA (Illinois EPA 2010a,b; 2011a-g; 2014a,b) and Illinois DNR (2010a,b) and under a project QAPP approved by Illinois EPA (NBWW 2019). The second survey of 2020-21 and trends between then and 2018-19 are the principal subjects of this report.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Aquatic Life Condition Assessment

The primary indicators of the status of the Illinois General Use for aquatic life are the Illinois fish and macroinvertebrate Indices of Biotic Integrity and generally following the guidance in the 2020 Integrated Report (Illinois EPA 2022) with certain exceptions. The status of aquatic life is reported in an attainment table and expressed as full, partial or non-support and based on the most limiting of either the fish or macroinvertebrate results. Non-support is further subdivided into non-support fair and non-support poor. The partial support category was added to better highlight instances where one of the two assemblages attained the General Use biological criteria for fish or macroinvertebrates. Of the 25 sites assessed for the General Use for aquatic life (Figure 1) all were impaired and with one or both of the fish or macroinvertebrate IBI values in non-support poor, except for one non-support fair site with fair values for both IBIs (Table 1).

Causes and Sources of Non-attainment

IPS thresholds derived for water and sediment chemistry and physical habitat attributes (MBI 2022a) were used to assess causes of impairment and their comparative severity. The approach for deriving these thresholds includes a more refined stratification of biological effect threshold values for parameters that showed valid relationships with biological responses based on species and taxa level analyses and then correlated with the corresponding fish and macroinvertebrate IBI attainment thresholds and narrative ratings (MBI 2022a). This produced thresholds across four or five narrative categories of quality (excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor). This replaces the formerly used binary (i.e., "pass/fail") approach to evaluating exceedances of chemical and physical effect thresholds and criteria by providing for a more graded approach to the assignment of causes and sources of Illinois General Use biological impairments. This approach has been incorporated into IPS outputs to support local restoration and protection efforts by the respective watershed groups and stakeholders. The findings herein are updates to the 2018-19 survey (MBI 2020a) and based on the 2020-21 survey results.

Causes and Sources were determined for each impaired site and included categorical or parameter level associations and their sources if known. With the recent availability of the more comprehensive and regionally relevant analyses of stressors via the Integrated Prioritization System (NE IL IPS; MBI 2020a), causes were weighted by exceedances of very poor, poor, and fair IPS threshold values. This approach uses a lines of evidence approach where threshold exceedances generated by the IPS is related to a biological impairment. This goes beyond the association of a coincidental exceedance of a chemical criterion or other threshold with a biological impairment. Knowing about relationships that are supported by prior empirical observations in other studies and our own experiences continues to boost the confidence in such causal assignments. This process varies from that used by IEPA in that regionally developed effect thresholds for a broad array of chemical, habitat, and land use variables were used to derive causes that could be different from those derived by IEPA (2022).



Figure 1. Location of 25 biological, chemical, and habitat sampling sites in the NBWW survey area in 2018-2021. Site codes correspond to sites listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Aquatic life use attainment status at 25 sites in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area with associated causes by narrative rank, restorability rankings, and IEPA causes.

		<u> </u>								IPS	
	1	Drain-								Restora-	
	Fish RM/	age Area								bility	
Site ID	Macro RM	(sa. mi.)	fIBI	mIBI	OHEI	Ag. Life Status	Very Poor	Poor	Fair	Ranking	IFPA Causes
0.0012		(04.111)					Ska	kie River - 2020			
		· · · · ·					Dev-WS: Substr: Chloride: Conduct: QHEI	Low D.O.: QHEI: Chan: Conduct: High Mod.			[
SR1	21.10/21.10	2.78	5.0	17.2	37.0	Non - Poor	Ratio; Sed. PAH	Attr.; QHEI Ratio	TKN; Secd. PAHs; Sed. Metals	7.9	
SR2	17.40/17.40	7.87	16.5	23.8	38.0	Non - Poor	Dev-WS; Chloride; Conduct; Sed. PAH	QHEI; Substr; Chan; Org. Enrich.; High Poor Attr.	Low D.O.; Max D.O.; Conduct; Sed. Metals;	24.0	
SR3	14.80/14.80	11.56	23.0	24.6	48.0	Non - Fair	Sed. PAH; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; QHEI; Substr; Chloride; Conduct; Low D.O.; Poor Attr.; Org. Enrich,	Low D.O.; Max D.O.; Chan; Conduct; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	27.2	
SR4	11.30/11.30	15.07	17.5	22.8	52.5	Non - Poor	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH	Conduct.; Sed. Metals; Poor Attr.	Max D.O.; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Chloride; Sed. PAH;	35.1	Chionae, DO, 19, 133
SR5	8.00/8.00	20.67	23.5	21.2	46.8	Non - Poor	Dev-WS; Substr; Sed. PAH	QHEI; Chan; High Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio; D.O. Swing	Low D.O.; TKN; Max D.O.; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals;	20.1	
SR6	7.40/7.40	21.51	18.0	21.3	39.5	Non - Poor	Dev-WS; Substr; Sed. PAH	Low D.O.; QHEI; Chan; High Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio	Imperv-30C; Max D.O.; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH;	20.4	
SR7	3.00/0.00	23.73	15.0	NA	38.0	Non - Poor	Dev-WS; Substr;Low D.O.	QHEI; Chan; D.O. Swing	Low D.O.; TKN; Max D.O.; Chloride; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	29.2	TSS, Mercury
SR18	0.50/0.50	30.90	34.5	40.8	62.6	Non - Fair	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH	Substr; Sed. Metals; High Poor Attr.; QHEl Ratio; Nitrate	TP; TKN; Nitrate; Max D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Chloride; Sed. PAH;	51.4	Algae, Chlordane, Cover Loss, Flow Mod.,
							Middle Fork Nort	h Branch Chicago River - 2021			
MF8	21.10/21.10	5.81	13.0	17.5	29.0	Non - Poor	Substr; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Poor Attr.; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; QHEI; Chan; Org. Enrich.; QHEI Ratio	TKN; Low D.O.; TKN; Sed. Metals	19.2	
MF9	18.90/18.90	8.91	14.0	24.0	31.5	Non - Poor	Substr; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	QHEI; Chan; Poor Attr.	Dev-WS; Org. Enrich.; TKN; QHEI Ratio	12.5	
MF10	16.70/16.70	11.99	12.0	41.1	41.0	Non - Poor	Conduct; Chloride; Low D.O.; QHEI Ratio; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH; QHEI; Substr; Chan; QHEI Ratio; Poor Attr.	TKN; Max D.O.; Org. Enrich.; Low D.O.	19.3	
MF11	14.10/14.10	16.13	20.0	21.5	44.0	Non - Poor	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Low D.O.; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Sed. Metals; Sed. PAH; High Poor Attr.; Org.	TKN; Low D.O.	21.8	DDT, D.O., Hab.Alt.,
MF12	10.80/10.80	19.23	15.0	34.0	45.5	Non - Poor	Chloride; Sed. PAH; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Conduct; Org. Enrich.	Low D.O.; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	23.6	Cause Unknown, Hexachlorobenzene, Sed./Silt, TSS
MF13	8.60/8.60	20.97	13.0	15.7	60.0	Non - Poor	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Substr; Poor Attr. Sed. Metals	Max D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Low D.O.; Ammonia; QHEI Ratio	25.5	
MF14	6.00/6.00	22.48	15.0	39.5	64.5	Non - Poor	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH	Dev-WS; High Poor Attr.	LOW D.O.; TKN; Max D.O.; QHEI; Substr; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio; D.O. Swing	38.7	
MF15	4.00/4.00	24.29	17.0	21.4	55.5	Non - Poor	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Substr; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals	Max D.O.; Low D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Ammonia	34.6	
MF16	3.00/3.00	56.15	21.0	24.7	38.5	Non - Poor	Substr; Sed. PAH; Nitrate	Dev-WS; TKN; Conduct.; QHEI; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals	TP; Low D.O.; Nitrate; Max D.O.; Chan; Chloride; PAHs; Sed. Metals; TKN	20.0	Cr, DDT, Endrin, Hexachlorobenzene. Merury.
MF17	1.80/1.80	57.31	16.5	25.2	45.8	Non - Poor	Sed. PAH; Nitrate	Dev-WS; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals; Conduct.; TKN; Ammonia; Poor Attr.	IP; Low D.O.; Nitrate; Max D.O.; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals; Low D.O.; QHEI Ratio	21.9	Phosphorus, TSS
		Excellent	<u>≥</u> 50	>73	≥84.5	FULL				Very High	
Narrative		Good	>41-49	41.8-72.9	75.9-84.0 50 1-75 0	PARTIAL/Non-Eair				Moderate	
	Thresholds	Poor	>15-29	>15-29	25-50	NON-Fair				Low	IEPA 2022 Integrated Report
		Very Poor	<u><</u> 15	<u><</u> 15	<25	NON-Poor				Very Low	
	Source(s)	IPS	IEPA/IPS	IEPA/IPS	IPS	IPS				IPS	

Table 1. continued.

											IPS										
		Drain-									Restora-										
	Fish RM/	age Area									bility										
Site ID	Macro RM	(sq. mi.)	fIBI	mIBI	QHEI	Aq. Life Status	Very Poor	Poor	Fai	ir	Ranking	IEPA Causes									
	West Fork North Branch Chicago River - 2021																				
							Substr; Conduct.; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org.	Dev-WS; QHEI; Chan; Conduct; TSS; TKN: Poor													
WF20	12.50/12.50	3.90	7.0	10.6	30.5	Non - Poor	Enrich.	Attr.; QHEI Ratio	TP; TKN; Ammonia		1.9										
							Chloride; Conduct.; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.;	Dev-WS; QHEI; Chan; Conduct; Sed. Metals;	TKN: Substr: Sod DAH: I												
WF21	10.40/10.40	7.02	11.0	18.7	42.0	Non - Poor	Low D.O.; Ammonia; Poor Attr.	QHEI Ratio; Nitrate; D.O. Swing	TKN, Substi, Seu. PAH, I	.0W D.O., TKN	14.6										
							Dev-WS;TP; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.;	TKN; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Conduct; Sed.	Imperv-30C; Low D.O.; N	litrate; Sed. PAH; Sed.		Aldrin, Cause Unknown, DDT,									
WF22	9.20/9.20	9.41	9.0	15.8	46.5	Non - Poor	Ammonia; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Metals; Poor Attr.	Metals; QHEI Ratio		1.4	Endrin, Hexachlorobenzene.									
		47.00		10.0			Dev-WS; Substr; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org.	Imperv-30C; QHEI; Chan; Conduct; Chloride;	TP: TKN: Max D.O.: Low	D.O.	7.0	Phosphorus, TSS									
WF23	4.90/4.90	17.86	9.0	13.8	41.0	Non - Poor	Enrich.; TSS; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	TSS; TKN; Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio			7.8										
14/524	2 00/2 00	24.52	10.0	21.0	66.0	Non Door	Dev-WS; Conduct; Sed. PAH; Ammonia; D.O.	Low D.O.; Conduct; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals;	Imperv-30C; IP; TKN; QF	IEI; Substr; Chan; Low	19.6										
WFZ4	2.90/2.90	24.52	10.0	21.0	66.0	Non - Poor	Swing	Poor Attr.	D.O.		18.6										
WEDE	1 20/1 20	27.07	12.0	21.0	10.0	Non Boor	Dev-ws; Chloride; Conduct.; Sed. PAH:	QHEI; Substr; Conduct; Org. Enrich.; Sed.	TP; TKN; Chan; Low D.O.; QHEI Ratio		16.6										
VVF25	1.50/1.50	27.97	12.0	21.9	40.0	NUII - PUUI	Ammonia; Low D.O.	Metals; Poor Attr.; D.O. Swing			10.0										
	[· · · · ·			r		North Bran	ch Chicago River - 2020													
									TP: Low D.O.: TKN: Nitra	te: Max D.O.: Chan:		Aldrin, Cause Unknown, DDT, Flow									
MF19	18.60/18.60	93.41	13.0	21.4	48.5	Non - Poor	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH	Imperv-30C; QHEI; Substr; Toxicity	Conduct: Chloride: Sed	Metals:	28.3	Mod., Hexachlorobenzene,									
																		conduct, chionde, sed.	wietais,		Phosphorus, N, TSS
		Excellent	<u>></u> 50	>73	≥84.5	FULL					Very High										
	Good >41.49 41.8-72.9 75.9-84.0 FULL						High														
	Thresholds	Fair	30-<41	30-41.7	50.1-75.0	PARTIAL/Non-Fair					Moderate	IFPA 2022 Integrated Report									
		Poor	>15-29	>15-29	25-50	NON-Fair					Low										
		Very Poor	<u><</u> 15	<u><</u> 15	<25	NON-Poor					Very Low										
	Source(s)	IPS	IEPA/IPS	IEPA/IPS	IPS	IPS					IPS										
							Glossary of	terms used in Table 1													
Acronym Description					iption		Acronym	Description	Acronym	Description											
Urban-WS Urban land use HUC12				High Mod. Attr. NumberHigh Influence Modified QHEI Attributes D.O. Swing Width of Diel D.O. Variation in 24 Hrs.			n 24 Hrs.														

Urban-WS	Urban land use HUC12	High Mod. Attr.	NumberHigh Influence Modified QHEI Attributes	D.O. Swing	Width of Diel D.O. Variation in 24 Hrs.
Dev-WS	Developed land HUC12	Substr	Substrate condition from QHEI	Conduct	Specific conductivity
Imperv-30C	Imprevious surface 30 m buffer clipped	Chloride	Chloride concentration in mg/L	Toxicity	Exceedance of Toxic Biological Signature
QHEI	Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index (QHEI)	Sed. PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in Sediment	Org. Enrich.	Exceedance of Organic Enrichment Biological Signature
QHEI Ratio	Ratio of Modified:Good QHEI attributes	Sed. Metals	Metals concentration in Sediment	TSS	Total suspended solids
Chan	Channel condition from QHEI	Low D.O.	Minium Dissolved Oxygen in mg/L	TKN	Total Kjeldahl nitrogen
Poor Attr.	Number of Poor QHEI Attributes	Max. D.O.	Maximum Dissolved Oxygen in mg/L	TP	Total phosphorus



Major Causes (Weighted %) Associated with Aquatic Life Impairments: Skokie River 2021



18.7%

4 Page

Twenty-two (22) causes across six (6) major categories were identified for the North Branch Chicago River survey are in 2020-21 (Figure 2). Of these causes, two were land use related (developed watershed, impervious cover 30 meter buffer), six (6) were habitat related (QHEI score, substrate score, QHEI ratio, poor attributes, channel score, and high influence poor attributes), three (3) were ionic strength/ conventional parameters (chloride, conductance, totals suspended solids), four were toxic parameters /compounds in sediment (PAH compounds, metals) and water (ammonia-N, toxic biological response signatures), three (3) were organic enrichment/D.O. related (low dissolved oxygen [D.O.], organic enrichment response signatures, and TKN), and four (4) nutrient enrichment/effect related (total phosphorus, nitrate-N, maximum D.O., and diel D.O. swing). The proportion of causes was assessed based on the number of observations and weighted observations (Figure 2; Appendix D), the latter being based on the severity of the expression of the cause in chemical water column, sediment chemistry, or habitat measures. A higher weighting was assigned based on the narrative rating of an exceedance with 5 for very poor, 3 for poor and 1 for fair. Habitat causes were the most frequent limiting factor (100 total observations; 27.2% weighted) to aquatic life with very poor substrate scores, poor QHEI scores, poor channel scores, and an accumulation of poor attributes as the primary factors perpetuating these deficiencies. Poor habitat persists throughout the North Branch Chicago River watershed, containing primarily poor habitat at 20 sites, with only five (5) fair QHEI scores located in the Middle Fork of the North Branch and single fair scores in the Skokie River and West Fork. Organic Enrichment/Low D.O. had 70 observations (19.3% weighted) with very poor to fair low D.O. levels, a high frequency of organic enrichment response signatures, and elevated TKN levels in each subwatershed. Indicators of Toxics and Toxicity included 64 observations (17.4% weighted) of exceedances of IPS thresholds for sediment metals, and PAH compounds, and ammonia-N. The majority were PAH compounds followed by metals and then ammonia-N, the latter of which did not include any exceedances of the Illinois standard. The origin of the majority of this category was urban stormwater. There were 56 observations of Ionic Strength/Demand parameters (15.4% weighted) that included mostly exceedances of conductance and chloride thresholds that latter of which included exceedances of the Illinois standard. There were only two exceedances of TSS which were also related to urban stormwater runoff. Nutrient Enrichment/Effects had 47 observations (12.8% weighted) with the diel D.O. swing being the most severe indicator with 11 very poor and four (4) poor exceedances and the remainder being mostly fair exceedances of maximum D.O., total P, and nitrate-N. Urban Land Use had the fewest observations (30; 8.2% weighted) and only two factors, developed land use in a HUC12 watershed (DevWS) with 24 very poor and poor threshold exceedances and impervious cover in the 30 meter buffer (Imperv30C) with 5 total observations. The predominant causal categories varied somewhat between the three branches with habitat causes dominating in the Skokie River (35.7% weighted) and Middle Fork (26.9% weighted) and ionic strength/conventional dominant in the West Fork (22.7%; Appendix D). The listing of a wider variety causes of impairment by MBI compared to Illinois EPA in Table 1 is due to the use of a wider array of IPS derived effect thresholds, differences in the interpretation of impairments, and most of all to differences in the spatial survey designs employed by each.

Synthesis of Results

The 2020-21 results yielded mostly poor and very poor results for both the macroinvertebrate and fish assemblages in each of the subwatersheds and the mainstem of the North Branch Chicago River. Urban runoff is the major contributor of pollution within the watershed including dissolved substances, heavy metals, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. It also plays a major role in habitat alterations and heavy siltation that are ubiquitous throughout the survey area. High diel D.O. swings and low D.O. concentrations can likely be attributed to the high organic matter content of the sediments and abundant filamentous algae. Chlorophyll a concentrations for both sestonic and benthic algal biomass were mostly in the good or excellent IPS threshold ranges at all sites. Fish IBIs (fIBI) were primarily in the very poor to low poor range. The General Use fIBI biocriterion of 41 was not met at any site in 2020-21. In the Skokie River, poor scores were recorded at five sites, very poor at two sites, and fair at the downstream most site SR18 (RM 0.50). The Middle Fork N. Branch fIBI was poor at four (4) sites and very poor at six (6) sites. The West Fork fIBIs were uniformly very poor at all sites. The percent tolerant fish exceeded the good threshold at all but three sites. DELT anomalies were generally very low, with good and excellent values recorded at all except one site that was fair. Zero intolerant species or mineral substrate spawners were collected which is very poor performance for these fIBI metrics.

The macroinvertebrate assemblage condition in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area ranged mostly from poor to fair and all values in non-support of the IEPA mIBI biological criterion. As a result no sites met the mIBI General Use for aquatic life. In terms of any trends between 2020-21 and 2018-19, one site improved in the lower Skokie River nearly meeting the mIBI biocriterion for General Use at SR18 (RM 0.50) and along with a fair fIBI resulted in the only Non-Fair attainment rating in the survey area. The Middle Fork site at MF14 (RM 6.00) missed the General Use biocriterion by only 1.3 mIBI units and the 2020 results were somewhat better than 2018 at selected sites. Values in the West Fork were consistently poor to very poor. The second highest mIBI of 39.5 at MF14 coincides with the best habitat in the NBWW survey area with a QHEI score of 64.5. This site and SR18 had 47.0% and 36.7% EPT taxa and were the only results in the good range for that metric whereas 19 sites were in the poor range with 11 at 0%.

Neither of the two major point sources (NSWRD Clavey Rd. and Deerfield WRFs) played a dominant role in the observed results with the exception of increases in some chemical constituents associated with municipal wastewater downstream from each. No distinguishable signatures of excessive nutrient enrichment were apparent in the modified SNAP analysis even though the two WRFs dominate the low flows of their respective receiving streams. The Risk of Exceedance analysis showed the second highest sestonic chlorophyll a value and supersaturated D.O. levels at two West Fork sites downstream from the Deerfield WRF in 2021. Total P and nitrate-N levels were also elevated at these sites.

Perhaps the most important observation from the 2020-2021 bioassessment is that the overall habitat in each of the subwatersheds and in the mainstem North Branch Chicago River site is mostly poor. Heavy silt coverage and muck substrates coupled with the lingering effects of legacy channel and hydrological modifications and current day maintenance activities not only reduce the habitat available for macroinvertebrates and fish, but also hamper the assimilation of organic pollution and nutrients in particular. Urban runoff contributes to highly elevated levels of PAHs and metals in sediments that are prevalent throughout the survey area. The biological results are associated with numerous exceedances of IPS thresholds with no sites meeting the Illinois EPA General Use designation for aquatic life.

Reinforcing these observations are the low and very low Restorability scores generated by the NE Illinois IPS (Table 1) which means that the challenges with restoring the streams of the NBWW study area to attaining the Illinois General Use for aquatic life are greater and dependent on restoration actions that address the most limiting chemical and physical factors as is demonstrated by the consistent repetition of very poor and poor causes of impairment related to urban land uses coupled with flow and habitat alterations. The highest Restorability factors were in the Middle Fork and lowest rankings occurred throughout the West Fork, with the Skokie River intermediate between those two forks. The only moderate Restorability score occurred in the lower Skokie River at site SR18 (RM 0.50).

Recreational Use Assessment

Levels of fecal bacteria in the form of *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) cfu²/100 mL were used to assess the status of recreation in and on the water for the 2020-21 study area. The Illinois EPA General Use criteria are expressed as counts of fecal coliform bacteria, which were not measured here, hence the U.S. EPA national criteria for *E. coli* were used instead. The U.S. EPA *E. coli* criteria are expressed in terms of a 90-day geometric mean and a statistical threshold value (STV) which is the 90th percentile of the data distribution that is not be exceeded by more than 10% of the samples. Given the small sample size limitations, mean values were used as an approximation of the 90-day geometric mean and maximum values as the STV. The U.S. EPA recommended 90day geometric mean criteria value is 126 cfu/100 ml and the STV criteria value is 410 cfu/100 ml (U.S. EPA 2012).

E. coli results for the North Branch Chicago River and tributaries were available from all 25 locations in each of the 2020 and 2021 sampling years. The frequency of exceedances of the U.S. EPA recommended geometric mean and STV criteria was frequent in the 2020-21 survey area. Among the 25 sites sampled for *E. coli* in 2020, twenty (20) exceeded the geometric mean and twenty-two (22) exceeded the maximum STV (Table 2). In 2021, twenty-three (23) exceeded the geometric mean and twenty-one (21) exceeded the maximum STV. Twenty (20) exceeded for both geometric mean and maximum STV in 2020 and 2021 (Table 2). This is close to the same frequency of exceedances observed in 2018 and 2019. Twelve (12) sites had minimum values exceeding the geometric mean criterion, five (5) in the West Fork, four (4) in the Middle Fork, and two (2) each in the Skokie River and North Branch.

The sites that did not exceed the geometric mean and maximum STV included SR7 (RM 3.0 in the Skokie Lagoons) in both 2020 and 2021, MF8 and MF 12 (RMs 21.1 and 10.8 in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River), and WF20 (RM 12.5 in the West Fork) two of which are the upstream most sites in their respective branches (Table 2). Three consecutive sites in the upper Middle Fork had means below that criterion, but with maximums that exceeded the STV. The Skokie Lagoons appear to aid in the reduction of *E. coli* in the Skokie River with declines occurring at SR7 (RM 3.0) during both 2020 and 2021 (Table 2). The confluence of the Skokie River with the Middle Fork North Branch did not reduce E. coli colonies at MF16 as was observed in 2018 and 2019. The magnitude of the exceedances seemed to be greater in the West Fork in 2020 and 2021 especially, but less so in the Middle Fork especially compared to the 2019 maximums. The analysis of the maximum values was inhibited by the 2420 cfu/100 ml maximum that was listed for numerous sites which precludes knowing the true values. A few Middle Fork sites in 2020 reported maximums above this value with 13,000 cfu/100 mL reported for site MF15 (RM 4.0). Knowing the true maximum values would enhance the diagnosis of maximum values as originating from the mosaic of fecal sources in urban runoff vs. raw or poorly treated sewage which frequently results in *E. coli* counts in the five to six figure range.

Table 2. E.coli values (cfu/100 ml) for samples collected in the North Branch Chicago River study area during May-October 2020 and 2021. Yellow shaded cells exceed the recommended U.S. EPA (2012) 90-day geometric mean (126 cfu/100 ml); red shaded cells exceed the maximum statistical threshold value (STV; 410 cfu/100ml). Grey shading is a histogram of the relative values at each site.

		Drainage								
	River	Area			Geometric	Maximum				
Site ID	Mile	(sq. mi.)	Samples	Minimum	Mean	STV				
			Skok	ie River - 2020						
SR1	21.1	2.70	6	9	193	1550				
SR2	17.4	7.80	6	59	203	512				
SR3	14.8	11.50	6	65	158	361				
SR4	11.3	15.00	6	228	591	2420				
SR5	8.0	20.60	6	125	297	548				
SR6	7.4	21.50	6	150	386	980				
SR7	3.0	23.70	6	3	34	210				
SR18	0.5	30.90	6	26	301	816				
			Skok	ie River - 2021						
SR1	21.1	2.70	4	16	102	649				
SR2	17.4	7.80	4	66	265	2420				
SR3	14.8	11.50	4	62	133	488				
SR4	11.3	15.00	4	91	154	265				
SR5	8.0	20.60	4	52	120	613				
SR6	7.4	21.50	4	41	153	613				
SR7	3.0	23.70	4	13	84	365				
SR18	0.5	30.90	4	116	447	1990				
		Midd	le Fork North	Branch Chicago	River - 2020					
MF8	21.1	5.81	4	4	56	457				
MF9	18.9	8.91	4	33	95	1130				
MF10	16.7	11.90	4	23	124	4350				
MF11	14.1	16.11	4	49	265	4610				
MF12	10.8	19.23	4	56	265	5480				
MF13	8.6	20.96	4	49	221	2610				
MF14	6.0	22.48	4	60	335	5170				
MF15	4.0	24.29	4	308	881	13000				
MF16	3.0	56.10	6	62	349	2420				
MF17	1.8	57.30	6	88	285	2420				
	1	Midd	le Fork North	Branch Chicago	River: 2021					
MF8	21.1	5.81	6	11	50	236				
MF9	18.9	8.91	6	36	153	770				
MF10	16.7	11.90	6	36	204	980				
MF11	14.1	16.11	6	116	379	1 <mark>050</mark>				
MF12	10.8	19.23	6	77	116	361				
MF13	8.6	20.96	6	88	158	411				
MF14	6.0	22.48	6	162	295	770				
MF15	4.0	24.29	6	42	276	1120				
MF16	3.0	56.10	4	137	600	2420				
MF17	1.8	57.30	4	361	790	2420				
	exccedance of Prin	mary Contact Recreat	ion (PCR) geometr	ic mean criterion of 12	16 cfu/mL.					
	exccedance of PCR Statistical Maximum Value (STN) criterion of 410 cfu/mL.									

Table 2. continued.

		Drainage									
	River	Area				Maximum					
Site ID	Mile	(sq. mi.)	Samples	Minimum	Geometric Mean	STV					
	West Fork North Branch Chicago River - 2020										
WF20	12.5	3.87	4	22	70	238					
WF21	10.4	7.02	4	125	424	2420					
WF22	9.2	9.41	4	130	453	2420					
WF23	4.9	17.86	4	35	317	2420					
WF24	2.9	24.52	4	140	314	980					
WF25	1.3	27.97	4	201	465	1 <mark>050</mark>					
West Fork North Branch Chicago River - 2021											
WF20	12.5	3.87	6	28	303	1 <mark>110</mark>					
WF21	10.4	7.02	6	126	604	2420					
WF22	9.2	9.41	6	155	729	2420					
WF23	4.9	17.86	6	5	134	2420					
WF24	2.9	24.52	6	151	438	2420					
WF25	1.3	27.97	6	108	653	2420					
	•	•	North Branch	h Chicago River -	2020						
MF19	18.6	93.41	6	122	464	1990					
North Branch Chicago River - 2021											
MF19	18.6	93.41	4	144	650	2420					
	exccedance of Prin	nary Contact Recreat	ion (PCR) geometri	ic mean criterion of 12	6 cfu/mL.						
	exccedance of PCR	Statistical Maximur	n Value (STN) crite	rion of 410 cfu/mL.							

BIOLOGICAL AND WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF THE NORTH BRANCH CHICAGO RIVER WATERSHED: 2020-21

Study Area Description

Lake and Cook Counties are densely populated with 5.8 million residents comprising 46% of the Illinois population, according to the 2014 U.S. Census. The North Branch Chicago River basin consists of 25 municipalities and 10 townships (Lake Co. SMC 2020). The North Branch Chicago River originates in Glenview, IL where the West Fork and Middle Fork of the North Branch Chicago River and West and Middle Forks of the North Branch Chicago River. The watershed drains 112 square miles of Cook and Lake Counties via the Skokie River and West and Middle Forks of the North Branch Chicago River. The NBWW study area included the North Branch Chicago River, the West Fork of the North Branch Chicago River, the Middle Fork of the North Branch Chicago River and the Skokie River. The Middle Fork of the North Branch Chicago River and the Skokie River. The Middle Fork of the North Branch (63.3 mi.²) is the largest subwatershed in the NBWW study area, which includes the Skokie River. The Skokie River (31.1 mi.²) is the second largest subwatershed, and flows a distance of 17 miles beginning in Gurnee, IL to its confluence with the Middle Fork in the Cook County Forest Preserve Watersmeet Woods. The West Fork of the North Branch (28.7 mi.²) has the smallest drainage area and flows the shortest distance (14 mi.) from its headwaters near Mettawa, IL to its confluence with the North Branch Grove, IL (Lake Co. SMC 2020).

General Landscape Setting

The North Branch Chicago River basin lies entirely within the level III ecoregion Central Corn Belt Plains. The NBWW study area is primarily located in the level IV subregion of Valparaiso-Wheaton Morainal Complex with the exception of site MF19 which is located in the Chicago Lake Plain subregion (Table 3). The Valparaiso-Wheaton Morainal Complex is characterized by a hilly, hummocky rolling area containing moraines, kames, eskers and outwash plains with numerous small lakes and marshes. Soils are largely derived from thick late-Wisconsin glacial drift and thin loess deposits where they occur. Prior to modern urban development the subregion had natural oak-hickory forests and bluestem prairie on dry, well-drained moraines. In the poorly drained uplands swamp white oak forests were common with cattails, common reed, and bulrushes dominant in marshes. Prairies dominated the subregion, but through fire suppression and removal allowed for increased forest density. Current land uses are primarily residential (36.3%) followed by public/private open space (29.1%), transportation/utilities (16.3%) retail/commercial (5.3%), governmental/institutional (4.5%), industrial (3.8%), water (2.8%), office parks (1.1%), and agriculture (0.8%; Lake County SMC 2020).

Major Point Sources

Significant point sources of pollution were inventoried as part of the North Branch Chicago River Watershed bioassessment to understand the extent of their potential impact and for

Table 3. Level IV subregions in the 2020-2021 North Branch Chicago River watershed study area and their key attributes (from Woods et al. 1995).

Level IV Subregion	Physiography	Geology	Soils	Potential Natural Vegetation	Land Use/Land Cover
Chicago Lake Plain (54b)	Nearly level to flat, paleo-lake plain containing beach ridges, swales, sand dunes, paleo-spits, paleo-sand bars, bluffs, and both morainal and bedrock ridges	Quaternary lacustrine sediments, beach deposits, outwash deposits, and glacial till	Mollisols (Endoaquolls, Argiaquolls), Entisols (Udipsamments); Also Histosols (Medisaprists)	A mosaic of bluestem prairie and oak– hickory forest.	Mostly urbanized
Valparaiso- Wheaton Morainal Complex (54f)	Glaciated, hilly, hummocky to rolling area containing moraines, kames, eskers, rolling till plains, outwash plains, kettle holes, and ravines. Small lakes and marshes are common.	Wisconsinan-age glacial till and Quaternary lake deposits, thin loess (< 20") and alluvium. Ordovician and Silurian dolomite, limestone and shale	Alfisols (Epiaqualfs, Hapludalfs), Mollisols (Endoaquolls, Argiudolls), Inceptisols (Eutrudepts)	A mosaic of oak- hickory forest and bluestem prairie. Dry prairie and dry upland forest on dry soils. In marshes: cattails, bulrushes and common reed.	Mostly growing urban and suburban developments, but wooded areas, wetlands, and pastureland are common

developing the intensive pollution survey monitoring design. The NBWW 2020-21 survey area includes two major discharges, the Deerfield Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) that discharges into the West Fork of the North Branch Chicago River at river mile 10.0, and the Clavey Road WRF that discharges into the Skokie River at river mile 1.0 just downstream for the Skokie Lagoons dam (Table 4). The NSWRD Clavey Road WRF treats 17.8 MGD with any inflow in

Table 4. Major wastewater treatment facilities that discharge directly (river miles are indicated) to

 2020-2021 survey area streams (NSWRD– North Shore Water Reclamation District; WRF

 Water Reclamation Facility). Treatment levels and nutrient information from U.S. EPA Discharge

 Monitoring Report (DMR) Pollutant Loading Tool.

Facility	Receiving Water Body	River Mile	Latitude	Longitude	Avg. Flow 2018 (MGD) ¹	Avg. Flow 2019 (MGD) ¹	Design Avg. Flow (MGD) ²	Treat- ment Type ³	Nutrient Removal⁴
NSWRD Clavey Rd. WRF	Skokie River	1.0	42.10188	-87.75883	12.9	17.0	17.8	AWT	В
Deerfield WRF	West Fork North Branch Chicago R.	10.0	42.15944	-87.85472	2.3	2.9	3.5	AWT	М
¹ Effluent quality reported to MBI by DRWW and individual POTWs; ² Design average flow from NPDES fact sheet; ³ AWT – Advanced Wastewater Treatment – generally 10-20 mg/L CBOD5, 1.5-3.0 NH3-N; 12-24 mg/L TSS; Secondary – generally 30 mg/L CBOD5/TSS, and no NH3-N removal; ⁴ B –									

biological phosphorus removal; M – nutrient (N and P) monitoring only; P – 1.0 mg/L limitation.

excess of the design flow being diverted into retention basins until flows reach 28 MGD; the stored sewage is then treated by the plant (CSWEA 2010). The Dundee Road lift station is located on the Skokie River just upstream from the Skokie Lagoons, but it has not been active for several years. The Deerfield WRF treats 2-3 million gallons of wastewater per day (MGD) while serving the Villages of Deerfield and Bannockburn, as well as portions of Highland Park (Village of Deerfield 2020). Advanced treatment is conducted at both WRFs. The Village of Glenview, which is served by the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Great Chicago (MWRD), has a lift station overflow that impacts the lower West Fork. These sources are depicted in the graphs of the key water quality parameters, habitat, and biological indicators in all three branches throughout the report.

NPDES Permit Special Conditions

The two major permitted WWTPs in the NBWW study area are subject to Special Conditions related to the discharge of nutrients. The first special condition states:

"The Permittee shall, within eighteen (18) months of the permit effective date, prepare and submit to the Agency a feasibility study that identifies the method, timeframe, and costs of reducing phosphorus levels in its discharge to a level meeting a potential future effluent standard of 0.5 and 0.1 mg/L. The study shall evaluate the costs of the application of these limits on a monthly, seasonal, and annual average basis."

Special condition 23 (using the Clavey Rd. WRF NPDES permit as an example) states:

"The Agency has determined that the Permitee's treatment plant effluent is located upstream of a waterbody or stream segment that has been determined to have a phosphorus related impairment. This determination was made upon reviewing available information concerning the characteristics of the relevant waterbody/segment and the relevant facility (such as quantity of discharge flow and nutrient load relative to the stream flow).

A phosphorus related impairment means that the downstream waterbody or segment is listed by the Agency as impaired due to dissolved oxygen and/or offensive condition (algae and/or other aquatic plant growth) impairments that is related to excessive phosphorus levels.

The permittee shall develop, or be part of a watershed group that develops, a Nutrient Assessment Reduction Plan (NARP) that will meet the following requirements:

- A. The NARP shall be developed and submitted to the Agency by December 31, 2024. This can be accomplished by the Permittee, by participation in an existing watershed group, or by creating a new group. The NARP shall be supported by data and sound scientific rationale.
- B. The permittee shall cooperate with and work with other stakeholders in the watershed to determine the most cost-effective means to address the phosphorus related impairment. If other stakeholders in the watershed will not cooperate in developing the NARP, the

permittee shall develop its own NARP for submittal to the Agency to comply with this condition.

- C. In determining target levels of various parameters necessary to address the phosphorus related impairment, the NARP shall either utilize the recommendations of the Nutrient Science Advisory Committee or develop its own watershed-specific target levels.
- D. The NARP shall identify phosphorus input reductions by point source discharges and non-point source discharges in addition to other measures necessary to remove phosphorus related impairments in the watershed. The NARP may determine, based on an assessment of relevant data, that the watershed does not have an impairment related to phosphorus, in which case phosphorus input reductions or other measures would not be necessary. Alternatively, the NARP could determine that phosphorus input reductions from point sources are not necessary, or that phosphorus input reductions are not necessary and that other measures, besides phosphorus input reductions, are not necessary.
- E. The NARP shall include a schedule for the implementation of the phosphorus input reductions by point sources, non-point sources and any other measures necessary to remove phosphorus related impairments. The NARP schedule shall be implemented as soon as possible and shall identify specific timelines applicable to the Permittee.
- F. The NARP can include provisions for water quality trading to address the phosphorus related impairments in the watershed. Phosphorus/Nutrient trading cannot result in violations of water quality standards or applicable antidegradation requirements.
- G. The Permittee shall request modification of the permit within 90 days after the NARP has been completed to include necessary phosphorus input reductions identified within the NARP. The Agency will modify the NPDES permit if necessary.
- H. If the permittee does not develop or assist in developing the NARP, and such a NARP is developed for the watershed, the Permittee will become subject to effluent limitations necessary to address the phosphorus related impairments. The Agency shall calculate these effluent limits by using the NARP and any applicable data. If no NARP has been developed, the effluent limits shall be determined for the Permittee on a case-by-case basis, so as to ensure that the Permittee's discharge will not cause or contribute to violations of the dissolved oxygen or narrative water quality standards."

In addition all of the WWTPs that are members of the NBWW are subject to Special Condition 24 in their respective NPDES permits as follows:

"The Permittee shall participate in the North Branch Chicago River Watershed Workgroup (NBWW). The Permittee shall work with other watershed members of the NBWW to determine

the most cost effective means to remove dissolved oxygen (DO) and offensive condition impairments in the North Branch Chicago River Watershed to the extent feasible."

- *A.* The NBWW will conduct the following activities in accordance with the Plan during the term of this permit:
 - 1. Develop and Integrated Prioritization System (IPS) and supporting tools consisting of indepth analysis of all chemical, physical and biological data collected in past watershed assessments to develop a library of data analysis tools and prioritization mechanisms related to future impairment restoration activities.
 - 2. Develop a Nutrient Assessment Reduction Plan (NARP) sequenced as follows:
 - a. Develop a preliminary NARP Workplan to be utilized to plan and budget the multiyear development and completion of a NBWW NARP. The preliminary NARP Workplan shall be completed by December 31, 2021.
 - b. Develop NBWW NARP in accordance with the requirements in Special Condition 24.
 - 3. Continue comprehensive water quality monitoring program consisting of bioassessment monitoring, flow monitoring, and water column and sediment chemistry sampling and analysis; modify these programs as necessary to meet NARP objectives.
- B. The Permittee shall submit an annual progress report on the activities identified in (A) above, which includes the monitoring data from the previous year, to the Agency by March 31st of each year. The Permittee may work cooperatively with the NBWW to prepare a single annual progress report that is common among NBWW members.
- C. In its application for renewal of this permit, the Permittee shall consider and incorporate recommended NBWW activities listed in any annual progress report or Nutrient Assessment Reduction Plan that the Permittee will implement during the next permit term."

Nutrient Assessment Reduction Plan (NARP)

The State of Illinois developed the Illinois Nutrient Loss Reduction Strategy (NLRS; State of Illinois 2018) to deal with the enrichment of Illinois surface waters by primary nutrients (N and P). As part of the NLRS Illinois EPA developed a process termed the Nutrient Assessment Reduction Plan (NARP) which is to be developed for major wastewater treatment facilities by December 31, 2023. The two major WWTPs that are members of the NBWW have recently initiated planning for meeting the NARP requirements as specific in their NPDES permits. Depending on the findings of the NBWW NARP process, additional controls on discharges of N and P could be forthcoming.

Nonpoint Sources

Nonpoint sources in the NBWW study area primarily include runoff from urban sources of varying intensities that range from light suburban to heavy urban and industrial. Hydromodification of stream and river flows and habitat modifications occur throughout the survey area with the latter primarily in the form of prior channelization and riparian encroachment by urban and suburban development. A dam located upstream of Willow Rd. on the lower Skokie River that creates the Skokie Lagoons impounds four (4) miles of the river.

Spatial Survey Design

The spatial monitoring design employed a combined geometric (stratified-random) and targeted-intensive pollution surveys that evaluates pollution from all sources and in keeping with its definition in the Clean Water Act (CWA). This design was employed primarily to determine the status of aquatic life and recreational use attainment at the same scale at which pollution sources are being managed and regulated within NE Illinois watersheds. Given that there are hundreds of point sources, numerous stormwater structures, varying degrees of urban and suburban development, legacy pollutants, and habitat and hydrologic alterations, an intensive pollution survey design is needed to capture and characterize the numerous and overlapping pollution gradients that result from these sources. This requires more sites than a condition survey which relies on a comparatively greater extrapolation of data from fewer sampled sites to many more unsampled sites and reaches. This design can result in overlooking local impairments that can evade less spatially intensive condition assessments. The pollution survey design is intended to make quantitative indicators and tools available to guide and support restoration and protection efforts undertaken by NBWW, other watershed groups, and their respective stakeholders. The data and assessments provided by these periodic watershed assessments and by the Northeastern Illinois Integrated Prioritization System (IPS) framework (MBI 2022a), that provides supporting analyses and information on a regional basis to support the restoration of impaired streams and rivers and the protection of high quality sites, reaches, and watersheds from further degradation.

A tiered design was adopted by the NBWW for monitoring water chemistry at varying frequencies throughout the watershed on an annual basis. This consists of sampling 25 sites located throughout the three North Branch Chicago River mainstem tributaries (Figure 3). These same sites were sampled biennially for biological assemblages and habitat, sediment chemistry, water chemistry via grab samples. Datasondes were deployed for 4-5 day periods during the summer under low flows at seven (7) sites. Continuous data for D.O., temperature, conductance, and pH were recorded and benthic chlorophyll a was collected at each site in conjunction with the deployment of the Datasondes. Each site was assigned a unique NBWW numeric site code, a river mile, and UTM coordinates (Table 5).



Figure 3. Location of 25 biological and habitat sampling sites in the NBWW survey area during 2018-2021. Site codes correspond to the sites listed in Table 5.

Table 5. Locations of sampling sites in the NBWW survey area in 2020-21 showing the site ID, river, river mile and what sampling was performed at each site (F - Fish; MH - multihabitat macroinvertebrate; QHEI - Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index; Datasonde; Benthic Chlorophyll a, and water chemistry in accordance with Tier 1-3 designation). Corresponding IEPA sites are listed alongside NBWW sites or site clusters to illustrate the differences in site density.

										Data-	Water Chemistry			
		Drainage								sonde/				
NBWW		Area	River							Benthic				
Site ID	River Stream Name	(mi. ²)	Mile	Year	Latitude	Longitude	Location	Biota	Habitat	Chla	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 3	IEPA Location
		1			Skokie	e River			•	•	1	1	-	
SR1	Skokie River	2.78	21.1	2020	42.33089	-87.88161	adj. Gillett Plant	MH, F	QHEI		1		3	
SR2	Skokie River	7.87	17.4	2020	42.27941	-87.86409	ust. IL 176	MH, F	QHEI			2	3	
SR3	Skokie River	11.56	14.8	2020	42.24616	-87.85333	dst. Deerpath Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	HCCD01 (RM
SR4	Skokie River	15.07	11.3	2020	42.20196	-87.82955	ust. Half Day Rd.	MH, F	QHEI			2	3	8.0)
SR5	Skokie River	20.67	8.0	2020	42.16077	-87.79907	ust. Clavey Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
SR6	Skokie River	21.51	7.4	2020	42.15268	-87.79392	ust. Lake Cook Rd.	MH, F	QHEI			2	3	
SR7	Skokie River	23.73	3.0	2020	42.11398	-87.77361	Skokie Lagoon	F	QHEI	х		2	3	None
SR18	Skokie River	30.90	0.5	2020	42.08834	-87.76299	dst. I-94	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	HCCD09 (RM 1.70)
				Middle I	Fork North B	Branch Chica	go River							
MF08	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	5.80	21.1	2021	42.28013	-87.89854	ust. Rockland Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	
MF09	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	8.90	18.9	2021	42.25635	-87.88459	dst. Footbridge	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
MF10	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	11.90	16.7	2021	42.23196	-87.86841	dst. Westleigh St.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	З	
MF11	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	16.10	14.1	2021	42.19861	-87.85362	dst. IL 22	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	13.3)
MF12	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	19.20	10.8	2021	42.15927	-87.82470	ust. Carriage Way	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
MF13	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	20.90	8.6	2021	42.13879	-87.81029	ust. IL 68	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
MF14	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	22.40	6.0	2021	42.11541	-87.78472	dst. Sunset Dr.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
MF15	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	24.20	4.0	2021	42.09294	-87.77116	dst. Winnetka Ave.	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	
MF16	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	56.15	3.0	2020	42.08152	-87.77860	ust. E. Lake Rd.	MH, F	QHEI			2	З	
MF17	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	57.31	1.8	2020	42.06667	-87.77310	dst. Glenview Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	0.8)
				West F	ork North Bı	anch Chicag	jo River							
WF20	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	3.80	12.5	2021	42.18624	-87.88178	adj. Saunders Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	
WF21	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	7.00	10.4	2021	42.16572	-87.85696	dst. Deerfield Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
WF22	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	9.40	9.2	2021	42.15161	-87.84602	dst. Lake Cook Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	HCCB13 (RM
WF23	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	17.80	4.9	2021	42.10279	-87.80994	dst. Willow Rd.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	7.0)
WF24	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	24.50	1.9	2021	42.07891	-87.80765	dst. Lake Ave.	MH, F	QHEI	Х		2	3	
WF25	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	27.90	1.3	2021	42.06345	-87.78887	ust. Walking bridge	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	
				N	orth Branch	Chicago Riv	er							
MF19	North Branch Chicago River	93.41	18.6	2020	42.04128	-87.78799	ust. Dempster St.	MH, F	QHEI	Х	1		3	HCC07 (RM 16.0)

METHODS

All methods followed Illinois EPA and DNR procedures, except as modified to meet the needs of the NBWW, but with the goal of providing comparable data to evaluate aquatic life and recreational use attainment. This includes fish, macroinvertebrates, habitat, bacteria, chemical parameters (water and sediment), continuous data for selected parameters, and benthic and sestonic chlorophyll a. Recreational use attainment was evaluated with *Escherichia coli* and using the U.S. EPA national criteria since none were available from Illinois EPA for *E. coli*.

Chemical/Physical Water Quality

Water Sampling

The specific methods of data collection followed Illinois EPA (2012a) and chemical laboratory analyses were provided by the North Shore Water Reclamation District laboratory. The chemical/physical parameter categories (demand, nutrients, ionic strength, metals, and organics) and the frequency of sample collection are summarized in the Monitoring Strategy for the North Branch Chicago River (2018). NBWW assigned tiers to each the 25 sampling sites as follows:

- **Tier 1**: Eight (8) sites, three (3) in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River, three (3) in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River, and two (2) in the Skokie River, were sampled four times for demand, nutrient, and bacteria parameters, and once annually for metals and organics.
- **Tier 2**: Seventeen (17) sites divided into each of the three subwatersheds are monitored four times for the majority of the demand parameters, all nutrients, and bacteria parameters.
- **Tier 3**: Two additional monitoring events for demand, nutrients, and bacteria parameters at bioassessment sites during the bioassessment seasonal index period of mid-June through mid-October.

While NBWW collects water samples in February along with more frequently collected samples during the May-October seasonal index period, only the latter period data is included as it coincides with the bioassessment seasonal index period of mid-June to mid-October. Chemical data is collected on an annual basis at all 25 sites thus the results from 2018 through 2021 are presented and analyzed herein for trends. The first round of biological and water quality assessment analyzed the 2018-19 results (MBI 2020a) while this report focuses on the 2020-21 results.

Sediment Sampling

Surficial sediments were sampled for bulk chemical analysis once at all 25 locations in early October following Illinois EPA methods (Illinois EPA 2011b). Eleven (11) samples were collected in the Skokie River, the lower Middle Fork, and the North Branch in 2020 and 14 samples were collected in the remaining Middle and West Fork sites of the North Branch Chicago River in 2021 and analyzed by Eurofins/Test America.

Nutrient Effect Assessment Procedure

A methodology to assess the effects of nutrient enrichment modeled after the Stream Nutrient Assessment Procedure (SNAP) developed by Ohio EPA (2015b) was used in the NBWW bioassessment for 2020-21. It includes the width of the diel swing, maximum, and minimum values in continuously measured D.O., the biomass of chlorophyll a in benthic algae analyzed by the University of Washington Marine Sciences Laboratory, sestonic chlorophyll a, and the concentration of total phosphorus and dissolved inorganic nitrogen (nitrate + nitrite-N). Other related parameters such as volatile suspend solids (VSS), turbidity, and total Kieldahl nitrogen (TKN) are included when they were collected at the 20 Datasonde and benthic chlorophyll a locations (Table 5). Datasondes were deployed for consecutive 5-7 day periods during times of low stream flow and elevated summer ambient temperatures (YSI 2012, 2017). The 2020-21 assessment follows modifications made for the upper Des Plaines River in 2020 (MBI 2022b) by the addition of a scoring system that is weighted by the role of each indicator as a direct response (primary), indirect response (secondary), or as a tertiary algal stimulatory indicator (Mazor et al. 2022). Together these results were used to determine five narrative ratings of Enrichment Status that results from the degree to which each of the nutrient related parameters and SNAP indicators exceeded their respective primary, secondary, and tertiary thresholds.

A summary of the number of water and sediment parameters and samples collected in 2018-2021 is found in Table 6. The parameters analyzed and frequencies of collection varied by NBWW tier assignment as was previously described.

Table 6. Summary of the number of water chemistry parameters and samples collected b)y
parameter category for water column (left) and surficial sediment (right) in the North	1
Branch Chicago River study area during 2018-21.	

	Wa	ater	Sediment			
Parameter Type	Parameters	Samples	Parameters	Samples		
All	123	10,426	110	7,076		
Field pH & Temp.	2	1,120	0	0		
Demand	2	1,104	0	0		
Ammonia	1	426	0	0		
Nutrient	7	1,972	2	122		
Ionic Strength	6	1,144	0	0		
Metals	18	448	20	1,220		
Suspended Materials	2	840	0	0		
Organic Compounds	100	2,856	110	5,791		
Benthic Chlorophyll	1	39	0	0		
Sestonic Chlorophyll	1	423	0	0		

Biological Assemblage Methods

Biological assemblages in the 2020-21 North Branch study area included fish and macroinvertebrates at the same 25 instream locations as in 2018-19 (Table 5). Biological and habitat sampling adhered to a summer-early fall index period of June 16-October 15 for fish and July 1-September 30 for macroinvertebrates. All sites were sampled for fish twice, while macroinvertebrates were sampled once with a 10% resample. A habitat evaluation was performed at all fish sites using the QHEI (Ohio EPA 2006) and a site description accompanied the Illinois EPA multihabitat macroinvertebrate sample. All sampling occurred during periods of summer-fall base flows; periods of high flows and runoff were avoided.

Fish Assemblage Methods

Fish were collected once in 2021 and twice in 2020 at each site with pulsed D.C. electrofishing units including a Wisconsin AbP-3 battery powered backpack, a 2500 Watt generator controlled by a Smith-Root 2.5 GPP pulse box, or a 5000 Watt generator controlled by a Smith-Root 5.0 GPP pulse box. Deference was given to the most effective method based on the prevailing site and water characteristics. The upper boundary for using the battery-powered backpack electrofishing unit was two times the depth and five times the width of the net ring (anode). Wider and deeper sites were sampled with the 2500 Watt generator and Smith-Root 2.5 GPP pulse box unit as either a bank set longline or floated on a roller barge. The primary net ring served as the anode and a woven steel cable cathode trailed from the backpack unit, the longline or the roller barge. A long-handled dip net was used to assist in the collection of stunned fish. The 5000 Watt generator and Smith-Root 5.0 GPP pulse box were mounted on an inflatable 16 foot Wing raft with an electrode array, which was used solely at site SR7 in the Skokie Lagoons. Woven steel droppers extended in front of the raft on a telescoping boom and served as the anodes and steel dishwasher hoses extending off the side of the frame served as the cathodes. A two or three person crew consisting of a fish crew leader and one or two field technicians conducted the sampling under summer normal base flow conditions. Sampling effort was standardized by distance and included a 150-200 meter reach for wadeable sites and 500 meters for the single raft site.

Captured fish were placed in a live well for later processing. Water was regularly replaced and/or aerated to maintain adequate oxygen levels to minimize fish mortality. Samples from each site were processed by enumerating weights by species and by life stage (young-of-the-year, juvenile, and adult) on a field data sheet. The incidence of external anomalies was recorded following the procedures outlined by Ohio EPA (1996, 2015a) and refinements made by Sanders et al. (1999). Fish were released back into the stream after they were identified to species, examined for any external anomalies and weighed either individually or in batches. Larval fish were not included in the sample and fish measuring less than 15-25 mm in length were generally excluded as a matter of practice (excepting adults of small species). All sites were marked with GPS coordinates (beginning, middle and end of the sampling reach) and site data was recorded on a standard field form.
Any fish collected that were not identifiable in the field were vouchered for identification in the laboratory. Vouchered specimens were preserved in borax buffered 10% formalin solution and labeled by site, date, and geographic identifier (e.g. river mile and site number). Regional ichthyology keys were used including the Fishes of Illinois (Smith, 1979) and updates by the Illinois Natural History Survey (INHS). Identification was made to species level at a minimum. Scientific nomenclature followed Page et al. (2012). Vouchers were deposited at Midwest Biodiversity Institute in Hilliard, OH. The data were used to calculate the Illinois Fish Index of Biotic Integrity (fIBI; Smogor 2000, 2005) as the primary assessment of fish assemblage quality.

Macroinvertebrate Methods

Macroinvertebrate methods followed the Illinois EPA multihabitat method (Illinois EPA 2011 c,d) at all sites. The Illinois EPA multihabitat method requires the selection of a sampling area that is representative of the instream and riparian habitat conditions of the assessment reach. Sampling requirements included flow conditions characteristic of typical summer normal base flows, the absence of highly influential tributary streams, the presence of one riffle/pool sequence or run/bend meander or alternate point-bar sequence, if present, and a minimum length of 300 feet. Collection methods included using a D-frame dip-net to sample all bottom-and bank-zone habitat types within a site. All sites were marked with GPS coordinates (beginning and end of sampling reach) and site data was recorded on a standard field form.

Multihabitat macroinvertebrate samples were field preserved in borax buffered 10% formalin solution. Once samples were delivered to the lab in Hilliard, Ohio the samples were transferred to 70% ethyl alcohol. Laboratory procedures followed the Illinois EPA (2011e) methodology which requires the field sample to be subsampled to a 300-organism count following a pre-pick of large and/or rare taxa. Taxonomic resolution was to the lowest practicable taxonomic level for the common macroinvertebrate assemblage groups (mayflies, stoneflies, midges, and crustaceans), which goes beyond the genus level requirement of Illinois EPA (2011g), but which is needed for other data analyses (MBI 2022a). Calculation of the Macroinvertebrate IBI (mIBI) adhered to Illinois EPA methods by using genus as the benchmark level of taxonomic resolution.

Habitat Assessment Methods

The QHEI (Rankin 1989, 1995; Ohio EPA 2006) was the principle aquatic habitat assessment method used at each site. The habitat assessments were completed as a part of the fish assemblage sampling by the fish crew leader who is trained and experienced in using the QHEI. The QHEI measures six categories of attributes that are important to supporting healthy assemblages of aquatic biota with a scoring range of 0-100. QHEI scoring thresholds for excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor were derived a part of the NE Illinois IPS (MBI 2022a). Excellent and good scores are regarded as sufficient to support the General Use for aquatic life. Scores below good and in the fair, poor, and very poor ranges indicate the accumulation of deficiencies in the habitat that can preclude attainment of the General Use for aquatic life. A QHEI matrix (after Rankin 1995 attenuated for NE Illinois) showing the occurrence of good and modified attributes was also examined to evaluate the overall capacity of the stream habitat to

support the General Use at each site. It also provides insights to which attributes of habitat would require remediation to attain General Use of better conditions.

Data Management

All data was managed by MBI in internal databases that permit ready access and analysis. Biological and habitat data is stored in a routine based on the Ohio ECOS format that MBI uses for all biological data management tasks. Biological data analysis included the calculation of Illinois fish and macroinvertebrate IBIs for determining General Use aquatic life status and the accompanying data attributes to enhance the diagnosis of impairments. Habitat data was analyzed using the QHEI and also via a QHEI attributes matrix to aid in assessing habitat related impairments. Summaries of species/taxa relative abundance and QHEI metrics at each site and by sampling date are provided in Appendices A-C.

Determining Use Attainability

The Illinois WQS offers a single aquatic life use designation that applies to all rivers and streams through the General Use. An assessment of aquatic life use attainability was not conducted as the General Use designation was presumed to be attainable for all rivers and streams in the 2020-21 study area. However, the data collected is adequate to determine if habitat and/or other eligible factors are an irreversible limiting factor in any instances of General Use non-support.

Determining Use Attainment

The determination of the attainment status of the Illinois General Use for aquatic life generally followed the guidance in the Illinois EPA 2022 Integrated Report with some modifications as described below (Illinois EPA 2022). The General Use for aquatic life is applicable to all streams in the NBWW 2020-21 study area. Attainment of the fIBI and mIBI thresholds were expressed as fully supporting excellent, fully supporting good, partially supporting, non-supporting fair, non-supporting poor, and non-supporting very poor, with the most limiting result of either the fish or macroinvertebrates determining the narrative assignment of fair, poor or very poor. The addition of the fully supporting excellent, partial support, and non-support very poor categories are the principal modifications to the current Illinois EPA structure and was done to better highlight where only one assemblage attained their respective fIBI or mIBI biocriterion and to better highlight the full gradient of biological response. Narrative ratings for non-biological parameters are assigned based on the Integrated Prioritization System (NE Illinois IPS; MBI 2022a).

Determining Causal Associations

Using the results, conclusions, and recommendations of this assessment requires an understanding of the methodology used to determine biological status and assigning associated

causes and sources of impairment utilizing the accompanying chemical/physical data and source information (e.g., point source loadings, land use). The availability of outputs from the Northeastern Illinois Integrated Prioritization System (NE Illinois IPS; MBI 2022a) enhances causal analysis by conveying the severity of the exceedance in terms of expressing very poor, poor, and fair conditions. These outputs included regionally derived stressor thresholds for more than 80 chemical and habitat variables, Restorability rankings for impaired sites, and Susceptibility and Threat rankings for sites that attained the Illinois General Use biological criteria.

Causal Diagnosis

Describing the causes and sources associated with observed biological impairments relies on an interpretation of multiple lines of evidence including water chemistry data, sediment chemistry data, habitat data, effluent data, land use data, and biological response signatures (Yoder and Rankin 1995; Yoder and DeShon 2003). Thus the assignment of associated causes and sources of biological impairment in this report represents the association of impairments (based on response indicators) with stressor and exposure indicators using linkages to the bioassessment data based on previous experiences with analogous situations and impact types. This was done by relating exceedances of chemical thresholds such as chronic and acute water quality criteria and relevant biological effects thresholds for water and sediment chemistry from the NE Illinois IPS tool and dashboard to further refine the relative importance of categorical and/or parameter specific causes. The reliability of the identification of associated causes and sources is increased where other such prior associations have been observed. This process relies on multiple lines of evidence concerning the biological response which is the ultimate measure of success in water quality management. The NE Illinois IPS derived exceedance thresholds for chemical and habitat parameters were also used in the tabular and graphical presentation of the chemical water and sediment results as part of the causal analyses. When combined with the Restorability and Susceptibility/Threat rankings this improved the certainty of the assignment of causes and sources to an observed biological impairment.

Hierarchy of Water Indicators

A carefully conceived ambient monitoring approach, using cost-effective indicators comprised of ecological, chemical, and toxicological measures, can ensure that all relevant pollution sources are judged objectively on the basis of environmental results. A tiered approach that links the results of administrative actions with true environmental measures was employed in the analyses. The integrated approach is outlined in Figure 4 and includes a hierarchical continuum from administrative to true environmental indicators. The six "levels" of indicators include:

- Level 1 actions taken by regulatory agencies (permitting, enforcement, grants);
- Level 2 responses by the regulated entity (treatment works, pollution prevention);
- Level 3 changes in discharged quantities (pollutant loadings);
- Level 4 changes in ambient conditions (chemical/physical water quality, habitat);

- Level 5 changes in uptake and/or assimilation (tissue contamination, biomarkers, assimilative capacity); and,
- Level 6 changes in health, ecology, or other effects (ecological condition, human and wildlife health).

In this process the results of administrative activities (Levels 1 and 2) are linked to water quality (Levels 3, 4, and 5) which translates to a response (Level 6). An example is the aggregate effect of billions of dollars spent on water pollution control in the U.S. since the early 1970s that have been determined with quantifiable measures of environmental condition. In this case the hierarchy was applied to a specific stream reach that is impacted by multiple point and nonpoint sources. The administrative steps taken by Illinois EPA to issue NPDES permits (Level 1) and the steps taken by the permit holders (Level 2) are easily described and quantified. Quantifying changes in the loadings of pollutants (Level 3) can be affected by the quality and completeness of the effluent monitoring which includes the capture of stressors that actually affect the receiving streams. Likewise, documenting changes in ambient conditions (Level 4) can also be affected by the quality and completeness of the chemical/physical monitoring that not only includes the parameters but also the spatial design in relation to sources of pollution.

This in turn informs about how pollution sources tax the assimilative capacity (Level 5) of a receiving stream. The end result of all the above is portrayed by the response in the biological

Completing the Cycle of WQ Management: Assessing and Guiding Management Actions with Integrated Environmental Assessment



Ecological "Health" Endpoint

Figure 4. The hierarchy of administrative and environmental indicators which can be used to support monitoring and assessment, reporting, and an evaluation of the effectiveness of pollution controls on a receiving stream. This is patterned after a model developed by U.S. EPA (1995a,b) and enhanced by Karr and Yoder (2004).

indicators which is expressed as attainment or non-attainment of the Illinois General Use aquatic life thresholds for the fish and macroinvertebrate IBIs (Illinois EPA 2016). Symptoms expressed by the biota beyond the index scores can be useful in aiding the causal diagnosis as a feedback loop in the hierarchy of indicators process. Superimposed on this hierarchy is the concept of stressor, exposure, and response indicators.

- Stressor indicators generally include activities which have the potential to degrade the aquatic environment such as pollutant discharges (permitted and unpermitted), land use effects, and habitat modifications.
- Exposure indicators are those which measure the effects of stressors and can include whole effluent toxicity tests, tissue residues, and biomarkers, each of which provides evidence of biological exposure to a stressor or bioaccumulative agent.
- Response indicators are generally composite measures of the cumulative effects of stress and exposure and include the more direct measures of community and population response that are represented here by the IEPA biological indices as the biological endpoints.

This classification of indicators represents the essential technical elements for the pollution survey design that was employed in the North Branch bioassessments by using each indicator within its most appropriate role for each (Yoder and Rankin 1998).

Causal Associations

Describing the causes and sources associated with biological impairments in the study area involved the interpretation of multiple lines of evidence that included water chemistry, sediment chemistry, habitat, and effluent data, a general knowledge about upstream land uses, and biological response signatures within the biological data itself. The assignment of causes and sources of biological impairment result from the association of the impairment with exceedances of water quality criteria or other response-based thresholds and the proximity to sources of pollution. This process was strengthened by the availability of regionally derived stressor effect thresholds from the NE Illinois IPS (MBI 2022a) that classified stressor levels into excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor categories.

RESULTS – CHEMICAL/PHYSICAL WATER QUALITY

Chemical/physical water quality in the NBWW study area was characterized by grab sample data collected from the water column three times at each Tier 1-2 sites with an additional two collections at Tier 3 sites during summer-fall base flows annually. Sediment chemistry was determined from samples collected at all 25 Tier 1-3 sites, 11 in October 2020 and 14 in October 2021. Commonly detected chemical parameters were compared either to the criteria in the Illinois WQS, Illinois EPA non-standard benchmarks, reference benchmarks, and most commonly to biologically derived thresholds of the NE Illinois IPS (MBI 2022a). As such, the chemical/physical data herein serves as an indicator of the degree of exposure and stress in support of using the biological data to assess the attainment of the aquatic life use and to assist in assigning associated causes and sources for impaired sites. Parameter groupings included

field, demand, ionic strength, nutrients, heavy metals, and organic compounds. Bacteria data was collected by grab samples and were used primarily to determine the status of recreational uses in accordance with U.S. EPA National Water Quality Criteria (U.S. EPA 2012).

Flow Regime

The flow regime for the NBWW study area during the period of January 1 – December 31 for all years of NBWW monitoring 2018-21 is depicted in Figure 5 based on the gages operated by the U.S. Geological Survey on the West Fork North Branch Chicago River at Northbrook, IL (USGS 05535500), on the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River at Deerfield, IL (USGS 05534500), on the Skokie River at Highland Park, IL (USGS 05535070) and on the N Br Chicago River at Niles, IL (USGS 05536000). Flows in 2018 were lower during the August and September months compared to 2019 when recurrent elevated flows occurred. Low flows were observed during the latter part of July into August during the 2018 sampling year, falling below the 90% duration value in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River, Skokie River, and the West Fork North Branch Chicago River (Figure 5). Higher flows in September 2018 and 2019 exceeded the flood stage in the Skokie River and Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River. These elevated flows and high flows in June and July prevented a second fish pass in 2019 at all sites and at MF19 in 2018. Flows were sufficiently "normal" in mid-July and August. Flows in 2020 were similar to 2018-19 in May, but were lower through the summer and fall and less than the 75th percentile of 203 cfs. The flows in 2021 were the lowest of the four years with sustained periods below the median of 92 cfs and reaching the $Q_{7,10}$ of 16.5 cfs on several days.

Point Source Effluent Quality

Point source discharges of treated wastewater are a major contribution of pollutant loadings in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River and the Skokie River with design average flows of 17.8 MGD and 3.0 MGD (27.5 cubic feet/second and 4.6 cubic feet/second) contributed by the Clavey Rd. WRF and the Deerfield WRF, respectively (see Table 4). The 2020 and 2021 discharges for the Clavey Rd. WRF averaged 11.3 MGD (17.48 cfs) and 13.7 MGD (21.20 cfs) and the Deerfield WRF averaged 1.9 MGD (2.94 cfs) and 1.8 MGD (2.79 cfs). These totals are 25-30.3 times the $Q_{7,10}$ flow of 0.7 cfs for the Skokie River at Highland Park, IL and 1.26-1.33 times the Q_{7.10} flow of 2.2 cfs of the West Fork North Branch Chicago River at Northbrook, IL. As a result of these discharges, the Skokie River and the West Fork North Branch Chicago River are "effluent dominated" where the total flow consists primarily of treated wastewater (Onnis-Hayden et al. 2006). The Deerfield WRF and Clavey Rd. WRF are the only two WWTPs in the NBWW survey area and provide the major portion of the low flows of their respective receiving streams. Summaries of the 2018-21 effluent flow and loads from each facility appear in Table 4 and the table below Figure 6. Effluent flows at both facilities have declined albeit inconsistently between 2018-19 and 2020-21 as have loadings of CBOD₅ and total suspended solids (TSS). The other effluent parameters ammonia-N (NH_3-N), nitrate-N (NO_3-N), and total phosphorus (TP) showed no real consistency in increases or declines between the four years being more variable between each year.



Figure 5. Daily flow in cfs measured at the USGS gages on the Skokie River (USGS 05535070, upper left) near Highland Park, the West Fork North Branch Chicago River (USGS 05535500, upper right) near Northbrook, the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River (USGS 05534500, lower left) at Deerfield, and the North Branch Chicago River at Niles (USGS 05536000, lower right) for the years of 2018-21. The horizontal lines are the 75th percentile, 50th percentile, and the seven-day, ten year (Q_{7,10}) critical low flows.
27 | P a g e





Figure 6. Proportions of effluent flow (MGD) and pollutant loadings (lbs./day) discharged by two major WWTPs to the NBWW survey area in 2020 and 2021. Proportions and loadings are based on the annual averages of each parameter. Discharges are listed in the table below with annual average loadings (lbs./day) between 2018 and 2021.

E a silita a	Flow	CBOD ₅	TSS	NH ₂ -N	NO3 - N	Total P
Facility	(MGD)	(lbs/day)	(lbs/day)	(lbs/day)	(lbs/day)	(lbs/day)
			2018			
Clavey Rd. WRF	12.9	118.1	139.3	5.7	2082.5	69.1
Deerfield WRF	2.3	64.7	114.9	3.8	265.6	42.5
			2019			
Clavey Rd. WRF	17.0	138.5	232.9	7.4	1852.6	204.3
Deerfield WRF	2.9	55.1	121.4	2.6	193.4	32.0
			2020			
Clavey Rd. WRF	11.3	50.6	98.3	5.1	1876.6	84.0
Deerfield WRF	1.9	51.9	68.8	2.1	417.3	55.7
			2021			
Clavey Rd. WRF	13.7	78.3	138.0	5.8	2784.0	127.8
Deerfield WRF	1.8	47.3	49.7	5.2	268.9	42.0

Water Column Chemistry

The water column chemistry results were analyzed for spatial (longitudinal) patterns resulting from the pollution survey design in the North Branch Chicago River and its tributaries. The results were screened for exceedances of Illinois WQS, Illinois non-standard benchmarks, regional reference benchmarks, and most commonly for exceedances of the biological effect thresholds derived from the NE Illinois IPS (MBI 2022a). Exceedances of these benchmarks and thresholds are indicated on the plots and tables of the 2018-2021 chemical results.

Exceedances of Biological Effect and Reference Thresholds

The principal purpose of chemical sampling in a bioassessment is to provide data that supports the interpretation and the assignment of associated causes of biological impairments. Chemical exceedances of biological effect thresholds is essential to that process and has previously included the Illinois water quality criteria, regional reference benchmarks, and national and regional biological effects compendia. Some of these thresholds consist of correlations between concentrations of substances that correspond to biological quality gradients across wide geographical areas while others are toxicological endpoints derived from laboratory studies. Two regional studies that have been used include correlative effects levels of different chemicals by the DuPage River Salt Creek Workgroup (DRSCW; Miltner et al. 2010) in northeastern Illinois and the Metropolitan Sewer District of Greater Cincinnati (MSDGC; MBI 2015) in southwest Ohio. NOAA Screening Quick Reference Tables (SQRT; Buchman 2008) were also formerly used especially for chemicals that are not included in the Illinois WQS.

The NE Illinois IPS (MBI 2022a) thresholds for water column chemical parameters that are applicable to assessing the results in the NBWW study area appear in Table 7. Sediment chemical thresholds are provided in Table 8 and were also evaluated against threshold and probable effect levels (TEL and PEL) established by MacDonald et al. (2000) and elevation levels by Illinois EPA (Short 1998). Habitat and land use variables were also IPS derived and appear in Table 9. The severity of exceedances of these biological effect thresholds are offered by a gradient of narrative classes (i.e., fair, poor, and very poor) for impaired biological thresholds. These were used to support the assignment of causes of biological impairment provided that there was a logical linkage of a biological impairment with an exceedance of a threshold. The chemical results are also displayed graphically for selected parameters and in tables with exceedances of the IPS and other relevant effect thresholds for selected parameter groups for water column, sediment chemistry, and habitat results. Land use related causes are likewise listed in the synthesis and attainment tables. With the exception of D.O. and a single temperature value, both recorded by the short-term deployment of Datasondes, and a series of chloride values primarily in 2021, there were no other exceedances of the parameters that have Illinois EPA water quality criteria. One change from the 2018-19 analyses is that water column metal parameter exceedances are now based on Illinois WQS standard exceedances as opposed to IPS threshold exceedances. The IPS dataset does not include sufficient values that truly represent fair, poor, and very poor metals concentrations so until these conditions can be simulated or retrieved from historical data the Illinois standard values will be used.

Table 7. Biological effect thresholds derived from Northeast Illinois streams and rivers for selected water column parameters as part of the NE Illinois IPS model and used to assess chemical sample results from the NBWW study area. The most limiting of the fish or macroinvertebrate assemblages for each parameter are indicated along with thresholds for excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor biological condition. The goodness of fit score (FIT) and reference site values are also provided. Illinois chronic and acute standards for heavy metals parameters are also provided in brackets in red alongside the good and poor IPS thresholds.

								Thresholds by Na	gory	Reference Site	Refer-		
Parameter			Parameter	Limiting								Values (Median-2X	ence
Code	Variable Name	Units	Group	Assemblage	FIT Score	Sample N	Excellent	Good	Fair	Poor	Very Poor	IQR)	Site N
P665	Total Phosphorus	mg/L	Nutrients	Fish	0.04	1464	<u><</u> 0.106	>0.106	>0.277	>1.002	>1.726	0.088 (0.062-0.115)	35
P94	Conductivity	μS/cm	Ionic	Fish	0.05	1464	<u><</u> 739	<u>></u> 739	>1038	>1208	>1378	922 (705-1158)	40
P70300	Total Dissolved Solids	mg/L	Ionic	Fish	0.10	1464	<u><</u> 453.8	>453.8	>558.0	>651.2	>744.5	614 (512-664)	28
DO_MIN	Minimum DO	mg/L	Demand	Macros	0.10	985	>8.0	<u>></u> 6.5	>5.47	<4.44	<3.4	8.6 (6.5-9.6)	29
P625	Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen	mg/L	Demand	Macros	0.14	985	<u><</u> 1.07	>1.07	>1.12	>1.63	>2.14	0.74 (0.30-0.99)	30
P940	Chloride, Total	mg/L	Ionic	Fish	0.17	1464	<u><</u> 40.00	>40.00	>120.0	>184.9	>249.8	154 (80.3-171.3)	33
P299	Mean Dissolved Oxygen	mg/L	Demand	Macros	0.21	985	<u>></u> 9.42	<9.42	<9.25	<6.11	<3.05	8.6 (7.9-9.0)	40
P310	BOD (5-Day)	mg/L	Demand	Macros	0.21	985	<u><</u> 1.30	>1.30	>2.35	>3.45	>4.54	2 (2.0-2.2)	27
P610	Total Ammonia	mg/L	Nutrients	Macros	0.28	985	<u><</u> 0.084	>0.084	>0.100	>0.190	>0.280	0.1 (0.10-0.10)	34
P630	Nitrate-N	mg/L	Nutrients	Fish	0.29	1464	<u><</u> 3.767	>3.767	>5.045	>7.344	>9.643	0.39 (0.29-0.97)	32
P929	Sodium, Total	mg/L	Ionic	Fish	0.29	1464	<u><</u> 16275	>16275	>45000	>79056	>113112	14200 (10375-22500	21
P530	Total Suspended Solids	mg/L	Demand	Fish	0.32	1464	<u><</u> 17.50	>17.50	>31.60	>35.15	>38.69	9.2 (5.4-20.3)	33
P615	Nitrite-N	mg/L	Nutrients	Macros	0.41	985	<u><</u> 0.014	>0.014	>0.040	>0.068	>0.096	0.01 (0.01-0.01)	27
DO_MAX	Maximum DO	mg/L	Demand	Macros	0.94	985	<u><</u> 10.36	<u>></u> 10.36	>12.21	>14.24	>16.28	8.74 (8.21-9.45)	29
P82078	Turbidity	NTU	Demand	Macros	2.61	985		<u><</u> 19.3	>19.3	>25.9	>32.5	11.0 (4.5-24.5)	7
P549	Volatile Suspended Solids	mg/L	Demand	Fish	2.81	1464	<u><</u> 5.000	>5.000	>7.769	>9.825	>11.88	6.0 (4.8-7.4)	5
P945	Sulfate, Total	mg/L	Ionic	Macros	6.49	985	<u><</u> 58.27	>58.27	>73.10	>83.45	>93.81	74.6 (61.8-81.8)	4
P937	Potassium, Total	mg/L	Ionic	Macros	10.13	985	<u><</u> 3158	>3158	>6300	>7718	>9129	2400 (1574-2817)	21
P916	Calcium, Total	mg/L	Ionic	Fish	Unimodal	1464	<u><</u> 84425	>84425	>86067	>86313	>86559	54,000 (80-74,250)	21
						Met	als and Tox	ics					
P1092	Zinc, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	0.13	1464	<u><</u> 7.47	>7.47 [55.5]	>9.78	>11.00	>12.22 [309.7]	2.0 (2.0-7.0)	23
P1027	Cadmium, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	0.93	1464	<u><</u> 0.937	>0.937 [2.70]	>0.974	>0.983	>0.991 [33.63]	<mdl (0.17)<="" td=""><td>23</td></mdl>	23
P1042	Copper, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	1.75	1464		<pre><4.480 [CS: 18.65]</pre>	>4.480	>4.969	>5.458 [AS: 30.1]	2.00 (1.96-4.15)	22
P1051	Lead, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Macros	2.11	985	<u><</u> 2.851	>2.851 [CS; 18.0]	>3.335	>3.884	>4.434 [AS: 343]	0.24 (0.20-0.57)	23
P1082	Strontium	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	2.69	1464	<u><</u> 169.1	>169.1	>190.8	>280.4	>370.1	150 (135-181)	21
P1055	Manganese, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Macros	2.74	985	<u><</u> 53.71	>53.71 [CS: 3319]	>77.03	>107.1	>137.2 [AS: 7808]	32.0 (24.1-38.2)	23
P1067	Nickel, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Macros	3.26	985		<u><</u> 3.470 [CS: 103.6]	>3.470	>9.585	>15.70 [AS: 932]	5.0 (1.5-21)	14
P1105	Aluminum, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	4.54	1464	<u><</u> 310.0	>310.0	>393.3	>560.2	>727.0	200 (128-449)	21
P1007	Barium, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	4.77	1464	<u><</u> 74.1	>74.09	>84.88	>101.8	>118.6	56.3 (44.3-64.7)	21
P720	Cyanide, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Macros	5.17	985	<u><</u> 8	>8 [CS: 5.2]	>10	>10	>10 [AS: 22]	3 (2-10)	6
P1002	Arsenic	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Macros	9.19	985		<u><</u> 3.616 [CS: 190]	>3.455	>5.029	>6.603 [AS: 360]	Insufficient Data	
P1034	Chromium, Total	μg/L	Metal_Tox	Fish	10.17	1464	<u><</u> 1.398	>1.398 [CS: 167]	>1.540	>2.682	>3.824 [AS: 3503]	1.73 (1.30-2.00)	6
CS - Illinois WOS	chronic standard equated to Good:	AS - Illinoi	s WOS acute sta	andard equated to	Very Poor	•	•			•	•	•	

Table 8. Biological effect thresholds derived from Northeast Illinois streams and rivers for selected sediment chemical parameters as part of NE Illinois IPS model and used to assess chemical sample results from the NBWW study area. The most limiting of the fish or macroinvertebrate assemblages for each parameter are indicated along with thresholds for excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor biological condition. The goodness of fit score (FIT) and reference site values are also provided.

Parameter			Parameter	Limiting			Thre	sholds by N	arrative Co	ndition Cate	egory	Literature Thresholds					
Code	Variable Name	Units	Group	Assemblage	FIT Score	Sample N	Excellent	Good	Fair	Poor	Very Poor	TEC/LEL	PEC/PEL	Short	Source		
P1093	Zinc	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	2.22	985	<u><</u> 75.00	>75.00	>100.0	>133.9	>167.8	121	459	170	MacDonald		
P34524	Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	µg/kg	PAH	Macros	2.32	985		< 335.0	>335.0	>792.1	>1249	170	320		MacDonald		
P34406	Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	2.41	985		< 260.5	>260.5	>623.3	>986.2	200	3200		MacDonald		
P1043	Copper	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	2.42	985	<u><</u> 19.00	>19.00	>29.78	>40.45	>51.12	31.6	149	37	MacDonald		
P34233	Benzo(b)fluoranthene	µg/kg	PAH	Macros	2.51	985		<520.8	>520.8	>1437	>2354	240	13400		MacDonald		
P1068	Nickel	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	2.67	985		<19.50	>19.50	>22.52	>25.53	22.7	48.6	26	MacDonald		
P34250	Benzo(a)pyrene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	2.85	985		<230.0	>230.0	>798.3	>1367	150	1450		MacDonald		
P34472	Pyrene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	2.85	985		< 393.0	>393.0	>1570	>2747	195	1520		MacDonald		
P1052	Lead	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	3.01	985	<u><</u> 15.50	>15.50	>24.80	>33.04	>41.27	35.8	128	60	MacDonald		
P34529	Benzo[a]anthracene	µg/kg	PAH	Macros	3.48	985		< 239.0	>239.0	>699.4	>1160	108	1050		MacDonald		
P34323	Chrysene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	3.51	985		<266.0	>266.0	>958.3	>1651	166	1290		MacDonald		
P34379	Fluoranthene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	3.91	985		<774.0	>774.0	>2432	>4091	423	2230		MacDonald		
P1083	Strontium	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	4.44	985		<81.80	>81.80	>106.8	>131.9	None	None				
P34559	Dibenz(a,h)anthracene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	4.57	985		< 101.0	>101.0	>167.3	>233.7	33	135		MacDonald		
P34223	Anthracene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	5.10	985		<78.00	>78.00	>119.9	>161.8	46.9	245		CCME		
P34464	Phenanthrene	µg/kg	PAH	Macros	5.10	985		< 243.5	>243.5	>803.3	>1363	204	1170		MacDonald		
P1003	Arsenic	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	6.21	985		<u><</u> 8.65	>8.65	>15.82	>23.67	9.79	33	7.2	MacDonald		
P1029	Chromium	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	6.29	985	<u><</u> 20.53	>20.53	>23.30	>26.22	>29.15	43.4	111	37	MacDonald		
P1053	Manganese	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	7.08	985	<u><</u> 841.0	>841.0	>845.5	>996.8	>1148	460	1100	1100	MacDonald		
P1078	Silver	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	7.11	985		<0.483	>0.483	>1.261	>2.039	1.6	2.2		MacDonald		
P1108	Aluminum	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	8.26	985		<6480	>6480	>8272	>10064						
P1008	Barium	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	8.88	985		<u><</u> 141.0	>132.0	>150.3	>168.7			145			
P1028	Cadmium	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	11.00	985		<u><</u> 0.933	>0.745	>1.354	>1.963	0.99	4.98	2	MacDonald		
P1013	Beryllium	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	ND ^a	985		<u><</u> 0.411	>0.411	>0.496	>0.581						
P1103	Tin	mg/kg	Metal_Tox	Macros	ND ^a	985		<8.86	>11.00	>16.73	>24.60						
P34203	Acenaphthylene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	ND ^a	985		<86.38	>86.38	>103.6	>120.9	5.87	128		CCME		
P34208	Acenaphthene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	ND ^a	985		<84.25	>84.25	>104.8	>125.3	6.71	88.9		CCME		
P34262	Delta-BHC	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	ND ^a	985		<2.098	>2.098	>6.19	>10.28						
P34384	Fluorene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	ND ^a	985		<84.25	>84.25	>104.8	>125.3	77.4	536		MacDonald		
P34445	Naphthalene	μg/kg	PAH	Macros	ND ^a	985		< 86.38	>86.38	>103.6	>120.9	34.6	391		CCME		

^a - Not determined (ND) due to a high number of non-detects

MacDonald - MacDonald, D. D., C. G. Ingersoll, and T. A. Berger. 2000. Development and Evaluation of Consensus-Based Sediment Quality Guidelines

for Freshwater Ecosystems. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 39, 20–31.

CCME - Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 1999. Canadian sediment quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life. Canadian environmental

quality guidelines, 1999, Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg, MB.

Table 9. Biological effect thresholds derived from Northeast Illinois streams and rivers for selected habitat and land use parameters as part of NE Illinois IPS model and used to assess chemical sample results from the NBWW study area. The most limiting of the fish or macroinvertebrate assemblages for each parameter are indicated along with thresholds for excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor biological condition. The goodness of fit score (FIT) and reference site values are also provided.

			Deveneter	Lingitin a			Th	resholds by N	Reference Site	Deference			
Parameter Code	Variable Name	Units	Group	Assemblage	FIT Score	Sample N	Excellent	Good	Fair	Poor	Very Poor	2X IQR)	Site N
EMBEDDED	Embeddedness Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.03	1393	<u><</u> 1.3	>1.3	>1.6	>2.4	>3.2	2 (2-2)	29
Urban	Urban (Ust. WS)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Fish	0.03	2657	<u><</u> 8.8	>8.8	>45.0	>63.2	>81.3	8.7 (3.0-9.5)	48
QHEI	QHEI Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.04	1393	<u>></u> 84.5	>75.9	<75.9	<50.1	<25.0	84 (76-90)	34
SUBSTRAT	Substrate Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.04	1393	<u>></u> 16.0	<16.0	<15.0	<9.9	<5.0	8 (7-9)	33
WWH_ATTR	Good Habitat Attributes	Number	Habitat	Fish	0.04	1393	<u>></u> 9	<9	<8	<5	<2	16 (15-17)	34
Imperv	Impervious (30 m)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Fish	0.04	2657	<u><</u> 18.3	>18.3	>30.5	>53.4	>76.4	2.1 (0.0-14.7)	48
Imperv	Impervious (30 m Clipped)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Fish	0.04	2657	<u><</u> 13.4	>13.4	>26.7	>50.9	>75.1	2.1 (0.0-6.1)	48
CHANNEL	Channel Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.07	1393	<u>></u> 16.8	<16.8	<14.00	<9.2	<4.6	16 (13-19)	34
COVER	Cover Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.07	1393	<u>></u> 16.0	<16.0	<14.0	<9.2	<4.6	16 (16-17)	34
SILTCOVE	Silt Cover Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.07	1393	<u><</u> 2.0	<2.0	>2.0	>2.7	>3.33	2 (2-3)	29
Develop	Developed (Ust. WS)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Fish	0.07	2657	<u><</u> 9.1	>9.1	>45.6	>63.6	>81.5	9.1 (2.9-9.6)	48
RIPARIAN	Riparian Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.10	1393	<u>></u> 6.0	>6.0	<6.0	<4.0	<2.0	7.0 (6.0-9.5)	34
Imperv	Impervious (Ust. WS)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Macros	0.10	3096	<u><</u> 5.6	>5.6	>13.2	>41.8	>70.5	5.2 (2.1-5.4)	48
DEPTH	Depth Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.11	1393	<u>></u> 10.0	>10.0	<10.0	<6.6	<3.3	10 (9-11)	33
MWH_ATTR	Poor Habitat Attributes	Number	Habitat	Fish	0.12	1393	<u><1</u>	<1	>1	>3	>6	2 (1-5)	20
HYD_QHEI	Hydro-QHEI	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.13	1393	<u>></u> 17.0	>17.0	<19.5	<12.9	<6.4	20 (14-22)	33
CURRENT	Current Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.14	1393	<u>></u> 7.0	>7.0	<7.0	<4.6	<2.3	11 (5.8-11.0)	33
POOL	Pool Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.15	1393	<u>></u> 11.3	<11.3	<10.0	<6.6	<3.3	11.5 (10-12)	34
Heavurb	Heavy Urban (Ust. WS)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Macros	0.17	3096	<u><</u> 7.7	>7.7	>29.3	>52.6	>76.0	5.5 (1.1-6.0)	48
RIFFLE	Riff< Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.27	1393	<u>></u> 5.8	<u>></u> 5.8	<5.8	<3.9	<1.9	6 (5-7)	34
GRAD_S	Gradient Score	QHEI Units	Habitat	Fish	0.31	1393	<u>></u> 10.0	>10.0	<10.0	<6.6	<3.3	10 (10-10)	34
Ag	Agricultural (Ust. WS)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Macros	4.82	3096	<u><</u> 87.1	<87.1	>62.1	>74.6	>87.1	83.9 (11.7-85.4)	48
GRADIENT	Gradient (ft/mi)	feet/mile	Habitat	Fish	12.20	1393	<u>></u> 8.8	<8.8	<4.3	<2.8	<1.4	8.6 (4.9-11.3)	34
Ag	Agricultural (30 m)	Wtd. %	Land Use	Macros	16.66	3096	<u><</u> 87.2	<87.2	>43.2	>61.9	>80.7	0.0 (0.0-0.4)	48

Demand and Nutrient Related Parameters

Demand and nutrient parameters consist of those related to the discharges of treated and untreated sewage, organic enrichment from point and nonpoint sources, nutrient parameters and their effects, and physical parameters such as total suspended solids and temperature. For the 2018-21 surveys this consisted of nine parameters – dissolved oxygen (D.O.), temperature (°C), pH (S.U.), total suspended solids (TSS), volatile suspended solids (VSS), ammonia-N (NH₃-N), nitrate-N (NO₃-N), total phosphorus (TP), and total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN). With the exception of continuously measured D.O., temperature, and pH, most of the data is based on the collection of grab samples and expressed as mean and/or median values. The grab sample data are reported in tabular fashion across all three branches for 2020 and 2021 (Table 10) and graphically by individual branch for the four years of the 2018-2021 results.

The continuous measurement of D.O., temperature, and pH was done over 4-5 day periods in early August 2020 and late August 2021 during periods of extended low flows and elevated temperatures at 19 locations. The data at West Fork location at WF20 (RM 12.5) was affected by a beaver pond which physically affected the set and invalidated the results. The D.O. data was also used to support the Stream Nutrient Assessment Procedure and with pH, the IEPA Risk of Eutrophication procedure. These results are reported across all three branches for the 2020 and 2021 results with reference to the 2018 and 2019 results as necessary.

рН (S.U.)

pH is a measure of how acidic/basic water is with a measurement range of 0 to 14. It is the relative amount of free hydrogen (acidic) and hydroxyl (basic) ions in the water. pH is measured on a logarithmic scale where each successive whole number away from the neutral value of 7.0 represents a 10-fold change in the acidity (>7.0) or basicness (>7.0) of the water. For example, water with a pH of 5.0 is ten times more acidic than water having a pH of 6.0. It is an important factor in how chemicals affect aquatic life and other biological processes. It determines the solubility (amount that can be dissolved in the water) and biological availability (amount that can be utilized by aquatic life) of chemical constituents such as nutrients (phosphorus, nitrogen, and carbon) and heavy metals (lead, copper, cadmium, etc.). For example, pH affects the amount of total ammonia-N that is present in the most toxic unionized form and along with temperature is part of the Illinois standard. At a temperature of 26°C, which is typical of summer ambient temperatures in the study area, a change in pH from 8.0 S.U. to 9.0 S.U. changes the equivalent ammonia-N criterion from 1.16 mg/L to 0.23 mg/L, a decrease of 80%. It also affects how much and what form of phosphorus is most abundant in the water, and therefore affects how aquatic plants and animals can utilize it. As a result pH is responsive to algal photosynthesis and respiration similar to D.O. with a diel cycle of pH being higher in daytime and lower at night. Along with hardness it affects the degree to which heavy metals are soluble which determines their toxicity. The Illinois standard is a range between 6.5-9.0 S.U. The short-term continuous results in 2020 and 2021 showed pH within the 6.5-9.0 range of the Illinois standard (Figure 7). Values were all below 8.0 S.U. at the three Skokie R. sites in 2020 and the North Branch site (MF19; RM 18.6) with a comparatively low range of between the

Table 10. Median values for 13 selected chemical/physical water quality parameters 25 sites in the NBWW survey area in 2020-21 based on samples collected May-October. NE Illinois IPS and other source thresholds are listed at the bottom of the table and the results are color coded accordingly.

										Total	Chloro-	Total	Volatile		Specific
		Drainage			Conduct-		Ammonia-			Phos-	phyll a,	Suspend-	Suspend-		Conduct-
	River	Area	Tempera-		ivity	D.O.	N	Nitrate-N	TKN	phorus	Sestonic	ed Solids	ed Solids	Chloride	ance
Site ID	Mile	(sq. mi.)	ture (°C)	pH (S.U.)	(µS/cm)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(ug/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(µS/cm)
		I		-		-	Skokie	River - 2020		1	-	1			
SR1	21.1	2.7	22.6	7.09	1438	5.6	0.12	0.02	0.86	0.006	7.1	11	1.0	356	1438
SR2	17.4	7.8	21.9	7.48	1390	6.3	0.13	0.14	0.40	0.006	2.7	9	1.0	279	1390
SR3	14.8	11.5	21.8	7.54	1054	7.0	0.12	0.20	0.71	0.006	1.3	11	1.0	203	1054
SR4	11.3	15.0	22.0	7.76	1085	7.7	0.05	0.22	0.59	0.006	0.7	8	1.0	179	1085
SR5	8.0	20.6	22.3	7.65	1006	6.2	0.06	0.45	0.97	0.006	3.1	6	1.0	168	1006
SR6	7.4	21.5	22.9	7.67	983	6.3	0.12	0.49	0.88	0.006	1.5	7	1.0	167	983
SR7	3.0	23.7	25.1	7.85	844	7.5	0.06	0.64	1.46	0.120	25.0	14	4.5	149	844
SR18	0.5	30.9	23.5	7.70	868	7.1	0.06	6.18	1.33	0.320	18.0	14	3.5	140	868
							Skokie	River - 2021							
SR1	21.1	2.7	20.0	7.23	1030	8.1	0.11	0.19	0.64	0.006	1.0	11	2.0	222	1030
SR2	17.4	7.8	19.7	7.15	1661	8.1	0.06	0.30	0.82	0.006	0.4	8	1.0	452	1661
SR3	14.8	11.5	19.6	7.43	1499	9.0	0.08	0.30	0.76	0.006	0.4	5	1.0	406	1499
SR4	11.3	15.0	19.9	7.37	1505	9.1	0.08	0.29	0.95	0.006	0.2	5	1.0	395	1505
SR5	8.0	20.6	20.6	7.47	1565	8.2	0.15	0.45	1.18	0.093	7.6	6	1.0	386	1565
SR6	7.4	21.5	21.0	7.49	1549	8.0	0.15	0.45	1.55	0.078	0.5	7	1.0	398	1549
SR7	3.0	23.7	24.8	7.64	1294	7.5	0.18	1.03	2.09	0.170	23.0	12	1.0	331	1294
SR18	0.5	30.9	22.4	7.14	1181	8.2	0.13	11.00	1.55	0.620	2.3	19	4.5	254	1181
						Middle Fo	ork North Br	anch Chicag	o River - 20.	20					
MF8	21.1	5.8	24.8	7.29	1504	7.0	0.07	0.02	0.62	0.006	4.9	15	4.5	334	1504
MF9	18.9	8.9	24.5	7.28	1328	8.0	0.07	0.02	0.45	0.058	2.2	24	3.0	297	1328
MF10	16.7	11.9	24.3	7.43	1167	7.7	0.06	0.06	0.72	0.006	1.2	10	2.0	228	1167
MF11	14.1	16.1	24.6	7.56	915	9.1	0.05	0.02	0.95	0.006	0.4	23	4.0	165	915
MF12	10.8	19.2	24.7	7.55	905	7.8	0.01	0.02	0.92	0.006	0.6	8	1.0	166	905
MF13	8.6	21.0	24.9	7.42	887	8.0	0.06	0.09	1.46	0.006	0.8	10	3.5	170	887
MF14	6.0	22.5	24.1	7.63	961	8.9	0.01	0.02	1.51	0.006	0.8	8	1.5	182	961
MF15	4.0	24.3	25.0	7.57	909	8.8	0.09	0.02	0.97	0.006	0.3	17	3.0	172	909
MF16	3.0	56.1	22.5	7.49	960	7.2	0.09	5.88	2.15	0.390	3.5	18	2.0	176	960
MF17	1.8	57.3	23.5	7.49	911	6.8	0.18	6.67	1.29	0.325	3.5	15	2.0	151	911
		Excellent	25.0		<739	>8.0	<0.084	<u><</u> 3.77	<1.07	<u><</u> 0.106	<2.5	<u><</u> 17.5	<u><</u> 5.00	<40.0	<739
Conditio	n Category	Good	29.4		<1038	>6.5	<0.100	<5.05	<1.12	<0.277	<5.1	<31.6	<7.76	<120.0	<1038
Thre	sholds	Fair	31.7		<1208	>5.6	<0.190	<7.34	<1.63	<1.020	<13.8	<35.2	<9.83	<184.9	<1208
		Very Poor	36.0		>1378	>4.4	>0.280	>9.64	>2.14	>1.730	>28.9	<38.7	>11.88	>249.8	>1378
So	urce	IPS	IL/OH WQS		IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS	MBI/NSAC	IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS

34 | Page

Table 10. continued.

										Total	Chloro-	Total	Volatile		Specific
		Drainage			Conduct-		Ammonia-			Phos-	phyll a,	Suspend-	Suspend-		Conduct-
	River	Area	Tempera-		ivity	D.O.	N	Nitrate-N	TKN	phorus	Sestonic	ed Solids	ed Solids	Chloride	ance
Site ID	Mile	(sq. mi.)	ture (°C)	pH (S.U.)	(µS/cm)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(ug/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	(µS/cm)
		•				Middle Fo	ork North Br	anch Chicag	o River - 20.	21					
MF8	21.1	5.8	22.1	6.99	2865	5.7	0.08	0.02	1.36	0.110	3.8	11	1.0	773	2865
MF9	18.9	8.9	21.0	7.11	2665	4.7	0.07	0.02	1.32	0.130	5.8	14	1.0	700	2665
MF10	16.7	11.9	23.5	7.20	1969	5.3	0.06	0.02	1.56	0.063	1.6	6	1.0	555	1969
MF11	14.1	16.1	23.0	7.05	1845	5.4	0.06	0.02	1.33	0.073	4.1	13	1.0	505	1845
MF12	10.8	19.2	22.4	7.33	1847	4.4	0.06	0.09	1.06	0.068	2.1	6	1.0	522	1847
MF13	8.6	21.0	22.2	7.18	1912	6.1	0.12	0.16	1.09	0.150	0.9	8	2.0	541	1912
MF14	6.0	22.5	21.2	7.49	1832	7.5	0.07	0.17	1.30	0.115	0.4	5	1.0	518	1832
MF15	4.0	24.3	21.8	7.62	1752	8.3	0.13	0.35	1.01	0.063	1.4	5	1.0	490	1752
MF16	3.0	56.1	24.1	7.07	1290	8.3	0.08	13.85	1.47	0.705	3.2	25	1.0	284	1290
MF17	1.8	57.3	24.1	7.24	1299	8.0	0.19	13.25	1.74	0.760	1.7	19	2.5	287	1299
						West For	rk North Bra	nch Chicago	River - 202	0					
WF20	12.5	3.9	23.2	7.33	800	8.3	0.14	0.11	1.36	0.173	3.0	12	1.0	147	800
WF21	10.4	7.0	25.7	7.27	872	7.8	0.15	0.07	1.96	0.006	1.3	8	1.0	183	872
WF22	9.2	9.4	25.6	7.51	1047	10.0	0.13	6.70	2.15	1.285	4.1	10	3.0	210	1047
WF23	4.9	17.9	26.1	7.59	1101	9.3	0.13	3.64	1.77	0.665	4.2	20	4.5	221	1101
WF24	2.9	24.5	25.0	7.59	1177	8.1	0.34	2.71	1.72	0.460	2.2	7	3.0	236	1177
WF25	1.3	28.0	26.7	7.64	1172	8.1	0.29	2.53	0.87	0.470	1.0	6	1.0	243	1172
						West For	rk North Bra	nch Chicago	River - 202	1					
WF20	12.5	3.9	22.7	6.98	1379	4.8	0.15	0.13	1.72	0.235	10.0	20	3.5	357	1379
WF21	10.4	7.0	22.7	6.92	1566	3.7	0.30	0.37	1.52	0.225	1.2	9	2.5	418	1566
WF22	9.2	9.4	23.0	7.16	1142	5.9	0.35	7.40	2.05	2.065	2.9	17	2.0	232	1142
WF23	4.9	17.9	24.8	8.02	1478	9.7	0.19	3.37	1.69	0.735	24.0	60	5.0	283	1478
WF24	2.9	24.5	23.3	7.46	1699	6.3	0.38	1.92	1.62	0.515	6.7	18	1.0	323	1699
WF25	1.3	28.0	23.7	7.19	1347	6.3	0.28	2.28	1.49	0.435	1.7	15	1.5	312	1347
						No	rth Branch C	Chicago Rive	r - 2020						
MF19	18.6	93.4	24.4	7.62	944	7.5	0.14	5.02	1.42	0.305	1.0	13	1.0	166	944
						No	rth Branch C	Chicago Rive	r - 2021						
MF19	18.6	93.4	25.8	7.24	1380	8.5	0.14	11.75	2.19	0.600	2.4	15	1.0	349	1380
		Excellent	25.0		<739	>8.0	<0.084	<u><</u> 3.77	<1.07	<u>≤</u> 0.106	<2.5	<u><</u> 17.5	<u><</u> 5.00	<40.0	<739
Condition	n Category	Good	29.4		<1038	>6.5	<0.100	<5.05	<1.12	<0.277	<5.1	<31.6	<7.76	<120.0	<1038
Thre	sholds	Poor	31.7		<1208	>5.6	<0.190	<9.64	<1.63	<1.020	<13.8	<35.2	<9.83	<184.9	<1208
		Very Poor	36.0		>1378	<4.4	<u>></u> 0.280	<u>>9.64</u>	<u>>2.14</u>	<u>>1.730</u>	>28.9	>38.7	>11.88	<u>></u> 249.8	>1378
Source IPS IL/OH WQS					IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS	MBI/NSAC	IPS	IPS	IPS	IPS





minimum and maximum values. The widest range occurred in the Middle Fork between MF08 (RM 21.1) and MF12 (RM 10.8) with one maximum value exceeding 9.0 S.U. at MF08. pH values declined as did the range at the four downstream sites. Similarly wide variations and maximum

values of 8.5-9.0 S.U. occurred at three sites in the West Fork in 2021 both upstream and downstream from the Deerfield WRF. Sufficient continuous pH data was not available in 2018-19 and it was not included in that report.

Temperature (℃)

Temperature is a critical factor in aquatic systems as it both directly and indirectly influences individual organism health and well-being and various physicochemical processes that also have direct and indirect effects. Fish will avoid lethal temperatures and seek the temperature regime that each species prefers. Temperature affects chemical rates and processes and the toxicity of certain pollutants (e.g., ammonia-N). While much of the concern with temperature has centered on discharges of heat, modifications and alterations to natural temperature regimes have received increased attention due to climate change.

Based on continuous data collected during the Datasonde deployments in early August 2020 and late August 2021. Typically the potential for adverse thermal effects are evaluated based on the warmest period of the year and against temperature criteria that are intended to protect aquatic life. There was only one temperature value in the Middle Fork (MF09) that exceeded the Illinois temperature standard of 32.2°C (90°F) with the upstream most site (MF08) having the second highest maximum value near 30°C (86°F; Figure 8). The remaining 17 sites had much lower maximum and mean temperatures. The Illinois EPA summer maximum criterion of 32.2°C (90°F) is at the extreme upper maximum avoidance and lethal temperatures for the most sensitive stream fish species. The same two Middle Fork sites (MF08 and MF09) also exceeded the more modern Ohio temperature criteria that are specific to smaller streams and rivers with a maximum and average criteria of 31.7°C (89.0°F) and 29.4°C (85.0°F), respectively. A maximum of 29.2°C at the uppermost site in the Middle Fork North Branch, MF10, was the highest value measured in 2019 and was below the Ohio maximum criterion. The maximum temperature value measured in 2018 was 29.2°C at the uppermost site on the Skokie River (SR03), which was also below the Ohio maximum criterion. While, there is no reason to believe that temperatures are a widely limiting factor to the biota in the study area, the high values measured in the upper Middle Fork reveal the vulnerability of urbanized watersheds to potentially adverse thermal impacts.

Dissolved Oxygen (D.O.)

Exceedances of dissolved oxygen (D.O.) were assessed with continuous data obtained from Datasonde deployments during early August 2020 and late August 2021 at 18 sites (WF12 had invalid data). As in 2018-19 exceedances of parts of the Illinois EPA D.O. criteria were observed, but at many more sites (Figure 9). All of the deployments were made after August 1 hence the minimum was evaluated against the 3.5 mg/L criterion and the 5.0 mg/L 7-day average criterion. Exceedances of the 3.5 mg/L minimum criterion occurred at 14 of the 19 sites and were the most pronounced in the Skokie River (3 of 4 sites), the Middle Fork (5 of 9 sites), and the West Fork (5 of 5 sites). The North Branch (MF19) was only one of two sites that met both the average and minimum standards. Median values were used to assess exceedances of the

MBI/2023-1-1

5.0 mg/L average criterion which occurred at only 6 of 18 sites. Of these the median value of 5 mg/L at SR07 was the largest exceedance of the average. Seven sites had maximum values



Figure 8. Temperature (°C) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-5 day periods during early August 2020 and late August 2021 at 19 locations in the 2020-21 study area. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum, 25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the median) values. The Illinois EPA maximum April 1-November 30 standard (32.2°C) and the Ohio EPA streams and rivers maximum (29.4°C) and average (27.8°C) criteria are shown by solid and dashed lines.



Figure 9. Dissolved oxygen (D.O.) concentrations (mg/L) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-5 day periods during early August 2020 and late August 2020 at 18 locations. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum, 25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the median) values. The Illinois EPA August-February minimum (3.5 mg/L) and the 7-day average (5.0 mg/L) D.O. standard are shown by solid and dashed lines along with the IPS maximum D.O. (12.3 mg/L) by a solid line.

greater than the IPS maximum of 12.3 mg/L with 5 in the upper Middle Fork and the other two in the West Fork upstream and downstream from the Deerfield WRF. These sites also had the widest diel variation which was evaluated as symptom of excessive nutrient enrichment in the modified SNAP assessment. The increased exceedances between 2018-19 and 2020-21 are most likely related to sustained low flows in the latter contributing to increased residence time and lower reaeration.

Exceedances of Standards

Exceedances of standards in the Illinois WQS as measured by the short-term deployment of Datasondes was assessed (Table 11). All except two of the exceedances were for the minimum or 7-day minimum D.O. standard (Table 11) numbering 65 in 2020 and 2021. This compares with 47 measured over roughly the same number of days in 2018-19. Of the 2020-21 exceedances, 47 occurred in 2021 compared to only 20 in 2020. Lower flows in 2021 compared to the other three years likely contributed to the higher frequency of standards exceedances including one for maximum pH and one for maximum temperature. Most parameters monitored and assessed in the 2018-2021 surveys either do not have a standard or the current standard is outdated, hence the use of the IPS and other source thresholds enhanced the analysis of the water chemistry results. Any exceedances of other standards measured by grab sampling are detailed at the end of the water chemistry results.

Skokie River

Ammonia-Nitrogen (N)

Ammonia-N concentrations between years ranged between the fair and excellent IPS thresholds with an overall tendency to increase downstream (Figure 10). Values in 2018 were either just above or below the NE Illinois IPS good threshold of 0.15 mg/L at all sites with no values exceeding the fair threshold (Figure 10; Table 10). The 2019 ammonia-N levels were higher than in 2018 being with the fair range throughout the Skokie River (Figure 10). Levels in 2020 were similar to 2019 in the upper mainstem, but decreased to the good and excellent ranges further downstream. Ammonia-N levels in 2021 were low in the upper mainstem and increasing to near 2019 levels in the lower mainstem. None of the ammonia-N levels exceeded the Illinois standard during any of the four years and the pattern suggested no relationship with a specific influence other than diffuse nonpoint point sources.

Total Nitrate-N (NO₃-N)

Median nitrate levels in all years were consistently low and ranged from good to excellent at all sites in the Skokie River (Figure 11). All results were well within the excellent threshold of 3.767 mg/L except SR18 downstream of the Skokie Lagoons and the entry of the NWRSD Clavey Rd. WRF downstream from which nitrate-N levels increased sharply (Table 11). Nitrate-N levels at this site were in the good range in 2018, the fair range in 2019 and 2020, and the poor range in 2021 an overall increase from 4.0 to 11.0 mg/L. The role of total nitrate-N and other indicators as a contributor to overall nutrient enrichment effects was considered as part of the modified SNAP procedure (Ohio EPA, 2015b).

Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)

Median total organic nitrogen measured by Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN), an indicator of the living or recently dead fraction of sestonic algae, is an informative indicator of organic and nutrient enrichment. While TKN is not a direct effect parameter, it is indicative of the effects of organic enrichment by nitrogenous biomass the latter primarily resulting from increased algal biomass. Major sources of organic nitrogen in urban stormwater runoff include lawn and

Table 11. Exceedances of Illinois WQS standards measured by the short term deployment of Datasondes at 19 sites in 2020 and 2021. Each exceedance lists the dates, the parameter, the numeric criterion, the term of the standard, the cumulative exceedances at each site, and the exceedances by year. Cumulative and annual totals appear at the bottom of the table.

			River					Cumulative		
Site ID	River	Year	Mile	Dates	Pollutant	Criteria	Standard	Exceedances	2020	2021
MF8	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	21.1	Aug - # Days: 4	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed			
MF8	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	21.1	8/2-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	6		
MF8	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	21.1	8/2-8/5	рН	6.5-9.0 S.U.	Not to exceed			
MF9	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	18.9	Aug - # Days: 4	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	5		
MF9	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	18.9	8/2-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	5		
MF10	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	16.7	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed			
MF10	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	16.7	8/2-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	5		20
MF10	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	16.7	8/2-8/5	Temp.	32.2C	Not to exceed			20
MF11	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	14.1	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	4		
MF11	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	14.1	8/2-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	7		
MF12	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	10.8	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	1		
MF12	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	10.8	8/2-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	-		
MF13	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	8.6	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	1		
MF13	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	8.6	8/2-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	4		
MF17	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2020	1.8	Aug - # Days: 1	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	2		
MF17	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	2020	1.8	8/28 - 8/31	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	2		
MF19	North Branch Chicago River	2020	18.6	8/30 - 9/1	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	1		
SR3	Skokie River	2020	14.8	Aug - # Days: 4	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	5		
SR3	Skokie River	2020	14.8	8/27 - 8/30	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	5	20	
SR5	Skokie River	2020	8	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	1	20	
SR5	Skokie River	2020	8	8/27 - 8/30	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	-		
SR7	Skokie River	2020	3	Aug - # Days: 4	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	5		
SR7	Skokie River	2020	3	8/27 - 8/30	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	5		
SR18	Skokie River	2020	0.5	8/31 - 8/31	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	3		
WF21	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	10.4	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	4		
WF21	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	10.4	8/5-8/8	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	7		
WF22	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	9.2	Aug - # Days: 4	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	5		
WF22	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	9.2	8/5-8/8	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	5		
WF23	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	4.9	Aug - # Days: 1	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	2		10
WF23	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	4.9	8/5-8/5	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	2		15
WF24	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	2.9	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	4		
WF24	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	2.9	8/5-8/8	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	4		
WF25	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	2.9	Aug - # Days: 3	D.O.	<3.5 mg/l	Not to exceed	4		
WF25	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2021	2.9	8/5-8/8	D.O.	<4.0 mg/l	7-day Minimum	-7		
							Totals	67	20	47



Figure 10. Concentrations of median ammonia-N in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.



Figure 11. Concentrations of median total Nitrate-N in the Skokie River during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

garden fertilizers, pet waste, leaking septic tanks, landfills, effluent from sewage treatment plants, and vehicle exhaust (U.S. EPA 2020). Nitrogen from aerial and terrestrial sources accumulates on urban roads and parking lots until runoff from a precipitation event carries the pollutants into stormwater drains and directly to local waterbodies. Among different land uses, the highest concentrations of TKN originate from impervious surfaces (e.g., freeways, parking lots, and high density residential. The median TKN concentrations showed an overall downstream increase with no clear patterns between years. Values in 2021 were generally excellent upstream from SR6 (RM 7.4), but increased to the fair range through and downstream from the Skokie Lagoons (Figure 12; Table 10). In 2020 excellent results occurred further upstream, but transitioned to fair at SR8 (RM 8.0) and a poor value in the Skokie Lagoons at SR7 (RM 3.0). The 2018 and 2019 values were generally higher with borderline poor values at the upstream most site SR1 (RM 21.1). The TKN results roughly followed the pattern of the ammonia-N values with the likely sources being of nonpoint source and instream origins.

Total Phosphorus

Median concentrations of total phosphorus (P) in all years were consistently low and in the excellent range except for the lowermost site. The median concentration at SR18 (RM 0.5) exceeded the excellent threshold, but was within the good range in 2018 and 2019 (Figure 13).



Figure 12. Concentrations of median total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Total P increased slightly to 0.325 mg/L (fair range) in 2020 and nearly doubled to 0.620 mg/L in 2021 (Table 10). The NSWRD Clavey Rd. WRF had a minimal, yet measurable influence on TP concentrations in the lower Skokie River. The role of TP (and other indicators) as a contributor to overall nutrient enrichment effects was evaluated as part of the modified SNAP procedure (Ohio EPA 2015b) discussed later.



Figure 13. Concentrations of median total phosphorus in the Skokie River during May-October during 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Total Suspended Solids (TSS)

Total suspended solids can indicate inorganic suspended sediment and/or organic matter in the form of sestonic algae. The median TSS values were the highest among years and generally in the poor to very poor range in the Skokie River in 2018 (Figure 14). The Skokie Lagoons impoundment apparently promoted to settling of suspended solids and combined with the entry of the NSWRD Clavey Rd. WRF effluent resulted in reduced TSS at SR18. Median TSS values in 2019, 2020, and 2021 were about one-third of the levels in 2018 with mostly in the excellent range (Table 10). Because TSS levels can also reflect the effects of nutrient enrichment they are included in the modified SNAP procedure.



Figure 14. Concentrations of median total suspended solids in the Skokie River during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River & North Branch Chicago River

Ammonia-Nitrogen (N)

Median concentrations of ammonia in 2020 and 2021 were mostly in the excellent range of 0.084 mg/L and below the good threshold of 0.10 mg/l with the exception of three values in the fair range (Figure 15; Table 10), one downstream of the Skokie River confluence which carries NWRSD Clavey Rd. effluent. The longitudinal plot indicates no influence from the Deerfield WRF excess flow outfall 004 in any year. None of the ammonia-N levels exceeded the Illinois standard during any of the four years and the pattern suggested only a slight relationship with a specific influence other than diffuse nonpoint point sources. The 2020-21 results were not markedly different than the 2018-19 results except that 2019 had values below the MDL at all sites. The North Branch Chicago River site (MF19) had median ammonia concentrations of 0.14 mg/L in both years which exceeded the 0.10 mg/L good threshold and within the range of the fair IPS threshold.

Total Nitrate-N (NO₃-N)

Nitrate-N concentration levels in the Middle Fork in 2020-21 were generally excellent with the exception of the two sites downstream from the confluence with the Skokie River (Figure 16; Table 10). Nitrate-N concentrations increased markedly and exceed the IPS poor threshold in



Figure 15. Concentrations of median ammonia-N in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

2020 and the very poor threshold in 2021 with concentrations doubling during the latter. These levels were also much higher than in 2018 and 2019 when the highest nitrate-N concentrations at Middle Fork sitesMF16 and MF 17 were the at the upper end of the good range and low portion of the fair range. The North Branch Chicago River site nitrate-N values were similarly impacted in all years with the highest levels in 2021 (Figure 16). The lower Middle Fork and North Branch values exceeded the Illinois non-standard threshold of 7.8 mg/L. The elevated nitrate levels in the North Branch site were considerably higher due to the Skokie River impact. The role of total nitrate-N and other indicators as a contributor to overall nutrient enrichment effects was considered as part of the modified SNAP procedure (Ohio EPA, 2015b).

Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)

Median TKN concentrations in 2020-21 varied in that the 2020 levels were in the good range downstream to site MF12 (RM 10.8) increasing to fair and one very poor value at MF 16 (RM 3.0) downstream from the Skokie River (Figure 17). The 2021 results were different in that all values were fair downstream to MF11 (RM 14.1), then decreasing to excellent, good, and one fair result (Table 10). The two sites downstream from the Skokie River were both fair in 2021. The North Branch site had the highest TKN value of 2.19 mg/L (very poor) in 2021 and second



Figure 16. Concentrations of median nitrate-N in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

highest value of 1.42 mg/L (poor) in 2020, both well above the 2018 and 2019 values. Median TKN median values roughly tracked ammonia-N concentrations in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River. The role of TKN and other indicators as a contributor to overall nutrient enrichment effects was considered as part of the modified SNAP procedure (Ohio EPA, 2015b).

Total Phosphorus

Median phosphorus concentrations in the Middle Fork Chicago River were excellent at all except two sites in 2020 and good and excellent at all sites in 2021 (Figure 18). The 2020 results showed the influence of the NSWRD Clavey Rd. effluent affected Skokie River at MF 16 (RM 3.0) and MF17 (RM 1.8) increasing from 0.006 mg/L to 0.390 and 0.325 mg/L, respectively, and similar to the 2018 and 2019 results (Table 10). There was an even greater increase at the same sites in 2021 with values of 0.705 and 0.760 mg/L at MF16 and MF17, respectively. The North Branch results showed the same influence with a lower value of 0.305 mg/L in 2020 and higher value of 0.600 mg/L in 2021. Two values exceeded the Illinois non-standard threshold of 0.61 mg/L, but all values upstream from the Skokie River confluence were below or at the U.S. EPA Ecoregion 54 benchmark of 0.072 mg/L. The role of total P and other indicators as a contributor to overall nutrient enrichment effects was considered as part of the modified SNAP procedure (Ohio EPA 2015b).



Figure 17. Concentrations of median total Kjeldahl nitrogen in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Total Suspended Solids (TSS)

Median TSS values in 2020 were in the excellent range with the exception of good values at MF9 (RM 18.9), MF11 (RM 14.1), and MF 16 (RM 3.0) and with no discernable longitudinal pattern in 2020 (Figure 18; Table 10). The 2021 values were uniformly excellent upstream from the Skokie River increasing downstream, but remaining within the good range. The 2018 and 2019 levels were generally higher, especially in 2018 when a discernible downstream increase was observed. The North Branch values were excellent in 2020 and 2021 the same as in 2018 and 2019. The role of total TSS and other indicators as a contributor to overall nutrient enrichment effects was considered as part of the modified SNAP procedure (Ohio EPA, 2015b).

West Fork North Branch Chicago River

Ammonia-Nitrogen (N)

Ammonia-N concentration levels in the West Fork were consistently in the fair, poor, and very poor IPS threshold ranges in 2020-21, with more frequent very poor excursions in 2021 (Table 10). The longitudinal profile in 2021 especially showed a net increase downstream from the



Figure 18. Concentrations of median total phosphorus (TP; upper) and total suspended solids (TSS; lower) in the Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Deerfield WRF 001 and 002 outfalls with median ammonia-N levels at very poor levels of 0.30 and 0.35 mg/L, respectively (Figure 19). However, no detectable increase was observe downstream from Deerfield in 2020 or 2018, the latter having the lowest levels among all years and consistently in the good or lower fair range. An increase below Deerfield was observed in 2019, but at much lower median levels than in 2021. None of the individual 2021 values for ammonia-N exceeded the Illinois WQS standard. After declining to a median of 0.19 mg/L at WF23 (RM 4.9) more than four (4) miles downstream, median levels of ammonia-N increased to 0.38 mg/L and 0.28 mg/L at WF 24 (RM 2.9) and WF 25 (RM 1.3) downstream of the Village of Glenview 1800 E Lake Ave lift station. The median declined sharply downstream from the West Fork confluence with the Middle Fork where the median values in 2018-21 at N. Branch site MF19 (RM 18.6) were in the lower fair range.



Figure 19. Concentrations of median ammonia-N in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Total Nitrate-N (NO₃-N)

Median nitrate values in 2020 and 2021 were excellent at West Fork sites except at site WF22 (RM 9.2) where the median value of 7.40 mg/L was in the poor range (Table 10). This value occurred downstream of the Deerfield WRF (Figure 20). Median values in 2019 ranged from fair to excellent with the highest value of 5.020 mg/L downstream from the Deerfield WRF. Concentrations of nitrate-N then fell sharply in all years to the excellent range at WF24 (RM

2.9). The Deerfield WRF 001 outfall was the source of elevated nitrate-N in all years 2018-21 (Figure 21) downstream from which medina values sharply declined. The elevated values at MF19 (RM 18.9) in the N. Branch emanates from the Skokie R. as was described on p. 41.



Figure 20. Concentrations of median total nitrate-N in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)

Median TKN concentrations were mostly poor in 2020 and a mix of fair and poor values in 2021. A single very poor value occurred at WF 22 (RM9.2) downstream from the Deerfield WRF 001 outfall (Table 10). The longitudinal profile resembled ammonia-N with some important exceptions (Figure 21) including a steady decline downstream to the confluence with the Middle Fork. The impact of the Deerfield WRF 001 outfall was more pronounced in 2021 than in 2020. The occurrence of the higher values in 2020 was a reversal of the ammonia-N pattern. Values in 2018 and 2019 were mostly in the good to excellent ranges with the highest values observed downstream from the Village of Glenview lift station at RM 3.0. TKN values at MF19 in the N. Branch emanated from the Skokie R. and were discussed on pp. 41 and 43.

Total Phosphorus

Median concentrations of phosphorus (P) in 2020 and 2021 were consistently low rating good



Figure 21. Concentrations of median total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

to excellent in the upstream most reach at WF20 (RM 12.5) and WF 21 (RM 10.4; Table 10) upstream from the Deerfield WRF 001 outfall (Figure 22). Below Deerfield WRF 001 median total P values increased sharply to poor and very poor levels in 2020 and 2021, respectively (Figure 21). Values declined downstream in both years, but remained elevated in the fair range at 2-4 times the good threshold of 0.277 mg/L. Median concentrations of phosphorus (P) in2019 were consistently in the good range except for an elevated value of 1.27 mg/L (poor) downstream from Deerfield WRF 001. All values in 2018 were lowest among years consistently in the good range even downstream at WF23 (RM 4.9) to WF25 (RM 1.3) with values decreasing to good and excellent.

Total Suspended Solids

Median TSS values were mostly excellent in 2020 and good to excellent in 2021 excepting a very poor value of 60 mg/L at WF 23 (RM 4.9; Table 10). The source is unknown, but it corresponds to a poor sestonic chlorophyll a value of 25.0 μ g/L (Table 10). Median values were good in 2018 and 2019 excepting a poor value of 39 mg/L at WF20 (RM 12.5). The highest values in 2018 and 2019 were observed downstream of the Village of Glenview lift station and downstream from the Deerfield WRF with all values in the good range Figure 22). TSS inputs below the WWTP increased to just above the 17.5 mg/L IPS threshold for excellent levels.



Figure 22. Concentrations of median total phosphorus (TP; upper) and total suspended solids (TSS; lower) in the West Fork North Branch Chicago River and the North Branch Chicago River mainstem during May-October in 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Nutrient Effects Assessment

The impact of nutrients on aquatic life has been well documented (e.g., Allan 2004), but the derivation of criteria and their form and application are only just now emerging. Because of the widely varying efforts to develop nutrient criteria by the States, conflicting U.S. EPA oversight, and the potential cost of additional nutrient controls it has been a controversial issue (Evans-White et al. 2014). Unlike toxicants, the influence of nutrients on aquatic life is indirect and primarily via their influence on algal photosynthesis and respiration and the resulting increased magnitude of diel D.O. swings and by the oxygen demand exerted by algal decomposition. Nutrients can also affect food sources for macroinvertebrates and fish and the response of aquatic life to elevated nutrients is co-influenced by habitat (e.g., substrate composition), stream flow (e.g., scouring and dilution), temperature, and exposure of the water column to sunlight. Illinois is the leading state in terms of nitrogen (16.8%) and phosphorus (12.9%) loadings exported via the Illinois and Upper Mississippi Rivers to the Gulf of Mexico where an anoxic zone has developed (U.S. EPA 2008). In Illinois, as in neighboring Midwestern states that drain to the Mississippi River, efforts are underway to modernize nutrient water quality criteria. However, nutrient export is not the only concern – local impacts are also important and the focus of this evaluation is on reach scale effects in the three branches of the upper North Branch Chicago R. watershed.

The combined effects of nutrient enrichment were assessed to better integrate the preceding descriptions of concentrations of each of the key nutrient related parameters and the other non-chemical factors described previously. A multiparameter approach modified from the Ohio SNAP methodology (Ohio EPA 2015a) and a large rivers methodology (Miltner 2018), and as described in the Methods section, was employed in a progressive manner as has been done previously in other NE Illinois watershed assessments since 2017. The results are detailed in a matrix that shows the fish and macroinvertebrate IBIs, the QHEI score, total P, nitrate-N, TKN, the maximum and minimum D.O. (based on Datasondes), the width of the diel D.O. swing, benthic chlorophyll a (as biomass), sestonic chlorophyll a and an overall rating of the degree of nutrient enrichment based on the frequency and magnitude of exceedances of thresholds for the aforementioned indicators and parameters expressed as the total SNAP score for 19 sites in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area (Table 12). This followed the recently developed weighted scoring procedure used to assess the 2020 results in the upper Des Plaines mainstem (MBI 2020b)

The SNAP score results from summing parameter-specific scores that are weighted highest for five primary response indicators – the fIBI, mIBI, diel D.O. swing, benthic chlorophyll a, and sestonic chlorophyll a, less for three secondary indirect and exposure parameters – QHEI, total phosphorus, and the maximum D.O., and least for four tertiary exposure parameters – total nitrate-N, minimum D.O., TSS, and TKN. The final SNAP score is normalized on a 0-100 scale with the degree of nutrient enrichment effects being inverse to the total SNAP score (see bottom of Table 12). The overall degree of nutrient enrichment effects are represented by five narrative ratings of Enrichment Status that results from the degree to which each of the nutrient related parameters and SNAP indicators exceeded their respective primary, secondary,

Table 12. Results of applying a modified Stream Nutrient Assessment Procedure to 19 sites in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Descriptions of how each result reflects the degree of nutrient enrichment effects and which ones result in an assignment of overall enrichment status are shown at the bottom of the matrix along with the source of the thresholds for each primary (blue shaded), secondary (green shaded), and tertiary (tan shaded) parameter. The weighted SNAP score for each parameter and the total SNAP score for deriving the overall enrichment status are shown adjacent to each site parameter value. Only sites with the full suite of continuous D.O. indicators were included.

														Contin-		Contin-		Max				Sector-								
												Mean		uous		uous		Diel		Benthic		ic	Sesto							
		Drainage							AQLU	Mean	Total	Nitrate		Max.	Max.	Min	Min.	D.O.	Diel	Chloro-		Chloro-	n-ic	Mean		Mean		Total		IEPA
	River	Area		fIBI		mIBI		QHEI	Attainment	ТР	Р	N	NO₃-N	D.O.	D.O.	D.O.	D.O.	Swing	Swing	phyll a	BChl a	phyll a	Chl a	TSS	TSS	ткм	TKN	SNAP	Overall	Eutrophication
Site ID	Mile	(mi. ²)	fIBI	Score	mIBI	Score	QHEI	Score	Status	(mg/L)	Score	(mg/L)	Score	(mg/L)	Score	(mg/L)	Score	(mg/L)	Score	(mg/m^3)	Score	(µg/L)	Score	(mg/L)	Score	(mg/L)	Score	Score	Enrichment Status	Risk
															Skokie	River 20	020									•				
SR3	14.80	11.5	23.0	7.0	24.6	7.0	48.0	5.0	NON - Fair	0.006	0.0	0.20	0.0	10.95	1.0	2.05	1.5	8.9	10.0	41.0	1.0	1.22	0.0	12.0	0.0	0.66	0.0	67.5	Enriched	Risk Present
SR5	8.00	20.6	23.5	7.0	21.2	7.0	46.8	5.0	NON - Fair	0.006	0.0	0.41	0.0	7.42	0.0	2.10	1.5	5.3	7.0	65.8	1.0	3.00	1.0	13.3	0.0	1.15	1.0	69.5	Enriched	No Risk
SR7	3.00	23.7	15.0	10.0			38.0	5.0	NON - Poor	0.006	0.0	0.91	0.0	7.45	0.0	0.97	2.0	6.5	10.0	45.2	1.0	32.40	10.0	15.8	0.0	1.13	1.0	61.0	Enriched	Very High Risk
SR18	0.50	30.9	34.5	3.0	40.8	3.0	41.5	5.0	NON - Fair	0.006	0.0	8.53	1.5	8.03	0.0	3.78	1.5	3.8	1.0	94.3	3.0	15.88	7.0	17.5	0.5	1.45	1.0	73.5	Possible Nutrients	High Risk
												Midd	le Fork I	North Br	anch Ch	icago Riv	ver 2020)												
MF17	1.80	57.3	16.5	7.0	25.2	7.0	45.8	5.0	NON - Poor	0.006	0.0	8.13	1.5	5.69	0.0	3.09	1.5	2.5	1.0	56.4	1.0	3.66	1.0	13.8	0.0	1.12	1.0	74.0	Possible Nutrients	No Risk
													Mide	dle Fork	North B	ranch Ch	nicago R	iver 2021	1											
MF8	21.10	5.81	13.0	10.0	17.5	7.0	29.0	5.0	NON - Poor	0.107	1.0	0.10	0.0	19.03	6.0	1.35	2.0	17.7	10.0	28.0	0.0	7.94	3.0	17.8	0.5	1.69	1.5	54.0	Highly Enriched	Very High Risk
MF9	18.90	8.91	14.0	10.0	24.0	7.0	31.5	5.0	NON - Poor	0.120	1.0	0.10	0.0	16.06	5.0	0.14	2.0	15.8	10.0	28.1	0.0	8.48	3.0	23.8	0.5	1.09	0.5	56.0	Highly Enriched	Very High Risk
MF10	16.70	11.9	12.0	10.0	41.1	3.0	41.0	5.0	NON - Poor	0.079	0.0	0.10	0.0	18.23	6.0	0.28	2.0	17.9	10.0	21.0	0.0	7.72	3.0	5.8	0.0	1.38	1.0	60.0	Enriched	Very High Risk
MF11	14.10	16.11	20.0	7.0	21.5	7.0	44.0	5.0	NON - Fair	0.093	0.0	0.10	0.0	14.71	5.0	2.65	1.5	12.0	10.0	21.5	0.0	5.32	3.0	16.3	0.0	1.45	1.0	60.5	Enriched	Very High Risk
MF12	10.80	19.23	15.0	10.0	34.0	3.0	45.5	5.0	NON - Poor	0.074	0.0	0.24	0.0	13.07	2.0	0.61	2.0	12.5	10.0	59.9	1.0	2.16	0.0	5.5	0.0	0.96	0.0	67.0	Enriched	High Risk
MF13	8.60	20.96	13.0	10.0	15.7	7.0	60.0	2.0	NON - Poor	0.136	1.0	0.76	0.0	9.28	0.0	1.72	2.0	7.5	10.0	29.8	0.0	1.24	0.0	7.8	0.0	1.04	0.5	67.5	Enriched	Risk Present
MF14	6.00	22.48	15.0	10.0	39.5	3.0	64.5	2.0	NON - Poor	0.095	0.0	0.78	0.0	10.09	0.0	5.25	1.0	4.8	3.0	62.2	1.0	0.52	0.0	5.0	0.0	1.39	1.0	79.0	Possible Nutrients	Risk Present
MF15	4.00	24.29	17.0	7.0	21.4	7.0	55.5	2.0	NON - Poor	0.074	0.0	0.87	0.0	11.99	1.0	4.98	1.0	7.0	10.0	49.0	1.0	1.16	0.0	6.5	0.0	0.92	0.0	71.0	Possible Nutrients	High Risk
						1	1	_	1				We	st Fork N	lorth Br	anch Chi	icago Ri	ver 2021		1	-		_							
WF21	10.40	7.02	11.0	10.0	18.7	7.0	42.0	5.0	NON - Poor	0.224	1.0	0.35	0.0	9.78	0.0	0.33	2.0	5.5	7.0	104.0	3.0	1.20	0.0	11.5	0.0	1.80	1.5	63.5	Enriched	Risk Present
WF22	9.20	9.41	9.0	10.0	15.8	7.0	46.5	5.0	NON - Poor	1.953	6.0	6.26	1.0	16.81	6.0	0.46	2.0	15.2	10.0	37.3	1.0	2.76	1.0	25.0	0.5	2.02	1.5	49.0	Highly Enriched	Very High Risk
WF23	4.90	17.86	9.0	10.0	13.8	10.0	41.0	5.0	NON - Poor	0.712	2.0	3.20	0.0	18.95	6.0	1.52	2.0	9.4	10.0	45.4	1.0	28.48	7.0	50.5	2.0	1.65	1.5	43.5	Highly Enriched	Very High Risk
WF24	2.90	24.52	10.0	10.0	21.0	7.0	66.0	2.0	NON - Poor	0.472	2.0	2.23	0.0	10.18	0.0	2.21	1.5	7.8	10.0	37.4	1.0	6.44	3.0	19.5	0.5	1.66	1.5	61.5	Enriched	Risk Present
WF25	1.30	27.97	12.0	10.0	21.9	7.0	48.0	5.0	NON - Poor	0.408	2.0	2.33	0.0	9.22	0.0	1.89	2.0	5.5	7.0	46.3	1.0	9.24	3.0	15.5	0.0	1.15	1.0	62.0	Enriched	High Risk
				_		-								North	Branch	Chicago	River 2	020												
MF19	18.60	93.4	13.0	10.0	21.4	7.0	48.5	5.0	NON - Poor	0.006	0.0	5.62	1.0	7.42	0.0	4.61	1.0	2.6	1.0	40.5	1.0	1.92	1.0	16.3	0.0	1.62	1.0	72.0	Possible Nutrients	No Risk
		Excellent	<u>></u> 50	0	>73	0	>84.5	0	FULL	<u><</u> 0.106	0	<u><</u> 3.77	0	<10.36	0	>6.9	0	<2.0	0	<35	0	<2.5	0	<u><</u> 17.50	0	<1.07	0	<u>></u> 94	Not Nutrients	No Risk
Condition	Category	Good	>41-49	1	<u>></u> 41.8	1	>75.9	1	FULL NON-Partial	<0.277	2	<5.05	0.5	<12.2	1	>6.0	0.5	<4.0	1	<79	1	<5.1	1	>17.50	0.5	<1.12	0.5	<u>>82</u>	Not Nutrients Possible Nutrients	No Risk Risk Present
Three	noids	Poor	>15-29	7	<u><29</u>	7	<50.1	5	NON-Fair	<1.726	5	<9.64	1.5	<16.3	5	>2.0	1.5	<6.5	7	<320	7	<28.9	7	>35.15	1.5	<2.14	1.5	>60	Enriched	High Risk
		Very Poor	<15	10	<15	10	<25	6	NON-Poor	<u>≥1.726</u>	6	<u>></u> 9.64	2	<u>>16.3</u>	6	<2.0	2	<u>>6.5</u>	10	<u>></u> 320	10	>28.9	10	>38.69	2	<u>>2.14</u>	2	<60	Highly Enriched	Very High Risk
Sou	rce	IPS	IEPA	MBI	IEPA	MBI	IPS	MBI	IPS	IPS	MBI	IPS	MBI	IPS	MBI	IPS	MBI	MBI/SNAP	M	BI/SNAP/NS	AC	MBI/NSAC	MBI	IPS	MBI	IPS	MBI		MBI/SNAP	IEPA/MBI

and tertiary thresholds. The Highly Enriched and Enriched narratives are assigned where the indicators are exceeded in terms of the number and magnitude of poor and very poor exceedances that are associated with a biological impairment. The Possible Nutrients narrative is assigned where there is a predominance of fair exceedances, but an insufficient number and/or magnitude of poor or very poor exceedances to warrant an Enriched status. Hence it serves as an indication where a threat for adverse effects from nutrient enrichment exists, but not necessarily an actual enrichment effect. A Not Nutrients narrative rules out nutrient effects as a cause of impairment and is also assigned to sites that exhibit full attainment of the General use biocriteria.

The NBWW 2020-21 results are detailed in a SNAP matrix that shows the fish and macroinvertebrate IBIs, the QHEI score, total P, nitrate-N, TKN, the maximum and minimum D.O. (based on Datasondes), the width of the diel D.O. swing, benthic chlorophyll a (as biomass), and an overall rating of the degree of nutrient enrichment based on the frequency and magnitude of exceedances of thresholds for the aforementioned indicators and parameters at 19 sites (Table 12). Nineteen (19) of the 25 sites had the full array of SNAP indicators with the number of Datasondes that could be deployed during short-term surveys in 2020 and 2021 being the limiting factor. The results showed highly enriched conditions at four (4) locations (Table 12), two each in the upper Middle Fork and upper West Fork. In each there was a wide diel D.O. swing (very poor), a high maximum D.O. (very poor), and a low minimum D.O. (very poor). The two Middle Fork sites also had the lowest QHEI scores in the 2020-21 survey area and were subject to urban nonpoint source runoff. The West Fork sites were downstream from the Deerfield WRF 001 and 002 outfalls with the site at WF23 with an elevated mean total P in the very poor range and a mean sestonic chlorophyll a value in the poor range.

Eleven (11) sites were Enriched and occurred at multiple sites in all three branches - three (3) of four (4) Skokie River sites, four (4) of eight (8) Middle Fork sites, and three (3) of five (5) West Fork sites. At each site there was a wide diel D.O. swing, a high maximum D.O., and a low minimum D.O., with nine (9) of these sites in the very poor ranges and the remaining two (2) in the poor range of the D.O. indicators. Sestonic chlorophyll a was very poor at only one of these sites SR07 (RM 3.0) which was an impounded site located in the Skokie Lagoons which also appeared to affect the next downstream site at SR18 (RM 0.50) with a poor value. Benthic chlorophyll a values at all except one of the Highly Enriched or Enriched sites were in the excellent or good range. The site at WF21 had a fair value of 104 mg/m^2 . TKN values were elevated into the poor range at only five (5) of the 15 Highly or Enriched sites. Possible enrichment was indicated for the remaining five (5) sites of with a mix of wide diel D.O. swings, low minimum D.O., elevated TKN, and elevated sestonic chlorophyll a listed as the rationale for the assigned enrichment status. Two of these sites, MF1 (RM 6.00) and the MF19 (RM 18.60) had only four fair exceedances each and the Possible Nutrients status was mostly the result of the impaired biota and Low QHEI at one site. Zero sites had a Not Nutrients result as all sites had primary and secondary indicator exceedances into the poor and fair ranges at least. Habitat was generally poor throughout the study area and at all of the Highly Enriched and Enriched sites, which contributes to the very poor and poor nutrient effect parameter exceedances.
There were no obvious patterns between the three major branches as all had enriched sites with the four (4) Highly Enriched sites restricted to the Middle Fork (MF10) and the West Fork (WF23). In some cases it was difficult to determine the definitive cause of the low minimum D.O. values, but these are more likely the result of excessive organic enrichment in addition to nutrient related effects. The *E. coli* results (see Table 2) suggest excessive organic enrichment throughout much of the Middle Fork and West Fork in particular. That coupled with mostly poor habitat and low gradient degrades the assimilative capacity of each branch.

Levels of primary nutrients were comparatively low at most Skokie and Middle Fork sites with only one nitrate-N exceedance of the poor threshold with a value of 8.53 mg/L (Poor) at SR18 and extending downstream into the N. Branch at MF19. Total phosphorus was excellent or good in the Skokie R. and Middle Fork, but was elevated into the very poor and fair range at four (4) locations in the West Fork downstream from the Deerfield WRF.

Also included in the SNAP assessment is an assessment of the "Risk of Eutrophication" developed by IEPA to screen for the potential for adverse nutrient related impacts for stream and river reaches that are not listed by IEPA for phosphorus related impairments. Developed by the IEPA Risk of Eutrophication Committee¹ the procedure utilizes a flow chart that essentially includes the exceedance of any one of three thresholds for pH (>9.0 S.U.), sestonic chlorophyll a (>26 μ g/L), or D.O. saturation >110% and pH >8.35 for two (2) or more days. The Risk of Eutrophication was assessed for the same 19 sites as the SNAP analysis (Table 13) with enhancements that produced four levels of risk - Very High Risk, High Risk, Risk Present, and No Risk. The Risk Present and No Risk assignments followed the IEPA flow chart with the High and Very High categories based on greater exceedance thresholds and/or a longer duration of exceedances that result in the risk being extended over a longer period time (Table 13). The median sestonic chlorophyll a criterion was supplemented with the maximum value measured at a site. IEPA specifies examining the previous 5 years of data, but only the 2020 and 2021 data used in the SNAP analysis was assessed herein.

The results show seven (7) sites with a Very High Risk, four (4) with a High Risk, five (5) with Risk Present, and three (3) with No Risk. The seven (7) Very High Risk outcomes matched either the Highly Enriched or Enriched SNAP outcomes (Table 12). The four (4) High Risk outcomes matched an Enriched SNAP outcome at two sites and a Possible Nutrients at two sites. The five (5) Risk Present outcomes matched Enriched SNAP outcomes at four (4) sites and a Possible Nutrients at one (1) site. The three (3) No Risk outcomes matched Possible Nutrient at two (2) sites and Enriched at one (1) site. The Very High, High Risk, and Risk Present outcomes were driven primarily by D.O. saturation exceedances. A maximum sestonic chlorophyll a value of 74 μ g/L at the impounded SR07 (RM 3.0) site which was the only outcome driven by a result other than D.O. saturation. The other high sestonic chlorophyll a result of 73 μ g/L occurred at WF23 (RM 4.9), but was accompanied by a maximum D.O. %saturation of 241.6%. This site is located 5.1 miles downstream from the Deerfield WRF 001 outfall at a point where nutrient loadings would have their maximum impact under the low flows observed in 2021. Only one pH value

¹ Proposal for Phosphorus Conditions in NPDES Permits - Phosphorus-related impairments & eutrophication (January 17, 2018).

Table 13. Results of applying an enhanced version of the IEPA Risk of Eutrophication methodology used to screen for the potential for adverse effects of nutrient enrichment on pH, D.O., and sestonic chlorophyll a levels. Enhancement to the ROE include categories that convey the severity of screening criteria exceedances and using the maximum sestonic chlorophyll a in addition to the median. The results are color coded as follows: Red – Very High Risk; Orange – High Risk; Yellow – Risk Present; No Risk – Green. Specific criteria used are listed at the bottom of the table.

				Drainage			Dave D O	Median		
		River		Area (sq.	Max. pH	% DO	Sat.	Sestonic	Max. Sestonic	Risk of
Site ID	River	Mile	Year	mi.)	(S.U.)	Saturation	>110%	Chlorophyll a	Chlorophyll a	Eutrophication
SR3	Skokie River	14.8	2020	11.56		138.1	2	1.3	2.3	Risk Present
SR5	Skokie River	8.0	2020	20.67	7.95	89.9	0	3.1	4.5	No Risk
SR7	Skokie River	3.0	2020	23.73	7.89	95.1	0	25.0	74.0	Very High Risk
SR18	Skokie River	0.5	2020	30.9	7.90	96.2	0	18.0	32.0	High Risk
MF8	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	21.1	2021	5.81	9.02	253.4	3	3.8	24.0	Very High Risk
MF9	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	18.9	2021	8.91	8.58	221.1	3	5.8	20.0	Very High Risk
MF10	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	16.7	2021	11.99	8.68	223.7	3	1.6	30.0	Very High Risk
MF11	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	14.1	2021	16.13	8.71	182.9	4	4.1	15.0	Very High Risk
MF12	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	10.8	2021	19.23	8.47	155.3	3	2.1	3.1	High Risk
MF13	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	8.6	2021	20.97	8.10	111.2	1	0.9	2.6	Risk Present
MF14	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	6.0	2021	22.48	8.10	121.9	3	0.4	1.1	Risk Present
MF15	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	4.0	2021	24.29	8.39	146.6	3	1.4	1.9	High Risk
MF17	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River	1.8	2020	57.31	7.83	67.5	0	1.7	9.6	No Risk
MF19	North Branch Chicago River	18.6	2020	93.41	8.05	88.4	0	1.0	5.7	No Risk
WF20	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	12.5	2021	3.9	7.33	19.0	0	10.0	35.0	High Risk
WF21	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	10.4	2021	7.02	8.39	115.2	1	1.2	2.1	Risk Present
WF22	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	9.2	2021	9.41	8.63	208.3	3	2.9	4.4	Very High Risk
WF23	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	4.9	2021	17.86	8.93	241.6	3	24.0	73.0	Very High Risk
WF24	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	2.9	2021	24.52	8.88	126.8	1	6.7	17.0	Risk Present
WF25	West Fork North Branch Chicago River	1.3	2021	27.97	8.33	113.0	1	1.7	40.0	High Risk
					Max pH >9.0	%Sat. >200	4 Days		Maximum Sestonic Chlorophyll a Used	pH >9.0 S.U.; or Median Sestonic Chloropyll a >26 or
		Enha Eutroph	anced IEP ication (I	A Risk of ROE) Criteria	Max pH >8.35	%Sat.>110	3 Days	>26 µg/L	in lieu of Median; >26 μg/L High Risk,	Daily Maximum pH >8.35 S.U. and Daily Maximum D.O.
					Max pH >8.35	%Sat.>110	1-2 days		>60 µg/l Very High Risk	Saturation >110% for 2 or more days.

exceeded 8.35 S.U. All were accompanied by high %D.O. saturation values most of which exceeded two days.

In general the SNAP and ROE analyses yielded roughly similar results with "disagreements" being separated only by a "nearest neighbor" outcome. D.O. however, was the primary driver of both the SNAP and ROE outcomes almost to the exclusion of pH or sestonic chlorophyll a, the latter even when used as a maximum in lieu of the median. Therefore, it will be important to determine the origins of the low and high D.O. values given the greater presence of multiple indicators of organic enrichment, including biological assemblage responses, and a lack of consistently elevated nutrient levels and low chlorophyll a values with the exception of the West Fork downstream from the Deerfield WRF. Habitat is also an important controlling variable that needs to be included in assigning causes of low or high D.O. levels. Most sites had poor QHEI values and the impoundment represented by site SR07 and the site immediately downstream reveal the importance of retention time in exacerbating sestonic chlorophyll a levels. Elements of the ROE procedure could be incorporated in a future update to the current SNAP methodology specifically the D.O. saturation values. However, some of the ROE variables may be redundant to parameters that are already included in SNAP so that would need to be more carefully considered.

Ionic Strength Parameters

lonic strength parameters are generally in the form of dissolved solutes that can be delivered to rivers and streams in runoff events and point source effluents and some are associated with urban runoff specifically. These include parameters measured in the water column and commonly include conductivity, total dissolved solids, and ions such as chlorides and sulfate. Typically, our analyses have been geared to "urban parameters" which includes certain common heavy metals such a lead, zinc, and copper, and while these were analyzed only one time in August 2018 and 2019 by NBWW the results are presented herein.

Chlorides

In temperate climates such as northern Illinois, chlorides are an emerging problem because they accumulate in soils and shallow groundwater and have been documented to reach concentrations that can threaten and impair aquatic life. Of particular concern in urban areas with high road density is the concentration of chlorides from winter road salt applications and point source loadings from water treatment blowdown. Kelly et al. (2012) identified a steadily increasing trend in chloride levels in the Illinois River at Peoria where the median increased from 20 mg/L in 1947 to nearly 100 mg/L in 2004 with high values in the 1940s of <40 mg/L rising to >300 mg/L by 2003. Chlorides do not exhibit a simple runoff and export mode of effect, but rather accumulate in near surface groundwater (Kelly 2008), soils, and land surfaces adjacent to streams. Seasonal studies have shown that elevated summer concentrations are correlated with higher and acute concentrations during late winter and spring periods (Kaushal et al. 2005). Research in New England (Kaushal et al. 2005) and Minnesota (Novotny et al. 2008) show that chlorides can accumulate in watersheds and that there is a strong association between high winter and elevated summer concentrations. Novotny et al. (2008) identified that 78% of the road salt applied in a Minnesota watershed accumulated in a given year and contributed to an increase in summer chloride concentrations.

Median total chloride concentrations (mg/L) in all three branches were lower in 2020 compared to 2021 with exceedances of poor and very poor levels being common (Table 10). The Skokie River had similar levels of fair, poor, and very poor exceedances in 2018-20 with a general trend of decline from upstream to downstream (Figure 23). With the exception of the upstream most site (SR01), median chloride levels were much higher in 2021 with all values in the very poor range, but also declining downstream.

The Middle Fork showed a similar pattern to the Skokie R. median chloride results declining from very poor levels upstream to progressively lower values into the fair range in the downstream reaches during 2018-20 (Table 10). Median Chloride levels in 2021 more than doubled at the two upstream most sites and all median values exceeded the Illinois WQS current chloride standard of 500 mg/L at seven (7) sites between MF08 (RM 21.1) downstream to MF14 (RM 6.0) a distance of 15.1 miles (Figure 24). While low flows in 2021 likely contributed to a widespread increase in chloride levels, the source of the marked increase in the upper Middle Fork is currently unknown, but definitely emanates from the very headwaters.



Figure 23. Concentrations of median chloride in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.





Figure 24. Concentrations of median chloride in the Middle Fork during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Median levels of chloride in the West Fork in 2018-20 ranged from good to fair, increasing from upstream to downstream (Figure 25). The downstream sites had median values in the low fair range and upstream values were observed in the high, good range. The Deerfield WRF increased chloride concentrations slightly, but not significantly enough to exceed the 120 mg/L good IPS threshold. Median chloride concentrations in 2021 were higher at the two upstream sites (WF20 and WF21) where they were in the very poor range. Median values declined downstream from the Deerfield WRF 001 outfall apparently the result of the dilution provided by the effluent discharged. From that point and downstream median levels of chloride increased slightly, but remained higher than 2018-20 being in the very poor range.

Conductivity

Dissolved materials are also measured by specific conductance or conductivity which is depicted in Figure 26 for the short-term continuous data in 2020 and 2021. Similar to the trend observed in the grab sample results, values were the highest at the upstream site (SR1) in the Skokie River where the median far exceeded the very poor IPS threshold. Values declined steadily downstream with most readings remaining above the IPS very poor threshold. Median values declined in the N. Branch at MF19, signaling that the high levels in the Middle Fork were diluted by the effluent conveyed by the Skokie River to the Middle Fork and N. Branch. All median values were within the good range in the Skokie River and at the single North Branch





Figure 25. Concentrations of median chloride in the West Fork during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

site (MF19). The West Fork sites had values exceeding poor and very poor thresholds, but were overall lower than the Middle Fork values. An exception was the upstream most West Fork site (WF21) that had a very wide range of values with the median, upper quartile, and maximum values exceeding the very poor threshold. These results suggest a major sources of dissolved materials in the headwaters of both the Skokie River and the West Fork.

Median conductivity values measured by grab samples only roughly mirrored chloride concentrations in 2020 and 2021. The general pattern in the Skokie River was a gradual decrease from upstream to downstream in all years with the highest values in 2021 (Figure 27), but without the sharp increase shown by the chloride results. The 2018 values ranged from good to excellent while 2019 values were higher, ranging from very poor to good. The 2020 results were intermediate between 2018 and 2019.

Median conductivity values in the Middle Fork in 2020 and 2021 were higher than 2018 and 2019 with values in the very poor range (Figure 28). The 2021 values were more than twice the 2018-19 results and were highest in the headwaters and declining in a downstream direction, but maintaining very poor values until being diluted by the entry of the Skokie River after which values declined to the good range. Values were generally good in 2018 with exceptional values





Figure 26. Specific conductance (μS/cm) measured continuously by Datasondes deployed for 4-5 day periods during late-August 2020 and early-August 2021 at 19 locations in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Box-and-whisker plots show the minimum, maximum, 25th and 75th percentiles, median, and outlier (>2 interquartile ranges from the median) values. The IPS thresholds for five narrative ratings are shown by solid and dashed lines.



Figure 27. Median values of specific conductance in the Skokie River during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.



Figure 28. Median values of specific conductance in the Middle Fork during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

recorded at MF15 and MF16. The North Branch mainstem site was at the 739 μ S/cm excellent IPS threshold in 2018. All median conductivity values in 2019 were within the good IPS threshold for all sites in the Middle Fork and North Branch mainstem. The increases in 2020 and 2021 especially are likely related to lower flows than in 2018 and 2019, but the extremely high values in the headwaters in 2021 that mirrored the chloride results suggests a significant source of dissolved materials entering the upper most reaches of the Middle Fork.

The West Fork results in 2020 were intermediate to 2018 and 2019 results (Figure 29). The 2021 conductivity levels resembled the chloride results being much higher upstream from Deerfield WRF 001 outfall and declining downstream in response to the dilution provided by the WRF effluent. The 2018 values ranged from good to excellent, with a modest increase from upstream to downstream in median conductivity levels. The 2019 values ranged from poor to good, also increasing from upstream to downstream in a near identical pattern to 2018. Overall, dissolved ions are and have been elevated throughout much of the NBWW survey area during 2018-21, with the highest values observed in 2021. While some of this is related to the low flows in 2021, the magnitude of some of the increases that more than doubled previously observed levels (Table 10) is an indication of sources in the headwaters of the Skokie River for dissolved ions and the Middle Fork for extremely elevated chloride and dissolved ion levels.



Figure 29. Median values of specific conductance in the West Fork during May-October 2018-21. Dashed and solid lines represent IPS derived effect thresholds correlated with ranges of biological quality and as listed in Table 7.

Water Column Metals and Organics

Water samples for the analysis of 14 metals and a scan for organic parameters were collected once annually at the eight (8) Tier 1 sites (Table 14). While the low frequency of sample collection inherently limits the analysis, there were some notable observations of metals and organics in relation to detections. Eight (8) of the 14 metal parameters were consistently detected. The remaining five (5) parameters exhibited a mixed frequency of detections. Two parameters were not detected at all. A single iron value exceeded the Illinois WQS standard once at site WF20 (RM 12.5) and is the only exceedance among metals in 2020-21. Other threshold exceedances including Short (1998) and regional reference values were not exceeded. IPS thresholds for metals were not used in assess for metals threshold exceedances because of the lack of truly poor and very poor values in the IPS database which skews the response gradient. In lieu of developing more realistic thresholds by accessing or even simulating historical data that reflects the gross inputs of heavy metals, the Illinois WQS chronic and acute standards will be used to assess for good and poor results, respectively. Only one organic parameter, acetone, was detected at levels well below any reported effect levels on aquatic life or human health at any of the 2020-21 locations.

Exceedances of Standards

The only exceedances of an Illinois WQS criterion in the grab sample data were for the chloride >500 mg/L standard as a single value. In 2020 and 2021 there were numerous single value exceedances in addition to the median values discussed on pp. 59-60. The exceedances occurred in both 2020 and 2021, but most frequently in the latter year (Table 15). The winter data collected in February was also included to highlight the magnitude of elevated concentrations during the road salt application season. A total of 65 chloride single value exceedances were recorded, 11 in 2020 and 54 in 2021. Forty (40) exceedances occurred in February, 11 in 2020 and 29 in 2021, the latter suggesting substantially higher concentrations of chloride in winter runoff. Values exceeding 1000 mg/L were all recorded in February with the highest value of 2530 mg/L at SR01 (RM 21.1) on February 23, 2021. The Skokie River and Middle Fork had the majority of the exceedances, three (3) in 2020 and 11 in 2021 for the Skokie River and five (5) in 2020 and 12 in 2021 for the Middle Fork. The West Fork had three (3) and six (6) exceedances in 2020 and 2021, respectively. The Middle Fork had the only exceedances recorded in August with eight (8) in 2021. It also had the highest number of May exceedances with eight (8) in 2021 compared to three (3) each in the Skokie River and the West Fork also in 2021. There were no May-October exceedances in 2020.

Sediment Chemistry

Sediment samples were evaluated against guidelines compiled by McDonald et al. (2000), Illinois sediment metals guidelines (Short 1998), and the new IPS derived narrative ranges (see Table 16). The MacDonald et al. (2000) threshold effect levels (TEL) are where toxic effects are initially apparent and likely to affect the most sensitive organisms. Probable effect levels (PEL) are where toxic effects are more likely to be observed over a wider range of organism sensitivities. Short (1998) identified elevated and extremely elevated sediment metal

		Drain														
		Drain-									Magnes	Moreury				
	Pivor	Area	Amonio	Barium	Cadmium	Calaium	Chromium	Conner	Iron	Lood	cium		Niekol	Silver	Sadium	Zine
Site ID	Milo	(ca mi)	(ug/I)	(ug/L)	(ug/L)	(mg/L)	(ug/1)	(ug/1)	(ug/1)		(mg/l)	(ng/l)			(mg/L)	2mc (ug/1)
Siterio	IVINC	(39.111.)	(46/6/	(46/ 5/	(46/ 5/	(116/1)	(46/1)	kokie River	2020	(45/1)	(115/1)	(116/ 5/	(46/1)	(46/ 5/	(1118/ 1)	(46/1)
SR1	21.1	2.7	1.7	39	ND	51	ND	2.2	770	ND	17	3.1	ND	ND	170	20
SR18	0.5	30.9	2.6	25	ND	46	ND	4.1	920	2.00	21	3.3	2.5	ND	82	ND
							S	kokie River	2021							
SR1	21.1	2.7	1.5	38	ND	51	ND	3.1	440	0.71	18	1.0	ND	ND	110	31
SR18	0.5	30.9	1.8	29	ND	56	ND	5.2	760	1.70	26	2.9	2.4	ND	110	ND
						Mi	ddle Fork No	rth Branch	Chicago Riv	er 2020						
MF8	21.1	5.8	3.2	52	ND	39	ND	ND	430	0.51	20	1.0	ND	ND	260	ND
MF15	4.0	24.3	2.6	29	ND	38	ND	3.2	270	0.57	16	1.6	ND	ND	73	ND
						Mi	ddle Fork No	rth Branch	Chicago Riv	er 2021						
MF8	21.1	5.8	2.8	43	ND	56	ND	ND	460	ND	23	1.2	ND	ND	380	ND
MF15	4.0	24.3	3.3	43	ND	54	ND	2.8	370	ND	25	1.3	ND	ND	320	ND
					-	W	est Fork Nor	th Branch C	hicago Rive	r 2020	-	-				
WF20	12.5	3.9	2.6	28	ND	37	ND	ND	620	ND	15	1.1	ND	ND	50	ND
WF22	9.2	9.4	3.1	28	ND	50	ND	6.4	350	ND	20	1.7	ND	ND	110	21
WF25	1.3	28.0	3.4	43	ND	45	ND	ND	370	0.76	19	1.7	ND	ND	110	ND
		1				W	est Fork Nor	th Branch C	chicago Rive	r 2021	1	1			1	
WF20	12.5	3.9	3.4	55	ND	46	ND	5.3	3100	2.10	22	5.4	4	ND	200	25
WF22	9.2	9.4	1.7	25	ND	65	ND	7.8	440	0.52	23	1.9	2.2	ND	130	41
WF25	1.3	28.0	2.3	45	ND	56	ND	2.8	190	ND	25	1.3	ND	ND	190	ND
	40.5	00.4					North Bro	anch Chicag	o River 202	0					07	
MF19	18.6	93.4	2.9	33	ND	44	ND ND	2.1	450	1.20	21	2.8	2.5	ND	87	ND
METO	19.6	02.4	2.5	25	ND	E 4			200 Kiver 202.	0.70	25	2.2	2.2	ND	150	ND
IVIF19	10.0	95.4	2.5	35	ND (0.027	54	ND (1.202	5.9	280	0.79	25	2.2	2.2	ND	150	ND (7.47
Narrative	G	ood	<3.616	<84.88	<0.957	<86076	<1.540	<4.480	1000	<3,335	-	1100	<3.470	5.0	>16.3	<9.7
Condition	F	air	>3.616	>84.88	>0.974	>86076	>1.540	>4.480	-	>3.335	-	-	>3.470	-	>45.0	>9.78
Thresholds	P	oor	>5.029	>101.8	>0.983	>86313	>2.682	>4.969		>3.884	-	-	>9.585	-	>79.1	>11.00
(Ver	/ Poor	>6.603	>118.6	>0.991	>86559	>3.824	>5.458	-	>4.334	-	-	>11.88	-	>113.1	>12.22
Source(s)	Illinoir W/	PS	IPS 50	1000	1PS	IPS NA	11 11	IP S	1000	IPS 81.20	NONE	1100	12.7	IL WQS	IPS	IPS SE E
Other Bench- marks	IPS Region	al Reference	NA	56.3	0.17	54000	1.73	2.00	NA	0.24	NA	NA	5.0	NA	14200	2.0
	N	IDL	0.23	0.73	0.17	0.027	1.1	0.5	47	0.19	0.019	0.14	0.63	0.12	0.22	6.9

Table 14. Median values for 14 heavy metals eight (8) sites during May-October 2020-21 with exceedances of Illinois WQS standards or other Illinois thresholds listed at the bottom of the table.

Table 15. Exceedances of the Illinois WQS for single value chloride concentration of 500 mg/L inthe NBWW 2020-21 survey area.

			River		Result	Chloride	Chloride		
Site ID	River	Year	Mile	Dates	mg/L	Criterion	Standard	2020	2021
	-			Skokie Rive	r			1	
SR1	Skokie River	2020	21.10	11-Feb-20	816	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR2	Skokie River	2020	17.40	11-Feb-20	674	>500 mg/L	Single Value	3	
SR3	Skokie River	2020	14.80	11-Feb-20	551	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR2	Skokie River	2021	17.40	12-May-21	554	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR3	Skokie River	2021	14.80	12-May-21	507	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR6	Skokie River	2021	7.40	12-May-21	503	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR1	Skokie River	2021	21.10	23-Feb-21	2530	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR2	Skokie River	2021	17.40	23-Feb-21	2260	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR3	Skokie River	2021	14.80	23-Feb-21	2470	>500 mg/L	Single Value		11
SR4	Skokie River	2021	11.30	23-Feb-21	1460	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR5	Skokie River	2021	8.00	23-Feb-21	1790	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR7	Skokie River	2021	3.00	23-Feb-21	618	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR18	Skokie River	2021	0.50	23-Feb-21	509	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
SR6	Skokie River	2021	7.40	25-Feb-21	1090	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
	1	r —	Midd	lle Fork N. Branch	Chicago Riv	ver	F	I	r
MF8	Middle Fork	2020	21.10	13-Feb-20	609	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF9	Middle Fork	2020	18.90	13-Feb-20	618	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF12	Middle Fork	2020	10.80	13-Feb-20	542	>500 mg/L	Single Value	5	
MF13	Middle Fork	2020	8.60	13-Feb-20	656	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF14	Middle Fork	2020	6.00	13-Feb-20	518	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF8	Middle Fork	2021	21.10	14-May-21	1050	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF9	Middle Fork	2021	18.90	14-May-21	850	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF10	Middle Fork	2021	16.70	14-May-21	652	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF11	Middle Fork	2021	14.10	14-May-21	626	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF12	Middle Fork	2021	10.80	14-May-21	641	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF13	Middle Fork	2021	8.60	14-May-21	646	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF14	Middle Fork	2021	6.00	14-May-21	631	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF15	Middle Fork	2021	4.00	14-May-21	624	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF8	Middle Fork	2021	21.10	18-Aug-21	635	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF9	Middle Fork	2021	18.90	18-Aug-21	597	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF10	Middle Fork	2021	16.70	18-Aug-21	567	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF11	Middle Fork	2021	14.10	18-Aug-21	567	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF12	Middle Fork	2021	10.80	18-Aug-21	563	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF13	Middle Fork	2021	8.60	18-Aug-21	580	>500 mg/L	Single Value		28 (34
MF14	Middle Fork	2021	6.00	18-Aug-21	571	>500 mg/L	Single Value		total)
MF15	Middle Fork	2021	4.00	18-Aug-21	560	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF8	Middle Fork	2021	21.10	24-Feb-21	1890	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF9	Middle Fork	2021	18.90	24-Feb-21	1360	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF10	Middle Fork	2021	16.70	24-Feb-21	1130	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF11	Middle Fork	2021	14.10	24-Feb-21	961	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF12	Middle Fork	2021	10.80	24-Feb-21	1090	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF13	Middle Fork	2021	8.60	24-Feb-21	1470	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF14	Middle Fork	2021	6.00	24-Feb-21	1420	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF15	Middle Fork	2021	4.00	24-Feb-21	1520	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF19	Middle Fork	2021	18.60	25-Feb-21	1130	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF19	N. Br. Chicago R.	2021	18.60	25-Feb-21	1130	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF16	Middle Fork	2021	3.00	25-Feb-21	852	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF17	Middle Fork	2021	1.80	25-Feb-21	876	>500 mg/L	Single Value		

			River		Result	Chloride	Chloride		
Site ID	River	Year	Mile	Dates	mg/L	Criterion	Standard	2020	2021
MF8	Middle Fork	2021	21.10	27-Jul-21	909	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF9	Middle Fork	2021	18.90	27-Jul-21	800	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF10	Middle Fork	2021	16.70	27-Jul-21	542	>500 mg/L	Single Value		6 (34
MF13	Middle Fork	2021	8.60	27-Jul-21	501	>500 mg/L	Single Value		total)
MF8	Middle Fork	2021	21.10	28-Sep-21	636	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
MF9	Middle Fork	2021	18.90	28-Sep-21	600	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
				West Fork					
WF23	West Fork	2020	4.90	12-Feb-20	627	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF24	West Fork	2020	2.90	12-Feb-20	837	>500 mg/L	Single Value	3	
WF25	West Fork	2020	1.30	12-Feb-20	941	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF20	West Fork	2021	12.50	13-May-21	669	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF21	West Fork	2021	10.40	13-May-21	665	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF25	West Fork	2021	1.30	13-May-21	544	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF20	West Fork	2021	12.50	25-Feb-21	1240	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF21	West Fork	2021	10.40	25-Feb-21	1330	>500 mg/L	Single Value		9
WF22	West Fork	2021	9.20	25-Feb-21	1300	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF23	West Fork	2021	4.90	25-Feb-21	1470	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF24	West Fork	2021	2.90	25-Feb-21	1290	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
WF25	West Fork	2021	1.30	25-Feb-21	1370	>500 mg/L	Single Value		
							Totals	11	54

Table 15. continued.

concentrations for Illinois streams and rivers. The newer NE Illinois IPS thresholds are based on analyses against the most sensitive species to each sediment metal and PAH parameter (MBI 2022a). Sediment metal sampling results from 2020 and 2021 are summarized by concentration rating and parameter class in Table 16 and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAHs) compounds in Table 17. PAHs result from the incomplete combustion of hydrocarbons and are a common component of stormwater runoff in urban areas – they are not a direct byproduct of any manufacturing process.

Metals in Sediment

Elevated levels of heavy metals in are commonly associated with runoff from roads and highways and industrial and municipal sources. These occurred throughout the NBWW survey area with aluminum being the most prevalent (Table 16) the same as in 2018-19. Exceedances of poor and very poor NE Illinois IPS thresholds were observed for aluminum (14 of 24 sites; 20 of 25 in 2018-19), zinc (8 sites; 16 in 2018-19), nickel (8 sites; 9 in 2018-19), copper (7 sites; 14 in 2018-19), lead (6 sites; 11 in 2018-19) chromium (4 sites; 7 in 2018-19), and manganese (1 site; 3 in 2018-19). A single exceedance of the PEC for mercury was observed at site MF17 (RM 1.8) in 2020, down from 3 TEC and one PEC exceedance in 2018-19. Cadmium was not detected at 15 sites with the remaining 10 in the good range – all sites had detections in 2018-19, all in the good range. Arsenic, barium, and strontium were consistently in the good range along with all except one very poor manganese and the PEC for mercury. Six parameters including boron, beryllium, cobalt, potassium, sodium, and vanadium do not have effect thresholds.

Site ID	River Mile	Drainage Area (sq. mi.)	Year	Aluminum (mg/kg)	Arsenic (mg/kg)	Barium (mg/kg)	Beryllium (mg/kg)	Boron (mg/kg)	Cadmium (mg/kg)	Chromium (mg/kg)	Cobalt (mg/kg)	Copper (mg/kg)	Iron (mg/kg)	Lead (mg/kg)	Manganese (mg/kg)	Mercury (µg/kg)	Nickel (mg/kg)	Potassium (mg/kg)	Silver (mg/kg)	Sodium (mg/kg)	Strontium (mg/kg)	Vanadium (mg/kg)	Zinc (mg/kg)
						•					Skokie R	iver											
SR1	21.1	2.70	2020	11000	5.4	70	ND	13	ND	20.0	8.3	30	20000	23	750	35	18	2400	ND	560	36	24	140
SR2	17.4	7.80	2020	8800	4.2	49	ND	12	0.49	23.0	6.7	29	12000	62	340	160	15	1900	ND	390	25	19	160
SR3	14.8	11.50	2020	2600	2.2	13	ND	ND	ND	7.3	3.5	8.8	6200	11	200	ND	6.2	620	ND	170	16	8.2	41
SR4	11.3	15.00	2020	9200	5.6	62	ND	13	ND	17.0	8.3	31	16000	28	610	100	18	2300	ND	310	44	20	130
SR5	8.0	20.60	2020	6300	3.6	39	ND	11	ND	13.0	5.6	25	11000	22	390	100	12	1600	ND	280	46	15	94
SR6	7.4	21.50	2020	3900	2.2	21	ND	ND	0.31	9.0	3.9	18	7200	16	220	67	8.2	1000	ND	210	27	10	78
SR7	3.0	23.70	2020	13000	4.8	88	0.98	13	0.49	19.0	8.8	43	15000	20	220	76	26	2000	ND	330	54	30	65
SR18	0.5	30.90	2020	7600	4.1	53	ND	12	ND	19.0	6.0	36	13000	38	380	44	15	1800	ND	280	34	16	110
										Middle For	k North Bra	nch Chicag	o River										
MF8	21.1	5.81	2021	9900	6.2	69	0.95	12	ND	20.0	9.8	25	20000	21	650	54	23	2000	ND	1100	43	25	110
MF9	18.9	8.91	2021	15000	4.6	86	1.1	17	0.69	27.0	12.0	47	21000	34	420	110	33	2900	ND	1300	61	30	160
MF10	16.7	11.90	2021	7600	3.7	52	ND	ND	ND	16.0	7.8	25	15000	16	620	49	19	1800	ND	860	76	18	89
MF11	14.1	16.11	2021	9300	4.0	55	ND	12	0.75	18.0	9.0	38	16000	22	510	50	20	2000	ND	600	48	22	120
MF12	10.8	19.23	2021	9100	6.4	56	0.85	10	ND	17.0	11.0	22	20000	16	600	40	23	2000	ND	340	32	22	70
MF13	8.6	20.96	2021	8300	4.0	53	ND	ND	ND	17.0	8.4	30	16000	25	470	70	18	1700	ND	460	39	19	110
MF14	6.0	22.48	2021	7800	5.5	53	ND	ND	ND	15.0	9.5	24	19000	19	680	65	18	1600	ND	320	26	19	78
MF15	4.0	24.29	2021	9300	12.0	71	ND	ND	ND	18.0	13.0	29	27000	25	1100	67	23	1800	ND	430	38	27	110
MF16	3.0	56.10	2020	8000	4.0	57	ND	13	ND	16.0	6.3	36	14000	45	430	89	14	1900	ND	380	36	17	120
MF17	1.8	57.30	2020	13000	5.5	87	ND	19	0.61	27.0	8.8	50	19000	140	520	230	22	3000	ND	430	45	24	190
										West Fork	North Brai	ich Chicago	River										
WF20	12.5	3.87	2021	1100	3.7	48	ND	17	ND	19.0	9.2	24	17000	13	460	40	24	2900	ND	590	38	24	76
WF21	10.4	7.02	2021	10000	3.8	64	0.86	14	0.46	24.0	7.6	55	16000	31	360	120	22	2500	ND	740	45	24	180
WF22	9.2	9.41	2021	14000	4.5	130	ND	22	ND	33.0	9.8	110	24000	30	680	100	27	3600	ND	1200	75	29	290
WF23	4.9	17.86	2021	4600	3.2	41	ND	10	ND	15.0	5.2	31	11000	16	360	34	12	1200	ND	370	44	13	110
WF24	2.9	24.52	2021	12000	4.0	100	ND	17	0.62	27.0	9.8	56	22000	31	700	98	25	2900	ND	700	60	27	200
WF25	1.5	27.97	2021	/400	2.9	64	ND	12	0.58	26.0	/.1	50	14000	64	3/0	90	18	1/00	ND	490	43	18	1/0
METO	19.6	02.40	2020	6000		50	ND	0.2	ND	14.0	n Branch Ci	ncago kivel	10000	20	420	100	11	1400	ND	240	20	12	
WIF19	10.0	95.40	2020	0000	2.5	50	ND	9.5	0.00	43.4	3.4	21	20000	25.9	420	190	22.7	1400	16	240	20	15	121
Mac	onald et al	. 2000	PEC	1	33.0	None			4.08	111.0		140	40000	178	1100	1050	48.6		2.0				450
			Flevated	None	7.2	145	ł		2.00	37.0		37	26100	60	1100	280	26		None		None		170
	Short 1998	3	Highly Elevated		18.0	230			9.30	110.0	•	170	53000	245	2300	1400	45		5				760
			Excellent		None	None	None	None	None	<20.53	None	<19.00		<15.50	<841.0		None	None	None	None		None	<75.0
			Good	<6480	<8.65	<141.0			<0.933	<23.30		<29.78		<24.80	<845.5		<19.50		<0.483		<81.80		<100.0
	NE IL IPS		Fair	>6480	>8.65	>141.0			>0.933	>23.30	•	>29.78	None	>24.80	>845.5	None	>19.50		>0.483		>81.80		>100.0
			Poor	>8272	>15.82	>150.3			>1.354	>26.22		>40.45		>33.04	>996.8		>22.52		>1.261		>106.8		>133.9
			Very Poor	>10064	>23.67	>168.7			>1.963	>29.15		>51.12		>41.27	>1148		>25.53		>2.039		>131.9		>167.8

Table 16. Heavy metal concentrations (mg/kg) in sediment at 25 sites in the NBWW survey area 2020-21. Highlighted cells indicate an exceedance of one or more of the effect thresholds listed at the bottom.

The West Fork had the highest proportion of very poor and poor exceedances for 17 of 66 analytes (25.5%), followed by the Middle Fork with 16 of 110 analyses (14.5%), and the Skokie River with the least with 10 of 88 analytes (11.4%). The source of the heavy metals are overwhelmingly of nonpoint source origin which is common in heavily urbanized watersheds. There were more exceedances of poor and very poor thresholds in the 2018-19 results compared to 2020-21 for most of the metals with thresholds. This could possibly be the result of more runoff in 2018-19 compared to 2020-21, the later year having the lowest flows of any year.

The applicability of thresholds between the MacDonald et al. (2000), Short (1998), and the NE Illinois IPS thresholds was variable with the IPS being the most consistently available set of thresholds. Exceedances were evaluated primarily against the IPS thresholds with any exceedances of MacDonald et a. (2000) or Short (1998) additionally recognized. Only one exceedance of a MacDonald et al. (2020) PEC occurred for manganese at MF15 and mercury at MF17. Otherwise all exceedances were based on the IPS thresholds which were consistently lower than MacDonald et al. (2020) and Short (1998).

PAH Compounds in Sediment

Most of the detected PAH compounds are in coal tar, gasoline exhaust, tires, and/or products of the incomplete combustion of coal and oil - several are known carcinogens. Some are used in manufacturing processes. They commonly occur at elevated levels in urban areas with asphalt pavement and heavy automobile traffic and presumably enter streams via stormwater runoff. Multiple PAH compounds were elevated at nearly every site sampled in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area with numerous poor very poor IPS threshold values and MacDonald et al. (2000) PEC threshold exceedances observed. Only 10 excellent/good values were observed in the entire study area in 2020-21 (Table 17), up from 7 in 2018-19. Most fair values were located in the Middle Fork with a majority of the poor, very poor, and PEC exceedances in the West Fork (Table 17), which is similar to 2018-19. Benz(b)anthracene, benzo[a}pyrene, benzo[b]fluoranthene concentrations were poor, very poor, or exceeding the PEC at most sites in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area. Fluoranthene, phenanthrene, and pyrene concentrations also exceeded the IPS very poor threshold at most sites, but fair and poor values were recorded in the Middle Fork. Only acenaphthene and acenaphthylene were not detected at any site while fluorene was detected at all sites with the greatest exceedances in the Skokie River and West Fork. The IPS thresholds coincided with the MacDonald et al. (2000) PEC/TEC values with the former generally less than the IPS good level and the latter only roughly consistent with the IPS poor and very poor values. There were considerably more very poor values than non-detected PAHs with these chemicals being ubiquitous throughout the study area. The West Fork had the highest incidence of poor, very poor, or >PEC values for 71 of 84 analytes (84.5%), followed by the Skokie River with 69 of 112 analytes (61.6%), and the Middle Fork with 56 of 154 analytes (36.4%). The high proportion of urban land uses in each subwatershed increases the presence and concentrations of PAHs. Runoff from roads, parking lots, deposition of gas and oil combustion processes, and industrial centers being the most likely sources.

Table 17. Sediment PAH levels (mg/kg) in sediments at 25 sites in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area. Highlighted cells indicate an exceedance of one or more of the effect thresholds listed at the bottom (TEC – threshold effect concentration; PEC – probable effect concentration; ND – not detected).

Site ID	River Mile	Drainage Area (sq. mi.)	Year	Acenaphtene (µg/kg, dry)	Acenaphthylene (µg/kg, dry)	Anthracene (µg/kg, dry)	Benzo[a]anthracene (µg/kg, dry)	Benzo[a]pyrene (µg/kg, dry)	Benzo[b]fluoranthene (µg/kg, dry)	Benzo[g,h,i]perylene (µg/kg, dry)	Benzo[k]fluoranthene (µg/kg, dry)	Chrysene (µg/kg, dry)	Dibenzo[a,h]anthracene (µg/kg, dry)	Fluoranthene (µg/kg, dry)	Fluorene (µg/kg, dry)	Indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene (µg/kg, dry)	Phenanthrene (µg/kg, dry)	Pyrene (µg/kg, dry)
								5	kokie River	•								
SR1	21.1	2.70	2020	ND	ND	ND	960	1900	3500	1400	1300	2200	ND	3200	ND	1200	820	2700
SR2	17.4	7.80	2020	ND	ND	ND	760	970	1800	620	ND	1200	ND	2300	ND	ND	920	2000
SR3	14.8	11.50	2020	ND	ND	390	1300	1400	2100	680	500	1600	ND	3800	230	600	2500	3500
SR4	11.3	15.00	2020	1300	ND	2400	6700	6700	9700	3900	2900	8100	960	18000	1600	3200	14000	19000
SR5	8.0	20.60	2020	ND	ND	930	3300	3800	5200	2000	1500	4100	ND	9100	ND	1700	5800	8900
SR6	7.4	21.50	2020	ND	ND	620	2400	2900	4400	1600	1500	3200	ND	7000	ND	1400	3700	6700
SR7	3.0	23.70	2020	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	83	ND	ND	ND	ND	98	ND	ND	ND	79
SR18	0.5	30.90	2020	ND	ND	580	2200	2500	3600	1400	1100	2700	ND	6200	ND	1200	3500	5400
							Mid	dle Fork No	rth Branch	Chicago Riv	ver							
MF8	21.1	5.81	2021	ND	ND	240	1600	2500	4800	1100	1600	2900	370	7100	ND	1300	2400	4200
MF9	18.9	8.91	2021	ND	ND	ND	470	690	1200	450	470	820	ND	1600	ND	510	430	990
MF10	16.7	11.90	2021	ND	ND	ND	ND	310	590	ND	ND	370	ND	760	ND	ND	240	450
MF11	14.1	16.11	2021	ND	ND	ND	740	940	1600	460	510	1000	ND	2700	ND	540	1000	1600
MF12	10.8	19.23	2021	ND	ND	160	670	830	1400	380	470	930	ND	2100	ND	440	820	1300
MF13	8.6	20.96	2021	ND	ND	ND	770	1100	2000	580	730	1300	ND	2800	ND	690	800	1600
MF14	6.0	22.48	2021	ND	ND	230	730	780	1200	310	440	810	ND	2000	ND	360	900	1300
MF15	4.0	24.29	2021	ND	ND	ND	670	1000	1900	540	670	1200	ND	2500	ND	630	810	1500
MF16	3.0	56.10	2020	ND	ND	ND	1300	1800	2700	1100	990	2000	ND	3700	ND	1000	1300	3300
MF17	1.8	57.30	2020	ND	ND	ND	1600	2300	3700	1600	1200	2500	ND	5200	ND	1300	2100	4200
							We	st Fork Nor	th Branch (Chicago Riv	er							
WF20	12.5	3.87	2021	ND	ND	ND	770	1200	2500	600	760	1500	ND	3600	ND	710	1000	1900
WF21	10.4	7.02	2021	220	ND	670	3900	5700	10000	3700	3100	6900	1000	16000	320	3900	5600	9100
WF22	9.2	9.41	2021	ND	ND	730	4800	7600	16000	3600	5300	9100	1000	21000	ND	4000	6000	12000
WF23	4.9	17.86	2021	230	ND	1100	5500	7200	11000	2900	4700	7900	890	20000	340	3200	6800	11000
WF24	2.9	24.52	2021	ND	ND	500	2900	4500	9300	2200	3400	5200	650	12000	ND	2500	3500	6700
WF25	1.3	27.97	2021	390	ND	1100	4000	5100	9100	2200	3200	5700	680	15000	450	2500	5600	8100
								North Br	anch Chicag	go River								
MF19	18.6	93.40	2020	ND	ND	710	3300	4000	5700	2200	1400	4300	ND	9400	ND	1900	5200	8700
Ma	cDonald et al.	2000	TEC	None		57.2	108	150	240	170	240	166	33	423	77.4	200	204	195
			PEC		ļ	845	1050	1450	13,400	320	13,400	1,290	135	2,230	536	3,200	1,170	1,520
			Exc./Good	<84.25	None	<78.00	<239.0	<230	<207.0	<335.0	<520.8	<266.0	<101.0	<774.0	<84.25	<260.5	<243.5	<393.0
	NE IL IPS		Poor	>104.25	1	>119.9	>699.4	>798.3	>434.7	>792.1	>1437	>958.3	>167.3	>2432	>104.8	>623.3	>803.3	>1570
			V. Poor	>125.3		>161.8	>1160	>1367	>662.4	>1249.0	>2354	>1651	>233.7	>4091	>125.3	>986.2	>1363	>2747

Physical Habitat Quality for Aquatic Life – QHEI

The physical habitat of a stream or river is a primary determinant of biological quality and potential. Streams in the glaciated Midwest, left in their natural state, typically offer pool-runriffle sequences, moderate to high sinuosity, and well-developed channels with deep pools, heterogeneous substrates, and cover in the form of woody debris, hard substrates, and aquatic macrophytes. Lower gradient streams may not offer as distinct riffle habitats and are oftentimes run and glide dominated, but can still offer a diversity of substrates, well developed pool habitats, and well-developed instream cover features associated with woody debris and aquatic macrophytes. The Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index (QHEI) categorically scores basic components of stream and riverine habitat into ranks according to the degree to which those components are found compared to a natural state, or conversely, in an altered or modified state. In the NBWW study area, QHEI scores and physical habitat attributes were recorded in conjunction with the fish sampling conducted at each site. Examples of the range of habitat offered in the study area are the Middle Fork at sites MF11 (Figure 30) and MF14 (Figure 31) in 2021, the latter offering the best habitat in the study area and the former reflecting ongoing and legacy modifications to the stream channel.

Based on the QHEI scores and the number and ratios of good and modified attributes (after Rankin 1989, 1995; Table 18 and Figure 32), overall habitat quality in 2020-21 ranged from poor (20 sites - 19 in 2018-19) to fair (five sites) with three of the fair sites in the lower Middle Fork and one each in the West Fork (WF 24) and Skokie R. (SR04). The IPS derived QHEI thresholds for the five narrative categories were used and these are more stringent than the prior usage of narrative ratings from Ohio. The fair ratings for the Middle Fork North Branch sites located in the lower section (MF13, MF14, and MF15) resulted from a comparatively lower number of highly modified attributes. Other than MF14, these sites still had numerous moderate modified attributes and with very few good habitat attributes (Table 18). The highest habitat score in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area was recorded at WF14 (MF 14 in 2018-19), which had seven (7) good and six (6) modified attributes with a 0.86 ratio of modified: good attributes (Good; Table 18). This site reflected a continuation of some of the same issues affecting upstream habitat scores. It was still recovering from past channelization, there were no fast current types, it had moderate to high silt cover and moderate to high embeddedness of the natural substrates. Moderate and high influence modified habitat attributes were common throughout the NBWW survey area in 2018-19 and 2020-21.

The 19 sites which rated poor were apportioned across each of the three subwatersheds. The Skokie River offered poor habitat throughout its length while only modest improvements in habitat were observed in the downstream sections of both the Middle and West Forks of the North Branch Chicago River. The mainstem of the North Branch offered poor quality habitat as judged by the IPS thresholds. Moderate and high influence modified attributes outnumbered good attributes at 24 of the 25 sites in the NBWW survey area. Of these, 20 had at least one high influence modified attribute and fifteen (15) had multiple high influence modified attributes. Only two sites had a modified:good ratio <2.0 while four had very poor (>6.0), eight poor (>4.0) and 11 fair (>2.0) ratios (Table 12). Ratios <2.0 generally can support minimum



Figure 30. Riparian habitat modification in the form of tree removal at site MF11 (RM 16.1) at Illinois St. Rt. 22 leaving stumps that will eventually give way to scouring flows. Legacy channel modification is evident as it is at most sites in the NBWW survey area.



Figure 31. The Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River downstream from Sunset Drive (MF14) in 2019. Only nine (9) of the twenty-five (25) sites in the NBWW survey area had riffle habitats all of which were moderately to extensively embedded at every site and some were the result of channel restrictions formed by bridge abutments.

 Table 18. QHEI matrix of good (■) and high influence (●) and moderate influence (●) modified habitat attributes at 25 sites in the NBWW study area during 2020-21. QHEI scores are shaded in accordance with IPS derived narrative ratings; green – Good; yellow – Fair; orange – Poor; red – Very Poor).

						Goo	od Ha	bitat /	Attribu	utes					High I	nflue Attri	nce Mo ibutes	odified					Mode	rate l	nfluen	ce Mo	odified	d Attri	butes				Ra	tios
Site ID	River Mile	QHEI	No Channelization	Boulder, Cobble, Gravel	Silt Free	Good-Excellent Development	Moderate-High Sinuosity	Moderate-Extensive Cover	Fast Flow w Eddies	Little to No Embeddedness	Max Depth > 40 cm	No Riffle Embeddedness	Good Habitat Attributes	Channelized or No Recovery	Silt/Muck Substrates	No Sinuosity	Sparse No Cover	Max Depths <40 cm	High Influence Poor Attributes	Recovering from Channelization	Mod-High Silt Cover	Sand Substrates (Boatable sites)	Hardpan Origin	Fair- Poor Development	Low Sinuosity	< 2 Cover Types	Intermittent Flow or Pools <20 cm	No Fast Current Types	Mod-Extensive Embeddedness	Mod-Extensive Riffle Embeddedness	No Riffle	Poor Habitat Attributes	Ratio of Modified (High) to Good	Ratio of Modified (All) to Good
			-	-	1	1	1		r	_		· · · ·	_	_	Sko	kie R	iver - 2	020				r												
SR1	21.10	37.0											1					•	4		-			-				-	-			5	4.0	9.00
SR2 SR3	17.40	38.0											2 4	•			-		4	•				-					-			5	2.0	2.00
SR4	11 30	52.5											5						1	-									-			6	0.5	1 40
SR5	8 00	46.8	-	_		-							2	•		ě			3		•			•							•	5	1.5	4.00
SR6	7.40	39.5											2	ě	Ĭ	ě			3		•			•					•		•	5	1.5	4.00
SR7	3.00	38.0											3		•	-			1		•			•				•	•		•	5	0.3	2.00
SR18	0.50	41.5											2	•	•				2		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	1.0	4.00
												Ā	Aiddle	e Fork	Nort	h Bra	nch Ch	icago	River	- 2021	1													
MF08	21.10	29.0											2						1	•	•			•	•			•	•		•	7	0.5	4.00
MF09	18.90	31.5											3	•		•			2		•			•				•	•		•	5	0.7	2.33
MF10	16.70	41.0											1		•			•	3		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	3.0	9.00
MF11	14.10	44.0											2	•	•	•			3		•			•				•	•		•	5	1.5	4.00
MF12	10.80	45.5											3	•					1		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	0.3	2.33
MF13	8.60	60.0											2	•					1		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	0.5	3.50
MF14	6.00	64.5		_			_						2	•	-	•			2		•			-	-			-	•		•	5	1.0	3.50
IVIF15	4.00	55.5											4 Aiddla	e Forl	Nort	h Bra	nch Ch	icaao	Divor	- 2020				-	-				-			_ /	0.0	1.75
ME16	2.00	29 E			· · · ·				· · · ·			î	6	FUIN		Diu		lugo	0	- 2021		· · · ·		_	_	_			•	-		1	0.0	0.67
MF17	1.80	45.8	-	-				_					3				•		1	•				•				•	•	-		6	0.3	2.33
													West	Fork	North	Bran	ch Chi	cago F	liver -	2021				-					_					
WF20	12.50	30.5											2	•					2		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	1.0	4.00
WF21	10.40	42.0											2			•		•	3	•	•			•		•		•	•	•		7	1.5	5.00
WF22	9.20	46.5											3	•					1		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	0.3	2.33
WF23	4.90	41.0											2	•					2		•			•	•			•	•		•	6	1.0	4.00
WF24	2.90	66.0											7		 				0	•	•			•				•	•	•		6	0.0	0.86
WF25	1.30	48.0											2						0	•	•			•	•	_		•	•	•		7	0.0	3.50
14540	40.00	40.5		_	1	_	1	_	r		_	T T	4	North	Bran	ch Ch	icago	River -	2020			1				_								1 75
INIF19	18.60	48.5		_									4						0	-	-			-	-	_			-		-	0	0.0	1.75
	Good	69.3-81.0											8						0													2	<0.5	<2.00
	Fair	50,1-69,0											>2						1													<5	<1.00	>2.00
	Poor	25-50	_										<2						2													6	<2.00	>4.00
-	Very Poor	<25											0						5													>6	>2.00	<u>≥</u> 6.00

75 | Page



Figure 32. Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index (QHEI) scores in the Skokie River (2020), the Middle Fork (2020-21), and the West Fork (2021). The IPS narrative ranges of QHEI scores from excellent to very poor are indicated by solid and dashed lines.

biological goals such as the Illinois General Uses, but ratios >2.0 generally indicate a proportion of modified attributes that would require direct mitigation to reverse. It also means that meeting the General Use biocriteria would likely be precluded by habitat regardless of water quality conditions, thus raising concerns about use attainability (Rankin 1995). The sites with ratios <2.0 are the result of having fewer modified attributes coupled with enough good attributes to offset the negative influence of the modified attributes. All sites within the NBWW survey area lacked fast current types, possessed moderate to extensive silt coverage and all except one site had moderate to extensive embeddedness of natural substrates and fair to poor development. Most sites lacked riffles and of the sites that had riffles, they were moderately to extensively embedded by sand or silt. Low sinuosity was observed at half the sites and nearly three quarters had not recovered from historic channelization. Given the list of channel modifications and other hydrological alterations in the MWRD 2011 North Branch Watershed Plan (HDR 2011) executing needed habitat improvements may prove difficult.

Biological Assemblages – Fish

Twenty-three (23) fish species and two (2) hybrids were collected in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area (Appendix A). The fish assemblage was predominated by tolerant and moderately tolerant species (Table 19). Gizzard Shad, Largemouth Bass, Bluegill Sunfish, Green Sunfish, Goldfish, Blackstripe Topminnow, White Sucker, Yellow Bullhead, Common Carp, and Golden Shiner were the most numerous species collected in 2020-21 combined. Common Carp, White Sucker, Bluegill Sunfish, Goldfish, Yellow Bullhead, Green Sunfish, Largemouth Bass, Common Carp X, Goldfish, Gizzard Shad, and Black Bullhead comprised the highest percentages of biomass. Of the ten most numerous species by numbers and weight six (6) are highly tolerant, two (2) are moderately tolerant. In total there were 11 highly tolerant and three moderately intolerant species with no sensitive of intolerant species. The species collected are common to highly disturbed streams and are adaptive to degraded water quality and modified habitat.

The Skokie River had 18 fish species and one (12) hybrid with Gizzard Shad, Largemouth Bass, Green Sunfish, Bluegill Sunfish, White Sucker, Golden Shiner, Blackstripe Topminnow, Yellow Bullhead, Common Carp, and Fathead Minnow being the numerically most abundant species (Table 19). The Skokie River fish assemblage included eight (8) tolerant and three (3) moderately tolerant species and no sensitive or intolerant species. Walleye were not collected in the Skokie Lagoons in 2020, but they were present in good numbers in 2018.

The Middle Fork N. Branch had 18 fish species and one (1) hybrid with Gizzard Shad, Blackstripe Topminnow, Bluegill Sunfish, Green Sunfish, Largemouth Bass, White Sucker, Yellow Bullhead Common Carp, Golden Shiner, and Central Mudminnow being the numerically most abundant species (Table 19). Two (7) Iowa Darters, a formerly Illinois threatened species, were collected, a result similar to 2018-19. The occurrence of species such as Central Mudminnow, Tadpole Madtom, Golden Shiner, and Iowa Darter reflect the low gradient and aquatic macrophyte dominated legacy of this system. The Middle Fork fish assemblage **Table 19**. Fish species collected in the Skokie River in 2020 (upper), the Middle Fk. N. Branch in 2020-21 (middle), and the West Fork (lower) in 2021 arranged by numerical abundance. The tolerance codes for tolerant (T) moderately intolerant (P), and moderately intolerant species are indicated along with the number of samples within which each species occurred. No sensitive or intolerant species were collected.

		Sko	okie River 2020 Fish Grand Nu	mbers and E	Biomass				
							Average		
Family	Species			Ohio	Rel.	% by	Weight	Rel. Weight	% by
Code	Code	Common Name	Latin Name	Tolerance	Number	Number	(g)	(kg)	Weight
20	003	GIZZARD SHAD	Dorosoma cepedianum		1620.5	34.13	4.94	6.922	5.67
77	006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	Micropterus salmoides		1252.5	26.38	33.99	8.008	6.56
77	008	GREEN SUNFISH	Lepomis cyanellus	Т	519.0	10.93	12.49	6.020	4.93
77	009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Lepomis macrochirus	Р	512.5	10.80	16.72	13.025	10.67
40	016	WHITE SUCKER	Catostomus commersoni	Т	305.5	6.43	96.74	34.992	28.68
43	003	GOLDEN SHINER	Notemigonus crysoleucas	Т	177.0	3.73	3.49	0.518	0.42
54	002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Fundulus notatus		131.0	2.76	1.68	0.194	0.16
47	004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	Ameiurus natalis	Т	65.0	1.37	63.17	3.005	2.46
43	001	COMMON CARP	Cyprinus carpio	Т	33.0	0.70	991.56	42.070	34.48
43	042	FATHEAD MINNOW	Pimephales promelas	Т	26.0	0.55	2.59	0.102	0.08
77	013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	Lepomis gibbosus	Р	25.0	0.53	32.00	0.860	0.70
43	002	GOLDFISH	Carassius auratus	Т	21.5	0.45	79.58	1.560	1.28
47	006	BLACK BULLHEAD	Ameiurus melas	Р	17.5	0.37	123.81	2.230	1.83
77	015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF	HYBRID		15.0	0.32	55.33	0.730	0.60
77	012	REDEAR SUNFISH	Lepomis microlophus		14.0	0.29	61.43	0.860	0.70
47	013	TADPOLE MADTOM	Noturus gyrinus		5.5	0.12	8.75	0.045	0.04
43	043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	Pimephales notatus	Т	3.0	0.06	2.00	0.006	0.00
47	002	CHANNEL CATFISH	Ictalurus punctatus		2.0	0.04	430.00	0.860	0.70
95	001	BROOK STICKLEBACK	Culaea inconstans		2.0	0.04	10.00	0.020	0.02
		Middle Ec	rk N. Branch River 2020 Eich Gr	and Number	s and Biom	266			

								Average		
Family	Species				Ohio	Rel.	% by	Weight	Rel. Weight	% by
Code	Code	Common Name	Latin Name		Tolerand	e Number	Number	(g)	(kg)	Weight
20	003	GIZZARD SHAD	Dorosoma cepedianum			551.0	20.55	18.80	4.105	2.45
54	002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Fundulus notatus			429.5	16.02	1.82	0.618	0.37
77	009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Lepomis macrochirus		Р	401.0	14.96	16.05	7.281	4.35
77	008	GREEN SUNFISH	Lepomis cyanellus		Т	347.5	12.96	14.78	5.103	3.05
77	006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	Micropterus salmoides			327.0	12.20	45.23	3.478	2.08
40	016	WHITE SUCKER	Catostomus commersoni		Т	219.0	8.17	121.76	33.377	19.94
47	004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	Ameiurus natalis		Т	156.0	5.82	45.57	6.557	3.92
43	001	COMMON CARP	Cyprinus carpio		Т	61.0	2.28	1355.00	102.225	61.07
43	003	GOLDEN SHINER	Notemigonus crysoleucas		Т	60.5	2.26	6.75	0.196	0.12
34	001	CENTRAL MUDMINNOW	Umbra limi		Т	34.0	1.27	5.27	0.120	0.07
77	015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF	HYBRID			33.5	1.25	57.82	0.955	0.57
43	002	GOLDFISH	Carassius auratus		Т	21.0	0.78	104.50	1.995	1.19
47	006	BLACK BULLHEAD	Ameiurus melas		Р	14.0	0.52	78.00	1.020	0.61
43	043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	Pimephales notatus		Т	12.0	0.45	3.75	0.038	0.02
47	013	TADPOLE MADTOM	Noturus gyrinus			4.5	0.17	6.67	0.031	0.02
43	013	CREEK CHUB	Semotilus atromaculatus		Т	4.0	0.15	45.00	0.180	0.11
77	002	BLACK CRAPPIE	Pomoxis nigromaculatus			2.0	0.07	30.00	0.060	0.04
80	021	IOWA DARTER	Etheostoma exile			2.0	0.07	2.00	0.004	0.00
77	013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	Lepomis gibbosus		Р	1.5	0.06	30.00	0.045	0.03
		West F	ork N. Branch River 2020 Fish	Gran	d Numbe	rs and Biom	ass			
Family	Species			0	Dhio	Rel.	% by	Average	Rel. Weight	% by
Code	Code	Common Name	Latin Name	Tol	erance	Number	Number	Weight (g)	(kg)	Weight
43	002	GOLDFISH	Carassius auratus		Т	897.0	53.16	27.36	17.764	20.07
43	001	COMMON CARP	Cyprinus carpio		Т	261.0	15.47	432.32	44.625	50.41
47	004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	Ameiurus natalis		Т	160.0	9.48	38.56	8.211	9.27
77	008	GREEN SUNFISH	Lepomis cyanellus		Т	133.5	7.91	13.91	2.038	2.30
77	009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Lepomis macrochirus		Р	133.0	7.88	12.03	1.582	1.79
77	006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	Micropterus salmoides			27.5	1.63	18.39	0.273	0.31
54	002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Fundulus notatus			27.0	1.60	2.77	0.060	0.07
40	016	WHITE SUCKER	Catostomus commersoni		Т	12.0	0.71	115.00	1.530	1.73
43	045	COMMON CARP X GOLDFISH	HYBRID		Т	12.0	0.71	602.15	11.385	12.86
20	003	GIZZARD SHAD	Dorosoma cepedianum			7.5	0.44	38.75	0.285	0.32
43	003	GOLDEN SHINER	Notemigonus crysoleucas		Т	6.0	0.36	25.00	0.135	0.15
47	006	BLACK BULLHEAD	Ameiurus melas		Р	4.5	0.27	100.00	0.525	0.59
57	001	WESTERN MOSQUITOFISH	Gambusia affinis			2.0	0.12	2.00	0.004	0.00
3/	001	CENTRAL MUDMINNOW	Umbra limi		т	15	0.09	10.00	0.015	0.02

Pimephales notatus

HYBRID

0.09

0.09

1.5

1.5

Т

0.008

0.090

5.00

60.00

0.01

0.10

43

77

043 BLUNTNOSE MINNOW

015 GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF

included nine (9) tolerant and three (3) moderately tolerant species and no sensitive or intolerant species present.

The West Fork had 14 fish species and two (2) hybrids with Goldfish, Common Carp, Yellow Bullhead, Green Sunfish, Bluegill Sunfish, Largemouth Bass, Blackstripe Topminnow, White Sucker, Common Carp X Goldfish, and Gizzard Shad being the numerically most abundant species (Table 19). The West Fork fish assemblage included nine (9) tolerant and two (2) moderately tolerant species and no sensitive or intolerant species.

Fish Assemblage

Fish IBI (fIBI) scores are either a single value for one pass or the mean of two sampling passes within the summer-early fall index period. The General Use biocriterion of 41 was not met at any site in 2020-21 (Table 20; Figure 33). In the Skokie River, poor scores were recorded at all sites except for the upstream most site SR1 (RM 21.1) which was very poor and the downstream site SR18 (RM 0.50) which was fair. The Middle Fork N. Branch sites were a mix of poor and very poor results. The West Fork was uniformly very poor with fIBI scores at all sites in that narrative range. The Modified Index of Well-Being (MIwb) has no formal biocriteria in Illinois, but using the Ohio biocriteria it failed to attain the Ohio equivalent of the General Use at zero (0) sites. The MIwb is calculated for wadeable and boatable sites with drainage areas >20 mi² and was therefore assessed at only 12 of the 25 sites in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Out of these 12 sites, three were fair, two in the lower Skokie River and a single site in the Middle Fork, eight (8) were poor, and a single site at MF13 (RM 8.6) was very poor.

The longitudinal plots for the Skokie River showed only a slight increase downstream in 2020 with all sites rated as non-support poor which was a slight decline from 2018 when two sites were in the margins of non-support fair (Figure 33). The Middle Fork showed similar results with all sites rated as non-support poor in 2020-21 slightly beneath two sites at the margins of non-support fair in 2081-19. The West Fork results showed little variation in the fIBI from upstream to downstream with all sites rated as non-support poor in both the 2019 and 2021 survey periods. The site in the West Fork downstream from E. Lake Ave. (WF24) showed a noticeable decline in the 2019 fIBI. This location is downstream of the Village of Glenview 1800 E. Lake Ave. lift station and where the highest median concentrations of ammonia-N and chlorides in 2019 were located. The Skokie River site (SR7), which attained a fair rating in 2018, was likely buoyed by stocking efforts by the Illinois DNR. Walleye, Northern Pike, Channel Catfish and Largemouth Bass are stocked annually (Illinois DNR 2020).

The Modified Index of Well-Being (MIwb) has no formal biocriteria in Illinois, but using the Ohio biocriteria it attained the Ohio equivalent of the General Use at no sites and was fair at the lower two sites in the Skokie River. The MIwb is calculated for wadeable and boatable sites with drainage areas >20 mi² and was therefore assessed at 12 of the 25 sites in the NBWW survey area. High proportions of tolerant fishes were observed at most sites in the 2020-21 survey

Table 20. Selected fish assemblage metrics and attributes at 25 sites sampled in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Biological index scores are shaded by level of use support: Exceptional – blue; Good (fully supporting) - green; Fair (non-support) - yellow; Poor (non-support) – orange; Very Poor - red; key metrics as signatures of toxic or organic enrichment impacts are based on Yoder and DeShon (2003).

						Fis	h Assembl	age		
		Drain-								
		age							%Mineral	
	River	Area				Native		Intoler-	Spawn-	%
Site ID	Mile	(mi. ²)	Year	fIBI	MIwb	Sp.	% DELT	ant Sp.	ers	Tolerant
	•	•	•		Skokie Riv	ver				•
SR1	21.10	2.70	2020	5.0		1	0.0	0	0	50.0
SR2	17.40	7.80	2020	16.5		4	0.0	0	0	54.0
SR3	14.80	11.50	2020	23.0	NA NA	7	0.0	0	0	58.5
SR4	11.30	15.00	2020	17.5		8	0.5	0	0	54.5
SR5	8.00	20.60	2020	23.5	3.9	6	0.0	0	0	41.5
SR6	7.40	21.50	2020	18.0	4.2	6	0.0	0	0	56.5
SR7	3.00	23.70	2020	15.0	7.0	10	0.0	0	0	40.0
SR18	0.50	30.90	2020	34.5	7.5	10	0.3	0	0	60.0
			Mic	dle Fork N	lorth Bran	ch Chicag	o River			
MF8	21.10	5.81	2021	13.0		4	0.0	0	0	25.0
MF9	18.90	8.91	2021	14.0		6	0.0	0	0	50.0
MF10	16.70	11.90	2021	12.0	NA	2	0.0	0	0	0.0
MF11	14.10	16.11	2021	20.0		11	0.0	1	0	36.0
MF12	10.80	19.23	2021	15.0		6	0.0	0	0	50.0
MF13	8.60	20.96	2021	13.0	3.0	4	0.0	0	0	50.0
MF14	6.00	22.48	2021	15.0	5.5	8	0.0	0	0	50.0
MF15	4.00	24.29	2021	17.0	6.2	9	0.0	0	0	56.0
MF16	3.00	56.10	2020	21.0	4.8	9	0.0	0	0	61.5
MF17	1.80	57.30	2020	16.5	5.7	8	0.2	0	0	48.0
		•	W	est Fork N	orth Branc	h Chicago	River			
WF20	12.50	3.87	2021	7.0		3	0.0	0	0	67.0
WF21	10.40	7.02	2021	11.0	NIA	4	0.0	0	0	25.0
WF22	9.20	9.41	2021	9.0	NA	5	0.0	0	0	80.0
WF23	4.90	17.86	2021	9.0		7	0.5	0	0	71.0
WF24	2.90	24.52	2021	10.0	5.0	7	1.7	0	0	86.0
WF25	1.30	27.97	2021	12.0	4.6	10	0.0	0	0	60.0
			•	North E	Branch Chi	cago River	r			•
MF19	18.60	93.40	2020	13.0	5.0	7	0.1	0	0	77.5
		Ехсер	tional	>50	>9.6	<u>></u> 24	0	<u>>6</u>	>44	<u><</u> 16.1
		Go	od	<u>></u> 41	>8.5	<u>></u> 16	<1.3	<u>></u> 4	>23	<30.3
Narrative	Categories	Fa	air	<41	>5.8	<u><</u> 13	<3.0	<3	>10	<40
and Thr	esholds	Po	Dress	<30	<5.8	<u>>9</u>	>10	1	>5	<u>>50</u>
		Sou	urce	IEPA/MBI	<4.0 MBI	<9 MBI	>20 MBI	MBI	MBI	MBI



Figure 33. Illinois fish IBI (fIBI) scores for the Skokie River (upper), North Branch Chicago River and the lower two sites in the Middle Fork North Branch (center) in 2020 while the West Fork North Branch (lower) and the upper Middle Fork North Branch values were recorded in 2021. IEPA thresholds for fully supporting and two categories of non-support are indicated..

81 | Page

area which limits both the MIwb and fIBI scores. The percent tolerant fish exceeded the good threshold at all but three sites (MF08, MF10, and WF21; Table 20). DELT anomalies were generally very low, with primarily good and excellent values were observed. Zero intolerant species or mineral substrate spawners were collected (Table 20).

Biological Assemblages – Macroinvertebrates

There were 117 unique macroinvertebrate taxa collected in the NBWW survey area in 2020-21 (Appendix B) compared to 108 taxa in 2018-19. The predominant taxa collected were mostly indicative of poor water quality. The most numerous was *Hyalella azteca*, an amphipod, followed by the genus *Gammarus sp.*, Oligochaeta a segmented worm; *Gammarus sp.* a crustacean; and the genus *Caecidotea sp.*, a crustacean. The majority of the most numerous species collected were either of moderate tolerance, tolerant, or facultative.

The Skokie River had 58 total taxa, the Middle Fork had 91 total taxa, and the West Fork had 63 total taxa. The predominant taxa in each were *Gammarus sp.*, Oligochaeta, *Caecidotea sp.*, *Hyalella azteca*, and *Polypedilum (P.) illinoense*, a toxic tolerant midge, in the Skokie R., *Hyalella azteca*, Oligochaeta, *Caecidotea sp.*, *Cheumatopsyche sp.*, a facultative caddisfly, and Polypedilum (P.) illinoense in the Middle Fork, and Oligochaeta, *Hyalella azteca*, *Polypedilum (P.) illinoense*, *Chironomus (C.) sp.*, and Coenagrionidae, damselflies, in the West Fork (Table 21).

Macroinvertebrate Assemblage

Samples were collected for the West Fork and the majority of the Middle Fork Branches of the Chicago River in 2021 with a single random resample conducted at WF20. Samples for the Skokie River, North Branch Chicago River mainstem site and the lower Middle Fork North Branch were collected in 2020 with a single random resample collected at SR3 and no sample collected at SR7 due to excessive depth in the Skokie Lagoons impoundment. The macroinvertebrate assemblage condition in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area ranged mostly from poor to fair and in non-support of the IEPA mIBI biological criterion (Figure 34). As a result no sites met the mIBI General Use for aquatic life. In terms of any trends between 2020-21 and 2018-19, one site improved in the lower Skokie River nearly meeting the mIBI biocriterion for General Use at SR18 (RM 0.50). The Middle Fork site at MF14 (RM 6.00) missed the General use by only 1.3 units and the 2020 results were somewhat better than 2018 at selected sites. Values in the West Fork were consistently poor to very poor (Table 22). The second highest mIBI of 39.5 at MF14 coincides with the best habitat in the NBWW survey area with a QHEI score of 64.5. This site and SR18 had 47.0% and 36.7% EPT taxa and the only results in the good range for that assemblage attribute whereas 19 sites were in the poor range with 11 at 0% (Table 22). Table 22 lists select mIBI metrics and other macroinvertebrate assemblage attributes, two of which are key biological response signatures associated with toxic impacts (% toxic tolerant taxa) and organic enrichment (% organic enrichment tolerant taxa; Yoder and DeShon 2003). Total taxa ranged from 10-29 taxa (7-27 taxa in 2018-19). The percent of organic enrichment taxa exceeded poor and very poor thresholds at two (2) sites in the Skokie River, six (6) sites in the

Table 21. The 50 most abundant macroinvertebrate taxa collected at 25 sites in the Skokie River (left), Middle Fork N. Branch (middle), and West Fork (right) in the NBWW 2020-21 survey area including number of times collected, total number collected, taxa group, and taxa tolerance assignments.

	ОН		IL Funct.				Samples			IL	IL Funct.				Samples		OF	I IL	IL Funct.				Samples
Таха	Toler-	IL Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected	Таха	OH Toler-	Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected	Таха	Tole	er- Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected
Code Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In	Code Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In	Code	Taxa Name and	e ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In
06800 Gammarus sp	F	3			1811	31.76	6	06201 Hyalella azteca	F	4	CG		3292	21.29	7	03600	Oligochaeta T	10	CG		1438	19.28	6
03600 Oligochaeta	Т	10	CG		683	11.98	7	03600 Oligochaeta	Т	10	CG		1898	12.27	11	06201	Hyalella azteca F	4	CG		687	9.21	5
05800 Caecidotea sp	Т	6	CG		380	6.66	5	05800 Caecidotea sp	Т	6	CG		1379	8.92	6	84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense T	6	SH		406	5.44	2
06201 Hyalella azteca	F	4	CG		257	4.51	2	52200 Cheumatopsyche sp	F	6	CF	CA	719	4.65	2	82710	Chironomus (C.) sp M	11	CG		393	5.27	1
84470 Polypedilum (P.) illinoense	Т	6	SH		255	4.47	2	84470 Polypedilum (P.) illinoense	Т	6	SH		616	3.98	4	22001	Coenagrionidae T	5.5	PR		332	4.45	5
98200 Pisidium sp	MT	5	CF		170	2.98	6	01801 Turbellaria	F	6	PR		601	3.89	10	01801	Turbellaria F	6	PR		297	3.98	3
22001 Coenagrionidae	Т	5.5	PR		168	2.95	6	95100 Physella sp	Т	9	SC		418	2.70	5	95100	Physella sp T	9	SC		213	2.86	4
83040 Dicrotendipes neomodestus	F	6	CG		164	2.88	6	06800 Gammarus sp	F	3			416	2.69	3	84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavur F	6	SH		173	2.32	1
97601 Corbicula fluminea	F	4	CF		160	2.81	3	68700 Dubiraphia sp	F	5	CG	CO	289	1.87	1	05800	Caecidotea sp T	6	CG		137	1.84	2
01801 Turbellaria	F	6	PR		117	2.05	6	22001 Coenagrionidae	Т	5.5	PR		280	1.81	10	97601	Corbicula fluminea F	4	CF		126	1.69	3
98600 Sphaerium sp	F	5	CG		97	1.70	3	92300 Valvata sp		2	SC		280	1.81	2	98600	Sphaerium sp F	5	CG		125	1.68	2
82730 Chironomus (C.) decorus group	Т	11			80	1.40	2	13400 Stenacron sp	F	4	SC	MA	257	1.66	1	22300	Argia sp F	5	PR		103	1.38	1
84450 Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum	F	6	SH		76	1.33	2	84450 Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum	F	6	SH		181	1.17	4	83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus F	6	CG		103	1.38	2
98001 Pisidiidae		5			63	1.10	2	93200 Hydrobiidae	F	6	SC		169	1.09	6	84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenur F	6	SH		87	1.17	2
82710 Chironomus (C.) sp	MT	11	CG		49	0.86	1	83300 Glyptotendipes (G.) sp	MT	10	CF		167	1.08	1	92300	Valvata sp	2	SC		80	1.07	2
83300 Glyptotendipes (G.) sp	MT	10	CF		49	0.86	1	17200 Caenis sp	F	6	CG	MA	164	1.06	3	80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus T	8	SH		78	1.05	2
78655 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp	MT	8	PR		47	0.82	4	98001 Pisidiidae		5			143	0.92	1	74100	Simulium sp F	6	CF		68	0.91	1
84210 Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplic	F	3	CG		45	0.79	5	84540 Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum aroup	F	6	SH		137	0.89	4	98200	Pisidium sp. M.	5	CF		67	0.90	4
82820 Cryntochironomus sp	F	8	PR		44	0.77	5	11130 Baetis intercalaris	F	4	CG	MA	132	0.85	2	77120	Ablahesmvia mallochi E	6	CG		63	0.84	1
95100 Physella sp	т	9	SC		43	0.75	4	98600 Sphaerium sp	F	5	CG		131	0.85	5	83300	Glyntotendines (G.) sn M	10	CF		63	0.84	2
83158 Endochironomus niaricans	MT	6	SH		25	0.44	1	84750 Stictochironomus sp	F	5			114	0.03	2	98001	Pisidiidae	5	0.		60	0.80	1
52200 Cheumatonsyche sp	F	6	CE	CA	23	0.40	1	78655 Procladius (Holotanyous) sp	MT	8	PR		113	0.73	10	04664	Helohdella staanalis T	8	PR		45	0.60	3
84520 Polynedilym (Tripodyra) balterale a	MT	6	сі сн	CA	23	0.40	2	22300 Argig sp	F	5	PR		99	0.73	3	85800	Tapytarsus sp	7	CE		30	0.52	3
85800 Tanytarsus sn	F	7	CF		23	0.40	2	79020 Tanyous neonunctinennis	т	8	PR		92	0.04	3	82820	Cryptochironomus sp	8	PR		37	0.52	2
79020 Tanyous peopunctinennis	т	, ,	DR		22	0.35	1	83040 Dicrotendines neomodestus	F	6	CG		80	0.55	7	52200	Cheumatonsyche sn	6	CE	CA	35	0.30	2
84540 Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum	F	6	SH SH		21	0.37	1	97601 Corbicula fluminea	F	1	CE		78	0.52	,	83000	Dicrotendines sn	6	0	CA	33	0.44	2
78200 Larsia sp	MT	6	DR		20	0.37	2	85500 Paratapytarsus sp	F	6			60	0.30	2	04964	Ernohdella microstoma M	- <u>e</u>	DR		31	0.44	1
93200 Hydrobiidae	F	6	sc		19	0.33	1	85625 Rheotanytarsus sp	F	6	CE		60	0.35	3	85625	Rheotanytarsus sn	6	CE		30	0.42	2
04901 Errobdellidge	MT	0	DD		17	0.33	2	77750 Havesomvia senata or Thienemannimuia no		5	CI		55	0.35	3	03023	Dicrotandinas lucifar	- 6			21	0.40	2
21200 Calontany cn		0			11	0.30	3	04664 Holobdolla staanalis	т	0	DD		55	0.30	4	77500	Conchanalonia sp. E	6	DD		17	0.28	1
65200 Records co	MT	00.0	DD	<u> </u>		0.19	1	04004 Helobuellu stugitulis	MT	0			52	0.34	7	94210	Paratandinas albimanus or P. duni E	2	CG		17	0.23	1
77500 Conchanalonia cn		55.5			9	0.10	2	04901 Erpohdellidge	MT	0			16	0.34	2	01220	Hudra cp	6	DD		15	0.25	1
22820 Microtandinas "caalum" (sansu Sim		6	CE		9	0.10	2	804301 Cricotopus (C) hisingtus	т	0			40	0.30	2	12400	Stanggron cn	0	50	N40	15	0.20	2
04025 Especial punctata punctata	IVII	0			9	0.10	1	80420 Cricolopus (C.) Dicinctus	г Г	°			40	0.30	6	79655	Breededius (Heletanunus) en M	- 0	30	IVIA	15	0.20	2 F
04955 Erpobdella punctata punctata	IVII	0			6	0.12	1	82820 Cryptochironomus sp	Г	6	PK CU		40	0.30	0	78055	Fraabdallidaa				13	0.20	3
		о Г	PR		6	0.11	1	52000 Undrastila as		0	31	C A	47	0.30	0	04901	Erpobuellidue M	0	PK		15	0.17	1
08200 Orconectes sp	F	5	6	<u> </u>	5	0.11	2	11001 Brotidar	F	2	SC		43	0.28	3	93200	Hydrobildde F		SC		13	0.17	3
69400 Stenenmis sp	F	6	SC		5	0.09	2	77500 Conchanglonia ch	r	4		IVIA	41	0.27	2	04666	Helobdella papillata M	8	PA		11	0.15	3
5300 Pulutantila an	г Г	0	60	CA.	5	0.09	1	21200 Colorbanese	r F	0	PR		39	0.25	2	80330		2	10		10	0.15	1
53800 Hydroptila sp	F	2	SC	CA	4	0.07	1	21200 Calopteryx sp	F	4	PK		33	0.21	3	00800	Gammarus sp	3			10	0.13	1
59550 Decetis inconspicua complex sp A (s		5	РК	CA	4	0.07	1	77355 Clinotanypus pinguis	IVII	6	PR		32	0.21	2	///50	Hayesomyla senata or i nieneman F	5			10	0.13	2
77750 Hayesomyla senata or Thienemann	F -	5	C 11		4	0.07	1	85800 Tanytarsus sp	F	/			29	0.19	5	04660	Helobdella sp M	8	PA		9	0.12	1
80510 Cricotopus (Isociadius) sylvestris gro		8	SH		4	0.07	1	04930 Erpobdella sp	MI	8	PR		2/	0.17	1	82770	Chironomus (C.) riparius group	11			9	0.12	2
82800 Cladopelma sp		6	CG		4	0.07	1	82100 I nienemanniella sp	-	2	CG		26	0.1/	1	82/30	Chironomus (C.) decorus group T	11	-		8	0.11	3
83002 Dicrotendipes modestus	MT	6	ĊG	+	4	0.07	2	80510 Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group	T	8	SH		23	0.15	5	53800	Hydroptila sp F	2	SC	CA	6	0.08	1
84700 Stenochironomus sp	F	3	SH		4	0.07	1	84210 Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicatus	F	3	CG		23	0.15	4	96900	Ferrissia sp F	7	SC		6	0.08	2
04683 Placobdella multilineata	F	8	PR		3	0.05	1	04666 Helobdella papillata	MT	8	PA		16	0.10	4	83158	Endochironomus nigricans M	6	SH		5	0.07	2
28500 Libellula sp	MT	8	PR		3	0.05	1	80350 Corynoneura sp		2	CG		16	0.10	1	84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale M	6	SH	-	5	0.07	1
74501 Ceratopogonidae	Т	5	PR		3	0.05	1	65800 Berosus sp	MT	99.9	PR	CO	12	0.08	1	79020	Tanypus neopunctipennis T	8	PR		4	0.05	1
77001 Tanypodinae		6	PR		3	0.05	1	74100 Simulium sp	F	6	CF		13	0.08	1	08200	Orconectes sp F	5	CG		3	0.04	1
22300 Argia sp	F	5	PR		2	0.04	1	83158 Endochironomus nigricans	MT	6	SH		13	0.08	4	28705	Pachydiplax longipennis T	8	PR		3	0.04	1

83 | Page



Figure 34. Illinois macroinvertebrate IBI (mIBI) scores for the Skokie River (upper), North Branch Chicago River and the lower two sites in the Middle Fork North Branch (center) in 2020 while the West Fork North Branch (lower) and the upper Middle Fork North Branch values were recorded in 2021. IEPA thresholds for fully supporting and two categories of non-support are indicated.

84 | Page

Table 22. Selected macroinvertebrate assemblage attributes at 25 sites sampled in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Biological index scores are shaded by level of use support: Exceptional – blue; Good (fully supporting) - green; Fair (non-support) - yellow; Poor (non-support) – orange; Very Poor - red; key metrics as signatures of toxic or organic enrichment impacts are based on Yoder and DeShon (2003).

							Macroinve	ertebrate A	ssemblage			
		Drainage				Intoler-	%Toler-				%Toxic	%Organic
	River	Area			Total	ant	ant	EPT			Tolerant	Enrich.
Site ID	Mile	(mi. ²)	Year	mIBI	Таха	Таха	Таха	Таха	%EPT	MBI	Таха	Таха
	_	_		_	5	skokie Rive	r			-		
SR1	21.10	2.70	2020	17.2	16.0	0.0	13.4	0	0.0	5.8	0.0	17.9
SR2	17.40	7.80	2020	23.8	23.0	2.0	22.5	0	0.0	6.6	4.5	39.3
SR3	14.80	11.50	2020	24.6	16.0	2.0	9.4	0	0.0	5.6	0.0	35.0
SR4	11.30	15.00	2020	22.8	15.0	3.0	3.9	0	0.0	5.3	0.0	11.0
SR5	8.00	20.60	2020	21.2	12.0	2.0	1.6	0	0.0	4.0	0.0	8.3
SR6	7.40	21.50	2020	21.3	11.0	2.0	3.0	0	0.0	3.7	0.0	8.9
SR7	3.00	23.70	2020				No macroinve	ertebrate sam	ple collected	ł		
SR18	0.50	30.90	2020	40.8	20.5	4.0	4.3	6.5	36.7	5.2	0.6	1.8
				Mid	dle Fork No	orth Branch	n Chicago R	liver		-		
MF8	21.10	5.81	2021	17.5	11.0	0.0	27.5	0	0.0	7.6	0.0	37.6
MF9	18.90	8.91	2021	24.0	20.0	1.0	23.3	3	8.7	6.7	0.0	26.0
MF10	16.70	11.90	2021	41.1	21.0	2.0	13.6	1	13.2	5.4	0.0	22.5
MF11	14.10	16.11	2021	21.5	15.0	0.0	9.5	1	12.7	5.6	0.0	16.3
MF12	10.80	19.23	2021	34.0	16.0	2.0	19.6	1	0.3	6.1	0.3	47.4
MF13	8.60	20.96	2021	15.7	18.0	2.0	31.8	0	0.0	8.3	0.0	71.2
MF14	6.00	22.48	2021	39.5	29.0	0.0	7.6	4	47.0	6.3	0.3	15.2
MF15	4.00	24.29	2021	21.4	27.0	2.0	31.3	3	2.0	8.0	0.0	57.9
MF16	3.00	56.10	2020	24.7	25.0	4.0	26.0	1	2.1	7.3	11.0	48.0
MF17	1.80	57.30	2020	25.2	25.0	5.0	18.9	1	0.6	7.1	14.2	44.9
				We	st Fork No	rth Branch	Chicago Ri	ver				
WF20	12.50	3.87	2021	10.6	10.0	0.0	40.1	0	0.0	8.9	0.0	78.9
WF21	10.40	7.02	2021	18.7	11.0	1.0	35.1	0	0.0	8.2	0.0	78.1
WF22	9.20	9.41	2021	15.8	11.0	1.0	38.5	0	0.0	8.6	0.0	82.6
WF23	4.90	17.86	2021	13.8	22.0	0.0	40.7	3	1.4	8.9	0.0	78.5
WF24	2.90	24.52	2021	21.0	16.5	1.5	9.9	2	3.4	6.7	5.6	42.5
WF25	1.30	27.97	2021	21.9	19.0	2.0	22.4	1	1.8	6.7	0.3	40.6
					North Br	anch Chica	go River					
MF19	18.60	93.40	2020	21.4	16.0	2.0	7.7	1	0.3	6.0	44.5	20.9
		Excep	tional	>65.0	<u>></u> 36	> 5	<u><</u> 10	<u>></u> 6	> 49	<u><</u> 5.2	0	<5
		Go	od	<u>></u> 41.8	< 36	<u><</u> 5	<u><</u> 15	<u>></u> 3	>24.5	<u>></u> 5.2	<5	<15
Narrative Ca	tegories and	Fa	air	<41.8	< <u><</u> 27	<u> <u> <u> </u></u></u>	< 20 < 28	2	>10	>7.6	<20	>15
intes	silolus	Verv	Poor	<15	< 16	0	> 28	0	< 5	>9.0	>60	>60
		Sou	irce	IEPA/MBI	MBI	MBI	MBI	MBI	MBI	IEPA/MBI	MBI	MBI

Middle Fork N. Branch, and all six (6) sites in the West Fork, four (4) of which were very poor. These observations contributed to the assignment of an organic enrichment cause in accordance with the exceedance of very poor, poor, and fair thresholds. Only one site exceeded the good or excellent benchmarks for the percent of toxic tolerant taxa with only one site in the fair range (MF19; 44.5%) compared to two sites (SR3 and WF25) in the poor range in 2018-19.

SYNTHESIS

The baseline biological condition of the North Branch River and its subwatersheds has been shaped by the naturally low gradient and wetland origins of the region. The current condition of the biological assemblages reflects the historical changes that have significantly altered these natural features, mostly through hydrological and physical alterations related to suburban and urban development throughout the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Both the direct and indirect influences of the altered hydrology and habitat were evident in the chemical, habitat, and bioassessment results the same as they were in 2018-19. The legacy of hydrological and habitat alterations coupled with urban land use have resulted in sluggish flows, excessive siltation, embedded substrates, sparse instream cover, sediments high in organic matter, and indicators of excessive organic enrichment that are further exacerbated by the altered flows and habitat. High levels of PAHs and metals in sediments are due to urban runoff and persist at greater concentrations during low flow periods that occur during the summer and early fall months. Dissolved ions such as chloride were most elevated in the February samples, but persisted at elevated level through the summer-fall months above poor and very poor IPS thresholds and in some cases exceeding the Illinois WQS. Sediments that are high in organic matter have also indirectly resulted from sluggish flows and stream channel alterations that combine to exacerbate low D.O. concentrations and high to wide diel D.O. swings. The introduction of wastewater from the Clavey Rd. WRF in the Skokie River and the Deerfield WRF in the West Fork North Branch appear to be a source of nitrogen compounds including nitrites, TKN, and ammonia, but they also appear to reduce TSS and chloride levels. No site had a QHEI score that was considered good, most were poor with only a few fair scores were recorded. In keeping with the same pattern, neither the fish or macroinvertebrate assemblages attained a rating of good or met their General Use biocriteria with the majority of value sin the non-supporting poor range.

IPS thresholds for water and sediment chemistry and physical habitat attributes (MBI 2022a) were used to assess causes of impairment and their comparative severity. The IPS thresholds are stratified across four or five narrative categories of quality (excellent, good, fair, poor, and very poor). This replaces the formerly used binary (i.e., "pass/fail") approach to evaluating exceedances of chemical and physical effect thresholds and criteria providing for a graded approach to the assignment of causes and sources of Illinois General Use biological impairments. The IPS framework also offers the semblance of a stratification of protection and restoration goals and thresholds including Restorability and Susceptibility/Threat factors that have been incorporated into all IPS outputs to support local restoration and protection efforts by the respective watershed groups and stakeholders.

The biological criteria for fish and macroinvertebrates used by Illinois EPA (2022) establish the thresholds by which impaired sites and reaches are determined. The assignment of causes in this analysis generally attempts to follow the overall intent of the Illinois Integrated Report assessment guidelines, but is supplemented by the more extensive biological effect thresholds provided by the IPS indicators and thresholds (MBI 2022a) and as measured by more spatially refined intensive pollution survey monitoring design. The delineation of causes and sources was

based on integrating and synthesizing the preceding analyses of categorical and parameterspecific stressor threshold exceedances. The most influential of these in 2020-21 are included in Table 23 along with the fish and macroinvertebrate IBI scores and key indicators of stress and response. Habitat alteration is represented by the QHEI and the QHEI modified:good attributes ratio, low D.O. includes the minimum measured by Datasondes, the effect of nutrient enrichment by the diel D.O. swing narrative, the overall nutrient enrichment effect status, the IPS nutrient index, poor and very poor IPS chemical threshold exceedances for water and sediment, and biological response signatures for organic enrichment and toxic tolerant indicators. The rationale for listing the predominant causal categories in 20202-21 follows for any fair, poor, or very poor exceedance of an IPS threshold or other related attribute (results listed in Appendix D):

- Habitat (100 observations; weighted frequency of 27.2%) composed of the QHEI score, IPS substrate score, QHEI modified:good ratio, number of poor attributes, IPS channel condition score, and number of high influence poor attributes.
- **Organic Enrichment/Low D.O.** (70 observations; weighted frequency of 19.1%) any IPS low D.O. value, exceedance of IPS threshold for TKN, and any organic enrichment biological response signature in Tables 20 or 21.
- Toxics/Toxicity (64 observations; weighted frequency of 17.4%) any sediment or water column metal or PAH threshold exceedance in Tables 16 or 17 (IPS, PEC or PEL exceedance, or Illinois EPA elevated), IPS ammonia-N exceedances, and any toxic Biological Response in Tables 20 or 21.
- **Ionic Strength/Demand** (56 observations; weighted frequency of 15.4%) any IPS exceedance for chloride, conductivity, or total suspended solids (TSS).
- Nutrient Enrichment/Effects (47 observations; weighted frequency of 12.8%) any exceedance of IPS thresholds for total phosphorus (TP), nitrate-N (Nitrate), the maximum D.O. and D.O. swing measured by Datasondes as part fi the SNAP analysis (Table 13).
- Urban Land Use (30 observations; weighted frequency of 8.2%) any exceedance of IPS thresholds for developed land in a HUC12 watershed (DevWS) or imperious cover in the 30 meter buffer (clipped; IMperv30C).

Habitat causes were the most frequent limiting factor (100 total observations; 27.2% weighted) to aquatic life with very poor substrate scores, poor QHEI scores, poor channel scores, and an accumulation of poor attributes as the primary factors perpetuating these deficiencies. Poor habitat persists throughout the North Branch Chicago River watershed, containing primarily poor habitat at 20 sites, with only five (5) fair QHEI scores located in the Middle Fork of the North Branch and a single fair scores in the Skokie River and West Fork. Organic Enrichment/Low D.O. had 70 observations (19.3% weighted) with very poor to fair low D.O. levels, a high frequency of organic enrichment response signatures, and elevated TKN levels afflicting each subwatershed. Indicators of Toxics and Toxicity included 64 observations (17.4% weighted) of exceedances of IPS thresholds for sediment metals, and PAH compounds, and ammonia-N. The majority were PAH compounds followed by metals and then ammonia-N, the latter of which did not have any exceedances of the Illinois standard. The origin of the majority

Table 23. Chemical, physical, and biological response indicators of impairment observed at each site in the 2020-21 NBWW survey area. Causes associated with biological impairments are drawn from analyses of habitat, nutrient effects, IPS, and other threshold exceedances, and biological response signatures. Causes are classified as fair, poor, or very poor in accordance with the exceedance of corresponding thresholds. See legend at bottom for biological, physical, and chemical threshold narrative ranges. IPS Restorability scores are provided for non- and supporting sites.

	Drain-											Chemical		Sediment	Sediment			2020-21 MBI Causes by Stressor Threshold Narrative Category			
Dive	age		40111				QHEI	Min. D.O.		Diel D.O.	IPS	WQC	>Poor	Metals	PAH	Organic	Toxic				ability
Site ID Mile	(mi. ²)	Year	Status	fiBi	mIBI	QHEI	Good Ratio	<wqc< th=""><th>Swing</th><th>Narrative</th><th>Index</th><th>ances</th><th>Thresholds</th><th>olds</th><th>olds</th><th>Signatures</th><th>Signatures</th><th>Very Poor¹¹</th><th>Poor¹¹</th><th>Fair¹¹</th><th>100)</th></wqc<>	Swing	Narrative	Index	ances	Thresholds	olds	olds	Signatures	Signatures	Very Poor ¹¹	Poor ¹¹	Fair ¹¹	100)
																Skokie Rive	r 2020				
SR1 21.1	2.7	2020	NON - Poor	5.0	17.2	37.0	9.00				17.4		2	3	10	17.9	0.0	Dev-WS; Substr; Chloride; Conduct; QHEI Ratio; Sed. PAH	Low D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Conduct; High Mod. Attr.; QHEI Ratio	TKN; Secd. PAHs; Sed. Metals	7.9
SR2 17.4	7.8	2020	NON - Poor	16.5	23.8	38.0	4.50				14.38		2	3	8	39.3	4.5	Dev-WS; Chloride; Conduct; Sed. PAH	QHEI; Substr; Chan; Org. Enrich.; High Poor Attr.	Low D.O.; Max D.O.; Conduct; Sed. Metals;	24.0
SR3 14.8	11.5	2020	NON - Fair	23.0	24.6	48.0	2.00	2.05	8.85	Wide	14.48	5 (D.O.)	2	0	10	35.0	0.0	Sed. PAH; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; QHEI; Substr; Chloride; Conduct; Low D.O.; Poor Attr.; Org. Enrich,	Low D.O.; Max D.O.; Chan; Conduct; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	27.2
SR4 11.3	15.0	2020	NON - Poor	17.5	22.8	52.5	1.40				12.18		1	4	14	11.0	0.0	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH	Conduct.; Sed. Metals; Poor Attr.	Max D.O.; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Chloride; Sed. PAH;	35.1
SR5 8.0	20.6	2020	NON - Fair	23.5	21.2	46.8	4.00	2.1	5.32	High	18.46	4 (D.O.)	0	0	11	8.3	0.0	Dev-WS; Substr; Sed. PAH	QHEI; Chan; High Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio; D.O. Swing	Low D.O.; TKN; Max D.O.; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals;	20.1
SR6 7.4	21.5	2020	NON - Poor	18.0	21.3	39.5	4.00				17.26		0	0	11	8.9	0.0	Dev-WS; Substr; Sed. PAH	Low D.O.; QHEI; Chan; High Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio	Imperv-30C; Max D.O.; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH;	20.4
SR7 3.0	23.7	2020	NON - Poor	15.0		38.0	2.00	0.97	6.48	High	22.7	5 (D.O.)	1	3	0			Dev-WS; Substr;Low D.O.	QHEI; Chan; D.O. Swing	Low D.O.; TKN; Max D.O.; Chloride; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	29.2
SR18 0.5	30.9	2020	NON - Fair	34.5	40.8	41.5	4.00	3.78	3.76	Low	25.66	3 (D.O.)	2	4	11	1.8	0.6	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH	Substr; Sed. Metals; High Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio; Nitrate	TP; TKN; Nitrate; Max D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Chloride; Sed. PAH;	51.4
	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River 2021																				
MF8 21.1	5.8	2021	NON - Poor	13.0	17.5	29.0	4.00	1.35	17.68	Wide	19.5	6 (D.O.;pH)	2	3	12	37.6	0.0	Substr; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Poor Attr.; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; QHEI; Chan; Org. Enrich.; QHEI Ratio	TKN; Low D.O.; TKN; Sed. Metals	54.3
MF9 18.9	8.9	2021	NON - Poor	14.0	24.0	31.5	2.33	0.14	15.76	Wide	19.9	6 (D.O.;T)	2	6	8	26.0	0.0	Substr; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	QHEI; Chan; Poor Attr.	Dev-WS; Org. Enrich.; TKN; QHEI Ratio	52.8
MF10 16.7	11.9	2021	NON - Poor	12.0	41.1	41.0	9.00	0.28	17.93	Wide	20.5	4 (D.O.)	2	1	4	22.5	0.0	Conduct; Chloride; Low D.O.; QHEI Ratio; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH; QHEI; Substr; Chan; QHEI Ratio; Poor Attr.	TKN; Max D.O.; Org. Enrich.; Low D.O.	55.3
MF11 14.1	16.1	2021	NON - Fair	20.0	21.5	44.0	4.00	2.65	11.98	Wide	18.5	4 (D.O.)	3	4	8	16.3	0.0	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Low D.O.; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Sed. Metals; Sed. PAH; High Poor Attr.; Org. Enrich.; QHEI Ratio	TKN; Low D.O.	49.9
MF12 10.8	19.2	2021	NON - Poor	15.0	34.0	45.5	2.33	0.61	12.46	Wide	18.8	4 (D.O.)	2	2	9	47.4	0.3	Chloride; Sed. PAH; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Conduct; Org. Enrich.	Low D.O.; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	49.0
MF13 8.6	21.0	2021	NON - Poor	13.0	15.7	60.0	3.50	1.72	7.46	Wide	19.4	4 (D.O.)	2	4	9	71.2	0.0	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Substr; Poor Attr. Sed. Metals	Max D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Low D.O.; Ammonia; QHEI Ratio	47.2
MF14 6.0	22.5	2021	NON - Poor	15.0	39.5	64.5	3.50	5.25	4.84	Moderate	17.6		2	1	8	15.2	0.3	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH	Dev-WS; High Poor Attr.	Low D.O.; TKN; Max D.O.; QHEI; Substr; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio; D.O. Swing	50.4
MF15 4.0	24.3	2021	NON - Poor	17.0	21.4	55.5	1.75	4.98	6.98	Wide	14.4		2	6	9	57.9	0.0	Conduct; Chloride; Sed. PAH; D.O. Swing	Dev-WS; Substr; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals	Max D.O.; Low D.O.; QHEI; Chan; Ammonia	55.5
MF16 3.0	56.1	2020	NON - Fair	21.0	24.7	38.5	0.67				28.8		3	4	10	48.0	11.0	Substr; Sed. PAH; Nitrate	Dev-WS; TKN; Conduct.; QHEI; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals	TP; Low D.O.; Nitrate; Max D.O.; Chan; Chloride; PAHs; Sed. Metals; TKN	20.0
MF17 1.8	57.3	2020	NON - Poor	16.5	25.2	45.8	2.33	3.09	2.45	Low	29.3	2 (D.O.)	5	4	10	44.9	14.2	Sed. PAH; Nitrate	Dev-WS; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals; Conduct.; TKN; Ammonia; Poor Attr.	TP; Low D.O.; Nitrate; Max D.O.; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals; Low D.O.; QHEI Ratio	21.9
	-	· •					1		1	1		-			West Fork	North Branch	Chicago Rive	er 2021		Γ	_
WF20 12.5	3.9	2021	NON - Poor	7.0	10.6	30.5	4.00				24.2		4	1	9	78.9	0.0	Substr; Conduct.; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.	Ratio	TP; TKN; Ammonia	1.2
WF21 10.4	7.0	2021	NON - Poor	11.0	18.7	42.0	5.00	0.33	5.53	High	27.5	4 (D.O.)	4	5	14	78.1	0.0	Chloride; Conduct.; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.; Low D.O.; Ammonia; Poor Attr.	Dev-WS; QHEI; Chan; Conduct; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio; Nitrate; D.O. Swing	TKN; Substr; Sed. PAH; Low D.O.; TKN	13.9
WF22 9.2	9.4	2021	NON - Poor	9.0	15.8	46.5	2.33	0.46	15.16	Wide	34.9	5 (D.O.)	4	6	12	82.6	0.0	Dev-WS;TP; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.; Ammonia; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	TKN; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Conduct; Sed. Metals; Poor Attr.	Imperv-30C; Low D.O.; Nitrate; Sed. PAH; Sed. Metals; QHEI Ratio	0.7
WF23 4.9	17.9	2021	NON - Poor	9.0	13.8	41.0	4.00	1.52	9.35	Wide	24.6	2 (D.O.)	4	2	14	78.5	0.0	Dev-WS; Substr; Chloride; Sed. PAH; Org. Enrich.; TSS; Low D.O.; D.O. Swing	Imperv-30C; QHEI; Chan; Conduct; Chloride; TSS; TKN; Poor Attr.; QHEI Ratio	TP; TKN; Max D.O.; Low D.O.	7.1
WF24 2.9	24.5	2021	NON - Poor	10.0	21.0	66.0	0.86	2.21	7.75	Wide	25.6	4 (D.O.)	3	4	12	42.5	5.6	Dev-WS; Conduct; Sed. PAH; Ammonia; D.O. Swing	Low D.O.; Conduct; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals; Poor Attr.	Imperv-30C;TP; TKN; QHEI; Substr; Chan; Low D.O.	17.9
WF25 1.3	28.0	2021	NON - Poor	12.0	21.9	48.0	3.50	1.89	5.48	High	26.4	4 (D.O.)	3	4	14	40.6	0.3	Dev-WS; Chloride; Conduct.; Sed. PAH: Ammonia; Low D.O.	QHEI; Substr; Conduct; Org. Enrich.; Sed. Metals; Poor Attr.; D.O. Swing	TP; TKN; Chan; Low D.O.; QHEI Ratio	15.9
	1		_			_									Nort	h Branch Chic	igo River 202	0			
MF19 18.6	93.4	2020	NON - Poor	13.0	21.4	48.5	1.75	4.61	2.65	Low	25.8	1 (D.O.)	0	1	11	20.9	44.5	Dev-WS; Sed. PAH	Imperv-30C; QHEI; Substr; Toxicity	TP; Low D.O.; TKN; Nitrate; Max D.O.; Chan; Conduct; Chloride; Sed. Metals;	28.3
	Go	od	FULL	>41-49	41.8-72.9	>75.9	<2.00	6-6.9	2.0-4.0	Low	10-15	1	1	1	1	>5	<15				High
Narrative Categor	ry Fa	ir or	PARTIAL Non-Eair	30-<41	30-41.7	<75.9	>2.00	4.0-5.9	4.0-5.0	Moderate	15-25	2-4	2-4	2-3	2-3	>20	>15				Moderate
Source(c)	Very	Poor	Non-Poor	<15	<15	<25	26.00	<2.0	>6.5	Wide	>35	>6	>6	>6	>6	>60	>60				Very Low

of this category was urban stormwater. There were 56 observations of Ionic Strength/Demand parameters (15.4% weighted) that included mostly exceedances of conductance and chloride thresholds that latter of which included exceedances of the Illinois standard. There were only two exceedances of TSS which were also related to urban stormwater runoff. Nutrient Enrichment/Effects had 47 observations (12.8% weighted) with the diel D.O. swing being the most severe indicator with 11 very poor and four (4) poor exceedances and the remainder being mostly fair exceedances of maximum D.O., total P, and nitrate-N. Urban Land Use had the fewest observations (30; 8.2% weighted) and only two factors, developed land use in a HUC12 watershed (DevWS) with 24 very poor and poor threshold exceedances and impervious cover in the 30 meter buffer (Imperv30C) with 5 total observations. The predominant causal categories varied somewhat between the three branches with habitat causes dominating in the Skokie River (35.7% weighted) and Middle Fork (26.9% weighted) and ionic strength/conventional dominant in the West Fork (22.7%; Appendix D).

Neither of the two major point sources (NSWRD Clavey Rd. and Deerfield WRFs) played a major role in the observed results with the exception of increases in some chemical constituents associated with municipal wastewater downstream from each. No distinguishable signatures of excessive nutrient enrichment were apparent in the modified SNAP analysis even though the two WRFs dominate the low flows of their receiving streams. The Risk of Exceedance analysis showed the second highest sestonic chlorophyll a value and supersaturated D.O. levels at two sites downstream from Deerfield WRF in 2021 which also influenced total P and nitrate-N levels.

Perhaps the most important observation from the 2020-2021 bioassessment is that the overall habitat in each of the subwatersheds and in the mainstem North Branch Chicago River site is mostly poor. Heavy silt coverage and muck substrates coupled with the lingering effects of legacy channel and hydrological modifications reduce the habitat available for macro-invertebrates and fish and hamper the assimilation of organic pollution in particular. Urban runoff contributes to highly elevated levels of PAHs and metals in sediments that are prevalent throughout the survey area. The biological results are associated with numerous exceedances of IPS thresholds with no sites meeting the Illinois EPA General Use designation for aquatic life.

Reinforcing these observations are the low and very low Restorability scores generated by the NE Illinois IPS (Table 17) which means that the challenges with restoring the streams of the NBWW study area to attaining the Illinois General Use for aquatic life are greater and dependent of restoration actions that address the most limiting chemical and physical factors as is demonstrated by the consistent repetition of very poor and poor causes of impairment related to urban land uses coupled with flow and habitat alterations. The highest Restorability factors were in the Middle Fork and lowest rankings occurred throughout the West Fork, with the Skokie River intermediate between those two forks.

References

- Allan, J.D. 2004. Landscapes and Riverscapes: The Influence of Land Use on Stream Ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. Vol. 35:257-284.
- Buchman, M.F. 2008. NOAA Screening Quick Reference Tables. NOAA OR&R Report 08-1, National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), Office of Response and Restoration Division, Seattle, WA. 34 pp.
- Central States Water Environmental Association. 2010. Profile: North Shore Sanitary District. Central States Water Magazine: Winter 2010. Pp 29-32. Crystal Lake, IL.
- HDR Engineering. 2011. Detailed Watershed Plan for the North Branch of the Chicago River and Lake Michigan Watershed. 2IM Group, Cushing and Company, Fluid Clarity, Huff & Huff, Inc., Lin Engineering, M.P.R. Engineering, V3 Companies of Illinois. Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago, Chicago, IL. 179 pp.
- Healy, R. W. 1979. River mileages and drainage areas for Illinois streams- Volume 1, Illinois except Illinois River Basin. U.S. Geological Survey, Water Resources Investigations 79-110.
- Illinois DNR. 2020. Skokie Lagoons Watershed. Accessed April 10, 2020. https://www.ifishillinois.org/profiles/display_lake.php?waternum=00170
- Illinois DNR. 2010a. Rivers and Streams Fisheries Data Set: Fish Collection Procedures (Electrofishing). Fisheries Manual of Operations Fish Collection Procedures (Electrofishing). Illinois DNR/Illinois NHS. Springfield, IL. 2 pp.
- Illinois DNR. 2010b. Rivers and Streams Fisheries Data Set: Field Sampling Protocols For Rivers and Streams. Fisheries Manual of Operations Fish Collection Procedures (Electrofishing). Illinois DNR/Illinois NHS. Springfield, IL. 9 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2022. Illinois Integrated Water Quality Report and Section 303(d) List, 2022. Clean Water Act Sections 303(d), 305(b) and 314. Water Resource Assessment Information and List of Impaired Waters. Volume I: Surface Water. Bureau of Water, Springfield, IL. 58 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2014a. Illinois Water Monitoring Strategy 2015-2020. Bureau of Water. Springfield, IL. 138 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2012a. Surface Water Section. Standard Operating Procedure for Stream Water Quality Sample Monitoring. Document Control No. 184. Illinois EPA BOW SOP012-01-0512. Revision No. 1. 16 pp.

- Illinois EPA. 2011a. Standard Operating Procedure for Calibration and Use of Hydrolab MiniSonde 5. Surface Water Section, Document Control No. 180. Illinois EPA BOW SOP010-00-1111. Revision No. 0. Springfield, IL. 8 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2011b. Standard Operating Procedure for Surficial Sediment Collection. Surface Water Section. Document Control No. 174. Illinois EPA BOW SOP008-00-1111. Revision No. 0. 8 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2011c. Standard Operating Procedure for Method to Collect Aquatic Macroinvertebrates from Wadeable Streams for Biotic Integrity Assessments. Surface Water Section. Document Control No. 168. Illinois EPA BOW SOP002-00-1111. Revision No. 0. 8 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2011d. Methods Utilized to Determine the Types and Amounts of Pertinent Macroinvertebrate Habitats in Perennial Wadeable Streams for 20-Jab Allocation. Surface Water Section. Document Control No. 177. Illinois EPA BOW ID003-00-1111. Revision No. 0. 6 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2011e. Standard Operating Procedure for Sample Processing for the Macroinvertebrate Index of Biotic Integrity (mIBI). Surface Water Section. Document Control No. 167. Illinois EPA BOW SOP001-00-1111. Revision No. 0. 14 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2011f. Macroinvertebrate Tolerance List and Functional Feeding Group Classification. Surface Water Section. Document Control No. 176. Illinois EPA BOW ID002-00-1111. Revision No. 0. 75 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2011g. Genus-List: Macroinvertebrate-Index of Biotic Integrity (m-IBI) Tolerance List and Functional Feeding Group Classification. Surface Water Section. Document Control No. 178. Illinois EPA BOW ID004-00-1111. Revision No. 0. 31 pp.
- Illinois DNR. 2010a. Rivers and Streams Fisheries Data Set: Fish Collection Procedures (Electrofishing). Fisheries Manual of Operations Fish Collection Procedures (Electrofishing). Illinois DNR/Illinois NHS. Springfield, IL. 2 pp.
- Illinois DNR. 2010b. Rivers and Streams Fisheries Data Set: Field Sampling Protocols For Rivers and Streams. Fisheries Manual of Operations Fish Collection Procedures (Electrofishing). Illinois DNR/Illinois NHS. Springfield, IL. 9 pp.
- Illinois EPA. 2006. Recommendations for Illinois EPA users on how to interpret or record information relevant to scoring the Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index. Surface Water Section, Springfield, IL. 8 pp.
- Karr, J.R. and C.O. Yoder. 2004. Biological assessment and criteria improve TMDL planning and decision-making. Journal of Environmental Engineering 130(6): 594-604.

- Kaushal, S.S., Groffman, P.M., Likens, G.E., Belt, K.T., Stack, W.P., Kelly, V.R., Band, L.E., and Fisher, G.T. 2005. Increased salinization of fresh water in the northeastern United States. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102(38):13517-13520.
- Kelly, W.R., S.V. Panno, and K. Hackley. 2012. The Sources, Distribution, and Trends of Chloride in the Waters of Illinois. Illinois State Water Survey, Prairie Research Institute, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.
- Lake County Stormwater Management Commission. 2020. North Branch Chicago River Watershed. <u>https://www.lakecountyil.gov/2433/North-Branch-Chicago-River-Watershed</u>
- MacDonald, R.S., C.G. Ingersoll, and T.A. Berger. 2000. Development and Evaluation of Consensus-Based Sediment Quality Guidelines for Freshwater Ecosystems. Arch. Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 39: 20-31 (2000).
- Mazor, R.D., M. Sutula, S. Theroux, M. Beck, and P.R. Ode 2022. Eutrophication thresholds associated with protection of biological integrity in California wadeable streams. Ecological Indicators: 142 (2022). 109180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016</u>.
- Midwest Biodiversity Institute (MBI). 2022a. Integrated Prioritization System (IPS) for Northeastern Illinois: Technical Documentation and Atlas of Stressor Relationships [DRAFT]. Technical Report MBI/2022-5-10. Project Number 10180900. Columbus, OH 43221-0561.
- Midwest Biodiversity Institute (MBI). 2022b. Biological and Water Quality Assessment of Upper Des Plaines River: 2020. Lake County, Illinois. Technical Report MBI/2022-3-1. Columbus, OH 43221-0561. 75 pp. + appendices.
- Midwest Biodiversity Institute (MBI). 2020b. Biological and Water Quality Assessment of Upper Des Plaines River: Year 2 Rotation 2018. Mainstem and Selected Tributaries. Lake County, Illinois. Technical Report MBI/2020-1-2. Columbus, OH 43221-0561. 65 pp. + appendices.
- Miltner, R.J., R.F. Mueller, C.O. Yoder, and E.T. Rankin. 2010. Priority rankings based on estimated restorability for stream segments in the DuPage River and Salt Creek watersheds. Technical Report MBI/2010-11-6. Report to the DuPage River Salt Creek Working Group, Naperville, IL. 63 pp. (available at <u>http://drscw.org/wp/projectidentification-and-prioritization-system/</u>).
- Miltner, R.J. 2018. Eutrophication endpoints for large rivers in Ohio, USA. Environ. Monit. Assess. 190: 55
- Ohio Environmental Protection Agency. 2015a. Biological criteria for the protection of aquatic life (revised June 26, 2015). Volume III: Standardized biological field sampling and laboratory methods for assessing fish and macroinvertebrate communities. Tech. Rept. EAS/2015-06-01. Division of Surface Water, Ecological Assessment Section, Columbus, Ohio. 66 pp. <u>https://www.epa.ohio.gov/dsw/bioassess/BioCriteriaProtAqLife</u>.
- Ohio EPA. 2015b. Draft Ohio Draft Stream Nutrient Assessment Procedure (SNAP). Division of Surface Water, Columbus, OH. Nutrients_TAG_Recommendations_12-4-2015_GO4-FinalDraft - 4828-0819-7931.1.pdf. <u>http://epa.ohio.gov/dsw/wqs/NutrientReduction.aspx#146064467-tag</u>.
- Ohio Environmental Protection Agency. 2006. Methods for assessing habitat in flowing waters: using the qualitative habitat evaluation index (QHEI). Division of Surface Water, Ecological Assessment Section, Columbus, OH. 23 pp.
- Ohio EPA. 1999. Association between nutrients, habitat, and the aquatic biota in Ohio Rivers and streams. Ohio EPA Technical Bulletin MAS/1999-1-1. Jan. 7, 1999.
- Ohio Environmental Protection Agency. 1996. Ohio EPA's guide to DELT anomalies (deformities, erosions, lesions, and tumors). Division of Surface Water, Ecological Assessment Section, Columbus, OH. 19 pp.
- Page, L. M., H. Espinosa-Pérez, L. T. Findley, C. R. Gilbert, R. N. Lea, N. E. Mandrak, R. L., Mayden, and J. S. Nelson. 2013. Common and scientific names of fishes from the United States, Canada, and Mexico, 7th edition. American Fisheries Society, Special Publication 34, Bethesda, Maryland. 384 pp.
- Rankin, E. T. 1995. The use of habitat assessments in water resource management programs, pages 181-208. in W. Davis and T. Simon (eds.). Biological Assessment and Criteria: Tools for Water Resource Planning and Decision Making. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.
- Rankin, E.T. 1989. The Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index (QHEI): Rationale, Methods, and Application. Ohio EPA, Division of Water Quality Planning and Assessment, Ecological Analysis Section, Columbus, Ohio.
- Sanders, R. S., R. J. Miltner, C. O. Yoder, and E. T. Rankin. 1999. The use of external deformities, erosions, lesions, and tumors (DELT anomalies) in fish assemblages for characterizing aquatic resources: a case study of seven Ohio streams, pages 225-248. in T.P. Simon (ed.), Assessing the Sustainability and Biological Integrity of Water Resources Using Fish Communities. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Short, M.B. 1998. Evaluation of Illinois sieved stream sediment data, 1982-1995. Staff report prepared by Matthew B. Short. [Springfield, Ill.] : State of Illinois, Illinois Environmental

Protection Agency, Division of Water Pollution Control, Planning Section, Springfield Monitoring Unit. Smith, P.W. 1979. The fishes of Illinois. University of Illinois Press, Champaign, IL. 314 pp.

Smith, P. 1979. The fishes of Illinois. Univ. Illinois Press, Urbana, IL. 314 pp.

- Smogor, R. 2005. Draft manual for Interpreting Illinois Fish-IBI Scores. Prepared for: Illinois Environmental Protection Agency. 26 pp.
- Smogor, R. 2000. Draft Manual for Calculating Index of Biotic Integrity Scores for Streams in Illinois, August 2000. Prepared for: Illinois Environmental Protection Agency and Illinois Department of Natural Resources. 23 pp.
- U.S. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2020. Reduction in Median Load of Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen [TKN] Due to Tree Cover. EnviroAtlas: Led by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Washington, DC. 2 pp. <u>www.epa.gov/enviroatlas</u>.
- U.S. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2012. 2012 Recreational Water Quality Criteria. Office of Water EPA - 820-F-12-061, 4305T, December 2012. Washington D.C.
- U.S. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2011. A Field-Based Aquatic Life Benchmark for Conductivity in Central Appalachian Streams. Office of Research and Development, National Center for Environmental Assessment, Washington, DC. EPA/600/R-10/023F. 276 pp.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2008. Gulf Hypoxia Action Plan. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-</u> <u>03/documents/2008 8 28 msbasin ghap2008 update082608.pdf</u>.
- U.S. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1995a. Environmental indicators of water quality in the United States. EPA 841-R-96-002. Office of Water, Washington, DC 20460. 25 pp.
- U.S. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1995b. A conceptual framework to support development and use of environmental information in decision-making. EPA 239-R-95-012. Office of Policy, Planning, and Evaluation, Washington, DC 20460. 43 pp.
- Woods, A., J.M. Omernik, C.S. Brockman, T.D. Gerber, W.D. Hosteter, and S.H. Azevedo. 1995. Ecoregions of Ohio and Indiana. U.S. EPA, Corvallis, OR. 2 pp.
- Yoder, C.O., R.J. Miltner, and D.S. White. 2000. Using biological criteria to assess and classify urban streams and develop improved landscape indicators, pp. 32-44. Proceedings of the National Conference on Tools for Urban Water Resource Management and Protection. Offc. Res. And Dev., Cincinnati, OH. EPA/625/R-00/001.

- Yoder, C.O. and E.T. Rankin. 1998. The role of biological indicators in a state water quality management process. J. Env. Mon. Assess. 51(1-2): 61-88.
- YSI Incorporated. 2012. 6-Series Multiparameter Water Quality Sondes User Manual. 6-Series:
 6600 V2, 6600EDS V2, 6920 V2, 6820 V2, 600 OMS V2, 600XL, 600XLM, 600LS, 600R, and
 600QS. Environmental Monitoring Systems Operations Manual. Item # 069300, Revision
 J. Yellow Springs, OH. 379 pp.
- YSI Incorporated. 2017. EXO User Manual. Item# 603789REF, Revision G. Yellow Springs. OH. 154 pp.

APPENDIX A: NORTH BRANCH CHICAGO RIVER 2020-2021 FISH ASSEMBLAGE DATA

A-1: Fish Index of Biotic Integrity (IBI) Metrics & Scores
A-2 Fish Species Grand (all sites combined)
A-3: Fish Species by Sampling Event

									Nu	mber of				Perc	cent				
Site ID	River Mile	Туре	Date	DA sq mi	Wetted Width (ft)	IL IBI Reg.	Native species	Sunfish species	Sucker species	Intolerant species	Benthic Invert. species	Minnow species	Mineral Substrate Spawners	Tolerant Fish (as Species)	Generalist Feeders	Specialized Benthic Invert- ivores	Rel.No. /(0.3km)	N IBI	lodified Iwb
	NORT	H BRA	ANCH C	CHICA	GO RIVE	ER - (9	5009)												
Year	r: 2020																		
MF19	18.60	D 07/	09/2020	93.4	15.4	3	5(1)	3(6)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	80(2)	89(2)	0(0)	69 *	11.0	3.6
MF19	18.60	D 08/	31/2020	93.4	15.4	3	8(2)	3(6)	1(2)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	75(2)	90(2)	0(0)	557	15.0	6.3
	MIDD	LE FO	RK NO	RTH E	BRANCH	CHIC	AGO RIV	/ER - (95	291)										
Year	r: 2020																		
MF16	3.00	D 07/	09/2020	56.1	15.2	3	8(2)	3(6)	1(2)	0(0)	1(1)	1(1)	0(0)	63(3)	58(6)	2(1)	99 *	22.0	4.6
MF16	3.00	D 08/	31/2020	56.1	15.2	3	10(2)	3(6)	1(2)	0(0)	1(1)	2(1)	0(0)	60(3)	74(4)	1(1)	224	20.0	4.9
MF17	1.80	D 07/	09/2020	57.3	15.2	3	7(1)	3(6)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	29(5)	85(2)	1(1)	147 *	16.0	5.0
MF17	1.80	D 08/	31/2020	57.3	15.2	3	9(2)	4(6)	1(2)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	67(3)	83(3)	0(0)	324	17.0	6.4
Year	r: 2021																		
MF8	21.10	F 08/	01/2021	5.8	28.0	3	4(1)	1(2)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	25(5)	60(5)	0(0)	30 * *	13.0	
MF9	18.90	F 08/	01/2021	8.9	35.9	3	6(1)	2(3)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	50(4)	11(6)	0(0)	88 *	14.0	
MF10	16.70	F 07/	31/2021	11.9	41.4	3	2(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(6)	0(6)	0(0)	110 *	12.0	
MF11	14.10	E 07/	31/2021	16.1	46.8	3	11(2)	4(5)	1(1)	1(1)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	36(5)	75(4)	0(1)	426	20.0	
MF12	10.80	E 07/	31/2021	19.2	50.0	3	6(1)	3(4)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	50(4)	31(6)	0(0)	148 *	15.0	
MF13	8.60	F 07/	31/2021	20.9	51.7	3	4(0)	2(3)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	50(4)	56(6)	0(0)	54 *	13.0	3.0
MF14	6.00	E 07/	31/2021	22.4	52.9	3	8(1)	3(4)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	50(4)	74(4)	0(0)	202	15.0	5.5
MF15	4.00	E 07/	31/2021	24.2	54.3	3	9(2)	3(4)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	56(3)	46(6)	0(0)	204	17.0	6.2
	WEST	FORK	NORT	H BRA	ANCH CH	IICAC	GO RIVE	R - (95292	2)										

Appendix Table A-1. Fish IBI results for data collected in North Branch Chicago River study area during 2021 and 2022.

na - Qualitative data, Modified Iwb not applicable.

X - IBI extrapolated

* - < 200 Total individuals in sample

** - < 50 Total individuals in sample

• - One or more species excluded from IBI calculation.

									Nu	mber of				Perc	cent				
Site ID	River Mile	Туре	Date	DA sq mi	Wetted Width (ft)	IL IBI Reg.	Native species	Sunfish species	Sucker species	Intolerant species	Benthic Invert. species	Minnow species	Mineral Substrate Spawners	Tolerant Fish (as Species)	Generalist Feeders	Specialized Benthic Invert- ivores	Rel.No. /(0.3km)	N IBI	/lodified Iwb
Year	: 2021																		
WF20	12.50	F 07/3	0/2021	3.8	20.7	3	3(0)	2(4)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	67(3)	100(0)	0(0)	16**	7.00	
WF21	10.40	F 07/3	0/2021	7.0	31.5	3	4(1)	2(3)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	25(5)	85(2)	0(0)	26 * *	11.0	
WF22	9.20	D 07/3	0/2021	9.4	36.9	3	5(1)	3(4)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	80(2)	97(1)	0(0)	102 *	9.00	
WF23	4.90	D 07/3	0/2021	17.8	48.7	3	7(1)	3(4)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	71(2)	99(1)	0(0)	1169	9.00	
WF24	2.90	D 07/3	0/2021	24.5	54.5	3	7(1)	3(4)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	86(1)	86(2)	0(0)	176 *	10.0	5.0
WF25	1.30	D 07/3	0/2021	27.9	56.9	3	10(2)	3(4)	1(1)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	60(3)	92(1)	0(0)	200 *	12.0	4.6
	SKOK	IE RIVI	ER - (9	5403)															
Year	: 2020																		
SR1	21.10	E 07/0	7/2020	2.7	2. 5 [×]	3	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	100(0)	100(0)	0(0)	2 * *	0.00	
SR1	21.10	E 09/0	1/2020	2.7	2. 5 [×]	3	2(1)	2(6)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	100(0)	76(3)	0(0)	50 * *	10.0	
SR2	17.40	E 07/0	7/2020	7.8	3.8 [×]	3	3(1)	2(6)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	33(5)	75(4)	0(0)	16**	16.0	
SR2	17.40	E 09/0	1/2020	7.8	3.8 [×]	3	4(2)	2(6)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	75(2)	15(6)	0(0)	110 *	17.0	
SR3	14.80	E 07/0	7/2020	11.5	5.2 [×]	3	6(2)	2(6)	1(4)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	67(3)	53(6)	0(0)	186 *	22.0	
SR3	14.80	E 09/0	1/2020	11.5	5.2 [×]	3	8(3)	2(6)	1(4)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	50(4)	19(6)	0(0)	478	24.0	
SR4	11.30	E 07/0	7/2020	15.0	8.6 [×]	3	7(2)	4(6)	1(3)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	71(2)	98(1)	0(0)	232	14.0	
SR4	11.30	E 09/0	1/2020	15.0	8.6 [×]	3	8(2)	3(6)	1(3)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	38(5)	60(5)	0(0)	210	21.0	
SR5	8.00	E 07/0	8/2020	20.6	5.4×	3	7(2)	3(6)	1(4)	0(0)	1(1)	1(1)	0(0)	43(4)	75(4)	4(2)	106 *	24.0	3.6
SR5	8.00	E 09/0	1/2020	20.6	5.4×	3	5(2)	3(6)	1(4)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	40(5)	53(6)	0(0)	38 * *	23.0	4.2
SR6	7.40	D 07/0	8/2020	21.5	8.6 [×]	3	4(1)	3(6)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	50(4)	72(4)	0(0)	65 *	15.0	3.3
SR6	7.40	D 08/3	1/2020	21.5	8.6 ^X	3	8(2)	3(6)	1(3)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	63(3)	56(6)	0(0)	156 *	21.0	5.0

Appendix Table A-1. Fish IBI results for data collected in North Branch Chicago River study area during 2021 and 2022.

na - Qualitative data, Modified Iwb not applicable.

X - IBI extrapolated

* - < 200 Total individuals in sample

** - < 50 Total individuals in sample

• - One or more species excluded from IBI calculation.

02/20/2023

Appendix Table A-1. Fish IBI results for data collected in North Branch Chicago River study area during 2021 and 2022.

									Nu	mber of				Per	cent				
Site ID	River Mile	Туре	Date	DA sq mi	Wetted Width (ft)	IL IBI Reg.	Native species	Sunfish species	Sucker species	Intolerant species	Benthic Invert. species	Minnow species	Mineral Substrate Spawners	Tolerant Fish (as Species)	Generalist Feeders	Specialized Benthic Invert- ivores	Rel.No. /(0.3km)	N IBI	lodified Iwb
SR7	3.00	P 07/	10/2020	23.7	62.7	3	10(2)	5(6)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	40(4)	89(2)	0(0)	1002	15.0	7.0
SR18	0.50	D 07/	08/2020	30.9	16.6	3	9(2)	3(6)	1(2)	0(0)	0(0)	1(1)	0(0)	56(3)	87(2)	0(0)	678	16.0	7.0
SR18	0.50	D 08/.	31/2020	30.9	16.6	3	11(2)	4(6)	1(2)	0(0)	1(1)	2(1)	0(0)	64(3)	69(4)	0(1)	1419	20.0	8.0

X - IBI extrapolated

 $[\]ast$ - <200 Total individuals in sample

^{** - &}lt; 50 Total individuals in sample

^{• -} One or more species excluded from IBI calculation.

Appendix	Table A-1-	A: NBWW 2020-21 fish species gr	and by numbers.						_
								Rel.	
Family	Species			Ohio	Rel.	% by	Average	Weight	% by
Code	Code	Common Name	Latin Name	Tolerance	Number	Number	Weight (g)	(kg)	Weight
20	003	GIZZARD SHAD	Dorosoma cepedianum		2179.0	23.90	15.9	11.312	2.99
77	006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	Micropterus salmoides		1607.0	17.63	36.2	11.759	3.11
77	009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Lepomis macrochirus	Р	1046.5	11.48	15.4	21.888	5.79
77	008	GREEN SUNFISH	Lepomis cyanellus	Т	1000.0	10.97	13.6	13.161	3.48
43	002	GOLDFISH	Carassius auratus	Т	939.5	10.31	74.4	21.319	5.64
54	002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Fundulus notatus		587.5	6.44	1.8	0.872	0.23
40	016	WHITE SUCKER	Catostomus commersoni	Т	536.5	5.89	108.8	69.899	18.49
47	004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	Ameiurus natalis	Т	381.0	4.18	48.8	17.773	4.70
43	001	COMMON CARP	Cyprinus carpio	Т	355.0	3.89	1040.8	188.920	49.99
43	003	GOLDEN SHINER	Notemigonus crysoleucas	Т	243.5	2.67	8.2	0.849	0.22
77	015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF	HYBRID		50.0	0.55	56.5	1.775	0.47
47	006	BLACK BULLHEAD	Ameiurus melas	Р	36.0	0.39	104.0	3.775	1.00
34	001	CENTRAL MUDMINNOW	Umbra limi	Т	35.5	0.39	6.2	0.135	0.04
77	013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	Lepomis gibbosus	Р	26.5	0.29	31.5	0.905	0.24
43	042	FATHEAD MINNOW	Pimephales promelas	Т	26.0	0.29	2.6	0.102	0.03
43	043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	Pimephales notatus	Т	16.5	0.18	3.6	0.052	0.01
77	012	REDEAR SUNFISH	Lepomis microlophus		14.0	0.15	61.4	0.860	0.23
43	045	COMMON CARP X GOLDFISH	HYBRID	Т	12.0	0.13	602.1	11.385	3.01
47	013	TADPOLE MADTOM	Noturus gyrinus		10.0	0.11	7.5	0.076	0.02
43	013	CREEK CHUB	Semotilus atromaculatus	Т	4.0	0.04	45.0	0.180	0.05
47	002	CHANNEL CATFISH	Ictalurus punctatus		2.0	0.02	430.0	0.860	0.23
57	001	WESTERN MOSQUITOFISH	Gambusia affinis		2.0	0.02	2.0	0.004	0.00
77	002	BLACK CRAPPIE	Pomoxis nigromaculatus		2.0	0.02	30.0	0.060	0.02
80	021	IOWA DARTER	Etheostoma exile		2.0	0.02	2.0	0.004	0.00
95	001	BROOK STICKLEBACK	Culaea inconstans		2.0	0.02	10.0	0.020	0.01

Appendix	Table A-1-	B: NBWW 2020-21 fish species g	rand by biomass.			-			
								Rel.	
Family	Species			Ohio	Rel.	% by	Average	Weight	% by
Code	Code	Common Name	Latin Name	Tolerance	Number	Number	Weight (g)	(kg)	Weight
43	001	COMMON CARP	Cyprinus carpio	Т	355.0	3.89	1040.8	188.920	49.99
40	016	WHITE SUCKER	Catostomus commersoni	Т	536.5	5.89	108.8	69.899	18.49
77	009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Lepomis macrochirus	Р	1046.5	11.48	15.4	21.888	5.79
43	002	GOLDFISH	Carassius auratus	Т	939.5	10.31	74.4	21.319	5.64
47	004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	Ameiurus natalis	Т	381.0	4.18	48.8	17.773	4.70
77	008	GREEN SUNFISH	Lepomis cyanellus	Т	1000.0	10.97	13.6	13.161	3.48
77	006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	Micropterus salmoides		1607.0	17.63	36.2	11.759	3.11
43	045	COMMON CARP X GOLDFISH	HYBRID	Т	12.0	0.13	602.1	11.385	3.01
20	003	GIZZARD SHAD	Dorosoma cepedianum		2179.0	23.90	15.9	11.312	2.99
47	006	BLACK BULLHEAD	Ameiurus melas	Р	36.0	0.39	104.0	3.775	1.00
77	015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF	HYBRID		50.0	0.55	56.5	1.775	0.47
77	013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	Lepomis gibbosus	Р	26.5	0.29	31.5	0.905	0.24
54	002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Fundulus notatus		587.5	6.44	1.8	0.872	0.23
77	012	REDEAR SUNFISH	Lepomis microlophus		14.0	0.15	61.4	0.860	0.23
47	002	CHANNEL CATFISH	Ictalurus punctatus		2.0	0.02	430.0	0.860	0.23
43	003	GOLDEN SHINER	Notemigonus crysoleucas	Т	243.5	2.67	8.2	0.849	0.22
43	013	CREEK CHUB	Semotilus atromaculatus	Т	4.0	0.04	45.0	0.180	0.05
34	001	CENTRAL MUDMINNOW	Umbra limi	Т	35.5	0.39	6.2	0.135	0.04
43	042	FATHEAD MINNOW	Pimephales promelas	Т	26.0	0.29	2.6	0.102	0.03
47	013	TADPOLE MADTOM	Noturus gyrinus		10.0	0.11	7.5	0.076	0.02
77	002	BLACK CRAPPIE	Pomoxis nigromaculatus		2.0	0.02	30.0	0.060	0.02
43	043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	Pimephales notatus	Т	16.5	0.18	3.6	0.052	0.01
95	001	BROOK STICKLEBACK	Culaea inconstans		2.0	0.02	10.0	0.020	0.01
57	001	WESTERN MOSQUITOFISH	Gambusia affinis		2.0	0.02	2.0	0.004	0.00
80	021	IOWA DARTER	Etheostoma exile		2.0	0.02	2.0	0.004	0.00

Appendix Table B-2. Midwest Biodiversity Institute Fish Species List North Branch Chicago River Site ID: **MF19** River: 95-009 RM: 18.60 Date: 07/09/2020 Time Fished: 0.200 Drainge (sq mi): 93.4 Depth: 0 1234 Distance: Location: Ust. Dempster St. 42.04203 -87.78799 Lat: Long: Species IBI No. Rel. % by Feed Toler-Breed % by Rel. Av. Code: Species Name: Fish Guild ance Guild Group No. No. Wt. Wt. Wt. 43-001 COMMON CARP 0 Т Μ G 8 12.0 17.39 36150 96.33 3012.5 43-002 GOLDFISH 0 Т Μ G 5 7.5 10.87 525 1.40 70.0 Т С 3 47-004 YELLOW BULLHEAD I 4.5 6.52 225 0.60 50.0 54-002 BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW I Μ 3 4.5 6.52 4 0.01 1.0 С С F 2 77-006 LARGEMOUTH BASS 3.0 4.35 15 0.04 5.0 т С 77-008 **GREEN SUNFISH** I S 12 18.0 26.09 375 1.00 20.8 77-009 **BLUEGILL SUNFISH** I Р С S 13 19.5 28.26 232 0.62 11.9 No Species: 7 Nat. Species: 5 Hybrids: 0 **Total Counted:** 46 Total Rel. Wt. : 37527 11.0

IBI:

Mlwb:

3.6

Site ID:	MF19	River:	95-009	North Branch	n Chicago River		RM:	18.60	C	Date: 08/31/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	2121	Distance:	0.200	Drainge (sq mi):	93	3.4	Dep	pth:	0
Location:	Ust. D	empster	St.			Lat:	42.0)4203	Lon	g: -87.78799

Species		Feed	Toler-	Breed	IRI	No	Rel	% by	Rel	% hv	Δ
Code:	Species Name:	Guild	ance	Guild	Group	Fish	No.	No.	Wt.	Wt.	Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		190	285.0	51.21	1605	3.85	5.6
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	64	96.0	17.25	19665	47.16	204.8
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	7	10.5	1.89	16725	40.11	1592.8
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	М	G	5	7.5	1.35	810	1.94	108.0
43-043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	0	Т	С	Ν	2	3.0	0.54	15	0.04	5.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		6	9.0	1.62	975	2.34	108.3
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	' I		М		8	12.0	2.16	15	0.04	1.2
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	29	43.5	7.82	345	0.83	7.9
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	16	24.0	4.31	390	0.94	16.2
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	44	66.0	11.86	1155	2.77	17.5
No Spec	cies: 10 Nat. Species:	8	Hybrids	0		Total Co	unted:	371 T o	otal Rel. W	′t. :	41700
IBI:	15.0 Miwb: 6.	3									

				F19	sn Sj	pecies	LIST					
Site I	D: MF17	River: 95-297	1 N	liddle Foi	rk Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	1.80	Date:	07/09/20	20
			R	liver								
Time	Fished:	Dista	nce:		Di	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	th:		
Locat	ion:	1077		0.200			L	57.3 at:		Long:	0	
	Dst. G	lenview Rd.						42	.06747		-87.7737	7
Species Code:	Speci	es Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD S	SHAD	0		М		44	66.0	44.90	66	4.41	1.0
47-004	YELLOW B	ULLHEAD	I	т	С		15	22.5	15.31	927	61.92	41.2
47-013	TADPOLE I	MADTOM	I		С		1	1.5	1.02	7	0.50	5.0
54-002	BLACKSTR	IPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		3	4.5	3.06	9	0.60	2.0
77-006	LARGEMO	UTH BASS	С		С	F	11	16.5	11.22	37	2.51	2.2
77-008	GREEN SU	NFISH	I	Т	С	S	16	24.0	16.33	150	10.02	6.2
77-009	BLUEGILL	SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	8	12.0	8.16	300	20.04	25.0
No Spe	cies: 7	Nat. Species:	7	Hybrids	: 0		Total Co	unted:	98 T	otal Rel. V	Nt. :	1497
IBI:	16.0	Miwb: 5.0	D									

_		Appendix	Tab	ole B-2 Fis	. Mi h Sj	dwest pecies	Biodive List	ersity	Instit	ute		
Site II	D: MF17	River: 95-291	M	liddle For	k Nor	th Branch	n Chicago	RM:	1.80	Date:	08/31/20)20
Time	Fished:	Dista	R nce:	iver	Dr	rainge (so	ן mi)։		De	pth:		
Locati	ion:	1387		0.200			L	57.3 .at:		Long:	0	
	Dst. G	lenview Rd.						42	.06747		-87.7737	7
Species Code:	Specie	es Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SI	HAD	0		М		83	124.5	38.43	885	9.87	7.1
40-016	WHITE SUC	KER	0	т	S	W	18	27.0	8.33	5115	57.02	189.4
43-001	COMMON C	ARP	0	Т	М	G	3	4.5	1.39	135	1.51	30.0
43-002	GOLDFISH		0	Т	Μ	G	1	1.5	0.46	210	2.34	140.0
43-003	GOLDEN SH	HINER	I	Т	Μ	Ν	15	22.5	6.94	90	1.00	4.0
47-004	YELLOW BU	JLLHEAD	Ι	Т	С		4	6.0	1.85	390	4.35	65.0
54-002	BLACKSTRI	PE TOPMINNOW	Ι		Μ		3	4.5	1.39	15	0.17	3.3
77-006	LARGEMOL	JTH BASS	С		С	F	32	48.0	14.81	300	3.34	6.2
77-008	GREEN SU	NFISH	Ι	Т	С	S	27	40.5	12.50	675	7.53	16.6
77-009	BLUEGILL S	SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	29	43.5	13.43	1110	12.37	25.5
77-013	PUMPKINS	EED SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	1	1.5	0.46	45	0.50	30.0
No Spec IBI:	c ies: 11 17.0	Nat. Species: Mlwb: 6.4	9 1	Hybrids:	0		Total Co	unted:	216	Total Rel. V	Vt. :	8970

				Fis	<u>h S</u>	pecies	List					
Site I	D: MF16	River: 95-291	N	liddle For	k Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	3.00	Date:	07/09/20	020
			R	iver			-					
Time	Fished:	Distar	nce:		Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	oth:		
Locat	ion:	858		0.200			L	56.1 at:		Lona:	0	
	Ust. E	. Lake Rd.						42.	.08246	_og.	-87.7782	28
Species Code:	Specie	es Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD S	HAD	0		М		11	16.5	16.67	28	0.65	1.7
40-016	WHITE SUC	KER	0	Т	S	W	1	1.5	1.52	1	0.03	1.0
43-001	COMMON (CARP	0	Т	М	G	1	1.5	1.52	3750	85.44	2500.0
43-002	GOLDFISH		0	Т	М	G	3	4.5	4.55	450	10.25	100.0
43-003	GOLDEN S	HINER	I	Т	М	Ν	4	6.0	6.06	6	0.14	1.0
47-013	TADPOLE N	MADTOM	I		С		1	1.5	1.52	7	0.17	5.0
54-002	BLACKSTR	IPE TOPMINNOW	I		Μ		7	10.5	10.61	10	0.24	1.0
77-006	LARGEMOL	JTH BASS	С		С	F	20	30.0	30.30	30	0.68	1.0
77-008	GREEN SU	NFISH	I	Т	С	S	11	16.5	16.67	82	1.88	5.0
77-009	BLUEGILL S	SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	7	10.5	10.61	22	0.51	2.1
No Spec	cies: 10 22.0	Nat. Species: Mlwb: 4.6	8	Hybrids:	0		Total Co	unted:	66 T	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	4389

Site II	D: MF16 River: 95-	291 N	liddle Foi	rk Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	3.00	Date:	08/31/20	020
Time	Fished: Dis	R stance:	liver	Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		De	pth:		
Locati	1442 ion:		0.200			L	56.1 at:		Long:	0	
	Ust. E. Lake Rd.						42.	.08246		-87.778	28
Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		26	39.0	17.45	240	1.18	6.1
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	3	4.5	2.01	375	1.85	83.3
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	7	10.5	4.70	18225	89.90	1735.7
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	I	Т	М	Ν	20	30.0	13.42	60	0.30	2.0
43-043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	0	Т	С	Ν	6	9.0	4.03	22	0.11	2.5
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		4	6.0	2.68	420	2.07	70.0
47-013	TADPOLE MADTOM	I		С		1	1.5	0.67	15	0.07	10.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNO	DW I		Μ		17	25.5	11.41	30	0.15	1.1
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	20	30.0	13.42	240	1.18	8.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	27	40.5	18.12	390	1.92	9.6
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	17	25.5	11.41	120	0.59	4.7
77-015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL S	F				1	1.5	0.67	135	0.67	90.0
No Spec	cies: 11 Nat. Species	s: 10	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	unted:	149	Total Rel. V	Vt. :	20272

GREEN SUNFISH BLUEGILL SUNFISH		Р	С	S	11	22.0	10.78	260	3.94	11.8	
GREEN SUNFISH											
	1	Т	С	S	11	22.0	10.78	440	6.67	20.0	
LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	37	74.0	36.27	960	14.55	12.9	
BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOV	V I		М		18	36.0	17.65	100	1.52	2.7	
BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		2	4.0	1.96	160	2.42	40.0	
YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		5	10.0	4.90	320	4.85	32.0	
GOLDEN SHINER	I	Т	М	Ν	1	2.0	0.98	40	0.61	20.0	
COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	1	2.0	0.98	880	13.33	440.0	
WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	14	28.0	13.73	3280	49.70	117.1	
GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		2	4.0	1.96	160	2.42	40.0	
Species Name:	Guild	ance	Breed Guild	Group	Fish	Rei. No.	% by No.	Kel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.	
	Feed	Talar	Dreed	וחו	No	Del	0/ 1	Del	0/ h.		
dst. Winnetka Ave.						42	.09350		-87.7707	0	
966 ion:		0.150			L	24.2 at:		Long:	0		
Fished: Dist	ance:	Iver	Dr	ainge (so	q mi):		Dep	oth:			
D: MF15 River: 95-29	91 N	liddle For	k Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	4.00	Date:	07/31/20	21	
			511 3	Jecles	LISU						
	D: MF15 River: 95-24 Fished: Dist 966 ion: dst. Winnetka Ave. Species Name: GIZZARD SHAD WHITE SUCKER COMMON CARP GOLDEN SHINER YELLOW BULLHEAD BLACK BULLHEAD BLACK STRIPE TOPMINNOW LARGEMOUTH BASS GREEN SUNEISH	D: MF15 River: 95-291 M Fished: Distance: 966 ion: dst. Winnetka Ave. Species Name: Feed Guild GIZZARD SHAD O WHITE SUCKER O COMMON CARP O GOLDEN SHINER I YELLOW BULLHEAD I BLACK BULLHEAD I BLACK STRIPE TOPMINNOW I LARGEMOUTH BASS C GREEN SUNFISH	Fished: Distance: 966 0.150 ion: 966 dst. Winnetka Ave. 0.150 Species Name: Feed Toler-Guild ance GIZZARD SHAD 0 WHITE SUCKER 0 GOLDEN SHINER 1 T T GOLDEN SHINER 1 BLACK BULLHEAD 1 BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW 1 LARGEMOUTH BASS C GREEN SUNFISH 1 T	Fish Sj D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork Nor River Distance: Dr 966 0.150 ion: 966 0.150 dst. Winnetka Ave. Feed Toler- Breed Species Name: Feed Toler- Breed Guild GIZZARD SHAD O M WHITE SUCKER O T S COMMON CARP O T M GOLDEN SHINER I T M YELLOW BULLHEAD I T C BLACK BULLHEAD I P C BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW I M M LARGEMOUTH BASS C C C	Fish Species D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branc River Distance: Drainge (set of the set of the s	Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River Drainge (sq mi): 966 0.150 ion: 966 0.150 L dst. Winnetka Ave. Feed Toler- Breed IBI No. GIZZARD SHAD O M 2 WHITE SUCKER O T S W 14 COMMON CARP O T M N 1 YELLOW BULLHEAD I T C 5 5 BLACK BULLHEAD I P C 2 2 BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW I M 18 18 LARGEMOUTH BASS C C F 37	Fish Species List Fish Species List D: MF15 River: Distance: Drainge (sq mi): RM: Fished: Distance: Drainge (sq mi): 24.2 24.2 on: 966 0.150 24.2 Lat: 42 Species Name: Feed Toler-Guild ance Breed Guild Group No. Rel. No. GIZZARD SHAD O M 2 4.0 WHITE SUCKER O T S W 14 28.0 COMMON CARP O T M G 1 2.0 GOLDEN SHINER I T C 5 10.0 BLACK BULLHEAD I P C 2 4.0 BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW I M 18 36.0 LARGEMOUTH BASS C C F 37 74.0	Fish Species List Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 River Drainge (sq mi): Dep 966 0.150 24.2 Ion: 966 0.150 24.2 Ion: Feed Toler- Breed IBI No. Rel. % by Species Name: Feed Toler- Breed IBI No. Rel. % by GIZZARD SHAD O M Guild Group Fish No. No. GIZZARD SHAD O M Guild Group No. Rel. % by GIZZARD SHAD O M Guild Group No. No. GIZZARD SHAD O T S No. No. GUDDEN SHINER I T M Guild Group <th cols<="" td=""><td>Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 Date: River Drainge (sq mi): Depth: Depth: Optimize Composition Composition Composition Composition Composition Provide the state Model the state Composition Composition</td><td>Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 Date: 07/31/20 Fished: Distance: Drainge (sq mi): Depth: O Depth: 0 966 0.150 24.2 0 Cong: 0 -87.7707 generation Feed Toler- Guild Group No. Rel. % by Wt. Species Name: Feed Toler- Guild ance Breed IBI Group No. Rel. % by Wt. Wt. GIZZARD SHAD O M 2 4.0 1.96 160 2.42 WHITE SUCKER O T S W 14 28.0 13.73 3280 49.70 COMMON CARP O T M G 1 2.0 0.98 880 13.33 GOLDEN SHINER I T M N 1 2.0 0.98 40 0.61 YELLOW BULLHEAD I</td></th>	<td>Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 Date: River Drainge (sq mi): Depth: Depth: Optimize Composition Composition Composition Composition Composition Provide the state Model the state Composition Composition</td> <td>Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 Date: 07/31/20 Fished: Distance: Drainge (sq mi): Depth: O Depth: 0 966 0.150 24.2 0 Cong: 0 -87.7707 generation Feed Toler- Guild Group No. Rel. % by Wt. Species Name: Feed Toler- Guild ance Breed IBI Group No. Rel. % by Wt. Wt. GIZZARD SHAD O M 2 4.0 1.96 160 2.42 WHITE SUCKER O T S W 14 28.0 13.73 3280 49.70 COMMON CARP O T M G 1 2.0 0.98 880 13.33 GOLDEN SHINER I T M N 1 2.0 0.98 40 0.61 YELLOW BULLHEAD I</td>	Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 Date: River Drainge (sq mi): Depth: Depth: Optimize Composition Composition Composition Composition Composition Provide the state Model the state Composition Composition	Fish Species List D: MF15 River: 95-291 Middle Fork North Branch Chicago RM: 4.00 Date: 07/31/20 Fished: Distance: Drainge (sq mi): Depth: O Depth: 0 966 0.150 24.2 0 Cong: 0 -87.7707 generation Feed Toler- Guild Group No. Rel. % by Wt. Species Name: Feed Toler- Guild ance Breed IBI Group No. Rel. % by Wt. Wt. GIZZARD SHAD O M 2 4.0 1.96 160 2.42 WHITE SUCKER O T S W 14 28.0 13.73 3280 49.70 COMMON CARP O T M G 1 2.0 0.98 880 13.33 GOLDEN SHINER I T M N 1 2.0 0.98 40 0.61 YELLOW BULLHEAD I

Appendix Table B-2. Midwest Biodiversity Institute

No Spec	i es: 8 I	Nat. Species:	8	Hybrids	0		Total Co	unted:	101 T	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	6260
77-009	BLUEGILL SL	JNFISH	I	Р	С	S	8	16.0	7.92	580	9.27	36.2
77-008	GREEN SUN	FISH	I	Т	С	S	24	48.0	23.76	1180	18.85	24.5
77-006	LARGEMOUT	H BASS	С		С	F	18	36.0	17.82	200	3.19	5.5
54-002	BLACKSTRIP	E TOPMINNOW	Ι		Μ		8	16.0	7.92	60	0.96	3.7
47-006	BLACK BULL	HEAD	Ι	Р	С		1	2.0	0.99	220	3.51	110.0
47-004	YELLOW BUL	LHEAD	I	Т	С		14	28.0	13.86	900	14.38	32.1
43-013	CREEK CHUE	3	G	Т	Ν	Ν	2	4.0	1.98	180	2.88	45.0
40-016	WHITE SUCK	ER	0	т	S	W	26	52.0	25.74	2940	46.96	56.5
Code:	ode: Species Name:			ance	Guild	Group	Fish	Rei. No.	% by No.	Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. <u>Wt</u> .
Species			Feed	Talar	Dreed	וחו	No	Del	04.1	Del	0(b)	
	dst. Sun	iset Dr.						42	.11570		-87.7855	i0
Locati	on: 1	109		0.150			L	22.4 .at:		Long:	0	
Time F	ished:	Distar	nce:		Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	oth:		
			R	iver			5					
Site ID): MF14	River: 95-291	М	iddle For	k Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	6.00	Date:	07/31/20)21
				Fis	<u>sh Sp</u>	pecies	List					

IBI: 15.0

Mlwb: 5.5

02/20/2023

		Appendix	Tab	le B-2 Fis	. Mi sh Sj	dwest pecies	Biodive List	ersity	Institu	ite		
Site I	D: MF13	River: 95-297	1 N	liddle For	k Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	8.60	Date:	07/31/20	21
Time	Fished:	Dista	к nce:	lver	Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	th:		
Locat	1939 Location: ust. IL68			0.150			L	20.9 at:		Long:	0	
	ust. IL	.68						42	.13940		-87.8105	0
Species Code:	Speci	es Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
47-004	YELLOW B	ULLHEAD	I	т	С		14	28.0	51.85	700	87.50	25.0
54-002	BLACKSTR	IPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		11	22.0	40.74	20	2.50	0.9
77-006	LARGEMO	UTH BASS	С		С	F	1	2.0	3.70	40	5.00	20.0
77-008	GREEN SU	NFISH	I	Т	С	S	1	2.0	3.70	40	5.00	20.0
No Spe	cies: 4 13.0	Nat. Species: Mlwb: 3.0	4	Hybrids	: 0		Total Cou	unted:	27 T	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	800

				Fi	<u>sh S</u>	pecies	s List					
Site I	D: MF12	River: 95-	-291 M	iddle Fo	rk Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	10.80	Date:	07/31/20)21
			R	iver								
Time	Fished:	Di	stance:		Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	oth:		
Locat	ion:	1390		0.150			L	19.2 at:		Long:	0	
	ust. (Carriage Way						42.	15990		-87.8251	0
Species Code:	Spec	ies Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
43-001	COMMON	CARP	0	т	М	G	4	8.0	5.41	1940	58.43	242.5
47-004	YELLOW E	BULLHEAD	I	т	С		8	16.0	10.81	620	18.67	38.7
47-006	BLACK BL	ILLHEAD	I	Р	С		1	2.0	1.35	220	6.63	110.0
54-002	BLACKST		OW I		М		44	88.0	59.46	140	4.22	1.5
77-006	LARGEMO	UTH BASS	С		С	F	7	14.0	9.46	60	1.81	4.2
77-008	GREEN SI	JNFISH	I	т	С	S	9	18.0	12.16	300	9.04	16.6
77-009	BLUEGILL	SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	1	2.0	1.35	40	1.20	20.0
No Spe	cies: 7	Nat. Specie	s: 6	Hybrids	: 0		Total Co	unted:	74 1	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	3320
IBI:	15.0	Mlwb:	N/A									

Site II	D: MF11	River: 95-291	М	iddle For	k Nor	th Branch	n Chicago	RM.	14,10	Date:	07/31/20)21
			R	iver			roniougo		11110	Datoi	0770172	/_ !
Time	Fished:	Distar	nce:		Dr	rainge (so	ı mi):		Dep	oth:		
Locati	ion:	1384		0.150			L	16.1 .at:		Long:	0	
	dst. IL	22						42	.19920		-87.8532	20
Species Code:	Specie	es Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD S	HAD	0		М		8	16.0	3.76	1120	5.20	70.0
34-001	CENTRAL N	UDMINNOW	I	Т	С		2	4.0	0.94	20	0.09	5.0
40-016	WHITE SUC	KER	0	Т	S	W	5	10.0	2.35	2000	9.29	200.0
43-001	COMMON (CARP	0	Т	М	G	4	8.0	1.88	10400	48.32	1300.0
47-004	YELLOW BI	JLLHEAD	I	Т	С		9	18.0	4.23	980	4.55	54.4
47-006	BLACK BUL	LHEAD	I	Р	С		2	4.0	0.94	320	1.49	80.0
54-002	BLACKSTR	IPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		19	38.0	8.92	60	0.28	1.5
77-002	BLACK CRA	APPIE	I		С	S	1	2.0	0.47	60	0.28	30.0
77-006	LARGEMOU	JTH BASS	С		С	F	14	28.0	6.57	1240	5.76	44.2
77-008	GREEN SU	NFISH	Ι	Т	С	S	46	92.0	21.60	1060	4.92	11.5
77-009	BLUEGILL	SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	86	172.0	40.38	3440	15.98	20.0
77-015	GREEN SF	X BLUEGILL SF					16	32.0	7.51	820	3.81	25.6
80-021	IOWA DAR	ΓER	I		Μ	D	1	2.0	0.47	4	0.02	2.0

Site I	D: MF10	River: 95-291	I M	liddle Fo	ork Nor	th Branch	n Chicago	RM:	16.70	Date:	07/31/202	21
Time	Fished:	Dista	R nce:	iver	Dr	ainge (sq	mi):		Dej	oth:		
Locat	ion:	962		0.15	0		L	11.9 at:		Long:	0	
	dst. V	Vestleigh St.						42	.23210		-87.8693	0
Species Code:	pecies Code: Species Name:		Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
34-001	CENTRAL	MUDMINNOW	I	т	С		1	2.0	1.82	20	20.00	10.0
54-002	BLACKST	RIPE TOPMINNOW		Μ		54	108.0	98.18	80	80.00	0.7	
No Spe	cies: 2	Nat. Species:	2	Hybrid	s: 0		Total Co	unted:	55 T	rotal Rel. V	Vt. :	100
IBI:	12.0	MIWD: N/A	4									

NO SPE	cies: / 14.0	Nat. Species: Miwb: N	ь I/A	Hybrid	s: U		i otal Co	untea:	44 I	otal Rel. V	VI. :	320
						5		2.0	<u> </u>		0.23	
77-008				т	C C	г с	1	∠.∪ 2.0	2.27	10 20	3.13 6.25	5.0 10.0
54-002			v I		IVI C	E	27	54.0	01.30	50	15.63	0.9
47-006			۱ ۸/ ۱	۲			1	2.0	2.27	100	31.25	0.00
47-004			1				1	2.0	2.27	40	12.50	20.0
43-001			0	ו ד	M	G	2	4.0	4.55	40	12.50	10.0
34-001	CENTRA		I C	T T	С	0	11	22.0	25.00	60	18.75	2.7
	· ·		Guild	ance	Guild	Group	1 1011	110.	INU.	۷۷۱.		<u>vvl</u> .
Species Code:	Spe	cies Name:	Feed	Toler-	Breed	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel.	% by	Rel.	% by Wt	Av.
	dst.	foot bridge in Fl	Р					42	.25690		-87.8850	0
Locat	ion:	1350		0.150)		L	8.9 at:		Long:	0	
Time	Fished:	Dist	ance:	Iver	Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	oth:		
Site I	D: MF9	River: 95-29	91 M	liddle Fo	ork Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	18.90	Date:	08/01/20	21
				- Fi	ish Sp	pecies	s List					

Appendix Table B-2. Midwest Biodiversity Institute

		Appendix	Tab	le B-2 Fis	. Mi h Sj	dwest pecies	Biodive List	ersity	Institu	ıte		
Site I	D: MF8	River: 95-29	1 N	liddle For	k Nor	th Branc	h Chicago	RM:	21.10	Date:	08/01/202	21
Time	Fished:	Dista	R nce:	iver	Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		Dep	th:		
Locat	1010 Location: ust. Rockland Rd.			0.150			L	5.8 at:		Long:	0	
	ust. R	ockland Rd.						42	.28080		-87.8985	0
Species Code:	Speci	es Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
34-001	CENTRAL	MUDMINNOW	Ι	т	С		3	6.0	20.00	20	16.67	3.3
47-004	YELLOW B	ULLHEAD	I	Т	С		3	6.0	20.00	60	50.00	10.0
54-002	BLACKSTR	RIPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		3	6.0	20.00	20	16.67	3.3
77-009	BLUEGILL	SUNFISH	Ι	Р	С	S	6	12.0	40.00	20	16.67	1.6
No Spe IBI:	cies: 4 13.0	Nat. Species: Mlwb: N//	4	Hybrids:	0		Total Co	unted:	15 T o	otal Rel. W	/t. :	120

	Appendix	Tab	le B-2 Fis	. Mi sh Sp	dwest becies	t Biodiv s List	ersi	ty Ins [.]	tit	ute		
Site II	D: WF25 River: 95-292	W	/est Fork	North	Branch	Chicago R	iver	RM: 1.	. 30	Date:	07/30/20)21
Time	Fished: 1880 Distan	ice:	0.200	Dr	ainge (s	sq mi):	2	7.9	De	epth:	0	
Locati	ion: ust. footbridge						Lat:	42.064	00	Long:	-87.789	50
Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Re	I. % . No	by o.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М	•	1		.5 (0.75	60	0.17	40.0
34-001	CENTRAL MUDMINNOW	I	Т	С		1		.5 (0.75	5 15	0.04	10.0
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	2	3	3.0 ²	1.50	90	0.25	30.0
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	12	18	3.0 9	9.02	18210	50.67	1011.6
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	М	G	35	52	2.5 26	6.32	1800	5.01	34.2
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	I	Т	М	Ν	1		.5 (0.75	5 45	0.13	30.0
43-045	COMMON CARP X GOLDFISH	0	Т		G	7	1().5 5	5.26	5 11175	31.09	1064.2
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		35	52	2.5 26	6.32	3165	8.81	60.2
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		2	3	3.0 ⁻	1.50	450	1.25	150.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		5	7	.5 3	3.76	30	0.08	4.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	4	6	6.0 3	3.01	30	0.08	5.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	15	22	2.5 11	1.28	435	1.21	19.3
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	13	19	9.5	9.77	435	1.21	22.3
No Spec	cies: 12 Nat. Species: 12.0 Mlwb: 4.6	10	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	ounte	d: 133	3	Total Rel. V	Vt. :	35940

12.0 Mlwb:

4.6

	Appendix	Tab	le B-2 Fis	. Mie sh Sr	dwest becies	Biodiv List	ersity	Institu	ute		
Site ID	D: WF24 River: 95-29	2 W	/est Fork	North	Branch	Chicago Ri	iver RM:	2.90	Date:	07/30/20	21
Time F	Fished: 1317 Dista	nce:	0.200	Dr	ainge (so	q mi):	24.5	Dep	oth:	0	
Locati	on: dst. Lake Ave.					I	_at: 42.	07890	Long:	-87.8025	0
Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	4	6.0	3.42	990	17.81	165.0
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	5	7.5	4.27	60	1.08	8.0
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	М	G	11	16.5	9.40	480	8.64	29.0
43-043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	0	Т	С	Ν	1	1.5	0.85	7	0.13	5.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		42	63.0	35.90	2925	52.63	46.4
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		13	19.5	11.11	30	0.54	1.5
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	3	4.5	2.56	105	1.89	23.3
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	30	45.0	25.64	735	13.23	16.3
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	8	12.0	6.84	225	4.05	18.7
No Spec	ies: 9 Nat. Species:	7	Hybrids	: 0		Total Co	ounted:	117 1	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	5557

IBI: 10.0 **N**

Mlwb: 5.0

Site ID:	WF23	River:	95-292	West Fork No	orth Branch Chicago	River	RM: 4.9	0	Date: 07/30/2021
Time Fishe	ed:	1183	Distance:	0.200	Drainge (sq mi):	1	7.8 C)epth:	0
Location:	dst. W	/illow Rd.				Lat:	42.10370) Lor	ng: -87.80970

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		4	6.0	0.51	225	0.64	37.5
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	2	3.0	0.26	450	1.28	150.0
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	146	219.0	18.74	15840	44.94	72.3
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	М	G	552	828.0	70.86	15480	43.91	18.6
43-045	COMMON CARP X GOLDFISH	0	Т		G	1	1.5	0.13	210	0.60	140.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		22	33.0	2.82	1770	5.02	53.6
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		1	1.5	0.13	75	0.21	50.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	9	13.5	1.16	105	0.30	7.7
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	28	42.0	3.59	645	1.83	15.3
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	14	21.0	1.80	450	1.28	21.4
No Spec	ies: 9 Nat. Species:	7	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	unted:	779 T o	otal Rel. W	/t. :	35250
IBI:	9.0 Miwb: N/A										

Site ID:	WF22	River:	95-292	West Fork No	orth Branch Chicago	River	RM:	9.20	Date: 07/30/202	1
Time Fish	ed:	1361	Distance:	0.200	Drainge (sq mi):		9.4	Depth:	0	
Location:	dst. P	finston Re	d/ Lake Co	ok		Lat:	42.1	5210 Loi	ng: -87.84700	

Species			_ .								
Code:	Species Name	⊦eed	l oler-	Breed	IBI	NO.	Rel.	% by	Rel.	% by	Av.
0000	Species Name.	Guild	ance	Guild	Group	Fish	No.	No.	Wt.	Wt.	Wt.
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	11	16.5	16.18	10515	90.22	637.2
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	I	Т	Μ	Ν	3	4.5	4.41	90	0.77	20.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		5	7.5	7.35	285	2.45	38.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	1	1.5	1.47	22	0.19	15.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	8	12.0	11.76	202	1.74	16.8
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	39	58.5	57.35	450	3.86	7.6
77-015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF					1	1.5	1.47	90	0.77	60.0
No Spec	ies: 6 Nat. Species:	5	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	unted:	68 T o	otal Rel. W	't. :	11655
IBI:	9.0 Miwb: N/A	4									

IBI: 9.0

Site ID): WF21	River: 9	5-292	West Fo	rk North	n Branch (Chicago R	River	RM: 10.40	Date:	07/30/20	21
Time F	ished:	1044	Distance:	0.15	0 Dr	ainge (sq	mi):	7	.0 De	pth:	0	
Locati	on: dst.D	eerfield Rd	ł.					Lat:	42.16640	Long:	-87.8570	0
Species Code:	Specie	es Name:	Fee Guile	d Toler- d ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel No.	. % by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
47-004	YELLOW B	ULLHEAD		Т	С		1	2	.0 7.69	60	63.83	30.0
57-001	WESTERN	MOSQUITOR	FISH I		Ν	Е	1	2	.0 7.69	4	4.26	2.0
77-006	LARGEMO	JTH BASS	C	;	С	F	1	2	.0 7.69	10	10.64	5.0
77-009	BLUEGILL	SUNFISH	1	Р	С	S	10	20	.0 76.92	20	21.28	1.0

77-009	BLUEGILI		Ι	Р	С	S	10	20.0	76.92	20	21.28	1.0	
No Sp	ecies: 4	Nat. Speci	ies:	3	Hybrids:	0		Total Cou	nted:	13 To	tal Rel. W	t. :	94
IBI:	11.0	Mlwb:	N/A										

IBI:	7.0		Mlwb:	: N/.	A										
No Spec	cies:	3	Nat. Sp	ecies:	3	Hybrids	: 0		Total	Count	ed:	8 T	Fotal Rel. V	Nt. :	28
77-009	BLU	EGILL	SUNFISH		I	Р	С	S		1	2.0	12.50	2	7.14	1.0
77-008	GRE	EN S	UNFISH		I	Т	С	S		6 [·]	2.0	75.00	20	71.43	1.6
47-004	YEL	LOW	BULLHEAD		I	Т	С			1	2.0	12.50	6	21.43	3.0
Species Code:		Spec	cies Name:		Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	Nc Fis). R h N	el. Io.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
Locati	ion:	adj.	Sounders	Rd.						Lat:	42	.18590	Long:	-87.88140	
Time	Fishe	d:	754	Dista	ince:	0.150	Dr	ainge (s	q mi):		3.9	Dep	oth:	0	
Site II	D:	WF20	River:	95-29	2 W	/est Fork	North	n Branch	Chicago	River	RM:	12.50	Date:	07/30/2021	l

Site ID:	SR18	River	: 95-403	Skokie River			RM:	0.50	C	Date: 07/08/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	1477	Distance:	0.200	Drainge (sq mi):	30	0.9	De	pth:	0
Location:	Dst. I-	.94				Lat:	42.0	8853	Lon	g: -87.76192

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt	Av. Wt
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0	unoo	M	Oroup	185	277.5	40.93	450	2.11	 1.6
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	т	s	W	45	67.5	9.96	10950	51.38	162.2
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	т	М	G	1	1.5	0.22	2625	12.32	1750.0
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	I	Т	М	Ν	13	19.5	2.88	31	0.15	1.6
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		4	6.0	0.88	30	0.14	5.0
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		3	4.5	0.66	750	3.52	166.6
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	V I		М		4	6.0	0.88	6	0.03	1.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	51	76.5	11.28	603	2.83	7.8
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	25	37.5	5.53	615	2.89	16.4
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	118	177.0	26.11	4950	23.23	27.9
77-015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF					3	4.5	0.66	300	1.41	66.6
No Spec	cies: 10 Nat. Species:	9	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	ounted:	452 T o	otal Rel. W	/t. :	21310
IBI:	16.0 Miwb: 7	.0									

Site ID:	SR18	River:	95-403	Skokie River			RM:	0.50	C	Date: 08/31/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	2209	Distance:	0.200	Drainge (sq mi):	30	0.9	Dej	pth:	0
Location:	Dst. I-	94				Lat:	42.0	8853	Lon	g: -87.76192

20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М	·	354	531.0	37.42	2745	14.80	5.1
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	45	67.5	4.76	7200	38.82	106.6
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	М	G	4	6.0	0.42	240	1.29	40.0
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	М	G	4	6.0	0.42	930	5.01	155.0
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	Ι	Т	М	Ν	82	123.0	8.67	330	1.78	2.6
43-043	BLUNTNOSE MINNOW	0	Т	С	Ν	2	3.0	0.21	6	0.03	2.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	Ι	Т	С		18	27.0	1.90	1815	9.79	67.2
47-013	TADPOLE MADTOM	Ι		С		1	1.5	0.11	15	0.08	10.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Ι		Μ		12	18.0	1.27	30	0.16	1.6
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	278	417.0	29.39	1575	8.49	3.7
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	36	54.0	3.81	975	5.26	18.0
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Ι	Р	С	S	107	160.5	11.31	2580	13.91	16.0
77-013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	2	3.0	0.21	60	0.32	20.0
77-015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF					1	1.5	0.11	45	0.24	30.0

IBI:

20.0

Mlwb: 8.0

Site ID:	SR7	River	: 95-403	Skokie River			RM:	3.00	C	Date: 07/10/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	2160	Distance:	0.500	Drainge (sq mi):	23	3.7	De	pth:	0
Location:	Skokie	e Lagoon	S			Lat:	42.1	1367	Long	g: -87.77107

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed	Toler-	Breed	IBI	No.	Rel.	% by	Rel.	% by	Av.
	Species Name.	Guild	ance	Guild	Group	Fish	No.	No.	Wt.	Wt.	Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		364	728.0	72.65	3260	11.44	4.4
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	Μ	G	6	12.0	1.20	13800	48.42	1150.0
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	I	Т	М	Ν	10	20.0	2.00	100	0.35	5.0
47-002	CHANNEL CATFISH			С	F	1	2.0	0.20	860	3.02	430.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		1	2.0	0.20	520	1.82	260.0
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		1	2.0	0.20	620	2.18	310.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	38	76.0	7.58	2620	9.19	34.4
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	2	4.0	0.40	40	0.14	10.0
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	60	120.0	11.98	4780	16.77	39.8
77-012	REDEAR SUNFISH	I		С	Е	7	14.0	1.40	860	3.02	61.4
77-013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	10	20.0	2.00	720	2.53	36.0
77-015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF					1	2.0	0.20	320	1.12	160.0
No Spec	cies: 11 Nat. Species:	9	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	unted:	501 Tc	otal Rel. W	/t. :	28500
IBI:	15.0 Miwb: 7.0	0									

Site I	D: S	R6 River	: 95-403	3 SI	kokie Riv	er				RM:	7.40	Date:	07/08/20)20
Time	Fished:	877	Dista	nce:	0.200	Dr	ainge (s	sq mi):		21.5	Dep	oth:	0	
Locat	tion: Us	st. Lake Cook	Rd.						Lat:	42	.15350	Long:	-87.7944	41
Species Code:	5	Species Name:		Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No Fis	b. R h N	el. Io.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
43-001	COMM	ION CARP		0	Т	М	G		1	1.5	2.33	2250	81.08	1500.0
54-002	BLAC	STRIPE TOPM	IINNOW	I		М			9 ~	3.5	20.93	13	0.49	1.0
77-006	LARGE	EMOUTH BASS	5	С		С	F		1	1.5	2.33	1	0.05	1.0
77-008	GREE	N SUNFISH		I	Т	С	S	2	23 3	34.5	53.49	390	14.05	11.3
77-009	BLUE	GILL SUNFISH		I	Р	С	S		7 ²	0.5	16.28	75	2.70	7.1
77-015	GREE	N SF X BLUEG	ILL SF						2	3.0	4.65	45	1.62	15.0
No Spe	cies: 5	Nat. Sp	ecies:	4	Hybrids	: 1		Total	Count	ed:	43 T	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	2775
IRI:	15.0	WIWD	. 3.	3										

15.0 IBI: Mlwb:

Site ID:	SR6	River	: 95-403	Skokie River			RM:	7.40	D	Date: 08/31/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	1294	Distance:	0.200	Drainge (sq mi):	2	1.5	De	pth:	0
Location:	Ust. L	ake Cool	k Rd.			Lat:	42.1	5350	Long	g: -87.79441

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed	Toler-	Breed	IBI	No. Fich	Rel.	% by	Rel.	% by	Av.
00.000		Guila	ance	Guild	Group		NO.	NO.		VVt.	<u></u>
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		IVI		16	24.0	15.38	120	1.44	5.0
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	7	10.5	6.73	225	2.69	21.4
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	Μ	G	4	6.0	3.85	7005	83.84	1167.5
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	Μ	G	1	1.5	0.96	90	1.08	60.0
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	Ι	Т	Μ	Ν	3	4.5	2.88	15	0.18	3.3
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		2	3.0	1.92	240	2.87	80.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Ι		М		41	61.5	39.42	75	0.90	1.2
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	5	7.5	4.81	30	0.36	4.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	14	21.0	13.46	135	1.62	6.4
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Ι	Р	С	S	11	16.5	10.58	420	5.03	25.4
No Spee	cies: 10 Nat. Species:	8	Hybrids:	0		Total Co	ounted:	104 T	otal Rel. W	t. :	8355
IBI:	21.0 Miwb: 5.0)									

Site ID:	SR5	River:	95-403	Skokie River			RM:	8.00	۵	Date: 07/08/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	775	Distance	: 0.150	Drainge (sq mi):	2	0.6	Dep	oth:	0
Location: Ust. Clavey Rd. @ Solel Congregation							42.1	6116	Long	g: -87.79958

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed	Toler-	Breed	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel.	% by	Rel.	% by	Av.
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	00000	T	S	W	13	26.0	24.53	7100	92.09	273.0
43-042	FATHEAD MINNOW	0	т	С	Ν	1	2.0	1.89	2	0.03	1.0
47-013	TADPOLE MADTOM	I		С		2	4.0	3.77	30	0.39	7.5
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	I		М		2	4.0	3.77	4	0.05	1.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	7	14.0	13.21	14	0.18	1.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	т	С	S	21	42.0	39.62	500	6.49	11.9
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	5	10.0	9.43	40	0.52	4.0
77-015	GREEN SF X BLUEGILL SF					2	4.0	3.77	20	0.26	5.0
No Spec	cies: 7 Nat. Species:	7	Hybrids	: 1		Total Co	unted:	53 To	tal Rel. W	′t.:	7710
IBI:	24.0 Mlwb: 3.6	6									

Site ID:	SR5	River:	95-403	Skokie River			RM:	8.00	[Date: 09/01/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	910	Distance	0.150	Drainge (sq mi):	20	0.6	Dep	oth:	0
Location: Ust. Clavey Rd. @ Solel Congregation							42.1	6116	Lon	g: -87.79958

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	1	2.0	5.26	40	8.33	20.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	I		Μ		8	16.0	42.11	30	6.25	1.8
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	1	2.0	5.26	30	6.25	15.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	4	8.0	21.05	280	58.33	35.0
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	5	10.0	26.32	100	20.83	10.0
No Spec	cies: 5 Nat. Species:	5	Hybrids	: 0		Total Cou	unted:	19 To	tal Rel. W	/t. :	480
IBI:	23.0 Miwb: 4.	2									
Site ID:	SR4	River	: 95-403	Skokie River			RM:	11.30	D	Date: 07/07/2020	
------------	---------	-----------	-------------	---------------	------------------	------	------	-------	------	------------------	
Time Fishe	ed:	951	Distance	0.150	Drainge (sq mi):	1	5.0	Dep	oth:	0	
Location:	Ust. Ha	alf Day F	Rd. @ Sleep	y Hollow Park		Lat:	42.2	20259	Long	g: -87.82993	

No Spec	ies: 9 Nat. Species:	7	Hybrids	: 0		Total Co	unted:	116 Tc	otal Rel. W	/t. :	4590
77-013	PUMPKINSEED SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	1	2.0	0.86	80	1.74	40.0
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	I	Р	С	S	2	4.0	1.72	60	1.31	15.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	80	160.0	68.97	1600	34.86	10.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	1	2.0	0.86	10	0.22	5.0
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		1	2.0	0.86	40	0.87	20.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		10	20.0	8.62	300	6.54	15.0
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	Μ	G	6	12.0	5.17	400	8.71	33.3
43-001	COMMON CARP	0	Т	Μ	G	1	2.0	0.86	300	6.54	150.0
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	14	28.0	12.07	1800	39.22	64.2
Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.

IBI: 14.0

Mlwb: N/A

Site ID:	SR4	River:	95-403	Skokie River			RM:	11.30	C	0ate: 09/01/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	1084	Distance:	0.150	Drainge (sq mi):	1	5.0	Dep	oth:	0
Location:	Ust. H	lalf Day F	d. @ Sleep	y Hollow Park		Lat:	42.2	20259	Lon	g: -87.82993

Species			- -	_	151	Nia	D 1		D 1	04.1	
Code:	Species Name:	Feed	l oler-	Breed	IBI		Rel.	% by	Rel.	% by	Av.
	Opecies Name.	Guild	ance	Guild	Group	Fish	No.	No.	Wt.	Wt.	<u>Wt</u> .
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		24	48.0	22.86	240	7.50	5.0
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	Т	S	W	12	24.0	11.43	1360	42.47	56.6
43-002	GOLDFISH	0	Т	М	G	1	2.0	0.95	140	4.37	70.0
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	Ι	Р	С		1	2.0	0.95	140	4.37	70.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	Ι		М		1	2.0	0.95	2	0.06	1.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	40	80.0	38.10	640	19.99	8.0
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	23	46.0	21.90	640	19.99	13.9
77-009	BLUEGILL SUNFISH	Ι	Р	С	S	2	4.0	1.90	20	0.62	5.0
95-001	BROOK STICKLEBACK	I		С		1	2.0	0.95	20	0.62	10.0
No Spec	ies: 9 Nat. Species:	8	Hybrids	: 0		Total Co	unted:	105 To	tal Rel. W	/t. :	3202

IBI: 21.0

Mlwb: N/A

Site I	D:	SR3	River: 9	95-403	SI	kokie Riv	er				RM:	14.80	Date:	07/07/20	20
Time	Fishe	ed:	1045	Distan	ce:	0.150	Dr	ainge (s	q mi):	-	1.5	Dep	oth:	0	
Locat	tion:	Dst. E	Deerpath Ro	d.						Lat:	42.	.24691	Long:	-87.8535	0
Species Code:	5	Spec	ies Name:		Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No Fisl	. R 1 N	el. o.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
40-016	WH	ITE SU	CKER		0	Т	S	W	1	6 3	2.0	17.20	3400	87.58	106.2
43-042	FAT	HEAD	MINNOW		0	Т	С	Ν	1	2 2	4.0	12.90	100	2.58	4.1
47-004	YEL	LOW E	BULLHEAD		I	Т	С			1	2.0	1.08	40	1.03	20.0
54-002	BLA	CKSTF	RIPE TOPMIN	INOW	I		М			4	8.0	4.30	20	0.52	2.5
77-006	LAR	RGEMO	UTH BASS		С		С	F	4	0 E	0.0	43.01	92	2.37	1.1
77-008	GRI	EEN SU	JNFISH		I	Т	С	S	2	0 4	0.0	21.51	230	5.92	5.7
No Spe	cies:	6	Nat. Spec	ies:	6	Hybrids	: 0		Total (Count	ed:	93 T	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	3882
IBI:	22.0		Mlwb:	N/A											

Site ID:	SR3	River:	95-403	Skokie River			RM: 1	14.80	D	ate: 09/01/2020
Time Fishe	ed:	876	Distance:	0.150	Drainge (sq mi):	1	1.5	Dep	oth:	0
Location:	Dst. De	eerpath F	Rd.			Lat:	42.24	1691	Long	g: -87.85350

Species Code:	Species Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel. No.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
20-003	GIZZARD SHAD	0		М		6	12.0	2.51	100	2.20	8.3
40-016	WHITE SUCKER	0	т	S	W	24	48.0	10.04	2180	48.06	45.4
43-003	GOLDEN SHINER	I	т	М	Ν	1	2.0	0.42	10	0.22	5.0
47-004	YELLOW BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		2	4.0	0.84	220	4.85	55.0
47-006	BLACK BULLHEAD	I	Р	С		1	2.0	0.42	40	0.88	20.0
54-002	BLACKSTRIPE TOPMINNOW	/ 1		М		1	2.0	0.42	6	0.13	3.0
77-006	LARGEMOUTH BASS	С		С	F	193	386.0	80.75	1700	37.48	4.4
77-008	GREEN SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S	11	22.0	4.60	280	6.17	12.7
No Spec	ies: 8 Nat. Species:	8	Hybrids	: 0		Total Co	unted:	239 To	tal Rel. W	′t. :	4536

IBI: 24.0

Mlwb: N/A

B2 - 37

Site I	ID:	SR2	River:	95-403	SI	kokie Riv	ver				RM:	17.40	Date:	07/07/20	20
Time	Fished	d:	470	Distanc	ce:	0.150	Dr	ainge (sq	mi):		7.8	De	oth:	0	
Locat	tion: l	Ust. IL	176							Lat:	42.	28040	Long:	-87.8642	8
Species Code:	3	Specie	es Name:		Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	Nc Fis	h N	el. o.	% by No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
47-006	BLAC	CK BUL	LHEAD		Ι	Р	С			1	2.0	12.50	400	90.09	200.0
77-006	LAR	GEMOL	JTH BASS		С		С	F		2	4.0	25.00	4	0.90	1.0
77-008	GRE	EN SUI	NFISH		Ι	Т	С	S		5 1	0.0	62.50	40	9.01	4.0
No Spe	cies:	3	Nat. Spe	cies:	3	Hybrids	: 0		Total	Counte	ed:	8 T	Total Rel. V	Vt. :	444
IBI:	16.0		Mlwb:	N/A											

	17.0	Mwb.	NI/A	i i y bi la s	. 0			Jounto	u. 00			.70
No Spec	cies: 4	Nat. Spec	ies: 4	Hybrids	: 0		Total C	Counte	d: 55	Total Rel. V	Nt. :	476
77-008	GREEN	SUNFISH	I	Т	С	S		2 4	4.0 3.64	50	10.50	12.5
77-006	LARGEN	IOUTH BASS	С		С	F	4	7 94	1.0 85.45	320	67.23	3.4
47-004	YELLOW	/ BULLHEAD	I	Т	С		:	2 4	1.0 3.64	80	16.81	20.0
43-003	GOLDEN	N SHINER	I	Т	М	Ν		4 8	3.0 7.27	26	5.46	3.2
Species Code:	Sp	ecies Name:	Feed Guild	Toler- ance	Breed Guild	IBI Group	No. Fish	Re No	l. % by D. No.	Rel. Wt.	% by Wt.	Av. Wt.
Locati	ion: Ust	. IL 176						Lat:	42.28040	Long:	-87.86428	
Time I	Fished:	732	Distance:	0.150	Dr	ainge (sq	mi):	-	7.8 De	pth:	0	
Site IE	D: SR2	2 River: 9	95-403 SI	kokie Riv	er				RM: 17.40	Date:	09/01/202	0

Appendix Table B-2. Midwest Biodiversity Institute Fish Species List Site ID: Skokie River SR1 River: 95-403 RM: 21.10 Date: 07/07/2020 Drainge (sq mi): Time Fished: 416 Distance: 0.150 2.7 Depth: 0 Location: adj Gillette Plant 42.33161 Long: -87.88167 Lat: Species IBI No. Rel. % by Feed Toler-Breed % by Rel. Av. Code: Species Name: Fish Guild ance Guild Group No. No. Wt. Wt. Wt. COMMON CARP 2.0 2000 43-001 0 Т Μ G 1 100.00 100.00 1000.0 0 Hybrids: 0 **Total Counted:** 1 Total Rel. Wt. : 2000 No Species: 1 Nat. Species:

IBI: 0.0 **MIwb:** N/A

		Appe	ndix Ta	able B	-2. Mi	dwest	t Biodiv	ersity	' Institu	ute		
					Fish S	pecies	s List					
Site I	D: SR1	River:	95-403	Skokie	River	-		RM	1: 21.10	Date:	09/01/20	20
Time	Fished:	667	Distance	0.1	50 Di	rainge (s	sq mi):	2.7	Dep	oth:	0	
Locat	tion: adj Gi	llette Pla	nt				I	Lat: 4	2.33161	Long:	-87.8816	7
Species Code:	Specie	es Name:	Fe	ed Toler-	Breed	IBI Group	No. Fish	Rel.	% by	Rel. Wt	% by Wt	Av.
43-001	COMMON (CARP	00	0 T	M	G	1	2.0	4.00	50	17.24	25.0
77-006	LARGEMOU	JTH BASS		С	С	F	6	12.0	24.00	60	20.69	5.0
77-008	GREEN SU	NFISH		I T	С	S	18	36.0	72.00	180	62.07	5.0
No Spe	cies: 3	Nat. Spe	cies: N/A	2 Hybr i	ds: 0		Total Co	ounted:	25 T	otal Rel. V	Vt. :	290

APPENDIX B: NORTH BRANCH CHICAGO RIVER 2020-2021 MACROINVERTEBRATE ASSEMBLAGE DATA

B-1: Macroinvertebrate IBI Metrics and ScoresB-2: Macroinvertebrate Taxa Grand (all sites combined)B-3: Macroinvertebrate Taxa by Site and Sample

			Drainage			Numl	per of			Perce	ent:	
River Mile	Site ID	Sample Date	Area (sq mi)	Sub- samp	Total Taxa	Coleoptera Taxa	Mayfly Taxa	Intolerant Taxa	MBI	Percent Scrapers	Percent EPT	МІВІ
North	Branch Chic	ago River (95-009)										
Year:	2020											
18.60	MF19	09/07/2020) 93.41		16(35.0)	0(0.0)	1(9.8)	2(22.2)	6.0(82.0)	0.0(0.0)	0.3(0.5)	21.4
Middle	Fork North	Branch Chicago Riv	ver (95-291)									
Year:	2020											
3.00	MF16	07/20/2020) 56.15		25(54.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	4(44.4)	7.3(60.7)	3.2(10.8)	2.1(2.9)	24.7
1.80	MF17	09/07/2020) 57.31		25(54.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	5(55.6)	7.1(63.9)	0.6(1.9)	0.6(0.8)	25.2
Year:	2021											
21.10	MF8	10/06/2021	5.81		11(24.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	7.6(55.7)	12.8(43.1)	0.0(0.0)	17.5
18.90	MF9	10/06/2021	8.91		20(43.0)	0(0.0)	2(19.6)	1(11.1)	6.7(70.5)	3.5(11.7)	8.7(11.7)	24.0
16.70	MF10	10/06/2021	11.99		21(46.0)	0(0.0)	1(9.8)	2(22.2)	5.4(91.8)	31.2(100)	13.2(17.9)	41.1
14.10	MF11	10/06/2021	16.13		15(33.0)	0(0.0)	1(9.8)	0(0.0)	5.6(88.5)	0.6(2.0)	12.7(17.1)	21.5
10.80	MF12	10/06/2021	19.23		16(35.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	6.1(80.3)	30.6(100)	0.3(0.4)	34.0
8.60	MF13	10/06/2021	20.97		18(39.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	8.3(44.3)	1.3(4.5)	0.0(0.0)	15.7
6.00	MF14	10/06/2021	22.48		29(63.0)	1(20.0)	2(19.6)	0(0.0)	6.3(77.1)	9.8(33.1)	47.0(63.5)	39.5
4.00	MF15	10/06/2021	24.29		27(59.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	8.0(49.2)	5.0(17.0)	2.0(2.7)	21.4
West I	Fork North B	ranch Chicago Rive	er (95-292)									
Year:	2021											
12.50	WF20	10/09/2021	3.90		10(22.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	8.9(34.4)	5.2(17.5)	0.0(0.0)	10.6
10.40	WF21	10/09/2021	7.02		11(24.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	1(11.1)	8.2(45.9)	14.7(49.8)	0.0(0.0)	18.7
9.20	WF22	10/09/2021	9.41		11(24.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	1(11.1)	8.6(39.3)	10.7(36.2)	0.0(0.0)	15.8
4.90	WF23	10/09/2021	17.86		22(48.0)	0(0.0)	1(9.8)	0(0.0)	8.9(34.4)	0.7(2.3)	1.4(1.9)	13.8
2.90	WF24	07/21/2021	24.52		32(70.0)	0(0.0)	2(19.6)	3(33.3)	7.3(60.7)	5.3(17.7)	6.8(9.2)	30.1
1.30	WF25	10/10/2021	27.97		19(41.0)	0(0.0)	1(9.8)	2(22.2)	6.7(70.5)	2.1(7.1)	1.8(2.4)	21.9

Appendix Table B-1. Illinois Macroinvertebrate mIBI metrics and values from the North Branch Chicago River study area in 2020-21.

			Drainage			Numl	ber of			Perce	ent:	
River Mile	Site ID	Sample Date	Area (sq mi)	Sub- samp	Total Taxa	Coleoptera Taxa	Mayfly Taxa	Intolerant Taxa	MBI	Percent Scrapers	Percent EPT	MIBI
Skokie F	River (95-4	03)										
Year: 2	020											
21.10	SR1	09/06/2020) 2.78		16(35.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	5.8(85.3)	0.0(0.0)	0.0(0.0)	17.2
17.40	SR2	09/06/2020) 7.87		23(50.0)	1(20.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	6.6(72.1)	0.8(2.5)	0.0(0.0)	23.8
14.80	SR3	09/07/2020) 11.56		16(35.0)	1(20.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	5.6(88.5)	1.9(6.6)	0.0(0.0)	24.6
11.30	SR4	09/06/2020	0 15.07		15(33.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	3(33.3)	5.3(93.4)	0.0(0.0)	0.0(0.0)	22.8
8.00	SR5	09/07/2020	20.67		12(26.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	4.0(100)	0.0(0.0)	0.0(0.0)	21.2
7.40	SR6	09/07/2020) 21.51		11(24.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	3.7(100)	0.7(2.5)	0.0(0.0)	21.3
0.50	SR18	09/07/2020	30.90		20(43.0)	0(0.0)	0(0.0)	2(22.2)	5.9(83.6)	2.7(9.0)	2.0(2.7)	22.9

Appendix Table B-1. Illinois Macroinvertebrate mIBI metrics and values from the North Branch Chicago River study area in 2020-21.

Appendix	Table B-2. NBWW 2020-21 macroinvertebrate taxa gra	and report.						-
				IL Funct.				Samples
Таха		OH Toler-	IL Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected
Code	Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In
06201	Hyalella azteca	F	4	CG		4236	14.80	14
03600	Oligochaeta	Т	10	CG		4019	14.04	24
06800	Gammarus sp	F	3			2237	7.82	10
05800	Caecidotea sp	Т	6	CG		1896	6.62	13
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense	Т	6	SH		1277	4.46	8
01801	Turbellaria	F	6	PR		1015	3.55	19
22001	Coenagrionidae	Т	5.5	PR		780	2.72	21
52200	Cheumatopsyche sp	F	6	CF	CA	777	2.71	5
95100	Physella sp	Т	9	SC		674	2.35	13
82710	Chironomus (C.) sp	MT	11	CG		474	1.66	2
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum	F	6	SH		430	1.50	7
68700	Dubiraphia sp	F	5	CG	CO	394	1.38	1
97601	Corbicula fluminea	F	4	CF		364	1.27	12
92300	Valvata sp		2	SC		360	1.26	4
98600	Sphaerium sp	F	5	CG		353	1.23	10
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus	F	6	CG		347	1.21	15
98200	Pisidium sp	MT	5	CF		290	1.01	17
13400	Stenacron sp	F	4	SC	MA	285	1.00	3
83300	Glyptotendipes (G.) sp	MT	10	CF		279	0.97	4
98001	Pisidiidae		5			266	0.93	4
83000	Dicrotendipes sp	F	6	CG		256	0.89	2
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group	F	6	SH		245	0.86	10
11001	Baetidae		4	CG	MA	239	0.83	1
17200	Caenis sp	F	6	CG	MA	237	0.83	3
22300	Argia sp	F	5	PR		204	0.71	5
93200	Hydrobiidae	F	6	SC		201	0.70	10
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp	MT	8	PR		175	0.61	19
11130	Baetis intercalaris	F	4	CG	MA	157	0.55	4

Appendix	Table B-2. continued.							
				IL Funct.				Samples
Таха		OH Toler-	IL Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected
Code	Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus	Т	8	SH		136	0.48	9
82820	Cryptochironomus sp	F	8	PR		127	0.44	13
84750	Stictochironomus sp	F	5			122	0.43	2
79020	Tanypus neopunctipennis	Т	8	PR		117	0.41	5
52001	Hydropsychidae		5.5	CF	CA	108	0.38	1
04664	Helobdella stagnalis	Т	8	PR		98	0.34	9
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group	Т	11			93	0.32	7
85625	Rheotanytarsus sp	F	6	CF		90	0.31	5
85800	Tanytarsus sp	F	7	CF		90	0.31	11
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicatus	F	3	CG		85	0.30	10
74100	Simulium sp	F	6	CF		81	0.28	2
04901	Erpobdellidae	MT	8	PR		76	0.27	6
69400	Stenelmis sp	F	7	SC	CO	78	0.27	2
85500	Paratanytarsus sp	F	6	CG		76	0.27	3
77120	Ablabesmyia mallochi	F	6	CG		73	0.26	3
82501	Chironomini		6	CG		73	0.26	1
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group	MT	6	SH		75	0.26	11
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena	F	5			69	0.24	7
77500	Conchapelopia sp	F	6	PR		65	0.23	5
53800	Hydroptila sp	F	2	SC	CA	53	0.19	5
04964	Erpobdella microstoma	MT	8	PR		48	0.17	3
21200	Calopteryx sp	F	4	PR		44	0.15	4
83158	Endochironomus nigricans	MT	6	SH		43	0.15	7
84960	Pseudochironomus sp	F	5	CG		42	0.15	1
83002	Dicrotendipes modestus	MT	6	CG		40	0.14	3
65800	Berosus sp	MT	99.9	PR	CO	35	0.12	2
77355	Clinotanypus pinguis	MT	6	PR		34	0.12	2
80510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group	Т	8	SH		33	0.12	6

Appendix	Table B-2. continued.							
				IL Funct.				Samples
Таха		OH Toler-	IL Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected
Code	Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In
83050	Dicrotendipes lucifer	MT	6	CG		31	0.11	3
82100	Thienemanniella sp		2	CG		28	0.10	2
04666	Helobdella papillata	MT	8	PA		27	0.09	7
04930	Erpobdella sp	MT	8	PR		27	0.09	1
78200	Larsia sp	MT	6	PR		25	0.09	2
80350	Corynoneura sp		2	CG		27	0.09	2
74501	Ceratopogonidae	Т	5	PR		23	0.08	3
96900	Ferrissia sp	F	7	SC		19	0.07	2
01320	Hydra sp	F	6	PR		15	0.05	1
08200	Orconectes sp	F	5	CG		14	0.05	2
28001	Libellulidae	MT	4.5	PR		13	0.05	1
82800	Cladopelma sp	Т	6	CG		15	0.05	5
83400	Harnischia sp	F	6	CG		13	0.05	2
04660	Helobdella sp	MT	8	PA		11	0.04	1
04935	Erpobdella punctata punctata	MT	8	PR		12	0.04	2
83820	Microtendipes "caelum" (sensu Simpson & Bode, 1980)	MI	6	CF		12	0.04	1
84700	Stenochironomus sp	F	3	SH		11	0.04	2
08250	Orconectes (Procericambarus) rusticus	F	5	CG		8	0.03	1
59550	Oecetis inconspicua complex sp A (sensu Floyd, 1995)	F	5	PR	CA	8	0.03	2
71900	Tipula sp	F	4	SH		8	0.03	4
82770	Chironomus (C.) riparius group	Т	11			9	0.03	2
83840	Microtendipes pedellus group	F	6	CF		10	0.03	1
85200	Cladotanytarsus sp		7	CG		10	0.03	1
85821	Tanytarsus glabrescens group sp 7	F	7	CF		8	0.03	2
28500	Libellula sp	MT	8	PR		6	0.02	3
77001	Tanypodinae		6	PR		7	0.02	1
80410	Cricotopus (C.) sp	F	8	SH		6	0.02	3
82141	Thienemanniella xena	F	2	CG		5	0.02	2

Appendix	Table B-2. continued.			-				
				IL Funct.				Samples
Таха		OH Toler-	IL Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected
Code	Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In
85265	Cladotanytarsus vanderwulpi group sp 5	MI	7	CG		6	0.02	2
04683	Placobdella multilineata	F	8	PR		3	0.01	1
28705	Pachydiplax longipennis	Т	8	PR		3	0.01	1
59400	Nectopsyche sp	MI	3	SH	CA	3	0.01	1
59570	Oecetis nocturna	F	5	PR	CA	4	0.01	3
60800	Haliplus sp	MT	99.9	MH	CO	3	0.01	2
78130	Labrundinia neopilosella		4	PR		2	0.01	1
80490	Cricotopus (Isocladius) intersectus group	MT	8	SH		2	0.01	1
81650	Parametriocnemus sp	F	4	CG		2	0.01	2
81825	Rheocricotopus (Psilocricotopus) robacki	F	6	CG		2	0.01	1
82822	Cryptochironomus eminentia	F	0			2	0.01	1
82824	Cryptochironomus ponderosus	F	0			4	0.01	3
84155	Paralauterborniella nigrohalteralis	F	6	CG		4	0.01	1
84790	Tribelos fuscicorne	F	5	CG		3	0.01	1
85840	Tanytarsus sepp	F	7	CF		2	0.01	2
87540	Hemerodromia sp	F	6	PR		2	0.01	1
89001	Sciomyzidae	MT	10	PR		2	0.01	1
95501	Planorbidae	MT	6.5	SC		4	0.01	1
01900	Nemertea	F	99.9			1	0.00	1
27001	Corduliidae		4.5	PR		1	0.00	1
43570	Neoplea sp	F	99.9	PR		1	0.00	1
59950	Parapoynx sp	MI	99.9	SH		1	0.00	1
72700	Anopheles sp	F	6	CF		1	0.00	1
78450	Nilotanypus fimbriatus	F	6	PR		1	0.00	1
78600	Pentaneura inconspicua	F	3	PR		1	0.00	1
78680	Procladius (Psilotanypus) bellus	MT	8	PR		1	0.00	1
82121	Thienemanniella lobapodema	F	2	CG		1	0.00	1
84315	Phaenopsectra flavipes	MT	4	SC		1	0.00	1

Appendix	ppendix Table B-2. continued.										
				IL Funct.				Samples			
Таха		OH Toler-	IL Toler-	Feeding	Таха			Collected			
Code	Taxa Name	ance	ance	Group	Group	Abundance	Percent	In			
84460	Polypedilum (P.) fallax group	F	6	SH		1	0.00	1			
87601	Dolichopodidae	MT	5	PR		1	0.00	1			
89501	Ephydridae	F	8	CG		1	0.00	1			
92613	Cipangopaludina chinensis malleata	MT	0			1	0.00	1			
93900	Elimia sp	MI	6	SC		1	0.00	1			

Site:	Ust. Dempster St.			5.		Site ID: Subsample:	MF19	RM:	18.60
Colle	ction Date:09/07/2020 River Coc	ie95	-009	River:	North Branch Chi	icago River			
Taxa Code	Taxa G	axa irp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	1					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	33					
04901	Erpobdellidae		8.0	2					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	12					
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	38					
11130	Baetis intercalaris	ΛA	4.0	1					
22300	Argia sp		5.0	1					
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	8					
80410	Cricotopus (C.) sp		8.0	1					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	4					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	4					
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicatus		3.0	1					
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum		6.0	14					
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	130					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	23					
85200	Cladotanytarsus sp		7.0	3					
85265	Cladotanytarsus vanderwulpi group sp 5		7.0	2					
85625	Rheotanytarsus sp		6.0	8					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	6					
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 19 Tota	al Ta	axa:	19					
Num	per of Organisms: 292 mIB	I:		21.35					

Citor	List E. Laka Dd					Site ID:	MF16		
Sile.	USI. E. Lake Ru.					Subsample:		RM:	
Colle	ction Date:07/20/2020 R	iver Code9	5-291	River	: Middle Fork	North Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa	Tol	Quant	Taxa	Таха	Feed	Tol	
	Turkellaria	Gip	101.			Taxa	0.p	101.	
J1801			6.0	5					
03600			10.0	112					
J4664			8.0	1					
14666			8.0	1					
00800			0.0	20					
00800	Gammarus sp		3.0 5.5	30 0					
22001		CA	5.5	0					
33800	nyuropula sp	CA	2.0	0					
74501			5.0	ו ר					
//50	Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	3					
78130	Labrundinia neopilosella		4.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	16					
30350	Corynoneura sp		2.0	1					
30410	Cricotopus (C.) sp		8.0	2					
30420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	1					
30510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestri	s group	8.0	2					
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	3					
32820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	4					
32824	Cryptochironomus ponderosus		0.0	1					
33002	Dicrotendipes modestus		6.0	4					
3040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	8					
3158	Endochironomus nigricans		6.0	2					
33300	Glyptotendipes (G.) sp		10.0	1					
3400	Harnischia sp		6.0	4					
34210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. de	uplicatus	3.0	1					
34450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flav	um	6.0	6					
34470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	31					
34520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) haltera	le group	6.0	1					
34540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaer group	num	6.0	3					
95100	Physella sp		9.0	3					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	6					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	4					

Site:	Dst. Glenview Rd.					Site ID: Subsample:	MF17	RM:	1.80
Colle	ction Date:09/07/2020	River Code9	5-291	River	: Middle Fork	North Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Fee Grp	d > Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	4					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	116					
04664	Helobdella stagnalis		8.0	3					
04666	Helobdella papillata		8.0	1					
04930	Erpobdella sp		8.0	1					
04964	Erpobdella microstoma		8.0	5					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	1					
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	23					
08250	Orconectes (Procericambarus	s) rusticus	5.0	1					
21200	Calopteryx sp		4.0	1					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	8					
22300	Argia sp		5.0	1					
53800	Hydroptila sp	CA	2.0	2					
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	10					
78600	Pentaneura inconspicua		3.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	1					
80410	Cricotopus (C.) sp		8.0	1					
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	1					
82121	Thienemanniella lobapodema	1	2.0	1					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	2					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	9					
83050	Dicrotendipes lucifer		6.0	1					
83400	Harnischia sp		6.0	1					
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P	. duplicatus	3.0	2					
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) fl	avum	6.0	36					
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	50					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scala group	aenum	6.0	28					
85265	Cladotanytarsus vanderwulpi	group sp 5	7.0	1					
85625	Rheotanytarsus sp		6.0	32					
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	1					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	1					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	6					
No. C Numi	Quantitative Taxa: 32 per of Organisms: 352	Total T mIBI:	axa:	32 25.17					

Sito	uct Pockland Pd				Site ID:	MF8	
Sile.					Subsample	: RM:	21.10
Colle	ction Date:10/06/2021 River C	ode95-291	Rive	r: Middle Fork	< North Branch Chicago	River	
Таха		Таха		Таха		Feed	
Code	Таха	Grp Tol.	Quant	Code	Таха	Grp Tol.	Quant
03600	Oligochaeta	10.0	115				
04664	Helobdella stagnalis	8.0	8				
22001	Coenagrionidae	5.5	1				
71900	Tipula sp	4.0	2				
77355	Clinotanypus pinguis	6.0	31				
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp	8.0	4				
79020	Tanypus neopunctipennis	8.0	37				
80510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group	8.0	4				
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group	o 6.0	2				
93200	Hydrobiidae	6.0	39				
98200	Pisidium sp	5.0	3				
98600	Sphaerium sp	5.0	60				
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 12 T	otal Taxa:	12				
Num	per of Organisms: 306 m	IBI:	17.54				

|--|

Collection Date:10/06/2021 River Code95-291 River: Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River Taxa Code Taxa Taxa Taxa Grp Tol. Cuant Quant Taxa Code Feed Taxa Feed Grp Fol. Quant Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Code Taxa Feed Grp Grp Tol. Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Code Taxa Feed Grp Grp Tol. Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Code Taxa Feed Grp Grp Tol. Q 01801 Baetidae MA 4.0 88 1001 Baetidae MA 4.0 1 17200 Ceangionidae 5.5 17 5 5 5 5 5 7 5 1 5 5 5 5 7 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	Site:	dst. foot bridge in FP					Site ID: Subsample	MF9 :		RM:	18.90
Taxa Code Taxa Taxa Taxa Grp Tol. Quant Taxa Code Taxa Taxa Feed Grp Feed Grp Fol. Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Code Taxa Grp Tol. Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Code Taxa Grp Tol. Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Code Taxa Grp Tol. Q 01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 Grp Tol. Q R	Colle	ction Date:10/06/2021 River C	ode9	5-291	River:	Middle Fork	North Branch Chicago	River			
01801 Turbellaria 6.0 1 03600 Oligochaeta 10.0 64 06201 Hyalella azteca 4.0 88 11001 Baetidae MA 4.0 1 17200 Caenis sp MA 6.0 23 22001 Coenagrionidae 5.5 17 59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 7755 Clinotanypus pinguis 6.0 1 78655 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp 8.0 54 80420 Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus 8.0 2 80510 Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group 8.0 2 82800 Cladopelma sp 6.0 2 84520 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 6.0 7 84750 Stictochironomus sp 5.0 1 85500 Paratanytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1	Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	l	Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
04000 Oligochaeta 10.0 64 06201 Hyalella azteca 4.0 88 11010 Baetidae MA 4.0 1 17200 Caenis sp MA 6.0 23 22001 Coenagrionidae 5.5 17 59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 77855 Cinotanypus pinguis 6.0 1 77856 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp 8.0 1 79020 Tanypus neopunctipennis 8.0 2 80420 Cricotopus (L) bicinctus 8.0 2 81511 Endochironomus nigricans 6.0 2 82520 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 6.0 7 84520 Polypedilum (Tripodura) sp 5.0 1 85500 Faratanytarsus sp 6.0 7 85600 Fanytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	01801	Turbellaria		6.0	1						
06201 Hyalella azteca 4.0 88 11001 Baetidae MA 4.0 1 17200 Caenis sp MA 6.0 23 22001 Coenagrionidae 5.5 17 59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 77355 Clinotanypus pinguis 6.0 1 77856 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp 8.0 1 79020 Tanypus neopunctipennis 8.0 2 80110 Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus 8.0 2 81280 Cladopelma sp 6.0 2 813158 Endochironomus nigricans 6.0 2 84520 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 6.0 2 84530 Statochironomus sp 5.0 1 85500 Faranytarsus sp 6.0 7 85600 Fanytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	64						
11001 Baetidae MA 4.0 1 17200 Caenis sp MA 6.0 23 22001 Coenagrionidae 5.5 17 59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 77355 Cinotanyus pinguis 6.0 1 78655 Procladius (Holotanyus) sp 8.0 1 79020 Tanyus neopunctipennis 8.0 2 80401 Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus 8.0 2 80510 Circotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group 8.0 2 81280 Cladopelma sp 6.0 2 81452 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 6.0 2 81580 Fananytarsus sp 5.0 1 81500 Paratanytarsus sp 5.0 1 915010 Physella sp 7.0 1 915010 Physella sp 5.0 1 915010 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1 915010 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	88						
17200 Caenis sp MA 6.0 23 22011 Coenagrionidae 5.5 17 59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 77355 Cinotanypus pinguis 6.0 1 77865 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp 8.0 1 79020 Tanypus neopunctipennis 8.0 54 80420 Cirotopus (Sc.) bicinctus 8.0 2 80510 Cirotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group 8.0 2 81280 Cladopelma sp 6.0 2 81388 Endochironomus nigricans 6.0 2 81450 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 6.0 7 81501 Stictochironomus sp 5.0 1 81502 Paratnytarsus sp 6.0 7 81503 Paratnytarsus sp 6.0 7 81504 Paratnytarsus sp 7.0 1 91500 Physella sp 9.0 10 91500 Shearium sp 5.0	11001	Baetidae	MA	4.0	1						
22001 Coenagrionidae 5.5 17 59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 77355 Clinotanypus pinguis 6.0 1 78656 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp 8.0 1 79020 Tanypus neopunctipennis 8.0 54 80420 Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus 8.0 2 80510 Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group 8.0 2 81582 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 8.0 2 84750 Stictochironomus spiricans 6.0 2 84750 Stictochironomus spiricans 6.0 7 84750 Stictochironomus spi 5.0 1 8500 Paratnytarsus sp 6.0 7 85010 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisdium sp 5.0 1 98200 Spiaerium sp 5.0 1	17200	Caenis sp	MA	6.0	23						
59400 Nectopsyche sp CA 3.0 1 77120 Ablabesmyia mallochi 6.0 1 77355 Clinotanypus pinguis 6.0 1 78655 Procladius (Holotanypus) sp 8.0 1 79020 Tanypus neopunctipennis 8.0 54 80420 Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus 8.0 2 80510 Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group 8.0 2 81580 Cladopelma sp 6.0 2 81582 Endochironomus nigricans 6.0 2 84750 Stictochironomus spino 5.0 1 85500 Paranytarsus sp 6.0 7 85500 Paranytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	17						
77120Ablabesmyia mallochi6.0177355Clinotanypus pinguis6.0178656Procladius (Holotanypus) sp8.0179020Tanypus neopunctipennis8.05480420Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus8.0280510Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group8.0281588Endochironomus nigricans6.0284520Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp6.0795100Physella sp9.01098200Sphaerium sp5.0198600Sphaerium sp5.01	59400	Nectopsyche sp	CA	3.0	1						
77355Clinotanypus pinguis6.0178655Procladius (Holotanypus) sp8.0179020Tanypus neopunctipennis8.05480420Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus8.0280510Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group8.0282800Cladopelma sp6.0284750Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098600Sphaerium sp5.01	77120	Ablabesmyia mallochi		6.0	1						
78655Procladius (Holotanypus) sp8.0179020Tanypus neopunctipennis8.05480420Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus8.0280510Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group8.0282800Cladopelma sp6.0283158Endochironomus nigricans6.0284750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Sphaerium sp5.0198600Sphaerium sp5.01	77355	Clinotanypus pinguis		6.0	1						
79020Tanypus neopunctipennis8.05480420Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus8.0280510Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group8.0282800Cladopelma sp6.0283158Endochironomus nigricans6.0284520Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Sphaerium sp5.01	78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	1						
80420 Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus 8.0 2 80510 Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group 8.0 2 82800 Cladopelma sp 6.0 2 83158 Endochironomus nigricans 6.0 2 84520 Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group 6.0 7 84750 Stictochironomus sp 5.0 1 85500 Paratanytarsus sp 6.0 7 85800 Tanytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	79020	Tanypus neopunctipennis		8.0	54						
80510Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group8.0282800Cladopelma sp6.0283158Endochironomus nigricans6.0284520Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Pisidium sp5.0198600Sphaerium sp5.01	80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	2						
82800Cladopelma sp6.0283158Endochironomus nigricans6.0284520Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Sphaerium sp5.01	80510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group		8.0	2						
83158Endochironomus nigricans6.0284520Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Pisidium sp5.0198600Sphaerium sp5.01	82800	Cladopelma sp		6.0	2						
84520Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group6.0784750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Pisidium sp5.0198600Sphaerium sp5.01	83158	Endochironomus nigricans		6.0	2						
84750Stictochironomus sp5.0185500Paratanytarsus sp6.0785800Tanytarsus sp7.0195100Physella sp9.01098200Pisidium sp5.0198600Sphaerium sp5.01	84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group)	6.0	7						
85500 Paratanytarsus sp 6.0 7 85800 Tanytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	84750	Stictochironomus sp		5.0	1						
85800 Tanytarsus sp 7.0 1 95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	85500	Paratanytarsus sp		6.0	7						
95100 Physella sp 9.0 10 98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	1						
98200 Pisidium sp 5.0 1 98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	95100	Physella sp		9.0	10						
98600 Sphaerium sp 5.0 1	98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	1						
	98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	1						
No. Quantitative Taxa: 22 Total Taxa: 22	No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 22 To	otal T	axa:	22						

Site: Collec	dst. Westleigh St. ction Date:10/06/2021 River C	ode9	5-291	River:	Middle Fork	Site ID: Subsample North Branch Chicago	MF10 : River	RM:	16.70
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feec Grp	l Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	3					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	73					
04666	Helobdella papillata		8.0	1					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	74					
17200	Caenis sp	MA	6.0	45					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	12					
28500	Libellula sp		8.0	1					
43570	Neoplea sp		99.9	1					
60800	Haliplus sp	со	99.9	2					
65800	Berosus sp	со	99.9	3					
71900	Tipula sp		4.0	1					
78450	Nilotanypus fimbriatus		6.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	5					
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	5					
80510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group		8.0	1					
81650	Parametriocnemus sp		4.0	1					
82141	Thienemanniella xena		2.0	1					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	1					
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group	C	6.0	1					
84790	Tribelos fuscicorne		5.0	1					
84960	Pseudochironomus sp		5.0	2					
92300	Valvata sp		2.0	91					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	14					
95100	Physella sp		9.0	1					
98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	5					
No. C Numi	Quantitative Taxa: 25 T per of Organisms: 346 m	otal T IBI:	axa:	25 41.10					

_

Sito	det II 22					Site ID:	MF11		
Sile.						Subsample	ə:	RM:	14.10
Colle	ection Date:10/06/2021 River	Code9	5-291	River	: Middle For	k North Branch Chicago	o River		
Taxa	1	Таха			Таха		Fe	ed	
Code	e Taxa	Grp	Tol.	Quant	Code	Таха	G	rp Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	3					
03600) Oligochaeta		10.0	50					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	180					
17200) Caenis sp	MA	6.0	44					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	43					
28500) Libellula sp		8.0	1					
59950) Parapoynx sp		99.9	1					
60800) Haliplus sp	СО	99.9	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	9					
79020) Tanypus neopunctipennis		8.0	1					
82800) Cladopelma sp		6.0	1					
83040) Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	2					
83158	B Endochironomus nigricans		6.0	8					
84520) Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale gro	up	6.0	1					
85500) Paratanytarsus sp		6.0	1					
85821	Tanytarsus glabrescens group sp 7		7.0	1					
95100) Physella sp		9.0	2					
No		Total T	-ovo:	17					
Num	iber of Organisms: 349	nlBI:	axa.	21.49					

Site:	ust. Carriage Way		- 004			Site ID: Subsample	MF12 ::	RM:	10.80
Collec	ction Date:10/06/2021 River Co	bde9	5-291	River	: Middle Fork	North Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Fee Grp	d • Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	29					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	122					
04664	Helobdella stagnalis		8.0	1					
04666	Helobdella papillata		8.0	1					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	22					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	36					
27001	Corduliidae		4.5	1					
53800	Hydroptila sp	CA	2.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	1					
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	2					
83050	Dicrotendipes lucifer		6.0	3					
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	1					
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group		6.0	4					
92300	Valvata sp		2.0	94					
92613	Cipangopaludina chinensis malleata		0.0	1					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	4					
95100	Physella sp		9.0	1					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	2					
98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	1					
No. C Numt	Quantitative Taxa: 19 To per of Organisms: 327 ml	otal Ta BI:	axa:	19 34.00					

Site:	ust. IL68					Site ID:	MF13		
0	11. Data 40/00/0004 Di ana		- 004			Subsample	:	RM:	8.60
Colle	ction Date:10/06/2021 River	Code9	5-291	River	: Middle Fork	North Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	е Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp	d Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	34					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	180					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	14					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	5					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	33					
28001	Libellulidae		4.5	2					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	5					
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	3					
80510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris grou	ıp	8.0	1					
82141	Thienemanniella xena		2.0	1					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	2					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	1					
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicat	tus	3.0	1					
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale grou	up	6.0	10					
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	1					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	3					
93900	Elimia sp		6.0	1					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	4					
98001	Pisidiidae		5.0	1					
No. (Quantitative Taxa: 19	Total Ta	axa:	19					
Num	ber of Organisms: 302 r	mIBI:		15.71					

Sitor	dat Support Dr					Site ID:	MF14		
Sile.	ust. Sunset Dr.					Subsample:	:	RM:	6.0
Collee	ction Date:10/06/2021 Riv	ver Code9	5-291	River:	Middle For	k North Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Fee Gr	ed p Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	11					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	32					
04664	Helobdella stagnalis		8.0	1					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	19					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	4					
11130	Baetis intercalaris	MA	4.0	6					
13400	Stenacron sp	MA	4.0	4					
21200	Calopteryx sp		4.0	1					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	16					
22300	Argia sp		5.0	2					
52200	Cheumatopsyche sp	CA	6.0	128					
59570	Oecetis nocturna	CA	5.0	1					
68700	Dubiraphia sp	CO	5.0	1					
71900	Tipula sp		4.0	1					
74100	Simulium sp		6.0	2					
77500	Conchapelopia sp		6.0	2					
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	4					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	1					
82824	Cryptochironomus ponderosus		0.0	1					
83158	Endochironomus nigricans		6.0	1					
83840	Microtendipes pedellus group		6.0	5					
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavu	m	6.0	6					
84460	Polypedilum (P.) fallax group		6.0	1					
85625	Rheotanytarsus sp		6.0	5					
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	2					
85821	Tanytarsus glabrescens group sp	7	7.0	5					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	24					
95501	Planorbidae		6.5	1					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	1					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	4					
98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	3					
No. C		Total T	ovo:	22					
Num	ber of Organisms: 296	mIBI:	axa.	32 39.46					

Sito:	det Winnetka Ave					Site ID:	MF15		
Sile.	usi. Willietka Ave.					Subsample	:	RM:	4.00
Collec	ction Date:10/06/2021 River	Code9	5-291	River:	Middle Fork	North Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	1					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	155					
04664	Helobdella stagnalis		8.0	1					
04901	Erpobdellidae		8.0	1					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	1					
06201	Hvalella azteca		4.0	14					
21200	Caloptervx sp		4.0	1					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	19					
52200	Cheumatopsyche sp	CA	6.0	1					
59550	Oecetis inconspicua complex sp A (sensu Flovd, 1995)	CA	5.0	4					
59570	Oecetis nocturna	CA	5.0	1					
74501	Ceratopogonidae		5.0	2					
77500	Conchapelopia sp		6.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	16					
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	1					
82100	Thienemanniella sp		2.0	1					
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	1					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	2					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	14					
84155	Paralauterborniella nigrohalteralis		6.0	1					
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale grou	цр	6.0	1					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	2					
84700	Stenochironomus sp		3.0	1					
84750	Stictochironomus sp		5.0	18					
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	9					
87601	Dolichopodidae		5.0	1					
89501	Ephydridae		8.0	1					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	15					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	8					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	5					
No. G Numt	Quantitative Taxa: 30 -	Total T nIBI:	axa:	30 21.44					

_					-	-		
Site:	adj. Sounders Rd.				Site ID: Subsample	WF20	RM:	12.50
Colle	ction Date:10/09/2021	River Code95-292	River:	West Fork N	orth Branch Chicago	River		
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
03600	Oligochaeta	10.0	227					
04664	Helobdella stagnalis	8.0	1					
04666	Helobdella papillata	8.0	1					
06201	Hyalella azteca	4.0	30					
22001	Coenagrionidae	5.5	20					
28705	Pachydiplax longipennis	8.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp	8.0	1					
82800	Cladopelma sp	6.0	1					
83158	Endochironomus nigricans	6.0	1					
95100	Physella sp	9.0	16					
98200	Pisidium sp	5.0	9					
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 11	Total Taxa:	11					
Num	per of Organisms: 308	3 mIBI:	10.57					

					J		
Site:	dst. Deerfield Rd.				Site ID: Subsample	₩F21 9: RM	vl: 10.40
Colle	ction Date:10/09/202*	River Code95-292	River	: West Fork N	orth Branch Chicago	River	
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp To	ol. Quant
01801	Turbellaria	6.0	27				
03600	Oligochaeta	10.0	219				
04664	Helobdella stagnalis	8.0	1				
71900	Tipula sp	4.0	1				
82501	Chironomini	6.0	1				
82710	Chironomus (C.) sp	11.0	1				
92300	Valvata sp	2.0	42				
93200	Hydrobiidae	6.0	2				
95100	Physella sp	9.0	3				
97601	Corbicula fluminea	4.0	3				
98200	Pisidium sp	5.0	14				
98600	Sphaerium sp	5.0	5				
No. C	Quantitative Taxa:	12 Total Taxa:	12				
Numl	per of Organisms:	319 mlBI:	18.68				

Site:	dst. Pfinston Rd/ Lake C	Cook				Subsample	ол.	22	RM:	9.20
Collec	ction Date:10/09/2021	River Code95-2	92	River	West Fo	rk North Branch Chicago	River			
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp To	ol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха		Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria	e	6.0	23						
01900	Nemertea	99	9.9	1						
03600	Oligochaeta	10	0.0	262						
06201	Hyalella azteca	2	1.0	3						
22001	Coenagrionidae	Ę	5.5	2						
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp	8	3.0	1						
82770	Chironomus (C.) riparius grou	p 11	0.1	8						
83000	Dicrotendipes sp	6	6.0	5						
83300	Glyptotendipes (G.) sp	10	0.0	1						
85840	Tanytarsus sepp	7	7.0	1						
92300	Valvata sp	2	2.0	38						
98200	Pisidium sp	Ę	5.0	11						
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 12	Total Taxa	a:	12						
Numb	per of Organisms: 356	mlBI:		15.80						

Site:	dst. Willow Rd.	Code9	5-202	River	West Fork N	Site ID: Subsample	WF23 e: Piver	RM:	4.90
Таха		-	J-232			onth Branch Chicago	Food	1	
Code	Таха	l axa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Code	Taxa	Grp	Tol.	Quant
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	164					
04660	Helobdella sp		8.0	2					
04664	Helobdella stagnalis		8.0	1					
04666	Helobdella papillata		8.0	1					
04901	Erpobdellidae		8.0	1					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	4					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	27					
11130	Baetis intercalaris	MA	4.0	1					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	1					
52200	Cheumatopsyche sp	CA	6.0	2					
59570	Oecetis nocturna	CA	5.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	2					
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	1					
81650	Parametriocnemus sp		4.0	1					
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	3					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	3					
82822	Cryptochironomus eminentia		0.0	2					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	5					
83158	Endochironomus nigricans		6.0	2					
83300	Glyptotendipes (G.) sp		10.0	53					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	2					
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	2					
85840	Tanytarsus sepp		7.0	1					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	1					
96900	Ferrissia sp		7.0	1					
98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	5					

13.77

Number of Organisms:	289	mIBI:	
----------------------	-----	-------	--

						Sit	e ID: W	F24		
Site:	dst. Lake Ave.					Sub	sample:		RM:	2.90
Colle	ction Date:07/21/2021 River Co	ode9	5-292	River:	West Fork	North Branch Cł	nicago Rive	۶r		
Taxa		Таха			Таха	_		Feed		
Code	Taxa	Grp	Tol.	Quant	Code	Taxa		Grp	Tol.	Quant
01320	Hydra sp		6.0	15 –						
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	100	No. Quan	titative Taxa:	37	Total	Taxa:	37
04935	Erpobdella punctata punctata		8.0	1	Number o	of Organisms:	324	mIBI:		30.07
04964	Erpobdella microstoma		8.0	5						
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	3						
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	1						
08200	Orconectes sp		5.0	1						
11130	Baetis intercalaris	MA	4.0	1						
13400	Stenacron sp	MA	4.0	2						
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	2						
52200	Cheumatopsyche sp	CA	6.0	17						
53800	Hydroptila sp	CA	2.0	2						
74100	Simulium sp		6.0	5						
77120	Ablabesmyia mallochi		6.0	9						
77500	Conchapelopia sp		6.0	6						
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	3						
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	3						
80420	Cricotopus (C.) bicinctus		8.0	2						
81825	Rheocricotopus (Psilocricotopus) robacki		6.0	1						
82100	Thienemanniella sp		2.0	1						
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	2						
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	3						
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	1						
83050	Dicrotendipes lucifer		6.0	1						
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicatus	5	3.0	1						
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum		6.0	52						
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	19						
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	18						
85625	Rheotanytarsus sp		6.0	14						
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	5						
87540	Hemerodromia sp		6.0	1						
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	6						
95100	Physella sp		9.0	2						
96900	Ferrissia sp		7.0	5						
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	7						
98001	Pisidiidae		5.0	4						
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	3						

Site:	ust. footbridge					Site ID: W	/F25	
Colle	ction Date:10/10/2021 River (Code9	5-292	River	: West Fork N	Subsample: orth Branch Chicago Rive	R er	M: 1.30
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp T	ol. Quant
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	113				
04666	Helobdella papillata		8.0	3				
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	90				
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	10				
13400	Stenacron sp	MA	4.0	5				
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	29				
22300	Argia sp		5.0	4				
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	3				
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	4				
79020	Tanypus neopunctipennis		8.0	3				
80350	Corynoneura sp		2.0	10				
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	1				
82770	Chironomus (C.) riparius group		11.0	1				
82800	Cladopelma sp		6.0	1				
83000	Dicrotendipes sp		6.0	2				
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	1				
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale grou	p	6.0	1				
85625	Rheotanytarsus sp		6.0	1				
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	2				
95100	Physella sp		9.0	1				
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	1				
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 21 T	otal T	axa:	21				

0.1						Site ID: SR1				
Site:	adj Gillette Plant					Subsample:	RM:	21.10		
Collection Date:09/06/2020 River Code95-403 Rive				River	Skokie River					
Taxa		Таха		_	Таха		Feed	_		
Code	ż Taxa	Grp	Tol.	Quant	Code	Таха	Grp Tol.	Quant		
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	57						
04683	Placobdella multilineata		8.0	3						
04964	Erpobdella microstoma		8.0	5						
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	2						
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	162						
08200	Orconectes sp		5.0	2						
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	61						
28500	Libellula sp		8.0	2						
65800	Berosus sp	СО	99.9	1						
72700	Anopheles sp		6.0	1						
77001	Tanypodinae		6.0	2						
78200	Larsia sp		6.0	19						
79020	Tanypus neopunctipennis		8.0	21						
80510	Cricotopus (Isocladius) sylvestris group)	8.0	1						
82710	Chironomus (C.) sp		11.0	1						
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	6						
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	3						
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	2						
No. (Quantitative Taxa: 10 T	T leto	ava.	10						
Num	ber of Organisms: 351 m	IBI:	αла.	17.18						

Sito	List II 176					Site ID:	SR2		
Sile.						Subsample:		RM:	17.40
Colle	ction Date:09/06/2020 River	r Code9	5-403	River:	Skokie River				
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Taxa	Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	2					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	93					
04901	Erpobdellidae		8.0	3					
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	19					
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	86					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	5					
69400	Stenelmis sp	со	7.0	1					
74501	Ceratopogonidae		5.0	1					
77120	Ablabesmyia mallochi		6.0	1					
77500	Conchapelopia sp		6.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	10					
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	7					
82800	Cladopelma sp		6.0	1					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	1					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	1					
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplic	atus	3.0	6					
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum		6.0	1					
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	12					
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale gr	oup	6.0	1					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	1					
85500	Paratanytarsus sp		6.0	2					
85800	Tanytarsus sp		7.0	2					
89001	Sciomyzidae		10.0	2					
95100	Physella sp		9.0	1					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	3					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	2					
98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	2					
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 27	Total T	axa:	27					
Numl	per of Organisms: 267	mIBI:		23.84					

Site:	Dst. Deerpath Rd.					Site ID:	SR3		14.00
Collee	ction Date:09/07/2020 River 0	Code9	5-403	River:	Skokie River	Subsample	:	RM:	14.80
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	F	⁻ eed Grp Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	2					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	33					
04935	Erpobdella punctata punctata		8.0	5					
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	75					
21200	Calopteryx sp		4.0	1					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	11					
69400	Stenelmis sp	СО	7.0	2					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	9					
82730	Chironomus (C.) decorus group		11.0	3					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	3					
83002	Dicrotendipes modestus		6.0	3					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	65					
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicate	JS	3.0	1					
84315	Phaenopsectra flavipes		4.0	1					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	2					
95100	Physella sp		9.0	3					
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	39					
98600	Sphaerium sp		5.0	51					
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 18 T	otal T	axa:	18					
Numl	per of Organisms: 309 m	nIBI:		24.61					
Appendix Table B-2. M	lacroinvertebrate taxa colle	ected in the 2020-21 North	h Branch Chicago Rive	r study area.					
-----------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	---------------					
-----------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	---------------					

Sitor	List Half Day Pd @ Slaapy Hal		Site ID:					
Sile.		IOW Park			Subsample:	F	RM:	11.30
Collec	ction Date:09/06/2020 River C	ode95-403	River:	Skokie River				
Taxa Code	Tava	Taxa	Quant	Taxa	Таха	Feed		Quant
	IdXd	Grp TOI.	Quant	Code	Taxa	Gip I	101.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria	6.0	8					
03600	Oligochaeta	10.0	18					
04901	Erpobdellidae	8.0	4					
05800	Caecidotea sp	6.0	111					
06800	Gammarus sp	3.0	64					
77500	Conchapelopia sp	6.0	5					
78200	Larsia sp	6.0	1					
82820	Cryptochironomus sp	8.0	2					
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus	6.0	5					
83820	Microtendipes "caelum" (sensu Simpson & Bode, 1980)	n 6.0	9					
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicatu	s 3.0	21					
84520	Polypedilum (Tripodura) halterale group	6.0	1					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group	6.0	7					
84700	Stenochironomus sp	3.0	1					
85800	Tanytarsus sp	7.0	3					
98200	Pisidium sp	5.0	84					
No. G Numt	Quantitative Taxa: 16 To per of Organisms: 344 m	otal Taxa: IBI:	16 22.82					

Appendix Table B-2. M	lacroinvertebrate taxa colle	ected in the 2020-21 North	h Branch Chicago Rive	r study area.
-----------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	---------------

Site:	Ust. Clavey Rd. @ Solel Co	ngregatio	n			Site ID: S	R5	
Collee	ction Date:09/07/2020 Riv	er Code9	5-403	River	: Skokie River	Subsample:	RM:	8.00
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	17				
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	7				
04901	Erpobdellidae		8.0	1				
05800	Caecidotea sp		6.0	5				
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	142				
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	1				
77750	Hayesomyia senata or Thienemannimyia norena		5.0	1				
82820	Cryptochironomus sp		8.0	2				
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus		6.0	2				
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. dupl	licatus	3.0	6				
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	93				
98001	Pisidiidae		5.0	27				
98200	Pisidium sp		5.0	8				
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 13	Total T	axa:	13				
Num	per of Organisms: 312	mIBI:		21.17				

_

Appendix Table B-2. Macroinvertebrate taxa collected in the 2020-21 North Branch Chicago River study area.

Sito	List Lake Cook Rd				Site ID: SR	6	
One.	USI. Lake COOK NU.				Subsample:	RM:	7.40
Colle	ction Date:09/07/2020 River (Code95-403	River	: Skokie River			
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria	6.0	11				
03600	Oligochaeta	10.0	10				
05800	Caecidotea sp	6.0	4				
06800	Gammarus sp	3.0	218				
22001	Coenagrionidae	5.5	1				
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp	8.0	3				
82820	Cryptochironomus sp	8.0	1				
83002	Dicrotendipes modestus	6.0	1				
83040	Dicrotendipes neomodestus	6.0	1				
84210	Paratendipes albimanus or P. duplicat	us 3.0	1				
95100	Physella sp	9.0	2				
98200	Pisidium sp	5.0	3				
98600	Sphaerium sp	5.0	14				
No. C	Quantitative Taxa: 13	Total Taxa:	13				
Num	per of Organisms: 270 r	nIBI:	21.25				

Citor	Det 104					Site ID:	SR18		
Site:	DSI. 1-94					Subsample:		RM:	0.50
Colle	ction Date:09/07/2020 River	r Code9	5-403	River	Skokie River				
Taxa Code	Таха	Taxa Grp	Tol.	Quant	Taxa Code	Таха	Feed Grp	Tol.	Quant
01801	Turbellaria		6.0	24					
03600	Oligochaeta		10.0	40					
06201	Hyalella azteca		4.0	26					
06800	Gammarus sp		3.0	30					
22001	Coenagrionidae		5.5	8					
22300	Argia sp		5.0	1					
52001	Hydropsychidae	CA	5.5	1					
52200	Cheumatopsyche sp	CA	6.0	1					
53800	Hydroptila sp	CA	2.0	3					
59550	Oecetis inconspicua complex sp A (sensu Floyd, 1995)	CA	5.0	1					
78655	Procladius (Holotanypus) sp		8.0	2					
78680	Procladius (Psilotanypus) bellus		8.0	1					
80490	Cricotopus (Isocladius) intersectus group		8.0	2					
82824	Cryptochironomus ponderosus		0.0	2					
83158	Endochironomus nigricans		6.0	16					
83300	Glyptotendipes (G.) sp		10.0	1					
84450	Polypedilum (Uresipedilum) flavum		6.0	63					
84470	Polypedilum (P.) illinoense		6.0	38					
84540	Polypedilum (Tripodura) scalaenum group		6.0	6					
93200	Hydrobiidae		6.0	4					
95100	Physella sp		9.0	1					
97601	Corbicula fluminea		4.0	17					
98001	Pisidiidae		5.0	13					
No. C Numl	Quantitative Taxa: 23 ber of Organisms: 301	Total T mIBI:	axa:	23 22.93					

Appendix Table B-2. Macroinvertebrate taxa collected in the 2020-21 North Branch Chicago River study area.

APPENDIX C: NORTH BRANCH CHICAGO RIVER 2020-2021 HABITAT DATA

D-1: North Branch Chicago River Survey Area 2020-2021 QHEI Metrics and Scores D-2: QHEI Field Sheets 2020-2021

	River	Drain. Area								Gradient	Gradient
Site ID	Mile	(mi ² .)	QHEI	Substrate	Cover	Channel	Riparian	Pool	Riffle	(ft/mi)	Score
				North Brand	ch Chicago	River - 202	0				
MF19	18.6	93.4	48.5	9.5	11.0	11.0	7.0	6.0	0.0	1.36	4
			Midd	lle Fork North	n Branch Ch	icago Rivei	r - 2020				
MF16	3.0	56.2	38.5	0.0	12.0	10.0	7.5	5.0	0.0	2.27	4
MF17	1.8	57.3	45.8	10.0	12.0	7.0	7.8	5.0	0.0	2.27	4
	Middle Fork North Branch Chicago River - 2021										
MF8	21.1	5.8	29.0	2.0	11.0	6.0	4.0	2.0	0.0	4.2	4
MF9	18.9	8.9	31.5	0.0	11.0	5.0	8.5	3.0	0.0	1.92	4
MF10	16.7	12.0	41.0	7.0	12.0	6.0	9.0	3.0	0.0	2.59	4
MF11	14.1	16.1	44.0	6.0	13.0	6.0	8.0	7.0	0.0	2.44	4
MF12	10.8	19.2	45.5	6.0	16.0	6.0	4.5	7.0	0.0	3.6	6
MF13	8.6	21.0	60.0	9.0	14.0	9.5	7.5	9.0	1.0	8.2	10
MF14	6.0	22.5	64.5	14.0	17.0	15.0	0.0	10.0	2.5	4.93	6
MF15	4.0	24.3	55.5	8.5	12.0	12.0	9.5	9.0	0.5	1.92	4
			Wes	t Fork North	Branch Chi	cago River	- 2021				
WF20	12.5	3.9	30.5	0.0	11.0	6.0	6.5	1.0	0.0	6.6	6
WF21	10.4	7.0	42.0	12.5	5.0	9.0	5.5	4.0	2.0	3.42	4
WF22	9.2	9.4	46.5	9.0	17.0	6.0	2.5	6.0	0.0	3.42	6
WF23	4.9	17.9	41.0	4.0	13.0	5.0	6.0	7.0	0.0	3.8	6
WF24	2.9	24.5	66.0	13.5	16.0	12.5	5.5	10.0	4.5	2.1	4
WF25	1.3	28.0	48.0	6.0	13.0	10.0	5.0	9.0	1.0	2.1	4
				Skol	kie River - 2	2020					
SR1	21.1	2.8	37.0	0.0	12.0	7.0	6.0	4.0	0.0	10.5	8
SR2	17.4	7.9	38.0	5.5	11.0	7.0	5.5	5.0	0.0	4.17	4
SR3	14.8	11.6	48.0	7.0	13.0	10.0	5.0	7.0	0.0	3.37	6
SR4	11.3	15.1	52.5	12.0	14.0	10.5	5.0	5.0	0.0	4.9	6
SR5	8.0	20.7	46.8	5.0	15.0	7.0	6.8	7.0	0.0	4.74	6
SR6	7.4	21.5	39.5	5.0	14.0	7.0	6.5	3.0	0.0	1.44	4
SR7	3.0	23.7	38.0	0.0	17.0	6.0	7.0	4.0	0.0	1.44	4
SR18	0.5	30.9	41.5	4.0	14.0	8.0	6.5	7.0	0.0	0.92	2
		Excellent	<u>>81.3</u>								
		Fair	50.1-69.0								
		Poor	25-50								
		very Poor	<25								

Appendix Table C-1. NBWW 2020-21 survey area QHEI metrics table.

Marst Bladiversit	v Qualitative	Habitat	Evaluat	ion Index F	ield Sh	eet	QHEI Score	20.5
River Code: 95-292	RM: 12,5	Stream: W	I.F.K.A	Br. Ch	Icaco R			
Site Code: WF20	Project Code: <u>MBWWL</u>	Location:	Ad Sa	unders Rd	1	85 00 In I	N	
Date: 1~30~		_Latitude:	42:186	29	Longitude:	-87.8817	Ý	_
1.) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two	Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % per	cent					я	
TYPE POOL	RIFFLE	POOL RI	FFLE SUBS	TRATE ORIGIN		SUBSTRATE QUA	LITY	
	[] [] -GRAVEL [7]		Checi	KONE (OR 2 & AVEF	VAGE)	Check ONE (OR 2	& AVERAGE)	
	[] [] -SAND [6]			-LIMESTONE [1]	SILT:	SILT HEAVY	[-2]	Substrate
			—¦∕	-HLLS [1]			(A E [-1]	0
			/Ľ				n (n	Mary 20
			— H	-SANDSTONE IN	EMBEDDED	EXTENSIVE	1 []	- MidA 20
				-RIP / RAP [0]	NESS:	-MODERATE	[-1]	
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES:	-4 or More [2]			-LACUSTRINE [0]		-NORMAL [0]		
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >)	🔎 -3 or Less (0)			-SHALE [-1]		-NONE [1]		
	,			-COAL FINES [-2]				
COMMENTS:	nuns à ma a secon af 0 in 'n ann hack fas in	(in the set				ALIOLINE, /O	hash OND V and as	-
(Structure)	TYPE: Score All That Occur	structions)				check 2 and 4	NERAGE)	Cover
UNDERCUT BANKS [1]	POOLS > 70 cm [2]	O OXB	BOWS, BACKW	ATERS [1]			> 75% [11]	
O OVERHANGING VEGETATIO	DN [1]ROOTWADS [1]	3 AQU	ATIC MACRO	HYTES [1]			25 - 75% [7]	
SHALLOWS (IN SLOW WAT	ER) [1] BOULDERS [1]	<u> </u>	SS OR WOODY	DEBRIS [1]		-SPARSE 5 -	25% [3]	Max 20
O ROOTMATS [1]						-NEARLY AB	SENT < 5% [1]	
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Chr	ack ONLY one PER Category OR check 2	and AVERAGE	3					-
SINUOSITY DE	VELOPMENT CHANNELIZAT	TION	STABILTIY		MODIFICATIO	ONS/OTHER		
-HIGH [4]	-EXCELLENT [7] -NONE [6]	П-нісн	1[3]	-SNAGG		-IMPOUNDMENT	Channel
-MODERATE [3]	-GOOD [5] -RECOVE	RED [4]		ERATE [2]	-RELOC	ATION	-ISLAND	
	-FAIR [3] -RECOVE	RING [3]	-LOW	[1]	-CANOF	Y REMOVAL	-LEVEED	Q
	+POOR [1] -RECENT	ORNO					J -BANK SHAPING	Max 20
		DED (-1)			LJ-ONE SI	DE CHANNEL MOD	IFICATIONS	
COMMENTS:								
4.1 RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK ERG RIPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) VERY WIDE > 100m [5] WIDE > 50m [4] WIDE > 50m [4] NARROW 5 - 10m [2] VERY NARROW < 5m [1]	DSION (check ONE box PER bank or che FLOOD PLAIN QUAI L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) - -FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2] - -RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW - -FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS:	ick 2 and AVER/ JTY <i>(PAST 100</i> FIELD (1)	AGE per bank) <u>Mater RIPARIA</u> L R C - CONS C - URBA - OPEI - MINIF	W) SERVATION TILLAG IN OR INDUSTRIAL I PASTURE, ROWCJ IG / CONSTRUCTIO	River Rig E [1] [0] ROP [0] N [0]	Int Looking Downstr BANK EROSI L R (Per 2 - NO 2 - NO 2 - HE	eam (F 2N Bank) NE / LITTLE [3] DERATE [2] AVY / SEVERE [1]	Riparlan Max 10
5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE/RUN	N QUALITY							
MAX. DEPTH	MORPHOLOGY		ŝ	URRENT VELOCITY	(POOLS & F	RIFFLESI}		
(Check 1 ONLY!)	(Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE)		_	(Check Al	i That Apply)			Poo!/
Li - 1m [0]		11H [2] Mu Mi		EDDIES [1]		NTIAL [-1]		Current'
- 0.4 to 0.7m [2]	POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WID	/TH (0)		MODERATE [1]		ATTENT I-2		
- 0.2 to 0.4m [1]	-IMPOUNDED [-1]			SLOW [1]	-VERY F	AST [1]		Max 12
- < 0.2m (POOL = 0)			Į.	NONE [-1]				
COMMENTS:								-
		CHECK 3 THO	ANCOLOF					Dillio (D
RIFFLE DEPTH	RUN DEPTH	RIFFLF / RIIN	SUBSTRATE		RIFFLEARIN			rsme / Kult
-*Best Areas > 10cm [2]	- MAX > 50 cm [2]	-STABLE (e.o.	Cobble, Bouide	ar) [2]		2]		101
-Best Areas 5 - 10cm (1)	□ - MAX < 50 cm [1]	-MOD. STABLE	E (e.g., Large G	ravel) [1]	-LOW [1]	-		Max 8
Best Areas < 5cm (0)		-UNSTABLE (F	ine Gravel, San	d) (0]	-MODER	ATE [0]		
COMMENTS:	1					SIVE [-1]		Gradient
6.) GRADIENT (tt / mi): 6.6	DRAINAGE AREA (sq.ml.): 3,9	% P	200L:	% GLIDE	:			6
"Best areas must be large enough to support a	provulation of nillio-obligate species	% R	RIFFLE:	% RUN:			Gradient Score from Table 2 of Users Manual based on gradient and divinings area.	Max 10



/

Start

Mos Biodiversity Qualitative Habita	at Evaluation Index F	Field Sheet QHEI Score	42
River Code: 95-292 RM: 10,9 Stream:	WER NBC CH	Grego R	-
Site Code: WF2 Project Code: <u>MR h/h/2</u> Location:	DST Deerfield R		-
	72,10572	Longitude:63676	-
1) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent			
TYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL	RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN	SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
		(AGE) CRECK ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)	Outrabusta
			Substrate
			12.7
	-HARDPAN IDI		Max 20
	-SANDSTONE (0)	EMBEDDED	-
	-RIP/RAP[0]	NESS: -MODERATE [-1]	
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES:	-LACUSTRINE [0]	-NORMAL (0)	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) Z -3 or Less [0]	-SHALE [-1]	-NONE[1]	
POMPLEME.	-COAL FINES [-2]		
2) INSTREAM COVER (Give each over type a some of 0 to 3' see back for instructions)		AMOUNT: (Check ONLY and or	
(Structure) TYPE: Score All That Occur		check 2 and AVERAGE)	Cover
UNDERCUT BANKS [1]POOLS > 70 cm [2]	OXBOWS, BACKWATERS [1]	-EXTENSIVE > 75% [11]	
OVERHANGING VEGETATION [1] ROOTWADS [1]	AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1]	-MODERATE 25 - 75% [7]	5
BOULDERS [1]	LOGS OR WOODY DEBRIS [1]	-SPARSE 5 - 25% (3)	Max 20
COMMENTS-		-NEARLY ABSENT < 3% [1]	
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Category OR check 2 and AVER	AGE		-
SINUOSITY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION	STABILITY	MODIFICATIONS / OTHER	
-HIGH [4] -EXCELLENT [7] -NONE [6]	-HIGH [3]	SNAGGING -IMPOUNDMENT	Channel
	-MODERATE [2]	-RELOCATION -ISLAND	a.
	[_] -LOW [1]		Nov 20
			Max 20
COMMENTS:			
4.1 RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and A RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST	VERAGE per bank) 100 Meter RIPARIAN)	River Right Looking Downstream	
L R (Per Bank) L R (Most Predominant Per Bank)	LR	L R (Per Bank)	Riperian
	-CONSERVATION TILLAG	E[1]	66
	URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL	[0]	5.7
- RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW FIELD [1]		ROP[0] [] -HEAVY/SEVERE[1]	Max 10
$\Box = -\text{VERY NARROW S = 1011[2]}$		10) 1	
COMMENTS:			
5) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY			
(Check 1 ONLY!) / (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE)	(Check Al	i That Apoly)	Pool /
- 1m [6]	-EDDIES [1]	-TORRENTIAL [-1]	Current
- 0.7m [4] -POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1]	-FAST [1]	-INTERSTITIAL [-1]	1
- 0.4 to 0.7m [2] -POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH [0]	-MODERATE [1]	-INTERMITTENT [-2]	A
□ -0.2 to 0.4 m [1] □ -1MPOUNDED [-1]	Z -SLOW[1]	-VERY FAST [1]	Max 12
COMMENTS:	L -NONE [-1]		
			5
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2	AND ADVERAGE		Riffle / Run
RIFFLE DEPTH RIFFLE/	RUN SUBSTRATE	RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS	1.1.
	e.g., Cobbie, Bouider) [2]		LP
	File (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] F (Fine Grave) Santh (M)		Max 8
	- (r ing cilayor, const) [U]		Gradient
COMMENTS: 3,42		······································	[Yel
6.) GRADIENT (It / mi): 0.02	% POOL: % GLIDE		12 4
"Best areas must be large enough to support a population of rittle-obligate species	% RIFFLE: % RUN	Gradient Boare hom Table 2 of Users Messel based on product and design area	Max 10



Mort

Manuel Biodiversity	Qualitative	Habitat Evaluation Index	Field Sheet QHEi Sc	ore: 40.5
River Code:	RM: 9.03 9.2 (VA	Stream: WFKNBr Ch	icago R	
Site Code: WF22	Project Code: NBWW2	Location: DST Pfingsten R	Rd / Lake Cock Rd	
Date: 1- 50-21	Scorer: /////	Latitude: 92.1576	Longitude:	
1.) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two	Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % pe	rcent		
		POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN	SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
		Check ONE (OR 2 & AVI	ERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)	
				Substrate
				9
				May 20
			EMBEDDED	INICA 20
			NESS: -MODERATE [-1]	
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES:	4 or More [2]	-LACUSTRINE [0]	-NORMAL [0]	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >)	🗹 -3 or Less (0)	-SHALE [-1]	-NONE [1]	
00405000		-COAL FINES [-2]		
2) INSTREAM COVER (Give each or	war type a sonre of 0 in 3 see back for i	ncinuctione)	AMOUNT: //hork ONI V and an	
(Structure)	TYPE: Score All That Occur		check 2 and AVERAGE	Cover
UNDERCUT BANKS [1]	POOLS > 70 cm [2]	Oxbows, Backwaters [1]		.1
	DN [1] 3 ROOTWADS [1]	3 AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1]	-MODERATE 25 - 75% [7]	
SHALLOWS (IN SLOW WATI	ER) [1]BOULDERS [1]	LOGS OR WOODY DEBRIS [1]		Max 20
COMMENTS			-NEARLY ABSENT < 5% [1]	
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Che	ack ONLY one PER Category OR check	2 and AVERAGE)		
SINUOSITY DE	VELOPMENT CHANNELIZA	TION STABILITY	MODIFICATIONS / OTHER	
🗆 -HIGH [4] 🛛	-EXCELLENT [7] -NONE [5] 🗔 -HiGH [3]	-SNAGGING -IMPOUNDMENT	Channel
	-GOOD [5] -RECOV	ERED [4] Z -MODERATE [2]	-RELOCATION -ISLAND	
	-FAIR [3] LJ -RECOV			le
	-POOR [1] LZ -RECEN			Max 20
COLINEARTE.		IDED (-1)	Line side onninge modifications	
COMMENTS:			1	
4.1 RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK ERO	SION (check ONE box PER bank or ch	eck 2 and AVERAGE per bank)	🗭 River Right Looking Downstream	
RIPARIAN WIDTH	FLOOD PLAIN QUA	LITY (PAST 100 Meter RIPARIAN)	BANK EROSION	
L R (Per Bank)	L R (Most Predominant Per Bank	LR	L R (Per Bank)	Riparian
-VERY WIDE > 100m [5]	-FOREST, SWAMP [3]	CONSERVATION TILLA	GE [1]	65
				1.
NARROW 5 - 10m [2]				Max 10
D-VERY NARROW < 5m [1]				
	COMMENTS:			
5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE/RUN	QUALITY			
MAX. DEPTH	MORPHOLOGY	CURRENT VELOCI	ITY (POOLS & RIFFLESI)	
(Check 1 ONLYI)	(Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE)	(Check	All That Apply)	Pool /
□ - 1m [6] [Z] - 0.7m:(4]			U -TORRENTIAL [-1]	Current
-0.4 to 0.7m 121				10
- 0.2 to 0.4m [1]				May 12
- < 0.2m [POOL = 0]		-NONE I-11		MELA J Z
COMMENTS:				
	CHECK ONE O	R CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE		Riffle / Run
NFCLE UEF11		STABLE / KUN SUBSTRATE	KIFFLE/RUN EMBEDDEDNESS	10
-Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1]	- MAX < 50 cm [1]	-MOD, STABLE (e.g., Lanse Gravel) [1]		Mar 9
Best Areas < 5cm [0]		-UNSTABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) [0]	-MODERATE (0)	max D
-NO RIFFLE [Entire Metric = 0]	_			
	1		LI -EXTENSIVE [-1]	Gradient
COMMENTS: 3.42			LI -EXTENSIVE [-1]	Gradient
COMMENTS: 3.42 6.) GRADIENT (ft / mi): 5.750	DRAINAGE AREA (sq.mi.): $9,91$	% POOL: % GLD		Gradient



Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet	Score:	AL
River Code: 95-292, Bit With #9 Stream WEK With Chicage P		
Stin Cade: WE33 Brief Code: A/Discu (2) Location: DCT Location R		
Date: MAR 7-30-21 Scorer: M.D Latitude: 92.10279 Longitude: -87180994		
1) SUBSTRATE (Check ON) Y Two Suffering TYPE BOXES: Estimate % percent		
		Detrotecto
		Sucstrate
		4
		Max 20
-RUP/RAP[0] NESS: - MODERATE[-1]		
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 4 or More [2] -LACUSTRINE [0] -INORMAL [0]		
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) 🖉 - 3 or Less [0] - SHALE [-1] - NONE [1]		
COMMENTS:		
21INSTREAM COVER (Give each cover type a score of 0 to 3; see back for instructions) AMOUNT; (Check ONLY one or		
(structure) ITYPE: Store All That Occur Check 2 and AVERAGE)		Cover
		12
		12
		Max 20
COUNTRY ABSENI < 3% [1]		
Convients		
SINGLASITY DEVELOPMENT LAANNELIZATION STABILITY MODIFICATIONS/OTHER		
	•	Channel
		6
	l	
		Wax 20
COMMENTS:		
4.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box, PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE cer bank)		
RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD FLAIN QUALITY (PAST 100 Motor RIPARIAN) BANK EROSION		
L R (PerBank) L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) L R L R (Per Bank)		Riparian
-VERY WIDE > 100m [5] -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1]	1	
WIDE > 50m [4] G - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2] Z - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL [0] CALL - MODERATE [2]		
Z Z*MODERATE 10 - 50m [3] Z -RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW FIELD [1] D - OPEN PASTURE, ROWCROP [0] -HEAVY / SEVERE [1]	'	Max 10
□ □-VERY NARROW < 5m [1]		
-NONE [0] COMMENTS:		
5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY		
MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESI)		
(Check 1 ONLY!) (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Apply)		Pool /
🖓 - 1m (6) 🛛 -POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] 🔤 -EDDIES [1] 🔲 -TORRENTIAL [-1]		Current
[□ - 0.7m [4] □ _POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1] □ -FAST [1] □ -INTERSTITIAL [-1]		1
🖸 - 0.4 to 0.7m [2] 🛛 - POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH [0] 🔤 - JYODERATE (1] 🔲 - INTERMITTENT [-2]		. /
□ - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] □ -IMPOUNDED [-1] □ -VERY FAST [1]		Max 12
□ - < 0.2m (POQL= 0) □ -NONE [-1]		
COMMENTS:		
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE	F	Riffle / Run
SIEFLE JE'LI BUN DEPTH REFLE/RUN SUBSTRATE RIFLE/RUN EMBEDDEDNESS		0
□ - "Best Areas > 10cm [2] □ - MAX > 50 cm [2] □ - STABLE (e.g., Cobble, Boulder) [2] □ - NONE [2]		U
L_1 -tust Areas 5 - 10cm [1] L_1 -MAX < 50 cm [1] L_1 -MOD, STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] L_1 -LOW [1]		Max 8
L_1 - PORT A LEVEL STABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) (0)		
	í	Gradlent
		6
b.) GRADIENT (17/170): 2.0 // DRAINAGE AREA (sq.mi.): 1.1.100 % POOL: % GLIDE:	(Jages Manual	0
"Best areas must be targe enough to support a population of rittle-colligate species % RUFFLE: % RUN: beed an average work and read areas	6/94	Max 10

••

٢,



Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet	QHEI Score:	,
River Code: 95-292 RM: 2173 2.900 Stream: WFK NBr Chicago R		
Site Code: WFLY Project Code: NBWWL Locetion: DSTLCKE Ave a Sleep Hullow fork Date: Nrx 7-30-2 Scarer: PMD Latitude: 42.078911 Longitude: -87.80365		
1.1 SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent		
TYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE QUALITY		
O -BLDR/SLBS [10] Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)		
	Substra	te
	13.	
□ □ -HARDPAN [4] <u>X</u>	Max 20	0
ZINSTRAW COVER (Gree each cover type a score or 0 to 3, see back for instructions) ARECONT: (CRECK UNLY ON / Similar Cover type a score or 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a score of 0 to 3, see back for instructions) (Similar Cover type a sc	3 OF	
CUNDERCUT BANKS (1) / POOLS > 70 cm 121 OXBOWS, BACKWATERS (1) / EXTENSIVE > 75% (1)	Gover	ή
OVERHANGING VEGETATION [1] C ROOTWADS [1] O AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1]	16	
3 SHALLOWS (IN SLOW WATER) [1] 2 BOULDERS [1] 2 LOGS OR WOODY DEBRIS [1]	Max 20	ō,
2) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Category OR check 2 and AVERAGE)		
	ENT Change	
		5
-LOW [2] 2-FAIR [3] 2-RECOVERING [3] -LOW [1] -LOW [2]	12.3	1
-NONE [1] -POOR [1] -RECENT OR NO -DREDGING -BANK SHAL	PING Max 20	5
RECOVERY [1]		
-IMPOUNDED [-1]		
COMMENTS:		
A.1. RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank) River Right Looking Downstream RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST 100 Meter R/PARIAN) BANK EROSION		
L R (Per Bank) L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) L R L R (Per Bank)	Riparlar	n
CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1] CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1] CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1]	1 1.5	7
	2.	
	. [1] MEX 10	3
COMMENTS:		
5) POQL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE/RUN QUALITY		
MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESI)		
Check 1 ONLY!) (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Apply)	Pool /	
	Current	ι -
	10	
	Max 12	Ļ
□ -<0.2m [POOL = 0] □ -NONE [-1]		
20MMENTS:		
	Riffle / Ru	un T
-*Best Areas > 10cm [2] - MAX > 50 cm [2] Z -STABLE (e.g., Cobble, Bruided 121 D -NONE 121	14.5	
☐ -Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1]	May R	1
-Best Areas < 5cm [0] -UNSTABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) [0] -MODERATE [0]		
-NO RIFFLE [Entire Metric = 0] -EXTENSIVE [-1]	Gradient	nt
XOMMENTS:	(L)	1
1) GRADIENT ((t / mi): 14,10 DRAINAGE AREA (sq.ml.): 21,52 % POOL: 86 GLIDE:	17	
Basef areas must be large enough to support a population of rittle-obligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN: based or graduat does not be an	nd indegr area Max 10	Ĩ

÷1.



QHEI So CHEI SO CHE SO CH	ore: 48
River Cade: 95-292 Rile TIS 118 Stream WEK AL Re Charger R	
Site Code: WES Project Code: M/BWWD Location: WST Foot Bridge	
Date: 7-30-21 Scarer: Pmp Lathude: 42,06345 Longitude: -87,78887	_
1.1 SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	
TYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
-BLDR/SLBS [10] GRAVEL [7] Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)	
□ □ 4 g BOULD [10] □ SILT HEAVY [-2]	Substrate
O-BOULDER [9] O -BEDROCK [5] O -SILT MODERATE [-1]	
	10
	Max 20
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 4 or More [2] -LACUSTRINE [0] -NORMAL [0]	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) 💋 3 or Less [0] SHALE [-1] -NONE [1]	
-COAL FINES [-2]	
COMMENTS:	
2.1INSTREAM COVER (Give each cover type a score of 0 to 3; see back for instructions) AMOUNT: (Check ONLY one or	
(Structure) TYPE: Score All That Occur Check 2 and AVERAGE)	Cover
	12
	15
	Max 20
33 CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Chack ONLY one PER Category OR chack 2 and AVERAGE)	
SINUOSITY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABILITY MODIFICATIONS (OTHER	
	Channel
	Cincatarios
	10
-NONE [1] -POOR [1] -RECENT OR NO -DREDGINGBANK SHAPING	Max 20
RECOVERY [1]	
COMMENTS:	
4.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank) PRiver Right Looking Downstream	
INFARMAN MIDIH ELCOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST TOUMART RIPARIAN) BANK EROSION	
	Riparlan
	6
	1.0 10
	HIRZA FO
5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY	
MAX_DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESI)	
ICheck 2 UNLY11 (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Apply)	Pool /
	Current
	Max 12
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE	Riffle / Run
RIFFLE DEPTH RIFFLE / RUN SUBSTRATE RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS	
-*Best Areas > 10cm [2] . MAX > 50 cm [2] . STABLE (e.g., Cobble, Boulder) [2] .NONE [2]	
E -Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] Z - MAX < 50 cm [1] -MOD. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] -LOW [1]	Max 8
¹ □ -Best Areas < 5cm [0] □ -JINSTABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) [0] □ -JIODERATE (0]	
-NO RIFFLE [Entire Metric = 0]	Gradient
COMMENTS:	-ti
8.) GRADIENT (ft / mi): 2.10 DRAINAGE AREA (sq.ml.): <u>人1、</u> 97 % POOL: % GLIDE:	17
"Best areas must be large enough to support a population of ritle-colligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN: based or production of ritle-colligate species area	Max 10



-BLDR/SL85 [10]	POOL RIFFLE POO	L RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN	SUBSTRATE QUALITY
- Lg BOULD [10] - BOULDER [9]COBBLE [8]COBBLE [8]HARDPAN [4]HARDPAN [4]MUCK [2] - MUMBER OF SUBSTRATE T (High Quality Only, Score 5 or	Image: Constraint of the second se	Check ONE (OR 2 & AVE	:RAGE) Check, ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) SILT:
COMMENTS: 21INSTREAM COVER (Give (Structure) OUNDERCUT BANKS OVERHANGING VEC SHALLOWS (IN SLO COMMENTS:	e each cover type a score of 0 to 3; see back for instruct TYPE: Score All That Occur [1] POOLS > 70 cm [2] [2] ROOTWADS [1] W WATER) [1] BOULDERS [1]	OXBOWS, BACKWATERS [1] AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1] LOGS OR WOODY DEBRIS [1]	AMOUNT: (Check ONLY one or check 2 and AVERAGE) EXTENSIVE > 75% [11] -MODERATE 25 - 75% [7] - SPARSE 5 - 25% [3] - NEARLY ABSENT < 5% [1]
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOG SINUOSITY - HIGH [4] - MODERATE [3] - LOW [2] - NONE [1]	Y: (Check ONLY one PER Category OR check 2 and A DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION - EXCELLENT [7] - NONE [6] - GOOD [5] - RECOVERED - FAIR [3] - RECOVERING - POOR [1] - RECOVERY [1] - IMPOUNDED - IMPOUNDED	AVERAGE) <u>STABILTIY</u> JIGH [3] [4] <u>ANODERATE [2]</u> 1(3] <u>LOW [1]</u> NO [-1]	MODIFICATIONS / OTHER SNAGGING -IMPOUNDMENT RELOCATION -ISLAND CANOPY REMOVAL -LEVEED DREDGING -BANK SHAPING ONE SIDE CHANNEL MODIFICATIONS
4.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BAR RIPARIAN WIDTH L R. (Per Bank)	ANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 a ELOOD PLAIN QUALITY (L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) [5]FOREST, SWAMP [3] SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2] m [3]RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW FIELD PENCED PASTURE [1] m [1] COMMENTS:	and AVERAGE per bank) PAST 100 Meter RIPARIAN) L. R 	River Right Looking Downstream BANK EROSION L R (Per Bank) GE [1]NONE / LITTLE [3] L [0]MODERATE [2] CROP [0]HEAVY / SEVERE [1] ION [0]
5.) POOL / GLIDE AND RIFF MAX. DEPTH (Check 1 ONLY!) - 1m [6] - 0.7m [4] 0.4 to 0.7m [2] - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - < 0.2m [POOL = 0] COMMENTS:	LE / RUN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) 	CURRENT VELOCI (Check.) -EDDIES [1] -FAST [1] -MODERATE [1] SLOW [1] -NONE [-1]	IY (POOLS & RIFFLESI) All That Apply)
RIFFLE DEPTH	CHECK ONE OR CHE RUN DEPTH RUF [2]	CK 2 AND ADVERAGE ELE / RUN SUBSTRATE BLE (e.g., Cobble, Boulder) [2] D. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] STABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) [0]	RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS -NONE [2] -LOW [1] -MODERATE [0] -EXTENSIVE [-1]



Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet	31.5
River Code: 95-291 RM: 15:23 18.9 Brown: M. F.K. A/ Br. Children R	
Site Code: MEO9 Project Code: NBWWW Location: DST Foot Bridge Comp	
Date: 8-1-2 Scorer: 1MO Latitude: 12.25635 Longitude: -57,88459	-
1.) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	
	Substrate
COBBLE [8] COBBL	0
	Max 20
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) 2 3 or Less [0] -SHALE [-1] NONE [1]	
-COAL FINES [-2]	
COMMENTS: 2) INSTREAM COVER (Give each cover type a score of 0 to 3: see back for instructions) AMOUNT: (Check ONLY one or	
(Structure) TYPE: Score All That Occur check 2 and AVERAGE)	Covar
O UNDERCUT BANKS [1] O POOLS > 70 cm [2] O OXBOWS, BACKWATERS [1] □ -EXTENSIVE > 75% [11]	11
	Nov 20
	MBX 20
COMMENTS:	-
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Category OR check 2 and AVERAGE)	
SINCOSTIC DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABILITY MICHIELZATIONS TO THE	Channel
-MODERATE [3] -GOOD [5] -RECOVERED [4] -RELOCATION - ISLAND	
	5
	Max 20
COMMENTS:	
4.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank)	
RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST 100 Meter RIPARIAN) BANK EROSION	
L R (Per Bank) L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) L R L R (Per Bank)	Riparian
	9.5
	Max 10
CONSTRUCTION [0] FENCED PASTURE [1] GONSTRUCTION [0]	
5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY	
MAX_DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLES!)	Deel /
	Current
	1
	2
□ - 0.2 to 0.4mt [1] □ - 4MPOUNDED [-1] □ - 4EKY FAST [1] □ - VEKY FAST [1] □ - VEKY FAST [1] □ - VEKY FAST [1]	Max 12
COMMENTS:	
	-
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE	Riffle / Run
-*Best Areas > 10cm [2] - MAX > 50 cm [2] - STABLE (e.g., Cobble, Boulder) [2] -NONE [2]	0
-Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] -MAX < 50 cm [1] -MOD. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] -LOW [1]	Max B
dest Areas < 5cm [0] OBSET LE Territive Metrics (0) OBSET LE Territive Metrics (0) OBSET LE Territive Metrics (1) OBSET LE TErritive Metrics (1)	Oradioni
COMMENTS:	Gravient
6.) GRADIENT (ft/mi): 1.92 DRAINAGE AREA (sq.ml.): 8.91 % POOL: % GLIDE:	171
*Best areas must be large enough to support a population of ritile-obligate species % RIFFLE % RUN: Based on prelation and imiting area	Max 10

Ń



Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet QHEI Score:	41
River Code: 95-29 RM: +3.17 10.1 Streem: MFK NBr Chicago R	
Site Code: MF10 Project Code: NBWW21 Location: PST West leich St	
Date: Scorer: Letitude: Longitude: Longitude:	
1) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	
TYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)	
1 - 4g BOULD [10] SAND [6] LIMESTONE [1] SILT: Z - SILT HEAVY [-2] SU	ubstrate
	R
	1
Image: Antificial (0)	vlax 20
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 4 or More [2] -LACUSTRINE [0] -NORMAL [0]	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >)	
COMMENTS:	
2) INSTREAM COVER (Give each ower type a score of 0 to 3: see back for instructions) AMCUINT: (Check ONI V one or	
(Structure) TYPE: Score All That Occur Check 2 and AVERAGE (Check 2 and AVERAGE)	Cover
O OVERHANGING VEGETATION [1] ROOTWADS [1] AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1] O -MODERATE 25 - 75% [7]	141
3 SHALLOWS (IN SLOW WATER) [1] 0 BOULDERS [1] LOGS OR WOODY DEBRIS [1] - SPARSE 5 - 25% [3]	Aax 20
2_ ROOTMATS [1] -NEARLY ABSENT < 5% [1]	
3.1 CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check CALLY one PER Category OR check 2 and AVERAGE)	
SINUSSIII DEVELOPMENI CHANNELIZAIUM SIABILIIY MUDIECAIUMS/OTHER	the second
	194111941
	10
	Jax 20
RECOVERY [1]	
COMMENTS:	
4.1. RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank) River Right Looking Downstream RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST 100 Meter RIPARIAN) BANK EROSION L R (Per Bank) L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) L R L R (Per Bank) River Right Looking Downstream Q Q-VERY WIDE > 100m [5] Q Q - FOREST, SWAMP [3] Q - CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1] Q - NONE / LITTLE [3] Q (Q - VERY WIDE > 50m [4] Q - NONE / LITTLE [3] Q (Q - VERY WIDE > 10m [5] Q - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW FIELD [1] Q - OPEN PASTURE, ROWCROP.[0] Q - HEAVY / SEVERE [1] M Q - NARROW 5 - 10m [2] Q - FENCED PASTURE [1] Q - MINING / CONSTRUCTION [0] Q - HEAVY / SEVERE [1] M	iperian A fax 10
MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VEI OCITY (POOLS & RIFE) ESN	
(Check 1 ONLY!) (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Apply) P	Pool /
- 1m [6] - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] - EDDIES [1] - TORRENTIAL [-1] Co	ument
□ _9.7m [4] □ _POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1] □ -FAST [1] □ -INTERSTITIAL [-1] [7]	2
2 - 0.4 to 0.7m [2])
□ - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] □ - IMPOUNDED [-1] □ - VERY FAST [1] □ - VERY FAST [1] 1	lax 12
□ - <0.2m [POOL=0} □ -NONE [-1]	
COMMENTS:	
RIFFLE DEPTH RIFFLE / RIN SURSTDATE DIECUE / DIM EMBEDDEDWICOO	IN T KUN
-*Best Areas > 10cm /2 -*Best Areas > 1	01
-Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] - MAX < 50 cm [1] - MOD. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] -LOW [1]	Aax 8
-Best Areas < 5cm [0] UNSTABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) (0] O-MODERATE (0)	uan W
P -NO RIFFLE [Entire Metric = 0]	radient
CÔMMENTS:	
6.) GRADIENT (it / mi): 2,59 DRAINAGE AREA (sq.ml.): 11,99 % POOL: % GLIDE	1
"Best areas must be large enough to support a population of mite-obligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN: Best dependent of charge enough to appendent or demonstrate a population of mite-obligate species % RIFFLE:	lax 10



× × ×

Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet QHEI Score	. 44
River Code: 95-291 Rill: 10,56 14.11 Stream: MFK NBC Chicago R	
Site Code: <u>MF/1</u> Project Code: <u>NBMW21</u> Location: <u>DST</u> IL22	
Date: 7-57-21 Scorer: 11/1 Latitude: 92. 176 Longitude: -7,35362	- /
1.1 SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	
IYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE OUALITY	
	Outraliante
	Substrate
	10
	Max 20
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 4 or More [2] -LACUSTRINE [0] -NORMAL [0]	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) 2 -3 or Less [0] -SHALE [-1] -NONE [1]	
COMMENTS:	
2) INSTREAM COVER (Give each cover troe a score of 0 to 3 see back for instructions) AMOLINT: (Check CNI Y one or	
(Structure) TYPE: Score All That Occur check 2 and AVERAGE)	Cover
<u> ① UNDERCUT BANKS [1]</u> <u>3</u> POOLS > 70 cm [2] <u>0</u> OXBOWS, BACKWATERS [1] □ _EXTENSIVE > 75% [11]	12
Overhanging vegetation [1] ROOTWADS [1] B AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1] S -MODERATE 25 - 75% [7]	10
	Max 20
COMMENTS:	
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Category OR check 2 and AVERAGE)	
SINUOSITY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABILITY MODIFICATIONS/OTHER	
	Channel
	LUC .
	1480X 20
COMMENTS:	
4.1 RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank)	
L.R. (Per Bank) L.R. (Most Predominant Per Bank) L.R. (Per Bank)	Riparian
	Q
	Max 10
5.1 POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESD	
(Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Apply)	Pool /
✓ - 1m [6] □ -POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] □ -EDDIES [1] □ -TORRENTIAL [-1]	Current
- 0.7m [4]POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1]FAST [1]INTERSTITIAL [-1]	Λ
	Max 12
□ -<0.2m [POOL = 0} □ -NONE [-1] COMMENTS:	
□ -< 0.2m (POOL = 0) □ -NONE [-1] COMMENTS:	
-< 0.2m (POOL = 0) -NONE [-1] COMMENTS: CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE	Riffle / Run
□ -< 0.2m (POOL = 0) COMMENTS:	Riffle / Run
□ -< 0.2m (POOL = 0)	Riffle / Run
□ -< 0.2m (POOL = 0);	Riffle / Run D Max 8
- < 0.2m (POOL = 0)	Riffle / Run
- < 0.2m (POOL = 0)	Riffle / Run
- < 0.2m (POOL = 0)	Riffle / Run D Max 8 Gradient

.

•



Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet QHEI Sco	re: 45.
River Code: 95-291 RM: -717 10.8 Stream: MFK N Br Chicago R	
Site Code: MFD Project Code: NBWW21 Location: UST Corrige Way	
Date: 7-2-2 Scorer: PMD Latitude: 42.15427 Longitude: 77.82470	
1.) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	
TYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)	
-L_4 BOULD [10]	Substrate
	0
	May 20
	11104 20
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 4 or More [2] 4 LACUSTRINE (0) 1.NORMAL (0)	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) 2 -3 or Less (0) - SHALE [-1] - NONE (11)	
COAL FINES F2	
COMMENTS:	
2.1INSTREAM.COVER (Give each cover type a score of 0 to 3; see back for instructions) AMOUNT: (Check ONLY one or	
(Structure) TYPE: Score All That Occur Check 2 and AVERAGE)	Cover
	110
BALLUWS (IN SLUW WATCH) [1] BOULDERS [1] LUGS UR WOODY DEBRIS [1] SPARSE 5 - 2% [3]	Max 20
COMMENTS:	
3) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Cetegory OR check 2 and AVERAGE)	_
SINUQSITY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABILITY MODIFICATIONS (OTHER	
	Channel
-MODERATE [3] -GOOD [5] -RECOVERED [4] -MODERATE [2] -RELOCATION -SLAND	
	161
□ -POOR [1] □ -RECENT OR NO □-DREDGING □ -BANK SHAPING	Max 20
RECOVERY [1]	
	_
4) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSKON (check ONE how PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE our bank)	
RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST 100 Moder RIPARIAN) BANK FROSTON	
L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) L R L R (Per Bank)	Riperian
	14.2
Comparison [3] C	Max 10
Image: Construction [0]	
□ -VERY NARROW < 5m [1]	
L [.]-NONE [0] COMMENTS:	_
5) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE/RUN QUALITY	
MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESI)	
(Check 1 ONLY)) (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Anniv)	Pool /
	Guerant
- 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1] - FAST [1] - INTERSTITIAL [-1]	
	11
- 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - IMPOUNDED [-1] - VERY FAST [1]	Max 12
□ -< 0.2m [POOL= 0} □ -NONE [-1]	
COMMENTS:	_
	-
	Rittle / Run
	0
-Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] - MAX < 50 cm [1] - MOD. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] - LOW [1]	May 9
Best Areas < 5cm [0] -UNSTABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) [0] -MODERATE [0]	mun U
Z -NO RIFFLE [Entire Metric = 0] □ -EXTENSIVE [-1]	Gradient
COMMENTS:	-
6.) GRADIENT (ft / mi): 3,60 DRAINAGE AREA (sq.mi.): 19.23 % POOL: % GLIDE	6
"Best areas must be large enough to support a population of ritle-chiligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN: Best of example of best of example one	Max 10

way debris pile Poul None Construction Construction Construction Construction Construction Construction Construction Construction Construction Channelization Channelization Channelization Channelization Channelization Channelization Construction C Impacts (Check All That Apply): Major Suspected Sources of Instructions for scoring the alternate cover metric: Each cover type should receive a score of between 0 and 3, where: 0 = Cover type absent; 1 = cover type in very quality; 3 = cover type of highest quality in moderate of greater amounts. Examples of highest quality include, very large boulders in deep or fast water, large small amounts or if more common of marginal quality: 2 = cover type present in moderate amounts, but not of highest quality or in small amounts of highest Uther: anopy- % open: 5 diameter logs that are stable, well developed rootwads in deep / fast water, or deep, well-defined, functional pools. Is Stream Ephemeral (no pools, totally dry of only damp spots)? Water Stage Vome If Not, Explain: Is there water close downstream? How far. Is Dry Channel mostly natural? -low Vater Clanty: CTB Is there water upstream? How far: Distance: meccephytes S ear: Is Sampling Reach Representative of the Stream? (Y/ N) First Sampling Pass High-Aesthetic Rating (1-10) -Moderate Lat / Long (X-Loc): Gradient: -at / Long (End): Stream Drawing: _at / Long (Beg): -at / Long (Mid): Subjective Rating (1-10) start X Carriage Way

Rev Code: SC:2-A) Ref: Sc:2: Sc:	Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet QHEI Score	60
Bill Dote CALE[3] Product Dots CALVEV.21 Londow Call Longhold Call Call Longhold Call Longhold Call Longhold Call Longhold Call Longhold Longhold <thlonghold< th=""> Longhold Longhold<td>River Code: <u>95-291</u> Rill: <u>Streem:</u> <u>MFK NBr Chicago R</u></td><td></td></thlonghold<>	River Code: <u>95-291</u> Rill: <u>Streem:</u> <u>MFK NBr Chicago R</u>	
Date	Site Code: MF13 Project Code: NBWW11 Location: UST IL-68	
L3.BSEEDLE (Check OLAL TWe Soldwith TYPE SIDE Earlies & spacent Selection & Sele	Date: Scorer: Lathude: Longitude:Longitude:	
DEF POOL	1.1 SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	
Image: State Stat	TYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
LightClup(n)	L L-BLDR/SLBS [10] [Z] -GRAVEL [7] Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE) Check ONE (OR 2 & AVERAGE)	
Image: Construction of the second of the		Substrate
Image: Source of the set of the		9
Image: Section of the sectio		
Image: Instructure Image: Instru		Mak Zu
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE (PYES: -4 or two (2) -		
Pigh Querty Cript, Score 5 or >)	NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 4 or More [2] -4 or More [2] -1.ACUSTRINE [0] -NORMAL [0]	
COMMENTS:	(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >) 2 -3 or Less [0] -SHALE [-1] -NONE [1]	
CUMMENTS: ANOLECT (2next ONLY one PROTOKING I) Cover IIII Cover IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	COAL FINES [-2]	
ZIMUERCUT SUNCE AND DAMA CONTROL ON UP OF THE SUBJ. (CARL ON A THREADED AND A TH	COMMENS;	ē.
Concentrations (i) Concentrations (i) Concentrations (ii) Concentrations (iii) Concentrations (iii) Concentrations (iiii) Concentrations (iiii) Concentrations (iiiii) Concentrations (iiiiii) Concentrations (iiiiiiiiii) Concentrations (iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii		Cover
□ ○UCREMANNEW GESTATION [N] □ ADDITION LARGE (N) □ ADDITION LARGE (N) □ Mail 20 □ SHALLOW (N) SLOW WATERY (N) □ DOLDERS (N) □ OPERANDES (N) OPERANDES (N) □ OPERANDES (N) OPER		
	OVERHANGING VEGETATION [1] C ROOTWADS [1] AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1]	17
	3_SHALLOWS (IN SLOW WATER) [1] // BOULDERS [1] LOGS OR WOODY DEBRIS [1] [] -SPARSE 5-25% [3]	Max 20
Comments		
SINUCETY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABLITY MODERATERS	3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Catenony OR check 2 and AVERAGE)	6
Internet igit CONCELENT (7) Internet (7) <	SINUOSITY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABILITY MODIFICATIONS/OTHER	
MODERATE [2] GOOD PARTE [2] GOOD PA	-HIGH [4] -EXCELLENT [7] -NONE [6] -HIGH [3] -SNAGGING -IMPOUNDMENT	Channel
 LOW (2)	MODERATE [3] GOOD [5] -RECOVERED [4] -MODERATE [2] -RELOCATION -ISLAND	66
		4.5
		Max 20
COMMENTS: 4. BIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank) BIRABIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) L R (Per Bank) R (
A. BIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank) <i>River Right Looking Downstream</i> BANK EROSION BANK 	COMMENTS:	
International line L R (Probability internation of the stark) L R (Probability internation of the stark) L R (Probability internation of the stark) Riperign I - VERY WIDE > 000m [5] I - COREST, SMAAP [3] I - CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1] I - NONE / LITLE [3] I - NONE / LIT	4.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank)	
□ -VERY WIDE > 100m [5] □ -FOREST, SWAMP [3] □ -CONSERVATION TILLAGE [1] □ -NONE [/] □ -MODEFATE 10 - 50m [3] □ -SHRUB 00 CUD FIELD [2] □ -URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL [0] □ -MONE // -MODEFATE [2] □ -MODEFATE 10 - 50m [3] □ -RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW FIELD [1] □ -URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL [0] □ -MONE // -MODEFATE [2] □ -MODEFATE 10 - 50m [3] □ -RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NEW FIELD [1] □ -URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL [0] □ -MONE // -MODEFATE [2] □ -MONE [0] COMMENTS:	L R (Most Predominant Per Bank) L R L R (Per Bank)	Riparian
Image: Sign (4) Image: Sign (4) <tdi< td=""><td></td><td>5</td></tdi<>		5
	2 2-WIDE > 50m [4]SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2]URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL [0]MODERATE [2]	1.
Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Areases - 10cm [2] Image: Sign of the set Arease - 10cm [2]		Max 10
Bit Point Norver Call [1] COMMENTS: She Dool, / GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY Clack / ONLYI (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check / AT That Apply) Pool / - 1m [6] - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] - EDDIES [1] - TORRENTIAL [-1] - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [2] - EDDIES [1] - TORRENTIAL [-1] - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1] - FAST [1] - INTERSTITIAL [-1] Or (IIII) - 0.4 to 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH [0]		
5) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE /RUN QUALITY MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY Clineak J ONN Y11 (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check AI That Apply) Pool / - 1m [6] -POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] -EDDIES [1] -TORRENTIAL [-1] - 0.7m [4] -POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [0] -MATERSTITIAL [-1] Current - 0.7m [4] -POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [0] -MODERATE [1] -INTERSTITIAL [-1] Q - 0.4 to 0.7m [2] -POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [0] -MODERATE [1] -INTERSTITIAL [-1] Q - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] -HOOU NIDED [-1] -SLOW [1] -VERY FAST [1] Max 12 COMMENTS: - - - - None [-1] Max 12 - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - - - - - None [-1] Max 12 COMMENTS: - - - - - - None [-1] Max 8 RIFFLE DEPTH RIFFLE / RUN SUBSTRATE RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS - - . . . - Best Areas > 10m [12] - - - - . . .		
MAX_DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLES) (Check # ONLYI) (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check AT that Apply) Pool / - 1m [6] - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] - EDDIES [1] - TORRENTIAL [-1] Current - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [1] - FAST [1] - INTERNITIAL [-1] O - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH [0] - MODERATE [1] - INTERNITIENT [-2] Max 12 - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH [0]	5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY	
Indiana_runchini (Undex 1 or 2 & A VErNAUE) (Check AB Theli Apply) Pool / - 1m [6] - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [2] - EDDES [1] - TORRENTIAL [-1] Current - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [1] - FAST [1] - UNTERSTITIAL [-1] Q - 0.7m [4] - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE WIDTH [1] - FAST [1] - UNTERSTITIAL [-1] Q - 0.7m [2] - POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH [0]	MAX_DEPLIE MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESI)	
Image: State of the state		Pool /
□ -0.4 to 0.7m [2] □ -POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH [0]	$\square - 0.7m^{141}$ $\square - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE WIDTH (1) \square - FAST (1) \square - INTERSTITIAL (-1)$	Coment
□ - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] □ -IMPOUNDED [-1] □ -VERY FAST [1] Max 12 □ - < 0.2m [POOL = 0]	- 0.4 to 0.7m [2] - POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE WIDTH (0) - MODERATE (1) - INTERMITTENT [-2]	9
⁻ < 0.2m (POOL = 0) ⁻ -NONE [-1]	- 0.2 to 0.4m [1] -IMPOUNDED [-1] -SLOW [1] -VERY FAST [1]	Max 12
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE Riffle / Run SUBSTRATE RIFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS	-<0.2m [POOL = 0]	
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE Riffle / Run NIFFLE DEPTH RIFFLE / RUN SUBSTRATE RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS	COMMENTS:	
RIFFLE DEPTH RUN DEPTH RIFFLE / RUN SUBSTRATE RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS Image: Constraint of management of the substrate of the substrat	CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE	Riffle / Dun
• **Best Areas > 10cm [2] • •MAX > 50 cm [2] • •MOD. STABLE (e.g., Cobble, Boulder) [2] • •NONE [2] • •NONE [2] • •MOD. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] • •MODERATE [0]	RIFFLE DEPTH RUN DEPTH RIFFLE / RUN EMBEDDEDNESS	
-Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] -Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] -Best Areas < 5cm [0] -Best Areas < 5cm [0] -UNSTABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] -Best Areas < 5cm [0] -Best Areas < 5cm [0	□^*Best Areas > 10cm [2] □ MAX > 50 cm [2] □ -STABLE (e.g., Cobble, Boulder) [2] □ -NONE [2]	
	∠ -Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] ∠ - MAX < 50 cm [1] →MOD. STABLE (e.g., Large Gravel) [1] □ -LOW [1]	Max 8
COMMENTS:	Li -Best Areas < 5cm [0] ' UNSTABLE (Fine Gravel, Sand) [0] -MODERATE [0]	0
6.) GRADIENT (ft / mi): 8, 20 DRAINAGE AREA (sq.ml.): 20.97 % POOL: % GLIDE: % GLIDE	COMMENTS:	Gradient
Best areas must be large enough to support a population of rittle obligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN: Based or product of dispose area	6) GRADIENT (11/m): 8,20 DRAINAGE AREA (sound): 20.97 % POOL	10
	Best areas must be large enough to support a population of rithe obligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN:	Max 10



Start

. .

Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index Field Sheet QHEI Score	. U4?
River Code: 95-291 Rive: 2.37 (0.) Stream: MFK NRr Chicago R	-
Date: 7-31-21 Scorer: PMD Latitude: 42-11541 Longitude: -57.78472	
1.) SUBSTRATE (Check ONLY Two Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate % percent	•
IYPE POOL RIFFLE POOL RIFFLE SUBSTRATE ORIGIN SUBSTRATE QUALITY	
	Cubotento
	Substrate
	14
	Max 20
NUMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES: 2 -4 or More [2] -LACUSTRINE [0] -NORMAL [0]	
(High Quality Only, Score 5 or >)	
COMMENTS:	
2.1 INSTREAM COVER (Give each cover type a score of 0 to 3; see back for instructions) AMOUNT: (Check ONLY one or	
(Structure) I YPE: Score All I hat Occur Check 2 and AVERAGE) UNDERCUT BANKS [1] J POOLS > 70 cm [2] (2) OXBOWS: BACKWATERS [1] [1] -EXTENSIVE > 75% [1]	Cover
OVERHANGING VEGETATION [1] Z ROOTWADS [1] AQUATIC MACROPHYTES [1]	N
	Max 20
COMMENTS:	
3.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (Check ONLY one PER Category OR check 2 and AVERAGE)	
STABILITY DEVELOPMENT CHANNELIZATION STABILITY MODIFICATIONS / OTHER	Channel
-MODERATE [3] Z-GOOD [5] Z-RECOVERED [4] Z-MODERATE [2] T-RELOCATION -ISLAND	16
	1
RECOVERY [1] - ONE SIDE CHANNEL MODIFICATIONS	Max Zu
COMMENTS: <u>4.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK EROSION</u> (check ONE box PER bank or check 2 and AVERAGE per bank) River Right Looking Downstream	L
RIPARIAN WIDTH FLOOD PLAIN QUALITY (PAST 100 Meter RIPARIAN) BANK EROSION	
LR (Per Bank) LR (Most Predominant Per Bank) LR LR (Per Bank)	Riparlan
	0
	Max 10
$\square \square -Mining / Construction [0]$	
COMMENTS:	,
5.) POOL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE / RUN QUALITY MAX. DEPTH MORPHOLOGY CURRENT VELOCITY (POOLS & RIFFLESD	
ICheck 1 Orl Y!) (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAGE) (Check All That Apply)	Pool /
	Current
-0.4 to 0.7m [2] -0.4 to 0.7m [2]	10
- 0.2 to 0.4m [1]	Max 12
- < 0.2m (POOL = 0) - NONE [-1]	
	2
CHECK ONE OR CHECK 2 AND ADVERAGE RIFE F DEPTH RIFE F / DIM SUBSTDATE OFFICE (DIM SUBSTDATE)	Riffle / Run
	2.5
Z -Best Areas 5 - 10cm [1] -MAX < 50 cm [1]	Max 8
L] -Best Areas < com [u] -NO RIFFLE [Entire Metric = 0]	Gradient
COMMENTS:	
6.) GRADIENT (ft / mi): <u>7.93</u> DRAINAGE AREA (sq.mi.): <u>22.98</u> % POOL: <u>%</u> GLIDE:	V
*Best areas much be large enough to support a population of rillia-chiligate species % RIFFLE: % RUN: hand as graduat and statute or a	Max 10



River Code: 95-291	RM: Cualitativ	Stream: 7/1	EK MRr CL	River	GHEI SCOI	e: [<u>9</u> 2
Site Code: MF15	Project Code: NBWW	Location: DS	7 Jaliphetk	A AVE		
Date: 7-31-21	Scorer: 12MD	Latitude: 42	09294	Longitude: _87.77	116	_
USUBSTRATE (Check ONLY TW	o Substrate TYPE BOXES; Estimate %	percent				
MPE POOL	RIFFLE	POOL_ RIFFLE	SUBSTRATE ORIGIN	SUBSTRATEO	UALITY	
BLDR/SLBS [10]	GRAVEL [7]	X	Check ONE (OR 2 & AVE	RAGE) Check ONE (OF	2 & AVERAGE)	
-Lg BOULD [10]			-LIMESTONE [1]	SILT: SILT HEA	VY I-21	Subst
-BOULDER [9]	BEDROCK [5]			Z -SILT MOL	ERATE (-1)	
			-WETLANDS (0)	-SILT NOF	MAL [0]	8
Z -HARDPAN [4]			-HARDPAN (0)	SILT FRE	E(1)	Max
			-SANDSTONE [0]	EMBEDDED 🛛 -EXTENSI	/E [-2]	
			-RIP/RAP[0]	NESS: -MODERA	E[-1]	
UMBER OF SUBSTRATE TYPES	:4 or More [2]		-LACUSTRINE [0]	-NORMAL	0	
High Quality Only, Score 5 or >)	-3 or Less [0]		-SHALE [-1]	-NONE [1]		
			-COAL FINES [-2]			
XOMMENTS:						-
LINSTREAM COVER (Give each	cover type a score of 0 to 3; see back to	r instructions)		AMOUNT:	(Check ONLY one or	-
	DOOLE > 70 cm		DACIONATEDO MI	CRECK 2 an	SAVERAGE)	Cove
OVERHANGING VEGETAT			MACROPHYTES HI		/= 2 / 0% [11] FE 95 _ 75% [7]	1,2
3 SHALLOWS (IN SLOW WA	TER) [1] BOULDERS [1]	LOGS OR	WOODY DEBRIS MI	121 -SPARSE	5 - 25% [3]	May
2 ROOTMATS [1]	· · · · · · ··························			-NEARLY	BSENT < 5% [1]	condex d
OMMENTS:						
.) CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY: (C	hack ONLY one PER Category OR chec	k 2 and AVERAGE)				
SINUOSITY	EVELOPMENT CHANNEL	ZATION ST	FABILTIY	MODIFICATIONS / OTHER	_	
				SNAGGING		Chanr
		WERING RI				12
-NONE 111		INT OR NO		-DREDGING	-BANK SHAPING	Max
	RECO	VERY [1]		-ONE SIDE CHANNEL M	DIFICATIONS	TYPEN'S A
	-IMPO	UNDED [-1]				
COMMENTS:						_
	2001011 Johnsh OHE hav BEB hash of		-	Diver Division During		_
OMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or	check 2 and AVERAGE	per bank)	River Right Looking Down	stream	_
COMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN Q	check 2 and AVERAGE JALITY (PAST 100 Mete	per bank) <u>r RIPARIAN)</u>	River Right Looking Down	stream	Disori
COMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN OF L R (Most Predominant Per Ba	check 2 and AVERAGE JALITY (PAST 100 Mete nk) L R	per bank) <u>r RIPARIAN)</u>	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (1	stream	Riperi
COMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN OF L R (Most Predominant Per Ba Z Z FOREST, SWAMP [3]	check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Mete- rk) L R (1) [2]	Der bank) <u>r RIPARIAN</u> - CONSERVATION TILLA - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL	River Right Looking Down BANKERC GE [1] L R (1 GE [1] L -	stream SION Per Banky MONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2]	Riperi
COMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN Q L R (Most Predominant Per Ba // / FOREST, SWAMP [3] 	check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> tk) L R 2] L 2 2] L 2 2W FIELD (1) D 2	Der bank) <u>(RIPARIAN)</u> - CONSERVATION TILLA - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL - OPEN PASTURE, ROWC	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (i 3E [1] -10 -20 CROP [0]	stream SION 'er Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperi O ₁ , 5
INPARIAN ZONE AND BANK E IPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) (Z) - VERY WIDE > 100m [5] (D) - WIDE > 50m [4] (Q) - MODERATE 10 - 50m [3] (Q) - NARROW 5 - 10m [2]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2 -RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE -FENCED PASTURE [1]	check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST. 100 Mete</u> th) L R 2] L C 2] L C 2W FIELD [1] L C 2]	Der bank) [<u>RIPARIAN]</u> - CONSERVATION TILLA - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAI - OPEN PASTURE, ROWC - MINING / CONSTRUCT#	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (I GE [1] - IOI - ROP [0] DN [0]	stream SION 'er Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperi O
OMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba ZI Z -FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2 - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE - FENCED PASTURE [1]	check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> k) L R 2] D L 23 D L 24 D L 24 D L 25 D L 26 D L 27 D L 27 D L 28 D L 29 D L 20 D L	Der bank) [<u>RIPARIAN]</u> - CONSERVATION TILLA - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL - OPEN PASTURE, ROWC - MINING / CONSTRUCT	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (I) 3E [1] - [0] - [0] CROP [0] DN [0]	stream SION Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Ripert Q.S Mex 1
Display="block-space-spac	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba D 2 -FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2 - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE - FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS:	check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> nk) L R 2 C 2 C 2 C 2 C 2 C 2 C 2 C 2 C	Der bank) <u>r RIPARIAN</u> CONSERVATION TILLA - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL - OPEN PASTURE, ROWC MINING / CONSTRUCT(River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (I) 3E [1] -[0] -[0] CROP [0] DN [0]	stream <u>SION</u> Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] HEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperi Q
Display in the image with the image withe image withe image with the image withe image with the image w	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba J - FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2 - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE - FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS:	check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Mate rk) L R 2] D C 2] D C C 2] D C 2] D C C C 2] D C C C C C 2] D C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Der bank) <u>r RIPARIAN]</u> CONSERVATION TILLA URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL OPEN PASTURE, ROWC MINING / CONSTRUCT(River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (1) SE [1] [0] CROP [0] DN [0]	stream SION Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3] IODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperi Q, S Mex 1
Display="2">COMMENTS: J. RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK E RIPARIAN WIDTH L R. (Per Bank) Z. J VERY WIDE > 100m [5] D WIDE > 50m [4] D MODERATE 10 - 50m [3] D NARROW > 100m [2] D VERY NARROW < 5m [1]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba FOREST, SWAMP [3] SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2 RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY	check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Mate Not 2) C C 2) C C C 2) C C 2) C C C C 2) C C C C 2) C C C C 2) C C C C C 2) C C C C C C 2) C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	per bank) <u>r RIPARIAN</u> CONSERVATION TILLA URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL OPEN PASTURE, ROWC MINING / CONSTRUCT - MINING / CONSTRUCT CURRENT VELOCI	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (() GE (1)	stream SION Per Bank) NONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] HEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Ripert Q, S Max 1
Display="block-space-spac	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba FOREST, SWAMP [3] FOREST, SWAMP [3] FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Mate Not 100 Mate 12 C 13 C 13 C 14 C 14 C 14 C 14 C 14 C 14 C 14 C 14	per bank) <u>r RIPARIAN</u> CONSERVATION TILLA - URBAN OR INDUSTRIAL - OPEN PASTURE, ROWC MINING / CONSTRUCT CURRENT VELOCII (Check A	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (L SE [1] [0] CROP [0] DN [0] CN [0] CN [0] CN [0] CN [0]	stream SION Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] I/ODERATE [2] I/EAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperi Q, Mex 1
DOMMENTS: IPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) Powery WIDE > 100m [5] HODE > 50m [4] HODERATE 10 - 50m [3] HORE VARROW 5 - 10m [2] HODEL/GLIDE AND RIFFLE/R MAX.DEPTH Stack 1 ONLY1) HoB	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L R (Most Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] FOREST, SWAMP [3] SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2 RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG -POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST. 100 Meternation) (k) L R C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	CURRENT VELOCI CURRENT VELOCI CURRENT VELOCI CURRENT VELOCI (Check A EDDIES [1]	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (I) - [0] - [1]	stream SION Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3] IODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperl Q, S Max 1 Pool Curres
DOMMENTS: IPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) VERY WIDE > 100m [5] WIDE > 50m [4] WIDE > 50m [4] NODERATE 10 - 50m [3] NARROW 5 - 10m [2] NARROW 5 - 10m [2] NONE [0] NONE [1] NONE [2] NTH [4]	COMMENTS: Construction Constru	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST. 100 Meter rk) L R 1 C 2 3 C 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CURRENT VELOCI CURRENT VELOCI CURRENT VELOCI (Check A EDDIES [1] FAST [1]	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R SE [1] - -[0] - -[0] - CNOP [0] - DN [0] - EY (PCOLS & RIFFLESI) NI That Apply) - - - - - - -	stream SION Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3]	Riperi Q, S Max 1 Pool Curres
.) RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK E .) RIPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank)	COMMENTS: COMME	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST. 100 Meter rk) L R C C 2 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CURRENT VELOCIO CURRENT VELOCIO (Check A FAST [1] MINING / CONSTRUCT()	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R SE [1] - -[0] - -[0] - CROP [0] - DN [0] - V. (PCOLS & RIFFLESI) Nil That Apply) - TORRENTIAL [-1] - INTERSTITIAL [-1] - INTERMITTENT [-2]	stream SION Per Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3] IONE / LITTLE [3]	Riperi Q, S Max 1 Pool Currer
DOMMENTS: IPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) VERY WIDE > 100m [5] WIDE > 50m [4] WORY MARROW < 5m [1]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QL L R (Most Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2] - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE - FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE V - MORPHOLOG [-1]	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST. 100 Meter rk) L R C C 2 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	CURRENT VELOCI CURRENT VELOCI (Check A - FAST [1] - MINING / CONSTRUCT()	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R SE [1] - -[0] - -[0] - CROP [0] - DN [0] - VI (PCOLS & RIFFLESI) NI That Apply) - TORRENTIAL [-1] - INTERSTITIAL [-1] - INTERMITTENT [-2] - VERY FAST [1]	stream SION Per Bank) NONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] HEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Riperi Q, S Max 1 Pool Currer Q Max 1
OMMENTS: PARIAN ZONE AND BANK E IPARIAN WIDTH R (Per Bank) VERY WIDE > 100m [5] WIDE > 50m [4] WIDE > 50m [4] WIDE > 50m [4] WIDE > 50m [7] VERY WIDE > 100m [2] VERY MARROW 5- 10m [2] NONE [0] POOL / GLIDE AND RIFFLE / R AX_DEPTH Mark 1 ONLY!) 1m [6] -0.7m [4] -0.2 to 0.4m [1] 4.20 0.4m [1] <0.2m [POOL = 0}	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QL L R (Most Predominant Per Ba -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -FORED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG -POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V -POOL WIDTH = RIFFLE V -POOL WIDTH < RIFFLE V -IMPOUNDED [-1]	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST. 100 Mete IALITY (PAST. 100 Mete IIII C IIIII IIIII IIIIII IIIIIII IIIIIII	CURRENT VELOCIT CURRENT VELOCIT (Check A - FAST [1] - MINING / CONSTRUCT (Check A - EDDIES [1] - FAST [1] - MODERATE [1] - SLOW [1] - NONE [-1]	River Right Looking Down BANK ERC L R (L SE [1] [0] CROP [0] DN [0] CROP [0] DN [0] CROP [0]	stream SION Per Bank) NONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] HEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curred Max 1
Display="2">COMMENTS:	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -FOREST, SWAMP [3] -FOR	Check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> rk) L R C C 2 2 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	CURRENT VELOCI (Check A - FADDIES [1] - FAST [1] - FAST [1] - MINING / CONSTRUCT (Check A - EDDIES [1] - FAST [1] - MODERATE [1] - SLOW [1] - NONE [-1]	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (GE [1] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []	stream SION SION Par Bank) NONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] HEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1
Description 2. RIPARIAN ZONE AND BANK E RIPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) D-VERY WIDE > 100m [5] D-VERY WIDE > 50m [4] D-NONE [7] D-VERY NARROW 5- 10m [2] D-0.0.1 (G), IDE AND RIFFLE / R MAX. DEPTH Stack 1 ONLY1) D-1m [6] 0.7m [4] 0.84 to 0.7m [2] 0.92 to 0.4m [1] 0.25 to 0.4m [1] 0.25 to 0.4m [1] 0.25 to 0.4m [1]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] - FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB CR OLD FIELD [2 - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE - FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY - Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - IMPOUNDED [-1]	Check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> rk) L R C [2] C [Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (GE [1] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []	stream SION Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] //ODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1
SOMMENTS: L RIPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) D -VERY WIDE > 100m [5] - WIDE > 50m [4] - MODERATE 10 - 50m [3] - NARROW 5- 10m [2] - NARROW 5- 10m [2] - NONE [0] .) POOL / GLIDE AND RIFFLE / R VAX. DEPTH Sheek 1 ONLY!! - 1m [6] - 0.2 to 0.4m [1]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] - FOREST, SWAMP [3] - SHRUB OR OLD FIELD [2] - RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE - FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY - Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - IMPOUNDED [-1] CHECK ONE RUN DEPTH	Check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Mete- rk) L R C C 2 2 3 4 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (GE [1] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []	stream SiON SiON Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] IODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1 Riffle / F
COMMENTS: L RIPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) D -VERY WIDE > 100m [5] - WIDE > 50m [4] - NARROW 5- 10m [2] - NARROW 5- 10m [2] - NONE [0]	COMMENTS: COMME	Check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> rk) L R [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R GE [1]	stream SION Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] //ODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1 Riffle / F
COMMENTS: L RIPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) D-VERY WIDE > 100m [5] -WIDE > 50m [4] -WIDE > 50m [4] -NARROW 5 - 10m [2] -VERY NARROW 5 - 10m [2] -0.0NE [0] POOL / GLIDE AND RIFFLE / R VAL DEPTH -1m [6] -0.7m [4] -0.2 to 0.4m [1] -WERST Areas > 10cm [2] -Best Areas > 10cm [2] -Best Areas > 10cm [1]	COMMENTS: COMME	check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Meternet) JALITY (PAST 100 Meternet) JALITY (PAST 100 Meternet) JALITY (PAST 100 Meternet) IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R GE [1]	stream SION Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] //ODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1
OMMENTS: IPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank)	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] FOREST, SWAMP [3] RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY - Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V IMPOUNDED [-1] - MAX > 50 cm [2] - MAX < 50 cm [1]	Check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Meter</u> (A) L R C C (C) C (C	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (I) II R II That Apply) II That Apply) II THAT APPHY) II THAT APPHY II THAT APP	stream SION Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] //ODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1
OMMENTS: IPARIAN WIDTH L R (Per Bank) - VERY WIDE > 100m [5] - WIDE > 50m [4] - NARROW 5 - 10m [2] - VERY NARROW 5 - 10m [2] - VERY NARROW 5 - 10m [2] - NONE [0] POOL / GLIDE AND RIFFLE / R AX. DEPTH - 0.7m [4] - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - 88est Areas > 10cm [2] -Best Areas > 10cm [2] -Best Areas > 10cm [1] - Best Areas < 5cm [0]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] FOREST, SWAMP [3] RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY - Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V FONCE WIDTH > RIFFLE V MAX > 50 cm [2]	Check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> () () () () () () () () () ()	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R GE [1]	stream SION Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] //ODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1] -	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1 Riffle / I Max 1 Gradle
DMMENTS: PARIAN WIDTH -R (Per Bank) -VERY WIDE > 100m [5] -WIDE > 50m [4] -WIDE > 50m [4] -NODERATE 10 - 50m [3] -NARROW 5 - 10m [2] -VERY NARROW < 5m [1]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] FOREST, SWAMP [3] RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY - Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V IMPOUNDED [-1] CHECK ONE RUN DEPTH - MAX > 50 cm [2] - MAX < 50 cm [1]	Check 2 and AVERAGE (<u>JALITY (PAST 100 Mete</u> () () () () () () () () () ()	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (I)	stream SION Par Bank) IONE / LITTLE [3] IODERATE [2] IEAVY / SEVERE [1]	Pool Curres Max 1 Max 1 Riffle / I Max 1 Gradle
CMMENTS: PRARIAN ZONE AND BANK E IPARIAN WIDTH - R (Per Bank) - VERY WIDE > 100m [5] - WIDE > 50m [4] - MODERATE 10 - 50m [7] - NARROW 5 - 10m [2] - VERY NARROW 5 in [1] - NONE [0] POOL / GLIDE AND RIFFLE / R AX. DEPTH hack 1 ONLY!) - 1m [6] - 0.7m [4] - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - 0.2 to 0.4m [1] - 8est Areas > 10cm [2] - Best Areas > 10cm [2] - Best Areas < 5cm [0]	ROSION (check ONE box PER bank or FLOOD PLAIN QI L B (Klost Predominant Per Ba - FOREST, SWAMP [3] FOREST, SWAMP [3] RESIDENTIAL, PARK, NE FENCED PASTURE [1] COMMENTS: UN QUALITY MORPHOLOGY (Check 1 or 2 & AVERAG - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V - POOL WIDTH > RIFFLE V IMPOUNDED [-1] CHECK ONE RUN DEPTH - MAX > 50 cm [2] - MAX < 50 cm [1] - MAX < 50 cm	check 2 and AVERAGE (JALITY (PAST 100 Meternet) IALITY (PAST 100 Meternet) IIII (IIII) IIIIII (IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	Der bank)	River Right Looking Down BANKERC L R (I) I R (I) III III IIII IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	stream SION Yer Banky MONE / LITTLE [3] MODERATE [2] HEAVY / SEVERE [1] SS	Pool Curres Max 1 Nax 1 Riffle / I Max 1 Gradle



APPENDIX D: NORTH BRANCH CHICAGO RIVER 2020-2021 CAUSES

D-1: North Branch All Sites Causes by Narrative Category 2020-21
 D-2: Skokie River Unweighted and Weighted Causes by Count and Percent 2020
 D-3: Middle Fork N. Branch Unweighted and Weighted Causes by Count and Percent 2020-21
 D-4: West Fork Unweighted and Weighted Causes by Count and Percent 2021

Appendix Table D-1. A compendium of causes listed in the Synthesis table (Table 23) by major North Branch river or fork and the number of very poor, poor, and fair threshold exceedances in each arranged by six major causal categories.

		Very I	Poor				Po	or			Fair				Grand	Category	Category
Cause	Skokie R.	M. Fk. N. Br.	W. Fk.	Total	Cause	Skokie R.	M. Fk. N. Br.	W. Fk.	Total	Cause	Skokie R.	M. Fk. N. Br.	W. Fk.	Total	Total	Totals	%
Urban Land Use																	
Dev. WS	7	1	4	12	Dev. WS	1	9	2	12	Dev. WS	0	1	0	1	25	20	0.70/
Imperv30C	0	0	0	0	Imperv30C	0	1	1	2	Imperv30C	1	0	2	3	5	50	0.270
	Habitat																
QHEI	0	0	0	0	QHEI	5	8	4	17	QHEI	1	3	1	5	22		
Substr.	4	3	1	8	Substr.	3	7	0	10	Substr.	1	0	2	3	21		
QHEI Ratio	1	1	0	2	QHEI Ratio	2	4	3	9	QHEI Ratio	1	4	2	7	18	100	27.2%
Poor Attr.	0	1	0	1	Poor Attr.	2	4	4	10	Poor Attr.	0	0	0	0	11	100	27.270
Chan.	0	0	0	0	Chan.	5	5	4	14	Chan.	3	2	2	7	21		
High Mod. Attr.	0	0	0	0	High Mod. Attr.	5	2	0	7	High Mod. Attr.	0	0	0	0	7		
					•		Ionic	Strength/De	emand	-							
Chloride	2	8	5	15	Chloride	1	0	1	2	Chloride	5	3	0	8	25		
Conduct.	2	7	4	13	Conduct.	2	3	6	11	Conduct.	4	1	0	5	29	56	15.3%
TSS	0	0	1	1	TSS	0	0	1	1	TSS	0	0	0	0	2		
				-				Toxics		-				1			
Sed. PAH	7	10	5	22	Sed. PAH	0	2	0	2	Sed. PAH	5	2	2	9	33		
Sed. Metals	0	0	0	0	Sed. Metals	2	5	4	11	Sed. Metals	4	6	1	11	22	64	17 4%
Toxicity	0	0	0	0	Toxicity	0	1	0	1	Toxicity	0	0	0	0	1	04	17.470
Ammonia	0	0	4	4	Ammonia	0	1	0	1	Ammonia	0	2	1	3	8		
					1	r	Organic	Enrichment/	Low D.O.		r			1			T
Low D.O.	1	5	4	10	Low D.O.	3	1	1	5	Low D.O.	4	9	5	18	33		
Org. Enrich.	0	1	4	5	Org. Enrich.	2	6	2	10	Org. Enrich.	0	2	0	2	17	70	19.1%
TKN	0	0	0	0	TKN	0	2	3	5	TKN	4	6	5	15	20		
				-			Nutrien	t Enrichmen	t/Effects	-							
TP	0	0	1	1	TP	0	0	0	0	TP	1	3	4	8	9		
Nitrate	0	0	0	0	Nitrate	0	1	1	2	Nitrate	1	3	1	5	7	47	12.8%
Max. D.O.	0	0	0	0	Max. D.O.	0	0	0	0	Max. D.O.	7	7	1	15	15		12.0/3
D.O. Swing	1	7	3	11	D.O. Swing	2	0	2	4	D.O. Swing	0	1	0	1	16		
Totals	25	44	36	105	Totals	35	62	39	136	Totals	42	55	29	126	367	367	100.0%
Causal Agents	Very Poor	VP%	VP Wtd.	VP Wtd.%	Poor	Poor%	Poor Wtd.	Poor Wtd.%	Fair	Fair%	Fair Wtd.%	Total	Total%	Total Wtd.	Wtd. %		
-----------------------------	-----------	-------	---------	----------	------	--------------	-----------	------------	------	-------	------------	-------	--------------	------------	--------		
Dev. WS	7	6.9%	35	12.9%	1	1.0%	3	1.1%	0	0.0%	0.0%	8	7.8%	38	14.0%		
Imperv30C	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	0.4%	1	1.0%	1	0.4%		
Urban Land Use	7	6.9%	35	12.9%	1	1.0%	3	1.1%	1	1.0%	0.4%	9	8.8%	39	14.3%		
QHEI	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	4.9%	15	5.5%	1	1.0%	0.4%	6	5.9%	16	5.9%		
Substr.	4	3.9%	20	7.4%	3	2.9%	9	3.3%	1	1.0%	0.4%	8	7.8%	30	11.0%		
QHEI Ratio	1	1.0%	5	1.8%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	1	1.0%	0.4%	4	3.9%	12	4.4%		
Poor Attr.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	0	0.0%	0.0%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%		
Chan.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	4.9%	15	5.5%	3	2.9%	1.1%	8	7.8%	18	6.6%		
High Mod. Attr.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	4.9%	15	5.5%	0	0.0%	0.0%	5	4.9%	15	5.5%		
Habitat Related	5	4.9%	25	9.2%	22	21.6%	66	24.3%	6	5.9%	2.2%	33	32.4%	97	35.7%		
Chloride	2	2.0%	10	3.7%	1	1.0%	3	1.1%	5	4.9%	1.8%	8	7.8%	18	6.6%		
Conduct.	2	2.0%	10	3.7%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	4	3.9%	1.5%	8	7.8%	20	7.4%		
TSS	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%		
Ionic Strength/Demand	4	3.9%	20	7.4%	3	2.9%	9	3.3%	9	8.8%	3.3%	16	15.7%	38	14.0%		
Sed. PAH	7	6.9%	35	12.9%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	4.9%	1.8%	12	11.8%	40	14.7%		
Sed. Metals	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	4	3.9%	1.5%	6	5.9%	10	3.7%		
Toxicity	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%		
Ammonia	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%		
Toxics	7	6.9%	35	12.9%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	9	8.8%	3.3%	18	17.6%	50	18.4%		
Low D.O.	1	1.0%	5	1.8%	3	2.9%	9	3.3%	4	3.9%	1.5%	8	7.8%	18	6.6%		
Org. Enrich.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	0	0.0%	0.0%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%		
TKN	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	3.9%	1.5%	4	3.9%	4	1.5%		
Organic Enrichment/Low D.O.	1	1.0%	5	1.8%	5	4.9%	15	5.5%	8	7.8%	2.9%	14	13.7%	28	10.3%		
ТР	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	0.4%	1	1.0%	1	0.4%		
Nitrate	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	0.4%	1	1.0%	1	0.4%		
Max. D.O.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	7	6.9%	2.6%	7	6.9%	7	2.6%		
D.O. Swing	1	1.0%	5	1.8%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	0	0.0%	0.0%	3	2.9%	11	4.0%		
Nutrient Enrichment/Effects	1	1.0%	5	1.8%	2	2.0%	6	2.2%	9	8.8%	3.3%	12	11.8%	20	7.4%		
Total Observations	24	23.5%	120	46.0%	30	34.3%	90	38.6%	34	41.2%	15.4%	102	100.0%	272	100.0%		

Appendix Table D-2. Causes of aquatic life impairment in the Skokie River in 2020 arranged by very poor, poor, and fair threshold exceedances and weighted and unweighted proportion by cause and causal category.

Causal Agents	Very Poor	VP%	VP Wtd.	VP Wtd.%	Poor	Poor%	Poor Wtd.	Poor Wtd.%	Fair	Fair%	Fair Wtd.%	Total	Total%	Total Wtd.	Wtd. %
Dev. WS	1	0.6%	5	1.1%	9	5.6%	27	5.9%	1	0.6%	0.2%	11	6.8%	33	7.2%
Imperv30C	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%	0	0.0%	0.0%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%
Urban Land Use	1	0.6%	5	1.1%	10	6.2%	30	6.5%	1	0.6%	0.2%	12	7.5%	36	7.8%
QHEI	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	8	5.0%	24	5.2%	3	1.9%	0.7%	11	6.8%	27	5.9%
Substr.	3	1.9%	15	3.3%	7	4.3%	21	4.6%	0	0.0%	0.0%	10	6.2%	36	7.8%
QHEI Ratio	1	0.6%	5	1.1%	4	2.5%	12	2.6%	4	2.5%	0.9%	9	5.6%	21	4.6%
Poor Attr.	1	0.6%	5	1.1%	4	2.5%	12	2.6%	0	0.0%	0.0%	5	3.1%	17	3.7%
Chan.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	3.1%	15	3.3%	2	1.2%	0.4%	7	4.3%	17	3.7%
High Mod. Attr.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	1.2%	6	1.3%	0	0.0%	0.0%	2	1.2%	6	1.3%
Habitat Related	5	3.1%	25	5.4%	30	18.6%	90	19.5%	9	5.6%	2.0%	44	27.3%	124	26.9%
Chloride	8	5.0%	40	8.7%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	3	1.9%	0.7%	11	6.8%	43	9.3%
Conduct.	7	4.3%	35	7.6%	3	1.9%	9	2.0%	1	0.6%	0.2%	11	6.8%	45	9.8%
TSS	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%
Ionic Strength/Demand	15	9.3%	75	16.3%	3	1.9%	9	2.0%	4	2.5%	0.9%	22	13.7%	88	19.1%
Sed. PAH	10	6.2%	50	10.8%	2	1.2%	6	1.3%	2	1.2%	0.4%	14	8.7%	58	12.6%
Sed. Metals	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	5	3.1%	15	3.3%	6	3.7%	1.3%	11	6.8%	21	4.6%
Toxicity	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%	0	0.0%	0.0%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%
Ammonia	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%	2	1.2%	0.4%	3	1.9%	5	1.1%
Toxics	10	6.2%	50	10.8%	9	5.6%	27	5.9%	10	6.2%	2.2%	29	18.0%	87	18.9%
Low D.O.	5	3.1%	25	5.4%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%	9	5.6%	2.0%	15	9.3%	37	8.0%
Org. Enrich.	1	0.6%	5	1.1%	6	3.7%	18	3.9%	2	1.2%	0.4%	9	5.6%	25	5.4%
TKN	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	1.2%	6	1.3%	6	3.7%	1.3%	8	5.0%	12	2.6%
Organic Enrichment/Low D.O.	6	3.7%	30	6.5%	9	5.6%	27	5.9%	17	10.6%	3.7%	32	19.9%	74	16.1%
ТР	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	3	1.9%	0.7%	3	1.9%	3	0.7%
Nitrate	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%	3	1.9%	0.7%	4	2.5%	6	1.3%
Max. D.O.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	7	4.3%	1.5%	7	4.3%	7	1.5%
D.O. Swing	7	4.3%	35	7.6%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	0.6%	0.2%	8	5.0%	36	7.8%
Nutrient Enrichment/Effects	7	4.3%	35	7.6%	1	0.6%	3	0.7%	14	8.7%	3.0%	22	13.7%	52	11.3%
Total Observations	38	23.6%	190	47.7%	53	38.5%	159	40.3%	38	34.2%	11.9%	161	100.0%	461	100.0%

Appendix Table D-3. Causes of aquatic life impairment in the Middle Fork N. Branch in 2020-21 arranged by very poor, poor, and fair threshold exceedances and weighted and unweighted proportion by cause and causal category.

Causal Agents	Very Poor	VP%	VP Wtd.	VP Wtd.%	Poor	Poor%	Poor Wtd.	Poor Wtd.%	Fair	Fair%	Fair Wtd.%	Total	Total%	Total Wtd.	Wtd. %
Dev. WS	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	2	1.9%	6	1.8%	0	0.0%	0.0%	6	5.8%	26	8.0%
Imperv30C	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	3	0.9%	2	1.9%	0.6%	3	2.9%	5	1.5%
Urban Land Use	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	3	2.9%	9	2.8%	2	1.9%	0.6%	9	8.7%	31	9.5%
QHEI	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	3.8%	12	3.7%	1	1.0%	0.3%	5	4.8%	13	4.0%
Substr.	1	1.0%	5	1.5%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	1.9%	0.6%	3	2.9%	7	2.1%
QHEI Ratio	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	3	2.9%	9	2.8%	2	1.9%	0.6%	5	4.8%	11	3.4%
Poor Attr.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	3.8%	12	3.7%	0	0.0%	0.0%	4	3.8%	12	3.7%
Chan.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	3.8%	12	3.7%	2	1.9%	0.6%	6	5.8%	14	4.3%
High Mod. Attr.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%
Habitat Related	1	1.0%	5	1.5%	15	14.4%	45	13.8%	7	6.7%	2.1%	23	22.1%	57	17.5%
Chloride	5	4.8%	25	7.7%	1	1.0%	3	0.9%	0	0.0%	0.0%	6	5.8%	28	8.6%
Conduct.	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	6	5.8%	18	5.5%	0	0.0%	0.0%	10	9.6%	38	11.7%
TSS	1	1.0%	5	1.5%	1	1.0%	3	0.9%	0	0.0%	0.0%	2	1.9%	8	2.5%
Ionic Strength/Demand	10	9.6%	50	15.3%	8	7.7%	24	7.4%	0	0.0%	0.0%	18	17.3%	74	22.7%
Sed. PAH	5	4.8%	25	7.7%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	2	1.9%	0.6%	7	6.7%	27	8.3%
Sed. Metals	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	3.8%	12	3.7%	1	1.0%	0.3%	5	4.8%	13	4.0%
Toxicity	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%
Ammonia	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	0.3%	5	4.8%	21	6.4%
Toxics	9	8.7%	45	13.8%	4	3.8%	12	3.7%	4	3.8%	1.2%	17	16.3%	61	18.7%
Low D.O.	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	1	1.0%	3	0.9%	5	4.8%	1.5%	10	9.6%	28	8.6%
Org. Enrich.	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	2	1.9%	6	1.8%	0	0.0%	0.0%	6	5.8%	26	8.0%
TKN	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	3	2.9%	9	2.8%	5	4.8%	1.5%	8	7.7%	14	4.3%
Organic Enrichment/Low D.O.	8	7.7%	40	12.3%	6	5.8%	18	5.5%	10	9.6%	3.1%	24	23.1%	68	20.9%
ТР	1	1.0%	5	1.5%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	4	3.8%	1.2%	5	4.8%	9	2.8%
Nitrate	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	3	0.9%	1	1.0%	0.3%	2	1.9%	4	1.2%
Max. D.O.	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	0	0.0%	1	1.0%	0.3%	1	1.0%	1	0.3%
D.O. Swing	3	2.9%	15	4.6%	2	1.9%	6	1.8%	0	0.0%	0.0%	5	4.8%	21	6.4%
Nutrient Enrichment/Effects	4	3.8%	20	6.1%	3	2.9%	9	2.8%	6	5.8%	1.8%	13	12.5%	35	10.7%
Total Observations	28	26.9%	140	55.2%	33	37.5%	99	35.9%	19	27.9%	8.9%	104	100.0%	326	100.0%

Appendix Table D-4. Causes of aquatic life impairment in the West Fork in 2021 arranged by very poor, poor, and fair threshold exceedances and weighted and unweighted proportion by cause and causal category.

APPENDIX E: FIT FACTORS AND ILLINOIS NUTRIENT RANKING INDEX

E-1: FIT Factors for Deriving Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary Causes of Impairment E-2: Northeast Illinois IPS Nutrient Ranking Index

Appendix E-1: Development of FIT Factors for Deriving Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary Causes of Impairment

The NE IL IPS thresholds were developed for the primary nutrient and nutrient-related parameters based on grab sample data. The thresholds were based on relationships between that data and stressor-specific sensitive fish species and macroinvertebrate taxa. The relationship between the sensitive species/taxa with the fIBI and mIBI supported benchmarking these thresholds to the General Use criteria and an "Excellent" level of biological performance.

The FIT weighting score influences the categories of narrative condition (i.e., very poor, poor, or fair) each cause of impairment is placed. Each stressor is ranked from 0.1 (excellent) to 10 (very poor) based on the respective relationships with the number of stressor-sensitive fish species

Appendix Table E-1. FIT
weighting scores based on FIT
coefficients.
FIT (< 0.10) X 1;
FIT (> 0.10 - <0.3) X 0.8
FIT (> 0.30 - < 1.0) X 0.6
FIT (> 1.00 - < 3.0) X 0.5
FIT (> 3.00 - < 10.0) X 0.2
FIT (> 10 0) X 0.1

or macroinvertebrate taxa as the response variable with a particular stressor (Table E-1). Where the association is very strong (i.e., FIT value < 0.1) it means there were few outliers and a stronger power of prediction. The weighting factor is 1 and stressors that scored as very poor are still considered to be predictive of very poor biological assemblages. As the FIT value increases (i.e., >0.1 to 0.3) it signals increased variability (more outliers are observed). The weighting factor declines to 0.8 and a stressor value of 9 (very poor) would be down weighted to a score of 7.2

(poor) because the stress:response relationship had more outliers. While the ability to distinguish poor vs. very poor assemblages is reduced, it still reflects a severe impairment. A FIT value of >0.3-1 indicates a weaker causative relationship and has lower weighting factor (X 0.6). This would change a stressor score of 9 (very poor) to a score of 5.4 (fair). Parameters with FIT vales of >3 were not used to identify causes of impairment. A summary of FIT values for 69 variables is in Appendix Table E-2.

Stressor relationships can become stronger as more data is added to the IPS databases hence the need for continued monitoring. Some parameters that have weak FIT scores are because of a lack of data along a complete stressor gradient. For example, there are fewer data points at excellent biological sites for parameters such as sediment PAHs and sediment metals. This weakens the FIT values for the excellent narrative range thus in these situations only a good narrative threshold is derived. There are other important variables (e.g., benthic chlorophyll a) where the current datasets are insufficient to develop a ranking thus highlighting the need to build up the dataset.

The severity of effect of some stressors (e.g., FIT Scores <0.1) could possibly mask the effects of other stressors. As more data is collected and as some of the more prevalent stressors are abated, the influence of masked stressors may become more evident. As such, the FIT values and scores could change in future iterations of the IPS. More data will also improve the accuracy of assigning species and taxa as sensitive or tolerant to a particular stressor.

Appendix Table E-2. FIT values based on the deviation between ambient stressor rank vs. predicted stressor rank based on fish species or macroinvertebrate taxa for streams in the NE IL IPS study area. The algorithm for FIT calculation is summarized in the text. The cell shading is related to FIT weighting coefficients: □ 1.0; □ 0.8; □ 0.6; □ 0.5; □ 0.2.

			FIT
Stressor	FIT Value	Stressor	Value
Impervious Land Use (500m)	0.01	Copper (Wat.)	1.75
QHEI Embeddedness Score	0.03	Lead (Wat.)	2.11
Urban Land Uses (WS)	0.03	Zinc (Sed.)	2.22
QHEI Overall Score	0.04	Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	2.32
QHEI Substrate Score	0.04	Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene (Sed.)	2.41
QHEI Good Attributes	0.04	Copper (Sed.)	2.42
Total Phosphorus	0.04	Benzo(b)fluoranthene (Sed.)	2.51
Impervious Land Use (30m)	0.04	Turbidity	2.61
Impervious Land Use (30m Clipped)	0.04	Nickel (Sed.)	2.67
Conductivity	0.05	Manganese (Wat.)	2.74
QHEI Channel Score	0.07	Benzo(a)pyrene (Sed.)	2.85
QHEI Silt Cover Score	0.07	Pyrene (Sed.)	2.85
Developed Land Use (WS)	0.07	Voluble Suspended Solids	2.81
Minimum Dissolved Oxygen	0.10	Lead (Sed.)	3.01
Total Dissolved Solids	0.10	Nickel (Wat.)	3.26
Impervious Land Use (WS)	0.10	Benzo(a)anthracene (Sed.)	3.48
Hydro-QHEI Depth Score	0.11	Chrysene (Sed.)	3.51
QHEI Poor Habitat Attributes	0.12	Fluoranthene (Sed.)	3.91
Hydro-QHEI Overall Score	0.13	Strontium (Sed.)	4.44
Zinc (Wat.)	0.13	Dibenz(a,h)anthracene (Sed.)	4.57
Hydro-QHEI Current Score	0.14	Agricultural Land Use (WS)	4.82
ТКМ	0.14	Anthracene (Sed.)	5.10
QHEI Pool Score	0.15	Phenanthrene (Sed.)	5.10
Heavy Urban Land Use (WS)	0.17	Arsenic (Sed.)	6.21
Chloride	0.17	Chromium (Sed.)	6.29
QHEI Cover Score	0.17	Sulfate	6.49
BOD (5-Day)	0.21	Manganese (Sed.)	7.08
QHEI Riffle Score	0.27	Silver (Sed.)	7.11
Total Ammonia	0.28	Aluminum (Sed.)	8.26
Nitrate	0.29	Barium (Sed.)	8.88
Sodium	0.29	Arsenic (Wat.)	9.19
QHEI Gradient Score	0.31	Potassium (Wat.)	10.13
Total Suspended Solids	0.32	Cadmium (Sed.)	11.0
Maximum Dissolved Oxygen	0.94		
Cadmium (Wat.)	0.93		
Arsenic (Sed.)	1.26		

Appendix E-2: Northeast Illinois IPS Nutrient Ranking Index

With the emphasis on nutrients in NE Illinois a Nutrient Ranking Index (NRI) was developed by summing the ranking of each of the individual primary nutrient or nutrient-related parameters with each weighted based on the FIT coefficient (Appendix Table E-2). The equation is as follows:

Nutrient Rank Index = (TPR*1) + (Min. DOR*1) + (TKNR*0.8) + (BOD₅R*0.8) + (NITRR*0.8) + (Max. DOR*0.6)

Where; TPR = Total Phosphorus Rank Min. DOR = Minimum Dissolved Oxygen Rank TKNR = Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen Rank BODR = Biochemical Oxygen Demand (5-day) Rank NITRR = Nitrate Rank Max. DOR = Maximum Dissolved Oxygen Rank

Appendix Figure E-1 illustrates the correlation between the Nutrient Rank Index (NRI) and the fIBI (top, left), mIBI (top, right), the number of Illinois intolerant fish species (bottom, left) and the number of Illinois intolerant macroinvertebrate taxa (bottom, right). In these graphs points were coded to the strongest stressor rank for all categories of stressors (excluding land use parameters) and where the most limiting stressor rank was greater than a score of four (i.e., General Use benchmark). Boxes in the upper right corner reflect Nutrient Rank Index ranges where biological performance is clearly limited. In these plots fish appear a bit more limited than macroinvertebrates. We expect the relationship between the NRI and biological response variables to improve other indicators such as continuous dissolved oxygen-based maximum daily D.O. swings and algal indicator (benthic chlorophyll). Even so there is a strong enough relationship to make this indicator a useful marker for stressor identification efforts eutrophication in a study area. NRI values of >25 are always associated with degraded fish assemblages and often associated with degraded macroinvertebrate indices (Appendix Figure E-1).

Where a biological assemblage is of excellent quality NRI values are nearly always less than 15. The Power BI dashboard for nutrients will provide this data for all sites where it is available and will also provide individual parameter (e.g., TP, TKN, min D.O.) rankings for nutrients and other parameter categories as well. Such data can be matched to recent local data on continuous D.O., and benthic and sestonic chlorophyll where it exists. Sites with high NRI values and high D.O. swings from continuous data can be examined along with biological data responses to see if patterns of response are similar. The Power BI will also have NRI values, among other data, summarized at both the reach and Huc12 scale to determine whether nutrient signatures are rare or prevalent nearby and across the watershed. The goal for developing the NRI is to have a screening value that can then be matched to more site specific data to conduct a stressor identification analysis.



Appendix Figure E-1. Correlation between the Nutrient Rank Index and the fIBI (top, left), MIBI (top, right), the number of Illinois intolerant fish species (bottom, left) and the number of Illinois intolerant macroinvertebrate taxa (bottom, right). In these graphs points are coded by the strongest stressor rank for all categories of stressors (excluding land use) and where the most limiting stressor rank was greater than a score of four (i.e., General Use benchmark).